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United States v. David M. Hicks 
 

INDEX FOR TRANSCRIPT 
 

SESSIONS: 
 

25 August 2004 1 
 
Appointing Order presented to commission (RE 1) 1 
  
Commission members sworn 1 
 
President’s Reason To Believe determination presented to commission 1 
 commission (RE 2)  
 
Commission assembled 1 
 
Order detailing prosecutors presented to commission (RE 3) 2 
 
Counsel rights explained  2-4 
 
Denial of request for particular military counsel presented to the  3 
 commission (RE 4)  
 
Order detailing defense counsel presented to the commission (RE 5) 3 
 
Notice of appearance of civilian counsel  3 
 
Civilian counsel authorization presented to the commission (RE 6) 3 
 
Defense objection to presence of security personnel in the hearing  4 
 room presented to the commission (RE 7)  
 
Charge sheet presented to the commission (RE 8) 4 
 
Parties served with charge sheet 5 
 
Presiding officer’s biographical summary presented to the commission 6
 commission (RE 9)   
 
Nominations for Presiding Officer presented to the commission (RE 12) 19 
 
Defense challenges the Presiding Officer for cause 19-20 
 
Government opposes challenge of the Presiding Officer for cause 20-21 
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Presiding Officer states he will forward challenge to  21-23 
     Appointing Authority         
 
Voir dire from U.S. v. Hamdan presented to the commission (RE 10) 23-24 
 
Classified voir dire from U.S. v. Hamdan presented to the  23-24 
 commission (RE 11)  
 
Questionnaires of commission members presented to the  23 
 commission (RE 13) (SEALED)  
 
Prosecution general voir dire 24-25 
 
Defense general voir dire 25-33 
 
Individual voir dire of commission members 34-78 
 
  COL S_____  35-41 
 
  COL B_____   41-50 
 
  COL B_____  50-56 
 
  LtCol T_____  57-68 
 
  LtCol C_____  68-77 
 
Authentication page for hearing pages 1-78  78 
 
Authentication page for hearing pages 79-105 (Classified Hearing)  105 
 
Defense states objection to involuntary absence of accused from  107 
 classified hearing  
 
Defense challenges COL B_____ and LtCol T_____ for cause, and   106-112 
    adopts the challenges made by the defense in the Hamdan hearing   
 
Defense expressly declines to challenge COL B____ for cause  107 
 
Defense challenges COL B_____ and LtCol T_____ for cause, and   106-112 
    adopts the challenges made by the defense in the Hamdan hearing   
 
Defense challenges COL S_____ for cause  107-112 
 
Defense challenges all Commission members  109-112 
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Presiding Officer provides preliminary instructions to commission 114-115 
   members    
 
Defense objects to Presiding Officer giving legal advice to 115-116 
    commission members   
 
Defense lists motions that will be presented at next session  117-120 
 
Defense and prosecution motions pertaining to continuance admitted  120 
    (RE 15 and RE 16)  
 
Parties have not objections concerning Presiding Officer Memoranda  121 
 
Pleas to all charges:  Not Guilty 122 
 
Authentication page for hearing pages 106-123  123 
 

1 November 2004 124 
 
Accounting for personnel who are present 124 
 
The Presiding Officer notes the Appointing Authority’s decisions  124 
 on challenges for cause, RE 50 
 
Defense motion to dismiss because the Appointing Authority failed  125-126 
 to appoint a replacement, alternate member, RE 32 
 
Defense motion to dismiss because the defense wants additional  125-131 
 members appointed to the commission, RE 32 
 
Defense asserts that all motions to dismiss that are denied should be  128 
 certified as case dispositive motions to the Appointing Authority 130-134 
 
The Commission defers decision on the motion to appoint an alternate  131 
 member and to appoint additional members 
 
The Commission defers decision on how to define what is an  134 
 interlocutory motion  
 
Defense motion to dismiss the charges because the Appointing  134-139 
 Authority excluded all company grade officers (O-1 to O-3) from 
 selection as commission members.  Motion is RE 26. 
 
Defense objects to Presiding Officer Memoranda (POM)s because the  139-140 
 Presiding Officer does not have authority to make rules, and such  
 rules that are made are not properly promulgated under the  
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 Administrative Procedures Act 
 
 Defense objects to POM 9 because civilian counsel will have 140 
  limited access to evidence under some circumstances 
 
 Defense objects to POM 2-1 because assistant to Presiding  140 
  Officer is allowed to provide procedural advice to the  
  Presiding Officer 
 
Presiding Officer explains for the record that he sent five requests 141 
 for interlocutory decisions to the Appointing Authority, these  
 requests and associated documents were marked as REs 41-49    
 
There is no objection to RE 53, which describes the Presiding Officer’s 142 
 role—he can provide instructions to commission, participate in  
 deliberations, but whole commission must decide most issues 
  
The Presiding Officer describes the processing of the defense  143-147 
 requests for continuances 
 
Defense motion to dismiss because referral to trial was premature-- 147-150 
 The United States and Britain are in the midst of negotiating 
 the transfer of British detainees and perhaps such negotiations  
 might result in the release of Mr. Hicks—a trial was therefore  
 unnecessary.  This motion was RE 33.  
 
Letter detailing another prosecutor presented to the commission, RE 57 150  
  
Defense requests expert witnesses on international law and the law of  150-160 
 war, RE 35-40 
 
 The legal experts were denied at this time 155 
 
 The commission subsequently denied a prosecution motion to  160  
 exclude all such testimony, but would decide on the necessity of  
 this testimony on a case-by-case basis 
 
Defense presents the statements of four legal experts to the 161-162 
 Commission, REs 59-63 
 
The decision on the prosecution objection to consideration of these  162 
 statements is deferred 
 
Defense motion to dismiss Charge II, RE 24, because attempted  162-172 
 murder of members of coalition forces does not violate the law of  
 war and therefore is not triable by military commission. 
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 Being in the status of “unlawful belligerent” is not relevant to an 
 offense being a war crime.  The commission deferred its decision.    
 
Defense motion to dismiss Charge III, RE 25, because aiding the  172-178 
 enemy is not a valid offense under the laws of war and is therefore 
 not triable by military commission.  An accused must have   
 some allegiance to the United States or her allies to commit  
 the offense.  The commission deferred its decision (R. 178).    
 
 

2 November 2004 181 
 

Accounting for personnel who are present 181 
 
The commission denies the motion to dismiss because of the absence  181 
 of an alternate member and to have additional members appointed, 
 RE 54, and the motion to dismiss because the appointing 
 authority did not include or consider including company grade 
 officers as commission members, RE 26, findings will be appended 
 to the record.  Defense requested that RE 54 be referred to the  
 the Appointing Authority (R. 195).  The Presiding Officer  
 subsequently declined to certify the issue (R. 271). 
 
The defense motion for a continuance was denied, and then a                181 
 delay until 15 Mar 2005 was granted (R. 273).  See also RE 73. 
 
Defense motion to dismiss because referral to trial was premature-- 181 
 was denied because of the possibility of negotiations with  
 Australia.  This motion was RE 33.  
 
Decisions on defense motions to dismiss Charge II, RE 24, and, 182 
 Charge III, RE 25, attempted murder and aiding the enemy, 
 respectively, were deferred.      
 
Defense motion to dismiss Charge I, RE 23, because conspiracy  182-195 
 is not a valid offense under the laws of war and international 
 law.  The majority of countries do not recognize the offense of 
 conspiracy.  Therefore, conspiracy is not triable by military  
 commission.  See also REs 62 and 66.  The Presiding Officer  
 announced that a decision would be issued in due course (R. 195).  
 
Defense motion to dismiss Charge I, RE 21, because destruction  195-203 
 of property by an unprivileged belligerent is not a valid offense 
 under the laws of war and international law.  Therefore, it is not  
 triable by military commission.   
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Defense motion to strike the word “terrorism” from Charge I, RE 30, 203-209 
 because the term, terrorism is not defined, and is not an offense 
 under the laws of war.  Therefore, it is not triable by military 
 commission.  The decision was deferred (R. 273). 
 
Defense motion, RE 27, to strike any conduct from the charges 209-228 
 preceding the start of the international armed conflict in  
 Afghanistan on 7 October 2001 because commissions are war 
 courts and the international armed conflict had not yet begun. 
 The United States cannot be in an armed conflict with al Qaida 
 because it is not a state.  RE 15 includes documentation  
 indicating when the international armed conflict ended.  The  
 decision was deferred (R. 272, 273). 
 
Defense motions, REs 16 (2d session), and RE 19, to dismiss because  229-240 
 of improper pretrial detention under international law and a  
 failure to provide a speedy trial, respectively.  Most of discussion  
 is about the status of the accused under international law, POW or  
 protected civilian, or other.  The decision was deferred (R. 273). 
 
Defense objected to any consideration of the Combat Status Review 234  
 Tribunal (CSRT) record pertaining to Mr. Hicks.  The Presiding 
 Officer recommended that the parties stipulate that there a CSRT  
 hearing was conducted (R. 235). 
 
Defense motion, RE 29, to dismiss because the President’s Military 242-245 
 Order limits jurisdiction to non-citizens of the United States,  
 which is a violation of the Constitutional right to equal  
 Protection.  The decision was deferred. The decision was  
 deferred (R. 273). 
 
Defense motions to dismiss because: (1) the accused has been  246-262 
 denied access to evidence, defense counsel, adequate  
 facilities, and unfair rules of admissibility of evidence (RE 20); 
 (2) the President lacks domestic  or international statutory  
 authority to direct commissions (RE 28); (3) the Presiding 
 Officer’s role should be more like that of a military judge (RE 31); 
 and, (4) the structure of the commission is unlike that of any 
 other United States or international tribunal (RE 32).  The  
 decision was deferred (R. 273). 
 
Defense motion, RE 22, to dismiss because the Appointing Authority 262-265 
 is a civilian and not a military officer or a general court-martial  
 convening authority.  The decision was deferred. 
 
Defense motion, RE 17, to dismiss because the commission has no  265-270 
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 jurisdiction as it is located at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, which is  
 not in a theater of the war.  The decision was deferred. 
 

 
3 November 2004 271 

 
A Stipulation of Fact, RE 72, was admitted with the consent of all 272 
 parties, including the accused.  It pertained to a CSRT being 
 conducted on the accused’s case.   
 
Defense withdrew their request for a bill of particulars (RE 18) 273 
 
The Presiding Officer’s discovery order (RE 73) was admitted 274 
 
Authentication of pages 124 to 274 275  
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Description of Exhibit PAGE No. 
 

 1

1ST VOLUME OF REVIEW EXHIBITS 
 

RE 1 Appointment of Military Commission Members, 25 Jun 04 1 
 
RE 2 Presidential Reason to Believe Determination, 3 Jul 03 2  
 
RE 3 Detail of Prosecutors, 28 Jul 04 3 
 
RE 4 Chief Defense Counsel denies request for particular military  4 
 defense counsel, 13 Aug 04 
 
RE 5 Chief Defense Counsel details military defense counsel, 23 Jul 04 6 
 

RE 5a  Chief Defense Counsel describes duties of detailed military 7 
defense counsel, 28 Nov 03 
 
RE 5b  Chief Defense Counsel details assistant military defense  9 
counsel, 28 Jul 04 
  

RE 6 Chief Defense Counsel informs civilian defense counsel of  10 
 authorization to represent accused, 12 Jan 04 
 
RE 7 Defense objection to presence of security personnel in hearing 11 
  room, 23 Aug 04 
 
RE 8 Charges referred to trial 13 
 
RE 9 Presiding Officer’s Biographical Summary (13 pages) 18 
 
 Written Voir Dire of Presiding Officer 18 
 
 RE 9a  From Draft Trial Guide 20 

 
 RE 9b  Relationship with other personnel 22 
 
 RE 9c  Answers to questionnaire Number 2 24 
 
 RE 9d  Relationship with Mr. H_____ 26 
 
 RE 9e  Military Commissions 28 
 

RE 10 Transcript of Voir Dire from U.S. v. Hamdan hearing (101 pages) 31 
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RE 11 Classified Transcript from U.S. v. Hamdan hearing  132 
 
RE 12 Nominations for Presiding Officer (1 page) 133 
 
RE 13 Responses to Questionnaires from Commission Members 135 
 
 RE 13a COL S_____ (13 pages) (sealed) 135 
 
 RE 13b COL B_____ (13 pages) (sealed) 148 
 
 RE 13c COL B_____ (14 pages) (sealed) 161 
 
 RE 13d LtCol T_____ (13 pages) (sealed) 175 
 
RE 14 Instructions delivered to commission members prior to start of 201 
  hearing (7 pages) 
 
RE 15 Defense request for continuance, 20 Aug 04 (21 Pages) 208 
 
 RE 15a Motion (4 pages) 208  
 
 RE 15b DoD Statement on Defense Detainee Meetings, 23 Jul 03 212 
  (1 page)  
 
 RE 15c DoD Statement on Australian Detainee Meetings,  213 
 23 Jul 03 (2 pages)  
 
 RE 15d DoD Statement on U.S. and Australian Agreements on 215 
 Detainees, 25 Nov 03 (2 pages)  
 

RE 15e Memorandum from BG Hemingway to MAJ Mori DoD 217 
assurances to Australia about right to civilian counsel and right to 
defense counsel assistance, 3 December 2003 (1 page)  
 
RE 15f Transcript from Australian Legal and Constitutional 218 
Legislation Committee, 16 Feb 04 (7 pages) 
 
RE 15g Article—Five British Detainees to go Home, 19 Feb 04 225 
(2 pages) 
 
RE 15h Article—British Official Rips U.S. Guantanamo Plan, 227 
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24 Jun 04 (1 page)  
 
RE 15i Article—Blair Says Talks Continuing Over Guantanamo 228 
Britons, 30 Jun 04 (1 page) 
 

RE 16 Prosecution Response to Defense Request for Continuance, 229 
24 Aug 04 (3 pages) 
 

RE 16a Article—Prime Minister Says He’s Satisfied Guantanamo  232  
Bay Offers Australian Style Justice, 23 Aug 04 (2 pages) 
 
RE 16b Talking Points—Protective Order (1 page) 234  
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2ND VOLUME OF EXHIBITS 
 

REVIEW EXHIBITS FROM NOVEMBER 2004 SESSION 
 

Description of Exhibit PAGE No. 
 
RE 13 Defense motion to present expert testimony and opinions 1 

 pertaining to the law of war  
 
 RE 13a Prosecution filing (5 pages) 1 

   
 RE 13b Defense filing (7 pages) 6 

   
 RE 13c Prosecution reply (3 pages) 13 
 
 
RE 14 Defense motion to preclude Presiding Officer or assistant from  16 

 providing to the Commission legal advice or instruction on the law  
 
 RE 14a Defense filing (4 pages) 16 

   
 RE 14b Prosecution filing (7 pages) 20 

   
 RE 14c Defense withdraws motion (1 page) 29 
 
RE 15 Defense motion to dismiss charges because there is no jurisdiction  30 

  
 RE 15a Defense filing (3 pages-not including attachments) 30 
 
  Attachment 1-1949 Geneva Convention, Articles 1-2 (1 page) 33 

    
 Attachment 2-Protocol II (1977) to 1949 Geneva Convention,  34 

       Articles 1-2 (1 page) 
 
  Attachment 3-U.S. Department of State; Profile.   35 
       “Background Note: Afghanistan” (August 2004) (14 pages)  
 
 Attachment 4-BBC News, “Karzai takes power in Kabul”  49 
       (22 December 2001) (2 pages) 
 
 Attachment 5-CNN, “Whitbeck: Afghanistan Historic Day”   51 
       (22 December 2001) (1 page) 
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 RE 15b Prosecution filing (7 pages) 52 
 
 RE 15c Defense Reply (4 pages) 59 
 
RE 16 Defense motion to dismiss because accused was subjected to   63 

 improper pretrial restraint under international law 
 

 RE 16a Defense filing (6 pages-not including attachments) 63 
 
 Attachment 1—Canadian Constitution Article 1982 (1),    69 

  Part I (2 pages) 
 

 Attachment 2—Universal Declaration of Human Rights,   71 
       Preamble and Articles 1-13 (3 pages) 
 
 Attachment 3—Council of Europe, Convention for the 74 
  Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 
  as amended by Protocol No. 11; Articles 1-5 (4 pages)  
 
 Attachment 4—American Convention on Human Rights, 80 
  “Pact of San Jose, Costa Rica” Preamble and Articles  
  1-7 (4 pages) 
 
 Attachment 5—International Covenant on Civil and Political 83 
  Rights, Articles 9 and 14 from Office of the High 
  Commissioner for Human Rights (4 pages) 
 
 Attachment 6—Executive Order 13107 “Implementation of 86 
  Human Rights Treaties” (1998), Sections 1-2 (1 page) 
 
 Attachment 7—Manfred Nowak, United Nations Covenant on 87 
  Civil and Political Rights: CCPR Commentary (1993), 
  p. 172 “Liberty and Security of Persons” (1 page) 
 
 Attachment 8—U.S. Department of Defense News Briefing, 88 
  Secretary of Defense Interview (21 March 2002) (8 pages) 
 
 Attachment 9—United States Government Letter to the 96 
  United Nations (2 April 2003), Civil and Political Rights,  
  Including the Questions of: Torture and Detention, Letter is  
  addressed to the United Nations Office at Geneva, Secretariat  
  of the Commission on Human Rights (5 pages)  
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 Attachment 10—Protocol Additional to the Geneva   101 
  Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the  
  Protection of Victims of International Armed Conflicts,  
  Article 75 (3 pages) 
 
 Attachment 11—United Nations Body of Principles   104 
  for the Protection of All Persons under Any Form of 
  Detention or Imprisonment, Principle 32  
  Resolution 43/173 (9 December 1988) (2 pages) 
 
 Attachment 12—Human Rights Committee,  106 
  “Torres v. Finland,” Communication No. 291/1988 :  
  Finland. (5 April 1990); CCPR/C/38/D/29 1/1988 
  (Jurisprudence) (5 pages) 
 
 Attachment 13—Inter-American Commission on Human 111 
  Rights, “The Situation of Human Rights in Cuba, Seventh  
  Report” (4 October 1983) (2 pages) 
 
 Attachment 14—European Court of Human Rights, "Brogan 113 
  and Others v. The United Kingdom" (29 November 1988)  
  (2 pages) 
 
 Attachment 15--General Comment 13, reproduced in  115  
  “Compilation of General Comments and General 
  Recommendations Adopted by Human Rights Treaty 
  Bodies,” U.N. Document, Human Rights Instrument 
  (12 May 2004) (6 pages) 
 
 Attachment 16—Claude Pilloud et al, Commentary on the 121  

Additional Protocols of 8 June 1977 of the Geneva 
  Conventions of 12 August 1949 (1987) (3 pages) 
  
 Attachment 17—Secretary of Defense, Interview with  124  
  KSTP-ABC, St Paul, Minnesota, 27 February 2002 
  (3 pages) 
 
 Attachment 18—General Comment 8, reproduced in 127 

“Compilation of General Comments and General 
Recommendations Adopted by Human Rights Treaty Bodies,” 
U.N. Doc. HRI/GEN/l/Rev.7 (12 May 2004) (3 pages) 

  
 RE 16b Prosecution filing (9 pages) 130 
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 RE 16c Defense Reply (4 pages) 139 
 
RE 17 Defense motion to dismiss because accused is located in  145 

 Guantanamo, Cuba  
 

 RE 17a Defense filing (3 pages-not including attachments) 145 
 
 Attachment 1—William Winthrop, “Military Law and  148 

 Precedent," Vo1. 2 (1896) p. 836 (2 pages)  
 
 Attachment 2—In re Yamashita, 327 U.S. 1, 10 (1946) (2 pages) 150 
  

 RE 17b Prosecution filing (9 pages) 152 
 
  Attachment 1—Memorandum for the Presiding Officer, dated 158 

  5 October 2004, Subject: Request for authority submitted as  
  “Interlocutory Question 1” by Appointing Authority (1 page) 
 
 Attachment 2--Remarks as Delivered by Secretary of Defense 159 
   Rumsfeld, October 4,2004 (4 pages) 

  
RE 18 Defense motion for bill of particulars  163 

  
 RE 18a Defense filing (2 pages) 163 

  
 RE 18b Prosecution filing (6 pages) 165 
 
 RE 18c Defense Reply (3 pages) 171 
 
RE 19 Defense motion to dismiss because accused was denied his    174 

 right to a speedy trial 
 

 RE 19a Defense filing (6 pages-not including attachments) 174 
 
 Attachment 1—International Covenant on Civil and Political 180 

 Rights Adopted and opened for signature, ratification and 
accession by General Assembly resolution 2200A (XXI) of 16 
December 1966 entry into force 23 March 1976, in 

 accordance with Article 49; Articles 9 & 14 (4 pages)   
 

  Attachment 2—Protocol Additional to the Geneva 184  
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   Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the 
   Protection of Victims of International Armed Conflicts 
   (3 pages)  

   
  Attachment 3—Commander, Naval Legal Service Command  187 
   Instruction, 5800(1)(E) (19 Feb 2002) (2 pages) 

 
Attachment 4—“Senators Urge Decision on Disposition of    189 

  Guantanamo Detainees,” (12 Dec 2003) (1 page) 
 
  Attachment 5—“Guantanamo Trials Coming Too Slowly, Says 190 
   McCain after Visit,” USA Today (1 Dec 2003) (2 pages)  
 
  Attachment 6—DoD News Release, “DOD Statement on  192  
   Australian Detainee Meetings” (23 Jul 2003) (1 page) 
 
  Attachment 7—DoD News Release, “U.S. and Australia 193 
   Announce Agreements on Guantanamo Detainees”  
   (25 Nov 2003) (2 pages) 
 
  Attachment 8—Defense Motion for Access to Counsel in 195  
   Rasul et a1 v. Bush et al, in the United States District 
   Court, District of Columbia (4 March 2602) (3 pages) 
 
  Attachment 9—Letter from Stephen Kenny, addressed to 198 
   President George W. Bush (18 Feb 2002) (2 pages) 
 
  Attachment 10—DoD News Release, “Transfer of French 200 
   Detainees Complete” (27 July 2004) (1 page) 
 
 RE 19b Prosecution filings (8 pages)  201 
 

 Attachment 1-Secretary of Defense Speech to Council on 209 
  Foreign Relations (4 Oct 2004) (4 pages) 
 

RE 20 Defense motion to dismiss because accused was denied access to    213 
 defense counsel, lack of access to evidence, and lack of adequate 
 facilities 
 

 RE 20a Defense filing (6 pages-not including attachments) 213 
 
 Attachment 1—International Covenant on Civil and Political 219 

 Rights, Article 14 (3 pages) 
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 Attachment 2—Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions 222 
  of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Prosecution of 
  Victims of international Armed Conflicts, Article 75   
  (3 pages) 
 
 Attachment 3—UN Human Rights Committee, “General  225 
  Comment No. 13” (12 May 2004) (6 pages) 
 
 Attachment 4—Rome Statute of International Criminal 231 
  Court, Article 66 (1 page)  
 
 Attachment 5—President Bush, Meeting with Afghan Interim 232 

Authority Chairman, the Whitehouse, 28 January 2002 
  (6 pages) 
 
 Attachment 6—Joint Press Conference with Tony Blair at the 238 

British Embassy in Washington D.C., 17 July 2003  
  (10 pages) 
 
 Attachment 7—CNN, “Ashcroft Defends Detainees'  248 
  Treatment,” 20 January 2002 
 
 Attachment 8—“Britain and US in Rift Over Terrorist 251 
  Prisoners,” The Daily Telegraph, 21 January 2002 (3 pages) 
 
 Attachment 9—“Rumsfeld visits, thanks US troops at Camp 254 
  X-ray in Cuba,” American Forces Information Service, 27 

January 2002 (3 pages) 
 
 Attachment 10--DoD News Transcript, “Secretary Rumsfeld 257  
  Interview with The Telegraph,” 23 February 2002 (1 page) 
 
 Attachment 11—Fox News, “Rumsfeld: Afghan Detainees 258 
  at Gitmo Bay Will Not Be Granted POW Status,” 28 
  January 2002 (3 pages) 
 
 Attachment 12—DoD News Briefing, “ASD PA Clarke and 261 
  Rear Adm. Stufflebeem, 28 January 2002 (1 page) 
 
 Attachment 13—Human Rights Committee, “Consideration of 262 

Reports Submitted by States Parties Under Article 40 of the 
Covenant: Concluding Observations of the Human  
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  Rights Committee: Georgia” (1997) 
 
 Attachment 14—Commission on Human Rights, “Question 267 
  of the Human Rights of All Persons Subjected to Any  
  Form of Detention or Imprisonment: Report of the  

  Special Rapporteur on the Independence of Judges and 
        Lawyers” (1998) (2 pages) 

 
 Attachment 15—International Criminal Tribunal for the  269 
  Former Yugoslavia, Rules and Procedures of 
  Evidence (5 pages) 
 
 Attachment 16—International Criminal Tribunal for 274  
  Rwanda, Rules and Procedures of Evidence (4 pages) 
 
 Attachment 17—United Nations Body of Principles for the 278 
  Protection of All Persons under Any Form of Detention  
  or Imprisonment (4 pages) 
 

 Attachment 18—United Nations Basic Principles on the Role  282   
        of Lawyers (2 pages) 
 
Attachment 19—DoD News Transcript, “Rumsfeld Interview 284 
  Interview with KSTP-ABC, St Paul, Minn” (1 page) 
 
Attachment 20—Claude Pilloud et al, Commentary on the 285 
  Additional Protocols of 8 June 1997 to the Geneva  
  Conventions of 12 August 1949 (1987) (4 pages) 

  
 RE 20b Prosecution filing (7 pages) 289 
 
RE 20c Defense Reply (3 pages) 297 
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3RD VOLUME OF REVIEW EXHIBITS 
 

RE 21 Defense motion to dismiss Charge I because destruction of     1 
 property of an unprivileged belligerent is not a violation 
 of the law of war 
 

 RE 21a Defense filing (3 pages-not including attachments) 1 
 

 
Attachment 1—International Covenant on Civil and  4  
  Political Rights Adopted and opened for signature, 
  ratification and accession by General Assembly 
  resolution 2200A (XXI) of 16 December 1966 entry 
  into force 23 March 1976, in accordance with 
  Article 49—Article 15 (2 pages) 
 
Attachment 2—Protocol Additional to the Geneva  6  
  Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the 
  Protection of Victims of International Armed 
  Conflicts, Article 75 (3 pages) 

 
 RE 21b Prosecution filing (10 pages) 9 

 
 RE 21c Prosecution proposed findings (1 page) 19 
 
RE 22 Defense motion to dismiss because the Appointing Authority     20 

 lacks authority to appoint a military commission as he is not  
 a general court-martial convening authority 
 

 RE 22a Defense filing (4 pages-not including attachments) 20 
 

Attachment 1—Winthrop, “Military Law and Precedent”  24  
  Vol. 2, 2ND Ed., page 835 (2 pages) 

 
 Attachment 2—Attorney General James Speed, “The 26 
  Opinion of the Attorney General Affirming the Legality 
  of Using a Military Commission to Try the Conspirators” 
  (1865) (12 pages) 
 

 RE 22b Prosecution filing (6 pages) 38 
 

RE 23 Defense motion to dismiss Charge I because conspiracy is not      44 
 a valid offense under the law of war or international criminal law 
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 RE 23a Defense filing (3 pages-not including attachments) 44 
 

Attachment 1—Convention on the Prevention 47  
  and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, Articles 1  
  and 9 (2 pages)  
 
Attachment 2—Statute of the International Tribunal for 49   
  the Former Yugoslavia (1993), Article 4 (2 pages)  
 
Attachment 3—Statute of the International Tribunal for 51 
  Rwanda (1994), Article 2 (2 pages) 
 
Attachment 4—Cassese, “International Criminal Law,” 53 
  2003, p. 191 (2 pages) 

 
 RE 23b Prosecution filing (12 pages) 55 
 
 RE 23c Defense Reply (5 pages) 67 
 
 RE 23d Prosecution proposed findings (1 page) 72 
 
RE 24 Defense motion to dismiss Charge II because attempted murder of     76 
 Members of coalition forces does not violate the law of war and  

therefore is not triable by military commission 
 

 RE 24a Defense filing (3 pages) 76 
 
 RE 24b Prosecution filing (13 pages) 79 
 
 RE 24c Defense Reply (4 pages) 92 
 
 RE 24d Prosecution proposed findings (1 page) 96 
 
RE 25 Defense motion to dismiss Charge III because aiding the enemy      97 

 is not a valid offense as the accused no allegiance to the United 
 States or her allies 
 

 RE 25a Defense filing (4 pages-not including attachments) 97 
 

Attachment 1—Australian Crimes Act of 1914, Section 24 101  
  (3 pages)  
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Attachment 2—Australian Defense Force Discipline Act 1982, 104 
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 RE 27b Prosecution filing (11 pages) 179 
 
 RE 27c Defense Reply (5 pages) 190 
 
RE 28 Defense motion to dismiss charges because the President lacks     195 
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  Terrorists,” Terrorism and International Law:  
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 Professor Bassiouni’s affidavit is at RE 62 
 

 RE 35a Defense filing (3 pages) 1 
 

 RE 35b Prosecution filing (1 page) 4 
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 RE 59 is Professor McCormack’s affidavit 
 

 RE 38a Defense filing (3 pages) 44 
  

Attachment 1—CV of Professor McCormack (14 pages)     47 
 



 
UNITED STATES V. DAVID M. HICKS--REVIEW EXHIBITS 

 
Description of Exhibit PAGE No. 
 

 19

 RE 38b Presiding Officer denies production of Professor   61 
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  clarification of when the Presiding Officer should provide  
  instruction to the commission members (4 pages) 
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The Commissions Hearing was called to order at 0931, 
25 August 2004. 

po: The militory commission is called to order. 

AP (MaJ 1IIIIIIII: This militory commission is convened by 
Appointing Order Number 04-0001 dated 2S June 2004; 
copies of which have been furnished to the members of 
this commission, counsel, and the accused and which have 
been marked as Review Exhibit 1 for attachment to the 
record. 

PO: 

The presidential determination that the accused may be 
subject to trial by military commission has been marked 
as Review Exhibit 2 for inclusion in the record. At 
this time, I am providing Review Exhibits I and 2 to the 
bailiff to be provided to the courc reporter. 

The charges have been properly approved by the 
appointing authority and referred to this commission for 
trial. The prosecution has caused a copy of the charges 
in English to be served on counsel for the accused on 10 
June 2004 in accordance with counsel request to 
personally serve the accused. 

The prosecution is ready to proceed in the commission 
trial of United States v. David Matthew Hicks. The 
accused, all commission members and the alternate 
cOITmission member named in the appointing order and 
deta,led to this commission are present. All detailed 
counsel are present and civilian counsel is also 
present. 

Gunnery Sergeant _ and Sergeant _ have been 
detailed reporters for this commission and have been 
previously sworn. Security personnel have also been 
detailed for this commission and have also been 
previously sworn. 

I have been designated as the presiding officer of this 
military commission by the appointing authority and have 
previously been swOrn. The other members of the 
commission and the alternate rr.ernber will now be sworn. 
All persons in the courtroom please rise. 

The members were sworn. 

po: The commission is now assembled. 
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Trial, please state who detailed you and your 
qualifications. 

P (LtCol _: Sir, all members of the prosecution have been 
detailed to this military commission by the chief 
prosecutor. All members of the prosecution are 
qualified under Military Commission Order Number 1, 
Paragraph 4(b) and have previously been sworn. No 
member of the prosecution has acted in any manner which 
might tend to disqualify us in this proceeding. Th~ 
detailing document is now being marked as Review Exhibit 
3 for inclusion in the record, and now providing that to 
the bailiff. 

PO: Mr. Hicks, pursuant to MCO Number 1 you are currently 
represented by your detailed defense counsel, MaJor Mori 
and Major Lippert. They are provided to you at no 
expense. You can also request a different military 
lawyer to represent you. Now, if that person is 
reasonably available, they would be appointed to 
represent you. If you request another military lawyer 
and that lawyer is made available then your detailed 
counsel would normally be excused because usually you 
are only entitled to detailed or selected counsel. 

ACC: 

PO: 

ACC: 

PO: 

However, you could request that the appointing authority 
or the general counsel allow your detailed counsel to 
stay on the case. You may also be represented by 
civilian counsel. A civilian lawyer would represent you 
at no expense to the government and must be a U.S. 
citizen certified to practice law in a state of the 
United States, or in the federal court, be eligible for 
secret clearance, and agree in writing to comply with 
the rules and orders of the commission. If a civilian 
counsel comes on the case, your detailed counsel will 
remain on. 

Do you understand what r just told you? 

Yes, sir. 

Do you have any questions about your rights as to 
representation in this commission? 

No, sir. 

Okay. By whom do you wish to be represented? 
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ACC: 

po: 

ACC: 

PO: 

By the lawyers present, sir. 

Okay. Have you made a request prior to this date for 
individual counsel, for selected counsel? 

Yes, sir. 

Major Mori, can you tell me about the request? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Mr. Hicks requested selected military 
counsel previously; that request was denied. 

Review Exhibit 4 was marked for the record. 

PO: Do you have the paperwork on all that? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. The defense counsel has p~eviously 
provided it to the court reporter for attachment to the 
record as the next review exhibit, sir. 

PO: 

ACC: 

Mr. Hicks, absent the IMC request which was denied, are 
you satisfied with the counsel who aYe now representin'J 
you? 

Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. Defense, please announce your qualifications and 
detailing. 

AOC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. All detailed members of the defense 
team have been detailed to the military commission by 
the chief defense counsel. All detailed members are 
qualified undec Military Commission Order Number 1, 
Paragraph 4(C) and we have previously been swor~, sir. 
Na member of the defense team has acted in any manner 
which might tend to disqualifY us from pacticipating in 
this commission, sir. The detailing letters have been 
previously provided to the court reporter and asked that 
it be marked as the next review exhibit, sir. 

Sir, now handing the court reporter the extra exhibit. 

Review Exhibit 5 was marked for the record. 

PO: Mr. Oratell is present in the courtroOD. Please rise. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Thank you, Colonel. I am Joshua Oratell, 
civilian defense counsel, who has been determined to be 
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PO; 

qualified for membership in the pool of qualified 
civilian defense counsel in accordance with section 
4 (C) (3) of Military Commission Order Number 1. I have 
transmitted my notice of appearance through the chief 
defense counsel. I have signed the civilian defense 
counsel agreement to practice before military commission 
and I have not acted in any manner that may tend ~o 
disqualify me to practice in this proceeding. 

Have you provided the notice of appearance to the gunny 
for inclusion in the record? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, it has, Your Honor. 

PO; Can you mark that as next in line, Gunny. RE 6. 

Civilian defense counsel will now be sworn. 
rise, Mr. Dratell. 

please 

The civilian defense counsel was sworn. 

PO; All personnel appear to have the requisite qualifications. 
All personnel are required to be SWOrn before we 
proceed. I received this morning a defense o§jection to 
placement of security personnel dated the 23 r of 
August, which was Monday. Is this still a valid 
something or another? 

ADC (Maj Mori); Yes, sir. We would like to note the objection 
for the record. 

PO; You want to argue it, or just note it? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Just note it, sir. 

PO; Please pass this to the Gunny and this will be the next 
review exhibit in line. 

Trial, have the charge sheet marked as the next review 
exhibit and attach it to the reccrd please. 

P (LtCol _: Yes, sir. I believe we are up to RE 8. 

Review Exhibits 7 and 8 were marked for the record. 

PO: Defense, have you gotten a copy of the charges already? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes we have, Your Honor. 
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PO: All parties uf Lhe trial have been furnished a copy of the 
charges. Prosecutor, announce the general nature of the 
charges please. 

P (LtCol _: Yes, sir. The general nature of the charges 
in this caSe are: Charge I, cunspiracy to attack 
civilians, to attack civilian objectives, to commit 
murder by unprivileged belligerent, to commit the 
offense of the destruction of property by an 
unprivileged belligerent, and to commit the offense of 
terrorism; Charge JI, attempted murder by an 
unprivileged belligerent; and Charge III, aiding the 
er.emy. 

po: Members, please turn to the package in front of you. You 
got a copy of charge sheet in there. Take a moment to 
review the charge sheet and also the appointing order. 

The members did as directed. 

po: While reviewing, trial, was the security offccer 
previously sworn? 1 didn't note that. 

P '.LtCol _: Yes, sir. 

po: Thank you. All members had a chance to review the charge 
sheet? Apparently so. 

Is the name, rank, and other identifying data of each 
member listed correctly on the appointing order? 
Apparently so. 

Either party want the charges read? Trial? 

P iLtCol Prosecutioll does not, sir. 

po: Defense? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Mr. Hicks does not wish it read here, sir. 

po: Thank you. The reading of the charges may be omitted. 

Okay. Members of the commission, and alternate member, 
the appointing authority who detailed you has the 
ability to remove you from this commission for good 
cause. Is any member, or the alternate, aware of any 
matter that you feel might affect your impartiality, or 
ability to sit as a commission member? When you answer 
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that question keep in mind you don't want to bias other 
members·? Any member? Apparently not. 

Okay. I previously filled out a commission member 
questionnaire, provided counsel for both sides with a 
summarized biography, a list of matters that normally 
would be asked during voir dire, a document about how I 
know the appointing authority, and other personnel, and 
answers to questions suggested by defense counsel. That 
packet will now be marked as the next RE in line. 

Review Exhibit 9 was marked for the record. 

Those documents are true to the best of my knowledge and 
belief. 

We had basically two pretrial conferences, present which 
were defense and trial and myself; and during the COurse 
of these proceedings I will be referring to them. If 
something happened during one of those conferences that 
I don't cover or you want covered, trial, defense, speak 
up. Okay. 

During one of those, Major Mori, you and I had a 
discussion on the standard for challenge in the 
commission proceedings, and you wanted me to artlculate 
what I, as the presiding officer, believed the standard 
for challenge is; is that correct? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

PO: Referring to MCO Number 1, Paragraph 4(A) (3) which states 
the qualifications for a member, and then referring to 
MCO 1, Paragraph 6(B) 11) and (2), I believe that the 
standard is whether there is good cause to believe that 
the member cannot impartially and expeditiously provide 
a full and fair trial to Mr. Hicks. Do you wish, not 
perhaps at this time, to articulate a different standard 
to the person who will make the decision in this case? 

ADC IMaj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: At a later time if we have challenges, I 
when you have to provide that standard. 
tell you at that time, please remind me. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Yes, sir. 
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PO: 

DC: 

po: 

O~ay. I will, however, permit you latitude in your 
questioning going towards the area that you want. You 
are looking for what we commonly called 912(N); right? 

Yes, sir. 

Okay. Thank you. Does either side want to voir dire me 
outside the presence of the other members? 

P (LtCol _: No, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, sir. 

PO: Thank you. Members, please return to the deliberation 
room. 

Be seated. Let the record reflect the members, except 
for the presiding officer, have left the courtroom. 

I noted yesterday that we have a joint problem here. In 
the Army when a single member walks into the courtroom 
except for the judge, no one rises. Apparently in the 
Naval servic~s you all rise. Individual members of the 
defense and prosecution team may rise or not as they 
wish when the single member walks ir. or leaves. It is 
up to you, but the only requirement is when all the 
members come in, or I come in, you rise. 

I have got a copy of the PE that was just marked -- or 
RE that was just marked, Number 9 w~ich was my voir dire 
packet. This morning in that latest conference counsel 
for both sides were handed a copy of the voi~ dire up to 
where we broke for closed session yesterday. Cocnsel 
for both sides you both stated you intend to focus the 
voir dire on the questionnaires, and this is not just 
for me, it is for the other members too, in what was 
said in voir dire yesterday and you wish to have 
appended to the record of trial as RE 10 all portions of 
the Hamdan record of trial that were -- don'~ get 
excited yet -- that were held during the open sessions 
concerning voir dire. Which includes -- just a second, 
Major Mori -- which includes all the voir dire, all the 
challenges, and then at the end of the day there was a 
further reopening of voir dire of the presiding officer. 
That will be RE 10. RE 11 will be the closed session 
voir dire from Hamdan. I am not going to mix closed and 
none closed if I don't have to. 
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Is that what you all wanted, trial? 

P (LtCol _: Yes, sir. Except for that it was our 
understanding that counsel voir dire of the whole panel 
would also not be --

po: I said all the voir dire. Everyone's. 

P (LtCol_: Yes, sir. 

po: Everything that had to do with the voir dire. You 
understood what I meant didn't you, Gunny? Yeah, the 
Gunny knew. We will look at the RE before it is 
finalized, okay. Is that what you want, defense? 

DC (Mr. ~ratell): Yes, sir. 

po: 

Ace: 

po: 

ACC: 

po: 

Mr. Hicks, you weren't present yesterday during the voir 
dire; right? 

Yes/ sir. 

Okay. Your counsel got a copy of the voir dire, somewhere 
on their thing. They intend to refer to it in 
questioning me and the other members today to what 
happened yesterday. You got any objection to that? 

No, sir. 

Okay. Trial, voir dire? 

P (LtCol _ None, sir. 

)'0: Defense, go on. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, sir. Colonel, I want to focus first on 
something that was brought up yesterday with respect to 
your intention to advise the other members on the law, 
in addition to also then receiving law from either side. 
And in your experience as a military judge, would you 
ever let an attorney sitting on a military jury express 
an opinion as a lawyer on the law to a jury that is 
supposed to be made up of equal members? 

po: I have never seen an occasion to have an attorney sit on a 
jury panel, but no I wouldn't. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Is that what we have here, in essence, a jury 
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po: 

of equal members, none of whom should be superior to the 
other with respect to understanding or expression of the 
law. 

Okay. I will answer your question, but let Me say that I 
believe, and I direct Major Mori to provide a brief on 
th~s, Major Mori. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

PO: Because there are two parts to it. The SECDEF has said 
there is going to be a lawyer on this panel; right? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes. 

PO: Okay. So you're objecting or Major Mori is writing a 
motion objecting to the structure of the panel. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): That's true. 

PO: Okay. That's the structure of the panel. So it doesn't 
matter in many ways what I think about that because that 
is a structure that you can bounce me off and I believe 
that the appointing authority will say, okay, he's 
bDunced and let's put another lawyer on there. Can we 
just let that portion of this voir dire sit as a motion 
to the structure, and now you can ask me what I will do. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And it is not -- it's not simply the structure 
but it is also YDur intention to advise the panel on the 
law, that's part of it. So it's not just that there is 
a lawyer because there are lawyers that sit on civilian 
juries all the time, they are just not permitted to 
advise other jurors as to the law. And that is the 
province of the judge, and i.n this situation we don't 
have a judge. But and in the sense that you have 
instructed the members that they are not required to 
follow your expression of the law and they are free to 
adopt either side's expression of the law, or yours, or 
their own, but do you acknowledge the possibility, and 
really the distinct possibility that the members, or any 
member, all of whom are non-lawyers will give your 
expression of the law more deference than they will to 
either counsel, or to their own? 

PO: When I see Major Mori's motion, if it is made to me I will 
be glad to answer the structural question. Now, I will, 
if you want to say, Brownback, will you tell us that you 
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are not going to provide advice to the panel other than 
what you do while you are sitting here, that's a 
different matter. Is that what want, I mean --

DC (Mr. Dratell): No. No, my question is -- and if you consider 
this a structural question then you do; but my question 
is really do you acknowledge the possibility that a 
member or all of the members who are non-lawyers will 
give your expression of the law more deference than they 
will to either side's or their own? 

po: If you ask me that, I say yes. I will, however, follow up 
~there is a chance they might give CDlonel 
........... because he is Marine, or Major Mori's, 
because he is a Marine, or Major Lippert or Major 
_because they are Army, more deference. I 
don't know the answer to that. 

CC (~r. Dratell): Can you put a civilian on that for me? 

po: That's a structure. Major Mori, make a note, t'hat goes 
into yo'..!r brief. Okay. I can't go any farther than 
that. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): You have combat experience from Vietnam; 
correct? 

po: 'les. 

~~ (Mr. Dratell): And did you have occasion to engage in combat 
with the North Vietnamese ~rmy? 

po: At the time I Was not worried about where they came from. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): But were they regulars from the North 
Vietnamese Army? 

po: The intelligence reports that we gathered had them 
classified as both NVA and VC. And when they hit US ',Je 
didn't stop them to try to figure it out; we just fired 
back. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): But when they were taken prisoner, regardless 
of whether they were NVA or VC were they treated 
according to the Geneva Convention? 

po: yeah. 
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DC (Mr. Dratell): Now, I want to explore your relationship with 
the appointing authority. 

po: Okay. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): You have known Mr. Altenburg 1977, 1978? 

PO: Yes, sometime in that frame. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And you had a professional affiliation for a 
perlod of tlme? 

po: As I said before my knowledge of Mr. Altenburg up until 
1992 was minimal, I mean, really. Now he was the SJA of 
the lAD, the 1st Armored Division, and I was over on the 
other side of Germany. We were at Bragg at the same 
time, but like I said I maybe talked to him once, I 
think. You see people on post, but that is about it. 

He and I were on the same promotion list to major, but 
he had already left Bragg by then. In 92 he came to 
Bragg as the SJA and I was the chief circuit judge with 
my offices right there at Bragg in his building, and my 
wife was his chief of adlaw. So from 92 to 96 you could 
say that we had a close professional relationship and 
within, I don't know, a couple months it became a 
personal relationship. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And when you retired in May of 1999, 
Mr. Altenburg presided over your retirement ceremony? 

po: Right, at the JAG school. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And he was also the primary speaker at a roast 
in your honor that evening? 

PO: Yes. 

DC (Mr. Dratell) And, in fact, when Mr. Altenburg retired in the 

po: 

summer of 2001 you were the primary speaker at his 
roast? 

No, there were three speakers. I was the only one who was 
retired and could say bad things about him. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And you also attended his son's wedding in 
sometime in the fall of 2002? 
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PO: In Orlando, yeah. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And you also contacted Mr. Altenburg when you 
learned that he became the appointing authority for 
these commissions? 

PO: Right, I did. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And you are aware that there were other 
candidates for the position of presiding officer? 

PO: Yeah, uh-huh. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Thirty-three others, in fact? 

PO: Okay. No. What I know about the selection process I 
wrote. 1 don't know who else was considered and who 
else was nominated. Knowing the Department of Defense I 
imagine that all four services sent in -- excuse me, 
that there were lots of nominations and they went 
somewhere and they got Mr. Altenburg somehow. I don't 
know how many other people were nominated. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): So the ultimate question is how would you 
answer the concerns of a reasonable person who might say 
based on this close relationship with Mr. Altenburg that 
there is an appearance of a bias, or impartiality -- or 
partiality rather and that you were chosen not because 
of independence or qualifications, but rather because of 
your close relationship with Mr. Altenburg, and how 
would you answer that concern? 

PO: Well, I would say first of all that a person who were to 
examine my record as a military judge -- and all of it 
is open source. All of my cases are up on file at the 
Judge Advocate General's office in DC -- could see at 
the time when I was the judge at Bragg, sitting as a 
judge alone, acquitted about six or seven of the people 
he referred to a court-martial. They could look at the 
record of trial and see that in several cases I reversed 
his personal rulings. They could look at my record as a 
judge and see that I really don't care who the SJA was 
in how I acted. So a reasonable person who took the 
time to examine my record would say, no, it doesn't 
matter. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): I would like to move on and explore your 
relationship with Mr. liliiii and his role in the 
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po: 

DC (Mr. 

PO: 

DC (Mr. 

PO: 

DC (Mr. 

PO: 

commission. 

Okay. 

Right. 

Right. 

Dratelll : 
with the 
position? 

I don't know. 

ly an employee of the IIIIIIIIIII 

s to remain 
in that 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Have you seen the detailing memorandum? 

po: Yes -- but I didn't -- I mean it waS a detailing 
memorandum. I don't know if those are his lonq-term 
goals. Do you roean does he intend to return there after 
the detail is over? 

DC (Mr. uratelll: Yes. 

PO: __ 

DC (Hr. Dratell): But, in fact, arrangements have been made so 
that he is still an employee and he is essentially on 
loan here part-time. 

po: He is on d detail. Right, they are offering various 
positions, you know, for GS-14s and 15s but he didn't 
want to do that, right. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): So how 
person that the 
is acLing as a 1ega 
presiding officer of thi fi, commissl_on? 

po: 
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application -- and you would have to look at whatever he 
wrote. I believe -- he does a lot of fourth Amendment 
law and probably some Fifth Amendment law and maybe 
procedures. Both of which, or all of which, has nothlng 
to do with operational activities. It is how to keep 
activities within the bounds of the constitution, none 
of which has he applied in doing what he is doing for 

50 I don't see any harm. 1 
·zing him correctly 

belong 
was a DoJ, but 
believe there is any concern there. 
down doors or searchi ople out. He 

dn't 
think it 

else. 1 don't 
. ~ot~ 
J.S In_ 

DC \Mr. Drat.oll); But he 
enforcement and 
essentially 

which is 

enforcement activities. 

P (LtCol Sir, I am going to object to this line of 

po: 

DC (Mr. 

po; 

qu ing at this point. This does not go toward any 
potential bias on your part or anything that might lead 
to that. 

That's okay. Thank you. Go on. I hear what you are 
saying, Me. Dratell. 1 don't bolieve that a reasonable 
person who heard chat a law 

can dif fer. my opinion. 

Oratell): With ~e9pect to hLs role in the commissions, In 
the August 19t memorandum from the appointing authority 
it says that he is to provide advice in the performance 
of presiding officer adJudicative functions. can you 
tell us what that rneans, adjudicative functions·) 

Would you do me a faVor. Who signed that? Mr. Altenburg, 
right? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes. 

po: Did I sign it.? 
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DC (Mr. D~atell): No. 

po: Okay. I don't know wh~t that means and I am exploring 
with you as we go what that means. I tell you, if you 
want to know what he does for me I will be glad to telL 
you. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): I am just more interested in what the 
interpretation of this phrase is. 

PO: I don't know what it means. If it means does he -- this 
morning you know, Mr. IIIIIIIIwould you go find counsel 
for both sides and tell them I am ready to sec them. 
Because that - that is not adjudicative. He has not 
provide -- I will tell you this, he has not provided me 
any piece of advice on any item of substantive law. Now 
there are those who would say that writing up motions, 
you know, the presiding officer memorandum and stuff 
like that is substantive; I don't believe they are. The 
things that he has done have nothing to do with 
substance and I have not yet gotten to an adjudicative 
function as far as I can tell. 

DC (Mr. Dcatell): Well, will he? The question is under this 
memoranda will he be involved, and particularly in light 
of what you are saying is his experience in what he 
teaches and whether that is going to have an impact on 
the rest of the members, that is the questions now. 

po: WdS the question then to make Colonel _ happiec? 
Am I going to take improper advice in my role as a 
member from someone who is not a member? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Advice. 

po: That's what I say advice. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): But you said improper and I say any advice or 
any advice that any of the members gP.t either from you 
or directly from Mr. _--

po: No, they are not. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Now with respect to -- well, if that role 
changes, or is there -- are we ever going to get a 
definition of those terms adjudicated function in a 
matter that we can at least get our hands around, or for 
you to get your hands around so that we know what it 
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po: 

:neans? 

Probably on Tuesday after I get home, after I finish up 
this 'week's session, I will inquire from Mr. Altenburg 
what he means by that. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And will we be 

po: I haven't sent anything to Mr. Altenburg, nor has 
Mr. _or anyone else that hasn't been furnished in 
volumlnous copies to every counsel; right? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Anti so in your questionnaire you own a Koran. 

po: Yes, I do. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Have you studied it? 

PO: I wrote in there also that I would not call myself a 
student of the Koran.' I have looked at it. It was 
given to me in Saudi by one of the Saudis with whom I 
worked, and he referred me to some verses, and I looked 
at them. If you have ever been in Dhahran at night 
there is not a lot to do on the air base there. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And I assume it is in English? 

po: It is a 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Combination. 

po: One side is English and one side is Arabic. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And you obviously read the English side and not 
the Arabic side. 

po: Yes. Obviously, I read the English side, not the Arabic. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Thank you, sir. I have nothing further. 

po: Thank you. Trial? 

I' (LtCol _: Yes, sir. First of all on the advising the 
members on the law, do you -- will you be able to give 
all the members equal voice regardless of rank or their 
legal background they mayor may not have? 

PO: In the military order the President said that the 
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commission is to be the triers of fact and law. That's 
what he wants and that is what we are going to give him. 
Yes. 

P (LtCol 1IIIIIIIt: Regarding the relationship with 
Mr. Altenburg, first of all if you are looking at your 
record he would note that you had combat experience as 
an infantry officer in Vietnam. Is that right, sir? 

po: Yes. 

P (LtCol You have five bronze stars; is that right, 

po: Yeah. 

P (LtCol He would also note that you had ten years 
as a military judge? 

po: Right. 

P (LtCol Sir, as a military judge did you have 
to know the convening authority? 

po: Yeah, right. 

P (LtCol Did you ever have the occasion to be friends 
convening authority? 

po: I say the only friend I was with was a guy who ran a 
special court once down in Vincenza. We aren't friendS 
really with three star and two star generals when you 
are a light colonel or colonel, but if you are talking 
about a personal acquaintance where = knew them, yeah. 
I wouldn't call myself and General Luck or General 
Keene, or -- I wouldn't call us friends, you know. 

P (LtCol They were acquaintances like that? 

po: Right. 

P (LtCol How did you handle that situation? I am sure 
were impartial and fair? 

po: I never worried about it. I just did my job, my duty. 

P (LtCol Sir, do you care what Mr. Altenburg thinks 
ruling or decision you miqht make') 
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PO: No. You want to ask what I think Mr. Altenburg wants from 
me? 

P (Lteol 11IIIIIIII: Do you know, sir? 

po: 

P (LtCol 

PO: 

No, I asked would you lcke to ask me what I think he 
wants? 

Yes, sir. 

Okay. I think John Altenburg, based on the time that I 
have known him, wants me to provide a full and fair 
trial of these people. That's what he wants. And I 
base that on really four years of close observation of 
him and my knowledge of him. That's what I think he 
wants. 

P (LtCol_ 
for you if 
of yours? 

Do you think there would be any repercussions 
he d~sagreed with a ruling of yours or a vote 

PO: 

P (LtCol 

po: 

You all went to law school; right? 

Yes, sir. 

Remember that f~rst semester of law school and everyone is 
really scared? 

P (LtCol _ Yes, sir. 

po: Well, I went on the funded program and all the people 
around me were ceally scared, but I sald to myself, hey 
the worst that can happen is I can go back to being an 
infantry officer, which I really liked. Well the worse 
thing that can happen here, from you all's viewpoint, if 
you think about that, is I go back to sitting on the 
beach. I don't have a professional career. 
Mr. Altenburg is not going to hurt me. Okay. 

P (LtCollIIIIIIII: Yes, sir. Nothing further, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Just one thing, sir. 

po: Sure. 

DC (Mr. Dratell) With respect to -- I don't know where this was 
part of the packet --

18 



PO: That's all right. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): This is the list of the nom1nees for presIding 
officer. I don't know It It 1S already in the packet, 
but if not we could just ma<k this as an RE. 

po: I haven't seen it, but you may mark it as an RE. 

DC (Mr. Dratelli: Okay, and that woul.d be RE 
we are up to? 

is that 13 that 

AP IMaj Colonel BrownbacK, I just note that that is an 
ar.hment to our defense (iled motion that is presently 

before the court. 

po: We will just do this and we can put it in the next one. 

Review Exhibit 12 was marked for the record. 

poe IMaj Mori): Defense counsel has provided the cOllrt reporte, 
with the two sheets of the list of selection for the 
presiding officers. 

PO; Okay. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): I have nothing further, s:r, thank you. 

PO: PrOfieclltion, chaLlenge? 

P (LtCol _ No, sir. 

po: Defense? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, sir, on the same grounds basically 
yesterday that we explored again today which is the 
relationship with the appointing authority and al50 on 
the -- al~o on the advice to the commission members on 
the law ~nd also --

po: Okay. Just a second. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And also the lack of definition of Mr. IIIIIIII 
role and impact that that wDuld have on both on ~ 
presiding officer and the commission as a whoLe, the 
other members here individually w'oo are in combination. 

po: Okay. 

19 



DC (Mr. Dratell): And also the ground that was raised yesterday 
with respect to the speedy trial issue and comments 
either were or were not nade I was not at the meeting so 
it was impossible for me to say --

po: Predisposition? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, exactly. 

po: Okay, what else? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): That's it. 

F (LtCol Yes, sir, the government opposes that 
"irst of all, the role o~ we 

is just an obJection to Mr. ~e. 
There's no evidence that affects your impartiality and 
in fact throughout this it's clear that we have gotten a 
very independent presiding officer who is not swayed, 
certainly would not be swayed by Mr. liliiii and he does 
not and has not provided legal advice, is nut ~roviding 
legal advice. We do not believe that is any real basis 
for challenge of you, sir. 

The relationship with Mr. Altenburg we believe that is 
not problematic. Again, we have a very independent 
presiding officer. Mr. Altenburg is looking at various 
people as candidates and he comes across somebody who 
happens to know his reputation, sterling reputation as a 
military judge. He is looking at a military record and 
has seen combat experience in Vietnam, he has seen five 
bronze stars, heroism in Vietnam, somebody that can 
stand and not be afraid to say no to Mr. Altenburg or 
anybody else. 

po: I appreciate the comment, but I would have the gunny note 
that I don't agree with heroism in Vietnam, but go on. 

P (LtCol Yes, sir. We would also note ten years as a 
judge. That makes a presiding officer stand 

out with somebody who has an exceptional amount of 
experience as the military judge and that's somebody who 
knows how to maintain integrity and independence. And 
we believe that there is no grounds for your challenge, 
sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Thank you, just so I can articulate two subsets 
of the challenges. One is that with respect to the 
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po: 

celationship wiLh Mr. Altenburg. It is also with 
respect to the perception of the public, the panel. 

Major Mori's 9121N? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, that's correct. 

po: He is writing a motion on that. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And the same with respect 
result of his employment with the 
......... and his position there 
cor.Junction with the substantive. 

pc: Okay. 

P (LtCol. _ Well, sir. first we don't accept that as the 
~and second of all we don't see how that is such 

a bad appearance. Someone who has been a dislrict 
attocney becomes a judge. Does that mean that he is 
biased? So somebody who works at _ who is noW 
helping administr-ative matters now tor the conunissior .. 
How is that a bad appearance. And your appearance with 
your backqround and experience as a presiding officer We 
do not feel that there is any bad appearance on that. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Just that -- we don't have a situation where 
someone was a district attorney and is now a judge, we 
have someone who is still a district attorney and is now 
the assistant to a judge l<ho may have adjudicated 
functions in a commission process. 

pc: Okay. I have considered the challenges made by the 
defense. I am going to forward a transcript of voir 
dire which contains a reference to RE 12, so that will 
go along with it. The transcript -- that wlll include 
the transcript of the challenge and the prosecution's 
response. In addition, Major Mori. that motion on the 
912 IN) I1',atters and your motion on the adjudicative 
function advice and your motion on the impropriety of 
the presiding officer providing legal advice -- you 
understand what I am saying? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes. sir. 

po: Can you have those to opposj ng counsel by the ./th? You 
notice how much time I am giving YDU, for me that is a 
heck of a long time. And that way they can comment --
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no, SO this will get up to Mr. Altenburg all at the same 
time so he can consider your request for a different 
standard -- for a standard so he can consider your 
motion concerning whether Or not I should provide advice 
and your motion concerning the adjudic~fiive advice all 
at the same time. You get it on the 7 ,triath and you 
have it back to, your comments ready by the 10 and I 
will t€K to get all of this stuff in to Mr. Altenburg on 
the 10 because he is the one that makes the decision. 

ADO (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: 

P (LtCol 

PO: 

Okay. 

Yes, sir. 

Okay. Under the provisions of MCl 8(3) (A) (3), I am not 
going to hold the proceedings in abeyance. NOw, before 
I call the members in J am going to ask this question; 
who is lead? 

DC (Mr. Dratell) I am lead. 

?O: Okay. I am going to tell the members that when they come 
back in. Okay? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, sir. 

PO: J am going to call the members in and then we will go 
through voir dire with them generally, okay? Ready? 
Call the members. 

Please be seated. The commission will come to order. 
Let the record reflect that all the parties present when 
the commissioned recessed are once again present. 

The members are present. 

Mr. Dratell, you are the lead attorney for Mr. Hicks; 
correct? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): That's correct, sir. 

PO: That means, members, generally when I calIon the defense, 
generally he will be speaking for the defense. However, 
if Major Mori or Major Lippert have been cast they may 
pop up too. 
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P (LtCol 

Have all members completed a member questionnaire? 
Apparently so. 

Both sides have been provided a copy of those 
questionnaires? 

Yes, sir. 

DC (Mr. Oratell) Yes, sir. 

po: Apparently so. Trial, please have the a questionnaires 
marked as the next RE. 

P (LtCol These will be marked 13 Alpha through Echo at 

po: Those questionnaires will be sealed. 

Members, there has been an objection to my instructing 
you that I will instruct you and advise you on the law. 
I have not granted that objection, but I am telling you 
that a motion will be forthcoming on that objection that 
you all will be seeing at some later time. Keep it in 
mind. Right, defense? 

DC (Mr. Oratell): That's correct, sir. 

po: 

P (LtCol 

Okay, members, several of you indicated in your 
questionnaires that you had some apprehension for the 
safety of your families because 0: your participation in 
this military commission and the release of yo~r names 
to the public. I can't go back and unbell that cat. 
But do all members recognize that it wasn't the trial or 
defense that released your name? Apparently all members 
recognize that. 

Will the release of the names, of your names, affect in 
any way your ability to listen to the argu~ents of trial 
and defense and Serve as a member in according to your 
duty in this case? Apparently not. 

Counsel, you both stated that you intend to refer the 
voir dire in case of U.S. v. Hamdan and :ocus question 
to the members based on that voir dire. This is the 
same, this is RE 10 and 11. You all still going with 
that? 

Yes, sir. 
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DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, sir. 

po: Mr. Hicks, once again this is the exhibit that counsel 
have in front of you. You weren't here, but 
I~r. Dratell -- some member of the defense team was here 
for all voir dire; right? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): That's correct, sir. 

po: 

ACC: 

po: 

Do you object to them basing their questions on this? 

No, sir. 

Okay. Okay, Members, I asked you all several general 
questions yesterday. Any member want to change the 
answer to any of those general questions 1 asked about 
YOllr participation? Apparently not. 

Members, right now 1 do ask you this, probably the most 
important question of all of the voir dire: Does each 
member understand that he must disregard anything that 
he may have been exposed to in any way and decide the 
case of the United States v. Mr. Hicks solely on the 
evidence and the law presented to you in this courtroom? 
Apparently all members understand that. 

Members, if counsel dsk you a question and it is going 
to take you into a classified area -- you all know where 
that is, they don't, so it is on you to say can I hold 
that for a closed session. They aren't going to keep 
reminding you of that. Apparently all m€mbers 
understand that. 

General voir dire, trial? 

P (LtCol 1 am Lieutenant 

po: 

wi me s my co-counsel, 
and my paralegal, Staff Sergeant 
we represent the United States 0 

Just a couple questions. first of all, since arriving 
here at Guantanamo Bay and up to the present has any 
member been contacted by the medja, any contact with any 
media? 

Apparently not. 
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P (LtCol hnticipating the trial date may be in January 
may be further trips to Guantanamo Bay, is 

there anything in any member's professional or personal 
life that may impact their ability to act as a member? 

po: Apparently not. 

P (LtCol 

about 

Does any member receive, have any specific 
formation of, have any knowledge specifically 
facts in this case? 

po: Other than what you received in the packet before you? 
Apparently not. 

P (LtCol Each side in this matter is entitled to a 
r and this of course will require your focused 

attention. NOW, is there anything at all in anybody's 
background or life or otherwise that may interfere with 
your ability to give each side a fair trial? 

po: hpparently not. 

P (LtCol _ That's all I have, sir. 

po: "1r. DratelL? 

DC (Mr. Oratell): Good morning, I am Joshua Dratell. 1 am 
civilian defense counsel for Mr. Hicks seated here next 
to me. Also are detailed defense counsel Major Michael 
D. Mori, United States Marine Corps, and Major Jeffrey 
Lippert, United States Army. Major Mori will conduct 
the joint voir dire of the commission members. Thank 
you. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Good morning, members. Do all members agree that 
the President has ordered that Mr. Hicks be provided a 
full and fair trial? 

po: Apparently so. 

hOC (Maj Mori): Colonel _ in your opinion what 'would be 
required for a fair trial? 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt I believe first and foremost a fair trial must 
be transparent and understandable to both the public and 
the defense and the prosecution. I think a fair trial 
must also include me:nbers of this commission to be fair 
and open minded and judge this case on the merits that 
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are presented before us and not any external information 
that may have been gathered by the commission by some 
other means. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you think it is important to have live 
witnesses here so that the defense can confront 
witnesses against Mr. Hicks? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII I think that would be your choice on that and if 
~oose to do that we will listen to that openly, 

with an open mind and understanding, to try to 
understand it. 

ADC (Ma] Mori): Do you think to be a fair trial it would be 
fairer if witnesses were brought here to testify against 
Mr. Hicks vice 

po: Yes, Colonel 

P (LtCol 

po: 

I am going to object, sir, this is 
iV8. 

Let's let him argue just for a second. Okay? 

ADC (Maj Mori): vice just a piece of paper that the defense 

CM (Col 

couldn't ask questions of? 

My personal opinion, the ability to look at 
and hear their answers is probably advantageous 

for me to better understand the facts in the case. 
Whether that's the case or not because of the 10gistlCS 
I can't say. I will just -- I will judge the facts as 
they are presented to me in either way. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Do all members agree with what Colonel liliiii 
expressed? 

po: Apparently so. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Would all members agree that it is important for 
a fair trial for both sides to have access to the same 
evidence? 

po: Apparently so. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Would all members agree to have a fair trial, it 
is important to have both sides to have sufficient ti~e 
to prepare and investigate the case? 
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PO: Apparently so. 

ADe (Maj Mori): Do all members understand that it 1S more 
difficult to go back and investigate things that have 
occurred after a substantial period of time from that 
event? 

po: Apparently so. 

AOC (Maj Mori): And that delay, that time period may cause the 
need to conduct more work and investigation? 

po: Apparently so. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Does every member agree that to have a fair trial 
and hold someone responsible for their conduct that it 
is only fair that that person know, before they do 
something, that it is a crime? 

po: We have a question from Colonel IIIIIIII 
CM (Col _ Sir, I believe that you are asking me to 

interpret whether the law is valld or not and I don't 
think in this forum right now that we should answer that 
question. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, I am not asking to interpret the law. I am 
asking -- looking more to judge and to look at the 
members' individual views and how their individual view 
would be. That's really what I am asking right now to 
determine --

CM (Col _ Sir, in my person opinion, ignorance of the law 
is not a defense. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Does any other -- does any member believe that it 
wouldn't be fair to hold someone responsible for doing 
something when they had nO idea that it wasn't criminal. 

po: You got the panel -- at least you got the presiding 
officer confused on that one. Members, do all members 
agree that if the legislature of [lorida if I was 
hu:a-h~oping in Orlando on the lS of Culy 2001 and on 
the lS of January 2002 the legislature of Florida passed 
a law saying that hula-hooping as of January 1, 2000 was 
unlawful, would you all agree that's bad, makes it an ex 
pas facto law? Apparently all members agree with that. 
There, can you state --
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ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. I should have put it simply, sir. Do 
you think that the principles or does any member believe 
that the prlnciples of freedom of speech, racial 
equality, liberty, and justice are principles that only 
belong to America or do they belong to all of mankind? 

po: What do you mean by that? I am really asking, what do you 
mean? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Are those principles that in the individual 
members' views apply only to Americans or to all people 
in the world? 

po: You mean do the members -- do you mean does Brownback wish 
that everyone in the world had all those freedoms that 
you just talked about? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

FO: Yes, I do wish that everyone in the world had all those 
freedoms that you talked about. 

ADC IMaj Mori): All members agree? 

po: Apparently so. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Anrl do you thin:': it would be fair to hold conduct 
committed by a non u.s. citizen not of the United States 
and condemn that conduct when U.S. citizens could do 
that conduct in the United States and would not be 
condemned. 

P (LtCol Sir, I am going to object again. This is 
narrowly focused to determine whether there is 

bias on any part of the membe~. 

PO: Go on. If you can make them unde~stand that question, 
then you can ask it. 

ADC IMaj Mori): In conduct, is it fair for conduct committed by a 
non-U.S. citizen in another country, for the U.S. to 
condemn that conduct; yet, if a U.S. citizen did it 
within United States it would not be a crime. Do you 
think that is fair? 

po: I cannot answer that question. Members, can you all 
answer it? 

28 



CM (Col _ Not yet. 

CM (Col _ I don't understand the question. Give me an 
example. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Sir, if I may --

po: Excuse me, that is Colonel _ and Colonel _ said, 
not yet. 

ADC (MaJ Mori): Whatever it was that a U.S. citizen in the United 
States could do something and would not be a crime, do 
you think it would be unfair for the United States to 
say that if a non-U.S. citizen did it in another country 
to say that that conduct was criminal even though for a 
U.S. citizen to do it in the United States it was legal? 
To impose higher standards on non-U.S. citizens and not 
in the U.S? 

1"0: Who are you asking the question of, Colonel IIIIIIII 
ADC (MaJ Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt Make sure I understand your question. You are 
saying if a law did not cover a U.S. citizen and he did 
something in the United States Clearly he would not be 
held accountable for that action; correct? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col IIIIIIII I am dissecting your question. So if that same 
person was not a U.S. citizen, conducted that same act 
in another country, be it his own or some other country 
other than the United States, should the United States 
hold that individual accountable for that action? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col IIIIIIII Is that a fair representation of your question? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (COl"""" As far as U.S. law do I think it would be fair 
to hold them accountable, no, I don't think that would 
be fair. Would I -- if he fell under the jurisdictlon 
of international law or for whatever reason fell under 
the jurisdiction of the U.S. then clearly because he is 
outside of the continental United States, then yes, I do 
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think it would be fair to hold him accountable. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do all members agree with Colonel 1IIIIIIII 
interpretation? (Indicating) Thank you, sir. 

CM (Col _ You're welcome. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do all members agree that it is important for 
soldiers to distinguish themselves from civilians in 
combat zones? 

po: Apparently so. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Lieutenant Colonel _ how would you expect a 
soldier to distinguish themselves from civilians? 

CM (LtCol ......... I only speak for the United States, but the 
dist1nct uniforms, for example American flag patch, 
something that separates you as an American soldier. 

ADC (V.aj Mori): Would you expect different countries to have 
different ways to distinguish themselves? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII Different countries, yes. 

ADe IMaj Mori): And different cultures? 

CM ILtCol _ Well, that wasn't the original question. 

ADC IMaj Mori): I know. I am just adding to that. Would you 
expect different cultures to have different ways to 
distinguish themselves, cultural differences? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII Cultural differences, yes. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you think a soldier can distinguish themselves 
from civilians by what their actual conduct they are 
engaged in could distinguish them, sir? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Such as flying a plane would be obvious that you 
are in a military marked plane? 

CM (LtCol _ Correct. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you think being in a trench, front-line area 
would distinguish --
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P (LtCol Sir, I am going to object again. r mean the 
proper way to litigate this caSe is to put on the 
evidence, argue what we think the law says and then make 
argument at the end of the case. The defense counsel is 
attempting to argue his case, his entire Case to the 
panel and trying to get -- trying to elicit an opinion 
on something that they have heard no evidence on, nDt 
seen the law on, and it is the unfair way to hold these 
proceedings. 

po: Thank you. Members, you all are being asked an opinion. 
Does any member believe that they are as they sit here 
right now an expert on the law of war, law of armed 
conflict, international law or whatever law you are 
going to be looking at? Apparently not. Go on. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Would all members agree with the 
principle that actions speak louder than words? 

po: Speaking for myself I agree with that as a general rule. 

ADe IMaj Mori): As a general rule, is there any member who 
disagrees with that as a general rule? 

po: Apparently not. 

ADe (Maj Mori): Does any member have any knowledge regarding the 
conflict in Kosovo in the late 1990s? 

po: Generalizing knowledge, 1 was stationed in Germany at the 
t~me. We had troops there in Germany. 

ADe IMaj Mori): What period of time, sir? 

po: I got to Germany in '96 and 1 left Gerrr.any on the 23 rd of 
May 1999. 

ADe IMaj Mori): You had no knowledge, actual involvement of 
support of operations or --

po: I sent a judge there. 

ADe (Maj Mori): Any other member have any knowledge about any 
conflict in Kosovo? 

Negative response from all members except the presiding 
officer. 
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po: 

Does any member have any knowledge about the conflicts 
in Kashmir between Pakistan and the government and the 
Indian government? 

Are you talking about any knowledge other than 
generalized? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Just general knowledge, any knowledge at all? 

CM (Col liliiii: You mean do we know what had happened? 

ADC (Maj Mori): It exists, yes, sir. 

CM (Col -= Yes. 

po: Does any 
Kashmir? 
of it. 

member not know that there is conflict in 
Apparently all members have read 50:1\e records 

ADC (Maj Mori): Beyond just generalized specialized knowledge, 
has any member received any specialized reports, briefs, 
read any articles or any boks on it? 

po: Apparently not. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Are all members aware that they are appointed to 
four military corunissions that are occurring at tho same 
time? 

po: All members know you are here. You have been appointed to 
four military commissions. They are occurring seriatim, 
not at the same time. I am not holding a joint military 
commission. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Yes, sir. One after the other? 

po: Right. 

ADC IMaj Mori): As ym1 are deciding issues of law for the first 
times, do you believe it will be difficult to keep legal 
issues separated from the different corrmissions? 

po: Apparently not. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Colonel _you say no. Why do you feel 
confident in that? 

CM (Co I work in the acquisition career field and I run 
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PO: 

an organization for 300 people and spend about 800 
million dollars a year. I have many, many, many issues 
on my table at one time in any given day. I can keep 
those separate and believe me these four cases I can 
keep the facts separated. 

And the law? 

CM (Col _ And the law. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you think it makes it difficult when you have 
to hear the cases if the cases are heard right one after 
the other the One day to the next day verSUS if there 
were breaks in between? 

PO: Are you asking Colonel _ or the panel? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. I'm sorry. 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt It won't make a difference to me. 

ADC (~aj Mori): Does any member feel it might be difficult to 
keep the facts or legal issues separate from the four 
different commissions? 

PO: Apparently not. 

ADC (MaJ Mori): Does any member believe that having members, 
different members sit on four -- the four different 
commissions would be fairer? 

po: Does any member believe that that's their decision to 
make? 

Apparently no member believes that's their decision to 
make. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Sir, one second please. 

PO: (Indicating) 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, no further general voir dire questions. 

po: Colonel _ 

P (LtCol _: Yes, just one question. Will all members be 
able to keep an open mind and consider evidence as 
presented and consider the law as it is presented and 
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po: 

P (LtCol 

make that fair determination? 

~pparently so from all members. 

I intend to allow and conduct question of members 
outside the presence of other members. Does any member 
or any counsel object? 

No, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): No, sir. 

po: Members, we are about to go into individual voir dire. 
Under the rules I am required to determine what matters 
to consider concerning a challenge if one were to be 
made against any member, including myself, should be 
forwaraed to the appointing authority for his decision. 
I am also required to determine if the proceedings 
should be held in abeyance while challenge is being 
ruled upon and also require to determine to keep the 
voir dire in proper bounds. That's why I will be 
remaining in the courtroom for individual voir dire. 

We are going to recess for IS minutes and start up in 15 
minutes. I will come in and we will bring in the first 
individual member. Okay? 

P (LtC<Jl _: Yes, sir. 

DC (Mr. Drate11): Yes, sir. 

PO: The court is in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1051, 25 August 2004. 

The Commissions Hearing was called to order at 1114, 
25 August 2004. 

po: Please be seated. The commission will come to order. Let 
the record reflect that all parties present when the 
commission recessed are once ~esent. We have a 
new court reporter, Sergeant ........ who's been 
previously sworn. The commission members, other than 
myself and Colonel liliiii are not in the courtroom. 

Trial, individual voir dire of -- oh, I'm providing 
Colonel liliiii a copy of his questionnaire which was 
previously marked as an RE. Trial. 
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P (LtCol Sir, we have none other than that which was 
asked yesterday. 

po: Defense? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, we do, sir, if I may. Good morning, 
Co10nel_ 

CM (Col _: Good morning. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yesterday there was some discussion. I am sure 
if it was with you specifically, but it was certainly 
with all the members and it was again this morning about 
limiting your consideration to what the evidence is in 
this case with respect to Mr. Hicks. You also 
understand that the charge sheet has no evidentiary 
value at all? 

CM (Col liliiii: Yes, of course. 

DC (~r. Dratell): And you give it no weight? 

CM (Col _ Correct. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And with respect to the facts, in terms of the 
President's order declaring Mr. Hicks eligible for this 
commission, as a factual matter, has no weight 
whatsoever in this proceeding? 

CM (Col _ Correct. 

po: Would you -- let me just -- it has weight as to whether or 
not he was jurisdictionally brought here correctly undey 
the requirements. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): But I mean as a matter of evidentiary fact in 
the context of the elements of the offenses. 

po: Yeah. 

DC (Mr. Dratell); And you have been involved in courts-martial in 
your career in the mil~tary? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

DC (Mr. Dratell); As a member of the court-martial -- as a juror 
rather? 
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CM (Col IIIIIIII I've been a juror. I've been a witness. I've 
been a special court-martial convening authority on two 
different periods. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And you've never acted as judge though~ 

CM (Col IIIIIIII NO. 

DC (Mr. Dratell); And have you ever been involved in more than 
one court-martial at a time with a similar set of facts 
or a similar set of legal issues. 

CM (Col IIIIIIII As a convening authority, yes. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): But have you had to make determinations of fact 
or law about separate courts-martial at the same time, 
the way you will in this case? 

CM (Col IIIIIIII That's -- as a captain, I ran numerous summary 
courts-martial, where as the summery court-martial 
officer you arc making determinat~ons of fact and law. 
I would -- it's been a long time, but I'm almost 
positive that I ran more than one summary courts-martial 
at the same time. 

DC (Mr. Dratell); Can you tell us how -- and Colonel liliiii did 
during the group voir dire, but could you tell us how 
for yourself you will keep all of these cases and all of 
the facts and legal issues separate so that you can make 
an individualized determination as to each person before 
you? 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt The same way that I keep other important matters 
in my duties as a commissioned officer separate. 

DC (~r. Dratell): And do you also understand that these 
proceedings may last longer than the average 
court-martial, the trials of these cases may go well 
beyond what an ordinary court-martial may last in a day 
or two days that these may go on for several weeks? 

CM (Col IIIIIIII Yes. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And you understand that that may make it more 
difficult to compartmentalize, properly? 

CM (Col _ I think that's a matter of opinion. I f I have 
to just concentrate on four separate things over an 
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extended period of time it is probably less than what I 
do on a daily basis than duties right now. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): And I know you've read MCO Number 1 -- and you 
have, I assume? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): Because I know it's part of the package that 
you have been given. And you don't have to worry about 
it and I'll read you the section it talks about the 
admissibility of evidence. It's 6(0) (1), MLitary 
Commission Order Number 1, and it says evidence shall be 
admitted if in the opinion of the presiding officer, 
parentheses, or instead if any other member of the 
commission so request at the time the presiding oftlcer 
renders that opinion, the opinion of the commission 
rendered at that time by a majority of that commission, 
close parentheses, the evidence would have a probative 
value to a reasonable person. 

eM (Col 

DC (Mr. 

PO: 

Colonel 

Now, that section essentially leaves to the presiding 
officer the question of admissibility unless a member 
requests a vote of the entire commission on that piece 
of evidence. Is that the way you understand it? - Can I see it? 

Oratell) : Sure. 

I'm passing it to him. 

_viewed the document. 

eM (Col _ Yes, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dra~ell): And essentially, what that does it gives the 
commission at the request of a single member of the 
commission to override the decision of the presidcng 
officer on a question of admissibility of evidence. 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): And are you prepared to exercise that 
responsibility when you deem it appropriate? 

eM (Col IIIIIIII Yes. 
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DC (Mr. Dratell): And are you prepared to do that in an 
affirmative way and not necessarily to wait and look 
around for the other commissioners to see whether they 
are all in agreement to do that when you feel it is 
appropriate to do so? 

eM (Col _ Of course. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): NOw, we've also had discussed -- and the 
presiding officer mentioned it this morning -- that he 
will from time to time advise the remaining commission 
members on legal issues. He also said you're free to 
accept it, to accept that of counsel, to accept your own 
opinion as to legal issues. You recall that obviously? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): And you're not a lawyer? 

CM (Col_ No. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): Have you had any kind of specialized legal 
training of any kind? 

CM (Col _ Military. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): And what would that be? 

CM (Col _ Senior Officer's Legal Courses, things of that 
line. 

DC (Mr. Oratell) Now, as part as the presiding officer's 
instruction to you, he said that you would not be 
required to accept his version of the law. But would it 
be fair to say that because he's a lawyer and a former 
military judge for a significant period of time that it 
would have influence on you? 

CM (Col _ No more influence than yours or the 
prosecutor's. I mean, I can read, and so I will read 
it. If I don't understand it, I will ask enough people 
until I am sure I understand what it is. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): Well, that raises another question, how do you 
foresee getting the assistance you need to make the 
independent analysis, that is your responsibility as a 
commissioner to decide whether it is the presiding 
officer's version, the defense 1 s version or the 
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prosecution's version or some combination of that, that 
that is going to be what your position is? 

CM (Col IIIIIIII Well, I'm sure we'll be in here, and if I have a 
question, I'll ask. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): Now, have you ever made legal determinations 
before of the type that we're anticipating in this case? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII Of the type that we're anticipating in this 
case, no. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Are you comfortable or uncomfortable with that 
responsibility, not having necessarily the training or 
experience doing it? 

eM (Col 1IIIIIIII I'm not uncomfortable with it. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): But it's not the usual court-martial experience 
that you've had? 

CM (Col It's the same type of thing in the Sense that 
ermine law. It's just different laws. 

OC (Mr. Oratell): Now, I want to turn to something else that was 
brought up yesterday, just focussing on one part of it. 
You talked about brief things that you had received in 
the course of your duties with respect to al Qaida and 
other related issues and with respect to whether or not 
you remember them now, if something in evidence jolts 
your memory so that you do recall something in a 
briefing. 00 you understand that you must disregard 
what you heard in that briefing? 

CM (Col IIIIIIII Yes. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): And will you -- how will you keep it from 
corroborating for you the credibility of a particular 
piece of evidence if It matches something that you heard 
in the briefing and that makes you recall it. How will 
you go about that? 

CM (Col IIIIIIII Well, I understand the importance of the 
responsibilities that I have along with the other 
commission members. I understand that that's the 
requirements and I can make that distinction. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): We talked also yesterday about your visit to 
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the World Trade Center two weeks after September 11th 
2001, and you were asked a question of how it made you 
feel -- and I don't have the transcript right in Eront 
of me -- but by my recollection is that your answer, 
said that you thought -- I think you were asked whether 
it made you angry, and you said that you thought it 
would make any American angry or any person angey, I 
don't remember the precise part of that answer; but you 
didn't answer really as to yourself, so I would just ask 
you again. If you could tell us how it made you feel, 
specifically? 

CM (Col It did not make my angry. Did you go there? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): I actually live, yes --

po: Colonel _ please. It is the other way around. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): 

CM (Col_ 
made me 
life. 

I know very well. Believe me, I live there. 

I would imagine it did not make me angry. It 
sad. It waS a lot of destruction and loss of 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes. And it was an intense scene, was it not, 
even two weeks after. It was still smoking? 

CM (Col_ Yes. 

DC (Mr. Dratell) : Debris? 

CM (Col - Yes. 

DC (Mr. Dratell) : The facade, broken? 

CM (Col_ Yes. 

DC (Mr. oratell): How were you going to separate that experience 
and those feeling that you had, not necessarily anger, 
but the feelings that you did have from your 
consideration oE the evidence in the case against 
Mr. Hicks? 

CM (Col_ It's separate things. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): Can you just explain for us how you go about 
doing that. Because we -- you understand that we need 
to know and be confident that you can be a fair 
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commissioner, separate those things out/ and give 
Mr. Hicks the fair trial that he's due and that we 
understand that you understand is your responsibility. 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt I understand. I've read these charges. I 
understand that the fact that anybody's charged with 
anything doesn't apply more than that they're charged 
with it. And I make no connection in roy mind between 
those charges and my visit to the World Trade Center. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Nothing further, thank you. 

P (LtCol Nothing, sir. 

po: 

P (LtCol 

po: 

Thank yo~ase return to the deliberation room and tell 
Colonel _ to come in. 

Let the record reflect that Colonel _ has left the 
courtroom and Colonel _has entered the courtroom. 
Please be seated. Let the record reflect that I'm 
handing Colonel _ his questionnaire. 

Trial? 

Nothing, sir. 

Defense? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Good morning, sir. 

CM (Col _ Good morning. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, following up on yesterday's voir dire of you 
what legal, specific legal training have you had? 

CM (Col _ None. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Have you do you have any relatives or close 
acquaintances that are attorneys? 

CM (Col_ No. 

ADC (Maj Mari): How do you see this new opportunity to be 
involved in deciding issues of law and the criminal 
consequences: 

CM (Col _ What do I think about it/ feel about it? 
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ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col _ Well, I've been ordered to it. I'm ordered to 
do it so it doesn't matter what I think or feel about 
it. I have been ordered to do it so I take it 
seriously. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, but that is a different type of challenge 
that you haven't had training for. 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt You're a Marine so you will understand my answer 
to that. In 25 years I've been forced into a lot of 
different circumstances that I had little training for. 
Specifically, this particular situation, but as training 
as an officer, I rose to the occasion. . 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. NOW, you know Colonel Brownback is an 
eXperienced judge advocate from the Army. 00 you feel 
that you may be looking to him to see what area he might 
be looking at on the law, or what his opinion on an 
issue might be? 

CM (Col _ If I don't understand the law as it is written 
it would be purely because there's a language I'm 
unfamiliar with and I would certainly ask him to explain 
that. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, if we're getting specifically into your 
billet with CENTCOM, just in general, in your 
questionnaire, Question 19 you mentioned that a 
reasonable person might think there was an appearance of 
impartiality. Was that just based solely on your role 
with CENTCOM, is that what you're dealing with, sir? 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt Yes. 

ADC (Maj Mori): When did you first get involved and get tasked to 
deal with Operation Enduring Freedom? 

eM (Col IIIIIIIt On 9/11. 

ADC (Maj Mori): On 9/11. And your main focus was to deal with 
the detainee operations or the whole war plan, sir? 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt In my billet as the Chief of Operations at 
Central Command, in joint operations center, I focussed 
on a broader plane --
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ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, I am going to ask -- if I get into areas 
that -- how did you know who the enemy was in 
Afghanistan? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII You're really asking me a question that's down 
at the tactical level. I really didn't get involved In 
having to make that determination because that's not 
where I focused my energy. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Was there any targeting regulations, or 
discussions, ROE type thing that helped identify who the 
enemy was that you are aware of? 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt Yes, ROE certainly helps you describe that. And 
I can't go into the detail with that in this session. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII Happy to in the closed session. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did you get reports back from -- obviously the 
conduct of operations in Afghanistan, did you get to 
read reports of engagements? 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt Sure. 

ADC IMaj Mori): What was the general description of the type of 
reports you read? 

CM (Co You mean what was the content or what were the 
referring to? 

ADC IMaj Mori): Yes, sir, what the reports referred to. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII Well, there were situation reports as typical of 
what we were seeing from our components. There are 
different components: The air component, the land 
component, the naval component, and the Marine 
component. Beyond that, I won't discuss in this forum. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Sir, is it fair focusing on the first --

AP (Maj 

PO: 

Colonel Brownback, could we ask Colonel liliiii 
o spea up. 1 believe the court reporter and counsel 

are having trouble hearing him. 

Please speak a little bit louder. 
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ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, focussing 0Bhthe first three months of the 
conflict from October 7 ,forward. First three months 
that was mostly -- not too many bodies on the ground? 

CM (Col _: Correct. Tha t 's correct. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Special forces. 

CM (Co 1 _ Tha t 's common know ledge. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Were you intimately involved on how those units 
were operating and where and what they were doing? 

CM (Col _ Not really. That was not -- the mission was 
given to the land competent commander and how he 
distributed those forces, and how he tasked those forces 
was up to him. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Were you involved in planning or anticipating 
what type of resistance would be met by U.S. forces? 

CM (Col Say that again. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Were you involved in anticipating what type of 
resistance the U.S. forces might meet? 

CM (Col_ 

ADC (Maj Mori): And do you recall what the basic Sense of what 
resistance would be from the Taliban? I guess I could 
ask -- rephrase the question, sir? 

CM (Col __ 

ADC (Maj Mori): At October 7th , prior to us actually starting 
with war, what was the sort of situation in Afghanistan 
that was going on between the Taliban and the northern 
alliance. Were you aware of that? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII I was, but for me to recall that without going 
back to the records, I mean that would be difficult. I 
mean clearly there was contact between the two. I don't 
recall how much or how little. For me to describe that 
in any sense of, you know, putting a metric against it 
would be difficult. 

ADC (Ma) Mori): Yes, sir. There was a sort of conflict going on 
between these two forces, the Tal ibar. and the northern 
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alliance? 

CM (Col _ Sure. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And there were front lines, sir? 

CM (Col _ Some might describe them as front lines, and 
others would say it is not a linear battlefield. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. In your opinion, did the Taliban have 
the right to resist attacks upon its country? 

CM (Col _ You're asking me to make a policy decision and 
that is not for me to m~ke that decision. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Just generally do you feel a country has the 
right to defend itself against attacks? 

CM (Col _ A sovereign country has a right to defend itself 
from an outside attack, yes. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, do you -- what is your understanding of what 
the Taliban, whether it was, or was not, the legitlmate 
government of Afghanistan. 

CM (Col _ My understanding is that it was not recognized 
as a sovereign government. It did not really have a 
government -- a governing authority one would expect. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Now, focussing on your involvement with the 
detainee operations, sir. Do 
recall any names of individuals -CM (Col_ No. 

ADC (Maj Mori) : 

CM :C01 __ 

ADC (Maj Mori): And I obviously asked -- and seeing -- and -­

CM (Col _ You could name 

ADC (Maj Mod): But naming him. 

CM (Col 
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that. That I recognized their name from day in and day 
out; did I focus in on that name, day in and day out, 
no, I did not. 

ADC (Maj Mori): At the very beginning, were you involved with the 
very first -- would you be, I guess, be put in the loop 
if someone was initially ~ or how long would it 
take to get back to you, 1IIIIIIII 

CM (Col _ It depends On whether it was a single individual 
or a group of individuals and sometimes we'd get it 
instantaneously and other times it might take a week, 
sometimes even longer for that information to flow up 
just depending on where the individual was captured and 
the reporting cycle. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And is that something that would have gone right 
here or to jus~ and you? 

CM (Col It would have come through the 
but it would have come through tever 

component was responsible; and in our case for the most 
part, it was the responsibility of the land component 
commander. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. So you do recall John Walker Lyndh's 
name? 

CM (Col 

I would I r",..=, '1 no. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you recall anything else that waS just 
generally about him that you got information from 
Australia? 

CM (Col _ Yes, I would have known that. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Would you know who the u.S. forces were that 
captured him? 

CM (Col _ At the time I probably did know that. Right 
now, I could not recall. 

ADC (Maj Mori): There would be records of that? 
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01 (Col _ I suspect there is, yes, I am Sure. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Now did -- you mentioned yesterday about the 
operation of the Geneva Convention and the conflict in 
Afghanistan. Initially you said it applied or you saw 
some documents saying that it did apply, sir? 

CM (Col _ There was a lot of discussion on that as you 
could probably well imagine and it is centered 
principally around rules of engagement. And again, that 
is one of many, many conversations that I was privileged 
too, but was not in a position to make decisions towards 
Mr. H?amdan **** 11:40:35***. I ~ 
relationship with the SJA down in ............... 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt In the end, once the rules of engagement were 
blessed, then I was in a position to have to work in the 
confines of those rules of engagement. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col _ So specifically, the question about rules of 
engagement and the Geneva Convention -- you know, again, 
this is something that I would have to look back through 
and take a loo~ at the records to find out how all that 
was discussed; but it is more of a policy issue not a 
military decision. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And you mentioned pOlicy and military. 
there's a distinction between a legal decision 
may have to make and a policy decision, sir? 

Do thin~ 
that you 

eM (Col _: Now you're talking about as my role on the 
commission? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII I don't make policy decisions and I don't make 
law decisions. I have to -- I am going to be faced with 
looking at the law and applying to this particular 
unique situation. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And there'S a difference with somebody that has 
the motivation, people who make policy decisions is 
different then what your job is here? 
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CM (Col _ Absolutely. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Is there more for me to cover in the Geneva 
Convention I will reiterate in a different session, 
classified session? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII I don't think so. But I'll leave that up to you 
to make that determination, so. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. What was your knowledge of the 
northern alliance and the U.S. 's interaction with them 
during the conflict I guess? 

CM (Col I would prefer to do that in the closed session. 

ADC (Maj Mori): What ~~s your knowledge of the Taliban before 
September 11 ,sir? 

CM (Col _ None. 

ADC (Maj Mori): What ~~s your knowledge of al Qaida before 
September 11 ? 

CM ICol_ 
stuff. 

None. With exception of obviously the general 
I mean -- I did not focus in on it. 

ADC (Maj Mori); You had some basically in 

CM (Col_ Yeah, exactly. 

ADC IMaj Mori): If loss of life occurred in 
did for U.S. forces, was that some 
reported to you as well, sir? 

CM (Col_ Yes. 

when it 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you recall when the first hostile casualty 
occurred? 

CM (Col _ Specifically the date? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Just generally, sir. 

CM (Col _ No, I don't know. No, I couldn't tell you ,,,hen 
it occurred. I really can't. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did you interact at all with any coalition forces 
besides the north alliance, any other countries forces? 
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CM (Col d I interact with them? IIIIIIII 

were on 
no. And that is because 
through a land component 

wiLh the 
in the 

But as far as 
eract with them, 

once again they reported 
commander. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
order of plans on 
ground, when they 

But, 
when 
were 

Were you aware On 
coalition forces 
on the ground in 

operational 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you 
sir? 

is that something you can answer here, 

CM (Col_ No. 

ADC \Maj Mori): Sir, you ~entioned you had li~of 
Islam from briefings. Briefings in IIIIIIIIIIIIIII 
sir? 

CM (Col No. Really it had to do with -- through my l1li 
experience prior to going to Central Command and 

limited discussion of it while at ~ 
but I mean nothing in excruciating detail. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, obviously being around ............... and a 
combatant commander, policy decisio~ that 
combatant commanderls decision? 

CM (Col _ Certainly. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And in policy decisions that come down involve 
some politics. Would you agree with that, sir? 

CM (Col _ I am sure that there were policies that are 
established that had politics involved. Does every 
single policy have politics involved? Your guess is as 
good as mine. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
make as a member, 
has nothing to do 

But here the decislons you have to 
between policy and political impact 
with it? 

CM (Col _ That is correct. 
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ADC (Maj Mori): And I'd like to go back to the knowledge of the 
Taliban. If the defense were to offer evidence either 
through written documents or expert testimony that the 
Taliban in fact was the legitimate government under 
international standards. Is that something that you 
would be open to consider? 

CM (Col _ Absolutely. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Thank you, sir. I have no further questions. 

po: Trial? 

P (LtCol r, your involvement with 

sir, 

-- just to make sure, 
. that was essentially 

Is that correct, 

CM (Col _ Nothing further. 

P (LtCol _ And did you receive any further specific 
~on about the accused prior to being involved 

with this commission proceeding? 

CM (Col _ No. 

P (LtCol Any knowledge that you may have acquired 
ral Command either about the Taliban or 

otherwise would you be able to set that aside and 
consider the evidence that is presented by both sides,in 
this proceeding? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

P (LtCol 

PO: Defense? 

Nothing further, sir. 

ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir. 

po: Thank you. You may return to the deliberation room. 
Please send Colonel _ in. 

Let the record reflect that Colonel _has entered 
the courtroom. 

Trial? 
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? (LtCol None, sir. 

po: Defense? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Good afternoon, sir. Sir, following 
up on yesterday's voir dire. 

po: I apologize, I handed Colonel _ the copy of his 
questionnaire. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, you were actually deployed to Operation 
Enduring Freedom; is that correct? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII That is not correct. Just some individuals from 
my unit who were. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And did any 
killed in action in 

CM (Col~ No. 

ever get injured or 

ADC (Maj Mori): I'm assuming to go farther into the issue without 
the required authorization, do we need to go into closed 
sessiDn; is that correct? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII We can do that if you like, but I can tell you 
right here I was not involved with any of the 
operational tactical level details of those operations. 
So what I tell you in closed session is what I am going 
to tell you here. I don't know very much. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Obviously, that is your unit so it had a big 
impact in the war. 

C~! (Col 1IIIIIIII That is your opinion. What I would say is that 
I provided forces to another government agency and that 
other government agency mayor may not, in your opinion, 
have had a.big influence in that war. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Had a big impact on killing Taliban and al Qaida 
members? 

CM (Col IIIIIIII I don't know that for a fact, sir. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Your evaluation, sir, are you aware of that? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII I'm aware of what I wrote. 
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ADC (Maj Mori): I have a fitness report of officec service 
performance report 22 May 2001 to 21 May 2002, sir. I 
can provide you so you Can --

CM (Col_ I'm well aware of what my fitness report says. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. And so it talked about fantastic 
results tracking and killing Taliban. 

CM (Col _ Yes. If you'll notice that I did not write 
that. That was written and signed by my superiors and 
what I'm telling you is I have no speci~ic knowledge of 
any individual that was or was not killed by my 
organization. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did you ever get -- you got daily briefings on 
the -- at all? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII I did not get daily briefings. I got briefings 
~ly once a week on merely the status of my people 

in term of administratively how they were doing, when 
they were going to rotate back. And I also need to let 
you know when I say my people that also included 
civilian contractors who were under contract to me to 
perform certain duties. 

ADC (Maj Mori): That's fine, sir. Okay, sir. Now did -- what is 
the EC-130 info war system? 

CM (Col __ An EC-130 is a compass call airplane. It is a 
modifled C-130 that is in a general sense used to pick 
up electronic signals. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And--

CM (Col _ And to Jam. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And to jam. 
in the conflict in 

to -- that was utilized 
sir? 

CM (Col __ I believe it was. My role there, to get to the 
pOlnt here, was I was the force sustainer for those 
airplanes. Meaning that when those airplanes rotated 
back and came in from the field, from operational units, 
I made sure that they were maintained properly. If 
theke was depot level maintenance, which means taking 
wings off and engines off, we did that. If there was 
any new equipment that needed to be put on those 
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airplanes, those airplanes would be flown and given to 
me and my team would put that equipment on the airplane, 
test it, and then give it back to what we common refer 
to as the warfighters. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did you ever talk with any of your, the 
individuals that worked with you, when they returned 
about what they did? 

CM (Col _ Which individuals would you be talking about, 
sir? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Dealing with the Predator, sir. 

CM (Col _ Dealing with the Predator? I did hav" 
discussions with them about some of their operations 
with none of the tactical details; things such as how 
long were you gone, did they take good care of you, 
always make sure that we got all your paperwork in for 
getting proper pay, administrative type details. It was 
only at one point in time that I was ever given 
information about the details of any operations, we 
can't talk about that here and what I can tell you is 
all I was told was where Some of my folks were going to 
be. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Okay, sir. 

CM (Col ~ And that was it. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did some of your people -- were they part of Task 
Force Sword? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII They were not, as far as 1 know. That term is 
not familiar with me. 

ADC (Maj Mori): In Question Number 41 on your questionnaire, sir, 
you mentioned again, standing tall with the threat of 
terrorism. Can you explain to me again what that means 
to you, sir? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII What I intended to say there -- and I apologize 
to the court for not expanding on it so that we could 
avoid some of these questions -- is that much llke many 
of the threats that have faced this country throughout 
its history the American people have found a way to 
sacrifice and do what it needed to do to endure. I 
would hope that the American people would do the same in 
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this case and I'm proud to be part of the Department of 
Defense and the Air Force during this time when our 
country needs us to do that. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Thank you, sir. And part of that standing tall 
would be to maintain our values? 

CM (Col _ Absolutely. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And a fair trial is one of our inherent values in 
this country? 

CM (Col _ Absolutely. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, I know that we talked a little bit before I 
asked you about the legal making -- legal decisions and 
being involved with multiple commissions. I would like 
to ask you SOme more of the following. But you've had 
no legal training; is correct, sir? 

CM (Col _ None. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And--

CM (Col _ None other than the annual briefings that we get 
on the laws, on the conflict and those kinds of things. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Have you been a member in a 
court-martial before? 

CM (Col _ I have not. 

ADC (Maj Morl): Have you been a convening authority for a 
court-martial? 

CM (Col _ 1 have not although I have been a commander with 
UCMJ authority. I have never had to do that. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you have any close friends or any relatives 
that are attorneys? 

CM (Col_ No. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And you don't think it will be a challenge to 
deal with legal issues in the commissions? 

eM (Col _ I believe that there will be legal issues that 
will have to be discussed and understood, but I also 

54 



understand my role on this commission is to both judge 
the law and the facts. Which means that if I had a 
question about the law, I would look to various 
resources including the defense counsel, prosecution, 
and Colonel Brownback to help me answer those questions. 
If I don't get a sufficient answer on that, then I will 
seek help through the court in other ways. I am not 
going to be shy about asking those kinds of questions 
because I am not a lawyer. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. And you're not concerned being 
involved with four different commissions that are going 
on? Well not on the same day, but are occurring 1n 
sequence that you might confuse issues of law or issues 
of fact? 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt Major, I can honestly tell you I don't think 
that is going to be a problem. 

ADC (Maj Mori): You don't think it would be an issue if you 
decide an issue of law in one commission that that 
decision in that commission won't flow over into your 
decision in another commission? 

CM (Col _ If the evidence presented 1n one case brings 
into a question of law in that case and that same 
question of law mayor may not pertain to the next case, 
and that evidence has not been presented, then I'll ask 
the question in that second case. 

ADC (Maj Mori): So you would rely on your knowledge from other 
cases 

CM (Col _ I wouldn't say that --

ADC (Maj Mori): on how you would operate in the next 

po: 

commission? 

Okay. Thank you for being argumentative. Come on, move 
on. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Okay. Yes, sir. 

PO: No. Thank you, Colonel IIIIIIII 
ADC (Maj Mori): I understand, sir, but -- sir, you are expressing 

concern in the questionnaire about concern to your 
families due to publici':y. As you were instructed 
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earlier today, that release of your names was not t~e 
fault of the defense or the prosecution. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII T understand that. 

ADC (Maj Mori): You lost a professional acquaintance in the World 
Trade Center? 

CM (CoL 1IIIIIIII Yes, Colonel __ 

ADC (Maj Mori): And do you think that will impact you at all on 
your ability to sit in this commission? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII While that was a very sad incident and while my 
heart goes out to his family, I can tell you that my 
duty here is to be fair and objective. 

ADC (Maj Mori): It's the nOon tone, sir, they are testing the 
base. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII My duty here is to be fair and objective and I 
will carry out that duty. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Thank you, sir. One minute, sir. Sir, no 
further questions, thank you. 

PO: Trial? 

P (LtCol None, sir. 

['0: Thank you, Colonel IIIIIIII please leave the courtroom. 

CM (CoL 1IIIIIIII So I can send in the next person? 

po: 

P (LtCol 

PO: 

Okay. Trial and defense, it is a -- accordlng to Major 
Mori you just heard the noon tone, which I haven't heard 
since I've been here. The gaIly closes at 1300 which is 
where most people are going to eat. I would rather 
continue on, but I recognize that you all want to eat. 
We'll continue with individual voir dire at 1310, givinq 
everyone a full hour to eat. Any problem with that, 
trial? 

No, sir. 

Defense? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): No, sir. 
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PO: Court is in recess. 

The Commissions Hearing recessed at 1201, 25 August 2004. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1312, 
25 August 2004. 

po: The Commission is called to order. All parties present 
when We recessed are once·again~nt. The presiding 
officer and Lieutenant Colonel liliiii are present. 

I'm passing to Lieutenant Colonel liliiii his 
questionnaire for his use if we need it during this. 

Trial, voir dire? 

P (LtCol None, sir. 

po: Defense, voir dire? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Good afternoon, sir. 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII Good afternoon. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, I'd like to ask you some questions directly 
dealing with your participation in Operation Enduring 
Freedom. 

CM (LtCol IIIIIIII: I understand. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Can you -- when did ~t notified that 
you would be going over to ............. 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII My notification -- this is going to be a 
ballpark flgure -- probably middle of October 01. 

ADC (Maj Mor before the bombing campaign had started 
in do you recall? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII I believe it was after. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And now, you were working directly -- you were at 
Fort Bragg; is that right? 

eM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII This is correct. 

ADC (Maj Mori): So you were working directly with the special 
forces units from Fort Bragg; is that correct? 
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CM (LtCol _ Yes. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Are you part of that -- are you part of the 
special forces unit there? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII I am not special forces, no. 

ADC (Haj Mori): Okay. But were you directly attached to them? 

CH (LtCollIIIIIIII I was not attached to a special forces unit. 
1 was attached to a special operations unit. 

ADC (Maj Hori): Okay. And which ultimately became Task force 
Sword; lS that correct, sir? 

CM (LtCollllllllll Yes. U.S. Central Command stood up various 
task forces over in the gulf, and I was attached to one 
of them. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And that was under General Dale (ph), Task Force 
Sword? 

CM (LtCol IIIIIIII If we're going to go further than that we'll 
need to go into closed session. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Okay. ca~e where on the ground you 
were located in_ 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII I'd like to discuss that in closed session. 

ADC (Haj Mori): Okay. Same if I asked the question when you were 
there? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII Yes, I'm sorry -- well, I can give you the 
ballpark when I was deployed. That was roughly 15 
November 01 through roughly 15 february 02, and that's 
give or take a week or two. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. And what was your role in 

CM (LtCol __ I was an 
offlcer. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Can you explain to me what --

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII Closed session. I apologize, but we'll have 
to go into closed session. 
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ADC (Maj Mori): Okay. Were you involved with -- can were 
you involved with obtaini~g information that had come 
from captured personnel? 

CM (LtCol _ We're going to have to go into closed session, 
I'm sorry. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Okay, sir. You've have no legal training; is 
that correct? 

CM (LtCol _ That's correct. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Ever sat as a court-martial member? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I have not. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Civilian jury duty ever? 

CM (LtCol _ Never been called. 

ADe (Maj Mori): Okay. Any close friends that are attorneys or 
relatives that are attorneys? 

CM (LtCol _ No. 

PO: You've noticed the common response to all the members 
about friends who are attorneys? It's sort of scary, 
isn't it? 

CM (LtCol _ 1 was implying nothing, sir. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yet you are now in a role where you have to 
actually make legal decisions and determinations? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And you're familiar that typically would be done, 
at least in the American judicial system, either 
military or civilian, by an independent judge? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes. 

ADC (~laj Mori): Do you have any hesitations about filling the 
role of the judge without legal experience? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I do not. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Can you explain why not, sir? 
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CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII Why not? Because the commission is based upon 
the documents that have been provided to us. That is 
our role. That has been determined by authorities 
higher than myself. I believe that I am perfectly 
competent as a military officer and professional to 
carry out those duties. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Now, you mentioned in your questionnaire that 
you're slightly concerned about your family might get 
contacted because of the notoriety and you're aware that 
neither the defense nor the prosecution were responsible 
for your name being released in the media? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII Yes, I understand. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Now, you describe in your questionnaire kind of a 
self-study on al Qaida, Taliban, and Islamic 
fundamentalism? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes. 

ADC (Mai Mori): Can you I guess, in a nutshell, dealing with 
al Qaida, what is your understanding of who that is? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII That is the -- you mean specifically what is 
al Qaida as I understand it? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII It is an organization set up under Usarr.a bin 
Laden, Islamic fundamentalists, and that is my 
understanding of al Qaida. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And prior to 9/11, did you have any knowledge of 
al Qaida, sir? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII Very general. 

ADC (Maj Morl): Very general? And what do you believe to be the 
goal of al Qaida? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII Honestly, I do not have a good answer for 
that. 

ADC (Maj Mori): The Taliban, when did 
anything about the Ta1iban? 
9/11 ? 
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CM (LtCol _ I do not recall hearing about the Taliban 
other than in extremely general terms prior to 9/11. I 
knew that the northern alliance and the Taliban were at 
war, and that's about the extent of my knowledge. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, do you feel that the Taliban had the right 
to be defending its country from an attack? 

CM (LtCol _ Defending its country against an attack? 
Well, I think that was the whole reason for contest, is 
whose country was it. 

ADC (Maj Mori): But would you agree with the principle that 
whether it's a good government or a bad government, tr.at 
government in power has the right to try -- an inherent 
right to try and keep itself in power? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII The government in general, yes, I would. 

ADC (Maj Mori): What is your, again, your understanding of 
Islamic fundamentalism as you described? What do you 
how do you distinguish that from just other Islam? 

CM (LtCol _ That's a good question. Islam; c 
fundamentalism, as I understand it, is very focussed on 
Islam, specifically to the, I guess, the deletion of 
other followings, other faiths. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Is that an area of knowledge that you would be 
open to hearing evidence on to help educate you in the 
area of Islam or Islamic fundamentalism? 

CM (LtCol _ Certainly. 

ADC (Maj Marth: Sir, in Question 41, you talked about September 
11 ,driving home, the idea that freedom isn't free, 
and that our military is vital to defend it; is that 
correct? 

CM (LtCol _ That is correct. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you think that the military is also vital for 
them to defend our core val~es as Americans? 

CM (I,tCol _ Yes, I do. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And would you agree that one of those values is 
fairness and equality? 
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CM (LtCol _ Yp.s. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Kind of going back to the questions 1 asked you 
about the legal experience and filling this new role as 
a finder of law or a decider of law, as an intel officer 
you obviously are tr.e person in the know in the unit 
you're working with because of your role as an intol 
officer and your experience; correct, sir~ 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, that is correct. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And you might have senior people in rank to you 
looking to you for information and advice because of 
your job and your experience? 

CM (LtCol _ That's correct. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Is it fair to say that during this commission 
process that you may, as well, look towards Colonel 
Brownback for his experience in his legal background and 
knowledge to help you in dealing with issues in this 
commission? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII In understanding legal terminology and things 
like that, yes, I dc. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you think if he expressed an opinion on a 
legal issue in the deliberation room, do you think that 
might impact on your decisions that you make on the 
issues? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII I believe it would carry as much weight as any 
other member of the panel based upon the rules that have 
been set before us. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And so, sir, you recognize that there could be a 
sort of appearance that he might have influence over 
other members but for the rules that say he shouldn't. 

po: What does that have to do with Colonel IIIIIIII 
ADC (Maj Mori): I'm just asking on his perception, sir. 

last question on this area. I'm moving on. 

CM (::..tCol _ I'm sorry. Could you restate that? 

It's the 

ADC (Maj Mori): You're basing that you won't let it influence you 
based on the rule, but the influence would still be 
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there. But you would have to try to remember, okay, the 
rule says I can't let their influence impact me; is that 
what you're saying, sir? 

CM (LtCol _ It wOClld not be a matter of having -- or 
trying to remember. I would remember. 

ADC (Maj t10ri): Yes, sir. Do you -- du~your units 
that you participated with in"""""", or 
individuals you met, was there any loss of life, U.S. 
casualties? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, there was loss of life. 

ADC iMaj Mori): Do you remember when the first hostile U.S. 
casualty occurred? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I do not. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did it occur while you were in country or after 
you departed, sir; do you recall? 

CM (LtCol _ Well, I'm pretty confident it happened before 
I eVer got in courltry. 

ADC (Maj Mori): As an in tel officer, you have to collect 
information and determine whether it's reliable or not; 
correct, sir? 

CM (LtCol _ That's correct. 

ADC (Maj M~o you think your experience as an 
............. officer will impact your ability here to 
determine the credibility of either what witnesses may 
~mentary evidence, or any type of 
IIIIIIIIIIIIIthat you might receive during this 
commission process? 

CM (LtCol _ I'm not Sure as an officer that's 
necessarily a correct statpmpnr ainly all the 
information is going to have to be weighed against the 
rest of the information, and you base your decision upon 
that. 

ADC (Maj t1ori): And you're aware that the standard that applies 
here to find David Hicks guilty of any charge is beyond 
a reasonable doubt. Do you und~rstand that, sir? 

63 



CM (LtCollllllllll I do understand that. 

ADC (Maj Mori) : 

iur 
your 
you 

you would pass it 

eM (LtCollIIIIIIII Ideally, you're going to have multiple sources 
of information to corroborate or not. I don't know if 
that answers your question. 

A)C (Maj Mori): No, that does, sir. So would you say that beyond 
a reasonable dOubt proof would be higher tha~ that? 

po: 

AJC (Maj 

po: 

Would you like to propose an instruction for hlm on beyond 
a reasonable doubt, Major Mori? I mean, that's a matter 
of law. Do you want to tell him what you think it is 
and ask him if he understands that? 

Mori): Well, sir, I~ng to explore 
performance of his ............. duties where 
making credibility calls. 

his 
he is 

Well, then you may do that, but don't use a legal term to 
do that. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Multiple 
would require before giving 
if it's credible? 

eM (LtCul _ I would not say it's requi red, certainly not. 
But that's -- the more information you have, the better. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And would it also be important to hear how far 
renoved the person is from the source that provides it 
to you? The person that you got the information from, 
did they actually observe the event versus someone who 
heard it from someone else? 

eM (LtCol _ Certainly. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Now, during your time in Operation Desert SLorm, 
did you have any interaction with prisoners thece? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I did not. 
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ADC (~ai Mori): What was your knowledge of the northern alliance? 

CM (LtCol _ Very general based upon new" rp.pnrts or 
reports from documentary-type things. 

ADC IMn] Mori); And~eract with any 
forces In_ 

C'l (HCol _ No, I did not. 

ADC (Ma] Mori): Did some of the service members you work with 
interact with northern alliance forces? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, they did. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did you interact with any coalition partners 
outside the northern alliance forces, service members 
from other countries? 

C~ (LtCol _ We'll need to discuss that in closed session. 

ADC (Milj Mori): Have you ever heard of the name Saif a1 Adel? 

CM (LtCol _ I don't believe I have. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Ibn Sheikh a1 Libi? 

CM (LtCo1 _ No, I have not. 

ADC IMaj Mari): Muhammad htf, also known as Abu Hafs a1 Masrl? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I have not. 

ADC (Maj Mori): During your time in 
hear David Hicks' name? 

did you ever 

CM [LtCol 1IIIIIIII I did hear his name in the media. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did ycu -- anything from the course of your 
actual operations that you were conducclng? 

CM (;,tCol _ No. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did you ever hear any information about an 
Australian who had been captured through your --

CM (LtCol _ No. 
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ACC (Ma] 11ori): Did you, again, during your actual operations 
there, did you learn about ,Tohn Walker Lyndh at all? 

eM (LtCallllllllll Again, only through the media. 

Ace (Maj Mori): Only through the media. Sir, one moment, please. 

The assistant defense counsel conferred with his co-counsel. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, what did you learn from the media about 
David Hicks? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII I just recall that an Australian had been 
captured, and that's really about the extent of it, just 
one more little tidbit of information. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did you form any opinion Or have any thoughts 
When you heard that? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I Was too busy. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did anyone else ever talk to you about what was 
going on there and who they were capturing -- the U.S. 
was capturing? 

CM (LtCol_ I'm not sure I understand. 

ADC (Maj Mori): In relation to David Hicks, other people that you 
captured, not in your operational aspects of it, but 
just in the social? 

CM (LtCol_: No. 

ADC (Ma] Mor~): You -- someone answered, sir, before you, had 
answered that the order tells you that it's this way, 
and so you're going to abide by the order. And all of 
us as military officers have a sort of instinct to 
fOllow the order. Do you feel that you '"ould consider 
either the lawfulness of orders o~ whether those orders 
provide what would be required fo~ a fair trial? 

C~l (LtCol _: Yes. 

ADC (Maj I~ori): And if those orders didn't provide our standard 
of justice, you would be able to say that that order is 
improper, even if was issued by the Secretary of 
Defense? 
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CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII Would I understand or would I be able to 
comment whether or not the order was lawful? Is that 
~he question? 

ADC (Maj Mari): Not just lawful in the typical sense that you 
would say, Marine do this, Marine do this; but in tr.e 
sense that an order written that creates a justice 
system, and you as a decider of law, would you be able 
:0 decide whether or not that system met certain 
standards that are required outside of the Cepartment of 
Defense. 

po: Are you going try to provide a brief to educate him on 
what you think on this? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, I --

po: 

CM (LtCol 

Would you like to wait until he gets that brief? 

1IIIIIIII 
tracking 

I believe I would be2ause I'm not sure I'm 
where he's going. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Are you open to information and arguments that 
might ask you to say the Department of Defense was 
wrong? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII certainly. 

ADC :~lai Mori): And if you saw the evidence and the legal 
arguments and agree with them, you wouldn't hesitate to 
find that it was wrong. 

CM (LtCol IIIIIIII: No. 

ADC (Maj Mori): As an intelligence officer, do you have any 
opinion what techniques can be utilized on an individual 
to gain information from them? 

eM (LtCol IIIIIIII: No, I do not. 

ACC (Maj Mari): Have you received any training in that area? 

CM (LtCol _: No, I r,ave not. 

ADC (Maj Mori): You don't deal with the collection of 'lUnan 
intel? 

CM (LtCol IIIIIIII: No, I don't. 
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ADe (Maj Mori): Do you work with or have been associated with 
others that that was part of their job? 

CM (LtcollIIIIIIII I've been associated with them, yes. 

ADC (Maj Morl): Have they ever discussed with you what type of 
techniques they may use too? 

CM (LtCol _ No, they have not. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Do you think that the techniques employed on a 
person to gain ~nformation would be important to know to 
wecgh the credibility of that information obtained? 

eM (LtCol _ Yes, I do. 

ADC IMaj Mori): Sir, I have no more questions. 

eo: 

P (LtCol 

po: 

P (LtCol 

po: 

Trial? 

None, sir. 

Thank you. You may return to the deliberation room. 
Please tell Colonel _ to come in. 

Lel the record reflect that Colonel _ has left the 
courtl:oom and that Colonel _ has entered it. 

I just provided Colonel _ his copy of the 
questionnaire. 

Trial? 

None, sir. 

Defense? 

DC (Mr. Dr~ Yes, sir, thank you. Good afternoon, Colonel 
_ Lieutenant Colonel_ 

eM (LtCollIIIIIIII Yes. Good afternoon, sir. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): I want to take you back yesterday just tc 
explore a little further some of the answers from 
yesterday. And the first is, with respect to what 
you've conceded were strong emotions about September 
11th, that you would take your eftotion out of it, with 
respect to your duties with the commission. And I just 
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want to know how you intend to do that? 

CM (LtCal 1IIIIIIII Sir, the way I intend to do that is to look at 
the Case objectively and try to put my emotions aside, 
which I will. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): But without knowing what the evidence is in 
advance and without knowing what the legal issues that 
you're going to decide -- without knowing them now in 
advance, how can you assure us that somethlng will not 
rekindle this emotion and interfere with your ability to 
be obJective? 

CM (],tCol _ I can only give you my word, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Well, you want to do your duty in this case; 
correct? 

CM (LtCol _ That is correct, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And you don't want to refuse an assignment that 
you consider an important one in the context of not 
only -- not necessarily your career, what you consider 
in the context of the military. 

CM (LtCol_ That is correct, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): So you're trying to overcome this emotional 
issue that you have by trying to stay obJective? 

CM (LtCol _ That is a correct statement, sir. 

DC (Me Dratell): But you've never been in this position before, 
I take it? 

CM (LtCol _ No, not at this level, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And that has to do not only with facts, but 
also with respect to making legal decisions? 

CM (LtCol __ I've made lega: decisions under UCMJ onl y, 
Slr. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): But not as a judge. 

CM (LtCol _ Never as a iudge, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And are you familiar with what are called mixed 
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questions of law and fact that involve a particular 
application of a legal principle to a set of facts that 
may be different from one case to another case and how 
the Jaw is applied? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I cannot say I'm an expert at that, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Well, what we're concerned obviously with is 
the ability to get an objective panel that can give 
Mr. Hicks a fair trial. And as you sit here now in 
advance, I just -- I'm concerned about how you can 
assure us that your emotions will not intrude. And I'll 
just give you an example, and it may have sOIT.ething 
even if it has to do with Mr. Hicks, I think we agree 
that it would be inappropriate to let the emotions get 
in the way; correct? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII Yes, emotions will not get in the way, sir. 

DC (M.!:. Oratell): But eVen things that have nothing to do with 
Mr. Hicks may raise emotions with you that would 
interfere with your ability to do the job which you 
can't even anticipate now because you're not in the 
situation. I want to just give you an example. The 
charge sheet, looking at the charge sheet, it talks 
about the history of al Qaida; and it talks about tha= 
al Qaida was formed in 1989, a time When Mr. Hicks was 
13 years old. Yet something in the presentation of 
evidence with respect to that could trigger an emotional 
response for you. And I just want to know how you can 
assure us that that's not going to interfere when you 
say you have these strong emotions? 

CM (~tCol _ Sir, I'm a very passionate person, and I 
believe in justice. It's probably one of my moral 
absolutes, that I believe in justice; and everyone 
should receive a fair trial. That's one at the 
foundations of my life and I believe justice under the 
law should be served both ways for Mr. Hicks aCld 
yourself. And that is my -- probably, my strongest 
belief, one of my core values that I like ~o identify 
myself with, sir. 

DC (Mr. oratell): You understand with respect to the charge sheet 
that I just read from, that as a matter of evidence, 
this has nO value whatsoever? 

CM (LtCo] _ I understand, sir. It's just a charge shee'::. 
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DC (Mr. Dratell): And with respect to the President's 
determination that Mr. Hicks is eligible to be charged 
as a matter of what's in that determination as a matter 
of fact also is to be given no weight by you? 

eM (LtSol _ I unde!Cstand that, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Now, you'll be hearing multiple cases, and we 
want to be sure about whether or not you feel 
comfortable with deciding different issues and different 
cases, seeing witnesses perhaps in one case, seeing the 
same witness in other cases, and being able to judge 
that witness or that issue solely on what is before you 
with respect to lhat particular person. And I want to 
get your thoughts on that process, if you've ever had it 
before, if it makes you feel comfortable, uncomfortable, 
confident, how you feel about that? 

CM (LtCol _ I'm very comfortable that I can 
compartmentalize those issues, sir. One case being one 
case, another case being another case. Based on the 
duties that I've performed in the past -- I'm a deputy 
brigade commander for an aviation unit, multiple issues 
over multiple times and multiple things that I have to 
do; and I do them fairly well, sir. So I think I Can do 
the same in this setting and commission. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): It's not just multitasking. understand what 
you're going to be facing. It's not just mult~task~ng. 
It's taking almost the same information oc the same 
types of issues with respect to one person, and then 
eliminating that from your deliberation with respect to 
another person with almost, maybe the Same facts, maybe 
the same witness, maybe the same legal issue. Different 
facts, different persons, so it's not the same as being 
able to handle more than one task at a time. 

eM (LtCol _ Understood, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And do you have experience with that in the 
context of what we're talking about? 

CM (LtCol _ In a legal setting, no, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): If the pre~ officer might provide 
Lieutenant Colonel liliiii the MCO Number 1, please. 

:'he presiding officer handed MCO-l to Lieutenant Colonel _ 
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DC (Mr. Dratell): If you could look at section 6(0) (1; -- and 
unfortunately, the copy that 1 have is not numbered, 
there are no page numbers -- but it's about half-way 
through the document; and toward the bottom, it's a 
section marked "admissibility." And if y:)u could j·Jst 
read that to yourself, and then I'll just ask you a 
couple of questions, please. 

The member did as instructed. 

eM (LtCol _ Okay, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Now, do you understand that that gives you the 
authority to call tor a vote of the entire commission if 
you disagree with a decision of the presiding officer 
with respect to the admissibility of any piecR ot 
evidence? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, I do understand that, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Are you prepared to exercise that authority? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, Sir, I am prepared to exeCJte my duty. 

DC (Mr. ::lratell): And are you prepared to exercise it in an 
affirmative way and not necessa~ily look for an 
alliance, look for somebody else to do it first? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII No, sir, I'll come forward as an indivldual. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): Now, with respect to the presiding officer's 
instruction earlier, in which he also noted that we 
object to, which is that the presiding officer will, at 
times, provide advice on the law to the other commission 
members. And the question is how are you going to keep 
that from having more influence being who the presiding 
officer is and his background, and the influence that 
counsel such as myself, or any of the other defense 
counselor the prosecution, and how are you going to 
make that determination on an independent basis. So if 
you could explain to us, if you can? 

CM (l.tCol _ It is a very difficult orchestry (sic), yes, 
it is. I will take the facts as you ~resent them, apply 
them to what is written in front of me as to the law 
with my interpretation, how you will present it as a 
counsel, also as the defense and if there's further 
questions, I will ask Colonel Brownback for any further 
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clarifications, what I hope to do from the defense and 
also yourselves is helping me with that information as I 
read the law. 

DC (Mr. Jratell): And are you comfortable or uncomfortable with 
that position for the first time, I assume, in your 
career? 

CM (LtCol _ I'm comfortable, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): But this is the first time in your career 
you'll be doing that? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Now, when you said yesterday, and in your 
questionnaire, that you were concerned about reprisals 
from al Qaida, in particular, I think was mentioned; but 
with respect to your role in the commission process -­
and I want to ask you if that's not an assumption -­
isn't that an assumption that someone like Mr. Hicks has 
something to do with al Qaida? Isn't that just 
prejudging him as to his connection or with respect to 
some of the issues in the case? 

CM (LtCol _ I wouldn't say that, sir. I would just say -­
when I said "reprisals," I was trying to give an example 
of what I would be saying. I don't know who would give 
me reprisals. It's a feeling, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Also in your questionnaire, as was discussed 
yesterday, at some point you expressed an opinion to 
someone in some forum that all of the detainees at 
Guantanamo were terrorists. And I'm curious what the 
basis was for that opinion. 

CM (LtCol liliiii: What it asked was had I ever stated that 
opinion prior. I'm trying to be totally honest within 
the questionnaire. When the Guantanamo situation was 
going on a long time ago and, yes, in the past I 
probably said that. I wanted to be totally honest. 
Yes, I have been in conversations because I come from 
Fort Bragg. A lot of soldiers, we've been in 
Afghanistan, not myself personally. And those 
conversation have come up, yeah, there was a lot of 
terrorists taken, and they were taken to Guantanamo Bay. 
And I've been in those discussions, sir, and that was 
the context of what it was, nothing specific. 
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DC (Mr. Dratell) : 
did you 
have to 

But I'm just curious what the basis 
form that opinion? What information 
form that opinion? 

was. How 
did you 

ct~ (LtCol _ I actually took the opinion from the 
conversations themselves. They were defined as 
terrorists in the conversations, and I used the same 
termr sir. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): And when you say it was just general, I mean 
you understand that you can't generalize in this 
process? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, sir, I understand that. 

DC \Mr. Oratell): And you express it as an opinion that you 
expressed as one time, and I'm getting the sense that 
it's not your opinion now. 

CM (LtCol _ In retrospect, no. 

DC :Mr. Dratell): And what changed your mind? 

CM (LtCol _ It's a fair term to use, sir. Secause there's 
no one -- there's been no due process that's been done 
here, and that's not a fair statement to say. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): And you mentioned due process yesterday. So it 
leads -- actually, it's my next question, which is: How 
would you define "due process"? 

CM (LtCol ......... I see it as justice, I guess, what you would 
say is Justice in and under the law in a setting of some 
sort, such as a courtroom. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): And in the context of that definition, does it 
meet your cefinition of due process if the prosecution 
puts on a witness who reads a statement that was made to 
that witness, but not the person who made t~e 
statement 

P (LtCol Sir, I'm going to object. 

po: Go on. 

DC (Mr. Oratell); -- and the defense does not have an opportunity 
to cross-examine the person who actually said it, the 
conditions under whlch it was made or any potential 
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po: 

motive for the statement, but only the person, for 
example a law enforcement agent would come in? 

~ answer the question, 
_ objection. 

let's listen to Colonel 

P (LtCol Well, sir, not only was that kind of a long 
ques ,but it asks for a lot of speculation, if this 
happens, if that happens. We don't feel that that's 
tailored to find out whether this witness possesses any 
kind of bias. So it's an argumentative question and 
it's based on speculation. 

po: Well, I know, but I let Major Mori argue. I might as well 
let Mr. Dratell argue. Presume as a fact that someone 
sits on the stand and reads you a statement. The 
statement is made by a third -- by another party. The 
other party is not here in the courtroom and wi 11 neVeL" 
be here in the courtroom. The person who's reading it 
said and you ask him, what do you know about that and 
the making of it and the taking of it, and he says, I 
don't know nothing. 

I believe the question is in two parts. First of all, 
would you be willing to listen to arguments that that 
statement should not be given much weight because you 
don't know how it was made, how it was taken or 
whatever? That's the first part. 

CM (LtCol _ And the answer to that is, yes, sir. 

po: Okay. The second part was your individual opinion, and if 
you don't feel comfortable rendering it until you've 
been educated in the law by the defense and the trial -­
they'll certainly understand that -- do you think that's 
fair, using the term as Mr. Dratell has used it as 
"fair" and if you want to wait until they educate you, 
you can wait. 

CM (LtCol _ I'd like to know more about it, sir, before I 
answer that question. 

DC (Mr. Oratel:): Well, I'll add another element. If the defense 
wanted to call the person that made the statement, we 
couldn't because he was either -- we couldn't have 
access to him because he was being detained here or had 
already been releas~d to another country and we couldn't 
bring him back, so all we have was a piece of paper, and 
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po: 

we couldn't cross-examine a piece of paper. Does that 
meet your definition of dUQ process? 

If that were to occur, would you once again listen to 
arguments as to how that should affect the weight? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII Yes, I would listen to all arguments. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): So may I ask the alternate question, which 
is --

po: Sure, go on. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): -- does that meet your definition of due 
process as you've defined it for us? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII At the time of the example you've given me, 
I'd have to at that time make my decision on argument. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): And would that be the same answer with respect 
to questions of whether or not ce~tain evidence should 
come in because of the way it was obtained? In other 
words, an interrogation technique or questions about the 
applicability of the Geneva Convention, are you saying 
that you would want to wait to see more about that as to 
whether that meets your definition of due process? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): r have nothing further. Thank you. 

po: Trial"! 

P (LtCol Sir, would you agree to keep an open mind and 
us cons each piece evidence as it comes in, as it 

's presented to you? 

eM (LtCol _ Yes, I would. 

P (LtCol 00 you understand the questions of counsel at 
po about what might happen are speculative and 

not necessarily an indication of what mayor "cay not 
occur in this trial? 

CM (LtCol _ I understand, sir. 

P (LtCol IIIIIIIIIII Thank you. 
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PO: Mr. Oratell? 

OC (Mr. Oratell): Nothing. Thank you, Lieutenant Coconel. 

po: Please toss me your questionnaire and leave the courtroom. 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, sir. 

po: 

P (LtCol 

po: 

Let the record reflect that Colonel _ has left the 
courtroom. 

Who do you want back for closed, trial? 

Sir, we're not asking for anybody on closed. 

Okay. 

DC (Mr .. Oriliill...:.. We would like Colonel _ please, Colonel 
_ and Colonel _ pI ease. 

po: How long is it going take you to CledI." tlle courtroom , 
trial? 

P (LtCol Ten minutes, sir? 

po: I don't know, I'm asking. 

P (LtCol 

po: 

I'm not sure either, sir. Ten minutes would 

Okay. We'll meet -- what we're going to do is -- what's 
the matter, Major Mori? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Nothing, sir. 

[>0 : Okay. We're going to meet at 1400. We'll hear those, and 
we'll hear the challenges in the closed session, then 
we'll open up. If counsel ask lots of questions, we 
won'l open up for a while. If they don't ask lots of 
questions, we'll open up sooner. I can'l say when we'll 
open. 

Court's in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1351, 25 August 2004. 
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The Commissions Hearing waS called to order at 1514, 
25 August 2004. 

po: This commission will come to order. Let the record 
reflect that all parties present when the commission 
recessed are once again present. I am the only member 
present. 

During the closed session defense you made two 
challenges, I'm going to paraphrase them. They are on 
the record but this is just so people sitting here will 
know. The first chal challenge for cause 
against Colonel that his knowledge of 

rat' 
nees is such 

be a witness than to 
be a member, and further that his links with personnel 
in theater were such that he could been characterized as 
a victim. Is that correct, generally? 

DC (Mr. Oratell): Yes. 

po: Second, you challenged Lieutenant 
first because of his activities in the 
during the time period in question and s 
various activities and locations that may come up ater 
in the trial, and additionally because he was on the 
ground and the locations he was in were such that he 
could well have been a victim if the allegations were to 
be believed. Is that a fair characterization? 

DC (Mr. Uratell): Yes, it is. 

po: Okay. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): And also we adopted the objections yesterday 
the challenges yesterday from Mr. Hamdan's attorney. 

PO: Okay. Those are the closed challenges. Based on the open 
seSSlons you got any challenges, trial? 

P (LtCol No, sir. 

PO: Defense? 

DC Wr. Oratell): Yes, sir, and if I may just put on the record 
in the open session so we don't have to resort to a 
classified session -- just to brief to put in the open 
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PO; 

session our objection to holding proceedings without 
Mr. Hicks present, which we will brief in a motion with 
respect to any evidentiary matters, but we also object 
to it in the voir dire process. And our challenges, 
first just to restate the challenges made by 
Mr. Hamdan's attorney yesterday. In addition, we 
believe that two of the commissioners are in a 
position --

Hold 0"1 a second. Let's just start with _ Do you 
challenge him? 

DC (Mr. Dratell); Yes. 

PO: Why do you :::hallenge Colonel ~ 

DC (Mr. Dratell): samEhreason as Mr. Hamdan based on the 
September 11 visit, the emotions that raised, and the 
ability to segregate that from the issues in the case. 

PO: Okay, th"t IS _ LighL? You already have a closed 
challenge. You have an open challenge against him? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, sir. Essentially that even from his open 
session his knowledge of the specific facts is too much 
knowledge of the specific facts for him to be a -­
essentially a juror, he is more suitable as a witness. 
And also just his involvement suggests bias and I would 
analogize it to a situation here where you have a -­
someone who was in charge of prIsoner movement for tho 
Bureau of Prisons and was involved in transporting 
defendants from one to another according to certain 
criteria and according to certain standards and did 
that, then you are asking that person to be a jury for a 
specific person whom he re~embers, and he said that in 
open session. 

PO: 

DC (Mr. 

PO: 

Okay. That is __ 

Dratell); Not with respect to IIIIIIII 
to Colonel IIIIIIII 
No challenge to IIIIIIt 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Colonel _--

PO: Just a second. IIIIIIII 
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DC (Mr. Dratell): Again with respecL to his -- too much 
knowledge. 

po: Practically the same thing as the closed challenge? 

DC (Mr. Oratell): That is correct. 

po: 

DC (Mr. 

OKay. 

Oratell): On b~unds and also -- I should say 
with Colonel IIIIIIII with the victim part and the 
context of the command structure, we would add as 
open -- based on the open record as well. 

also 

an 

PO: Okay. 

DC (Mr. Dratell) And with respect to Colonel _ his 

po: 

involvement in the theater and in the operations it is 
like having someOne who is assigned to a task force to 
investigate a situation and he doesn't personally arrest 
or target a particular defendant, but we worked on the 
whole investigation, and now you are asking him to Come 
in and sit on a jury to determine whether that person is 
guilty or not guilty. 

That's _ and now we get _ You have a 
challenge on him? 

DC (Mr. Oratel1): Yes. with Lieutenant Colonel _ is the 
same as yesterday essentially with respect to the 
motions and I think that this is a situation that he 

PO: 

and -- and I appreciate his honesty, and I appreciate 
his effort, and his notable desire to do his duty, but I 
just do not believe that he is correctly anticipating 
what is going to be required of him in terms of the 
emotional aspect of it. And I don't believe that he can 
give an adequate aSSUrance based on his lack of 
experience in so many of these areas, in making so many 
of these determinations that he cannot adequately give 
an assurance that he can avoid letting that emotion 
intrude upon his duty in this commission. 

Okay. Trial? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): I also have -- I just have one other -- I have 
another challenge as to -- well, I grouped them 
differently, but I enumerate the~cular 
commissioners. With respect to _ -- Colonel _ 
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po: 

and Colonel _ specifically that what we are asking 
them to do at this stage is to essentially override 
things that they did for either months or ~n the 
context of '"hat chey were doing. Colonel_ 
specifically said this morning in open session about 
once the question of the Geneva Convention applying even 
though it wasn't his decision once that had been blessed 
he carried it out. And what we are asking now to a 
certain extent is that it was all wrong, and he was 
wrong, and his superiors were .,rong, and we are asking 
him to do something that you can ask a juror to do 
legitimately. 

The same with are Colonel _with respect to same 
types of issues, ROEs, things like that. I just don't 
see how you could put them in the position of having to 
sort of -- it is a referendum on their conduct and the 
conduct of their chain of command during a period of 
time when they were actively involved in this, and I 
think it is just too close for it to be objective. 

And we have two challenges that go to all -- that go to 
the entire panel. One, is that the panel should be 
disqualified because of lack of legal training. We 
think it creates --

I am not going to a~cept that challenge. 
it. Okay. That is not a challenge. No. 
going to listen. Move on. 

You may brief 
I not am 

DC (Mr. Dratell): You said you wanted us to brief it; we will 
brief it. I think that we can make it part of the 
context of how we brief the question of the presiding 
officer providing legal advice to the non-lawyers to the 
other non-lawyers. 

po: Great. Put it in. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): We will include it in that context. Another 
across the board challenge is we believe that no panel 
of commissioners should hear more than one case, and we 
think that by having them here and making determinations 
runs which trial first, second or third. The motions 
will be proceeding simultaneously and we think that it 
is inappropriate given the experience, and given what is 
involved in questions of law and questions of fact, 
mixed questions of law and fact, that they should not be 
required, and we think that it is inappropriate, and 
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po: 

will be unfair, and beyond the scope of their 
capability. Without any disparagement to them, I think 
it is beyond the scope of anyone's capability to be a 
juror in two cases like this. 

Okay. Brier that. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Okay. 

PO: No, I mean that's the motion on the structure. Once again 
that has nothing to do with the challenge to the jurors. 
It just doesn't. Go on. 

P (LtCol Yes, sir. Sir, the attacks of September 11th 
a huge impact on the United States military. 

To try to find a panel tRat is not impacted by those 
attacks of September 11 is just not the appropriate 
standard. It affects many, many people in the United 
States military. The standard should come back to what 
it is. Whether there is good cause to believe that the 
member cannot perform fairly and impartidlly in 
according a full and fair trial. All of these members 
have demonstrated very clearly chat what we have is a 
very exp~riencedt a very knowledgeable and very falL 
panel, that they can be independent; and we believe that 
none of the challenges for cause should be granted. 

As to Colonel _ who visited the world trade center 
site once, on questioning about it, he does not equate 
that to this trlal. He will consider the accused's 
guilt or innocence based on the evidence chat is put 
before him. He does not feel any anger towards the 
accused because of those events. He does not equate the 
two. 

Colonel _ served in Tampa, Florida as a senior 
military officer. And in picking the best military 
officers there are, the b€st and the brightest. you find 
some that do have jobs that put them in positions to 
know about operations and who have been involved in 
operations. That does not disqualify him or any of 
these members. The fact is that he does not know the 
accused. He was not in the same area where the accused 
was when his alleged activities where taking place. In 
fact, the only extent to which he knows him, q'~ote. 
unquote, would be that his name was on list of people 
who were being !1'.oved; and simply his role was 
logistical. He does not answer to ROEs or the success 
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or failure of operations that were going on. fe was the 
logistics person who was seeing a manifest as it moved 
on. That does not disqualify him. 

Sir, the same we would say for Lieutenant Colonel 
_ that he was not in the direct area of the 
accused. He does not know the accused. The 
he knows generally about operations in would 
put him in a category with a lot of mil ary 'cers. 
Sir, Lieutenant Colonel _we believe as he 
answered the questions demonstrates that the emotions he 
hath are natural emotions to an attack such as September 
11 ; but that he is a pro:essional and that he can set 
those aside and be fair. Thank you, sir. 

po: Mr. Dratell, you want to say anything? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Just that with respect to -- I think that -- it 
is inconceivable to me that the United States military 
cannot find a panel of five that does not include two 
persons so intimately involved that that's what the 
prosecution is suggesting. I think that ~t is 
inconceivable that there can't be two others who are not 
~ involved in the specific facts and 
lIIIIIIIIIIIIofficers with that kind of specialized 
knowledge to sit on this case and be objective and fair. 
I think it would be i~partial or fair otherwise; and 
with respect to Colonel _ obviously, as I noted 
before, we adopted the record from yesterday. And sir, 
you have already referred that to the appointing 
authority based on that re=ord so --

po: No, no. I have yesterday, I said I would refer the 
challenges made in the case of Hamda~. Today we 
incorporated -- whatever -- and we go back, whatever I 
told Gunny to put in the record. You the~ said you 
wanted t~Commander Swift's challenge against 
Colonel ........ I didn't say you adopted it, you did. 

DC (Mr. Dcatell): No, no -- yes. 

po: Okay. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): I know what I am saying, but I think if you 
refer to yesterday there is no basis not to refer it 
today. It is the same situation. 

po: Okay. Well, I am going to refer it. 
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DC (Mr. Dratell): Okay. 
prosecution. 

I am just answering the argument of the 

po: Thank you. Okay. Major Mori, how many things I told you 
to brief now -- well, no, I mean we started off and you 
got to brief the standard that the apPointing authority 
should use: right? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: And then you are going to brief whether there should be a 
lawyer on the panel at all; rlght? 

AOC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: And then you are going to brief the two motions that -­
well, the two challenges that Mr. Oratell made; right? 
Remember those last two? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: 

AOC (Maj 

P~: 

ADC (Maj 

PO: 

ADC (Maj 

And that is all part of the stuff that's going to go up to 
the appointing authority because all those things are 
things you want considered; right? 

Mori) : Yes, sir. 

And do you remember what the dates are for those. 

Mori) : Those are --

Have you forgotten? 

Mori) : No, sir. Those are 1 October 

PO: No, no. This is 7 September for the motions. You give 
them to the trial or the prosecution. :hc prosecution 
will respond to you and send them up to Mr. Altenburg. 
The reason is because if he is going to make -- you are 
challenging the structure of the selection process; and 
he is going to need YOUe informed views on those things. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): I have no problem with that. I just think that 
because we have multiplied the responsibilities here and 
some of us are going to be getting back to our offices 
at certain times by the end of the week, I just ask for 
a day or two more since we have added to --
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PO: Well, that's why I gave you -- I mean, no. I was going to 
write down the week from today. but I didn't. I wrote 
down two weeks from today. 

DC (Mr. Oratell): Okay. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, if we could leave off the structural 
challenges because that would probably be an issue we 
could deal with the actual members? 

po: So you are going dump the thing that there is -- which 
ones are you going --

ADC (Maj Mori): ~le would save that to brief along with our 
regular motions when we attack the whole structure of 
the commission. 

po: That's fine. You ~~l understood what they are going to be 
providing by the 7' ? 

P (LtCol 

po: 

Yes/ sir. 

Good. 

Okay. I considered the challenges. Like I told you 
before I am going to forward a transcript of voir dire, 
the transcript of yesterday'S voir dire, the challenge 
procedure, the members questionnaire, my information, 
all up to Mr. Altenbury for his fiction. I hope to get 
all that stuff to him by the lOt so you all can get 
action moving. Under the provisions of the MCl I am not 
going to hold the proceeding in abeyance. Please call 
the members. 

Please be seated. 

The commission will corne to order. Let the record 
reflect all parties present when the commission recessed 
are once again present. The members are present. 

Members, you received both bye-mail and by my handing 
it to you, 01' someone else handing you, certain written 
instructions concerning administrative matters which are 
now bei:-lg marked as the next RE in sequence, 14. 

Objections to those preliminary instructions, defense? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): No, sir. 
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P (LtCol 

PO: 

No, sir. 

Okay. Members, I have been appointed as the presiding 
officer. O~ Monday you got all the commission orders, 
the directives, ~he instructions, except for Mel 
Number 8. Those instcuctions and references app:y to 
all the cases in which you may be a commission member. 
I am charged with certain duties. I preside over the 
commission proceeding during open and closed sessions. 
As the only lawyer appointed to the commission, I will 
instruct you on the law. 

However, the President has decided that the commission 
will decide all questions of law and fact. You are not 
bound to accept the laws as given to you by me. You can 
accept the law as argued to you by counsel, whether by 
briefs, or in motions, or attachments. It is also given 
to you by me in instructions. If you have questions on 
the law when we are sitting in the commission hearing, 
you may ask counsel questions about whatever it is they 
are arguing. 

We are not going to discuss the cases with anyone 
including ourselves, including recesses or adjournments. 
Whon we are meeting in closed conference, then we will 
discuss it. We will only consider e'l idence properly 
admitted before the commission. You are not going to 
consider any other accounts or anything you may have 
learned in a past life. 

You may not discuss the proceedings of this commission 
wi th anyone who is not a member of the pane.1.. I f anyone 
attempts to do it, tell them to stop, notify me; and I 
will make sure appropriate action is taken. When we are 
closed to deliberate, we alone will be present. Each of 
us has an equal voice and vote in deciding and 
discussing all issues submitted to us. As presidin,] 
officer, I will preside over the closed conference 
deliberations and I will speak for the comm~ssion in 
announcing results. 

outside influence from superiors in the governmental 
chain will not be tolerated. If anyone tries to 
influence you in any way, notify me immediately and 
appropriate action will be taken. No one in your chain, 
or in any other chain, can reprimand you or do anything 
to you for your actions on this commission. Some of you 
may serve as members, or alternate member, on ~ore than 
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one case. If you do so, each case is separate. You 
have got to keep the facts and the law of each case 
separate. We are giving you binders to keep the notes 
in different cases, mark the notes. You all also have a 
security arrangement arcur.d the courtroom, around the 
building rather, within the building, and in the 
courtroom. The operational commander made those 
decisions. We are required to follOW those decisions 
because he owns the building. You may not infer or 
conclude from the security arrangements that the accused 
is guilty of any offense or that he is dangerous. 
Security arrangements are not part of evidence. 

Colonel _ you have been designated an alternate 
member; and you will become a member if there is a 
va canoy that needs to be filled. You will attend all 
open sessions, but you will not be present for closed 
conferences or deliberations and you may not vote on any 
matter. You will attend all opened and closed 
sessions -- excuse me, but you will not be present for 
any closed oonferences or deliberations. You may not 
vote on any matter unless you become a member. 

Me~~ers, you are not authorized to reveal your vote or 
the factors that led to your vote or reveal the vote or 
comments of another member when it comes to deliberation 
on find~ngs or, if necessary, on sentence. This is a 
lawful order from me to you. You may only reveal such 
matters if required to do so by a superior competent 
authority in the military corrmission process or by a 
U.S. federal court. This order is continuing and does 
not expire. 

It is important that you all keep up your appearance and 
demeanor. If you have got a problem, you need a break, 
let me know and we will take care of it. All members 
understand those instructions? Apparently so. 

Counsel for both sides understand the provisions of the 
MCO Number 1 concerning protected informatior.? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Sir, if I may? I was confused before about the 
particular place where we were in the instruction. It 
is not a surp~ise, 1 don't think, to the presiding 
officer but we did have an objection to one sentence 
that is going to be subject of our brief to that 
particular instruction about the advice --
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MJ: Well, make it. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): -- well, about the advice -- about the 
advice -- giving advice to the commission. 

po: You already made the objection. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): No, I understand; but since you are giving the 
instruction again, I just wanted to make sure that it 
was clear. 

po: Okay. You all remember this morning I advised you that 
they had made an obJection and that they are going to 
file a brief; right? okay, there. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Thank you. 

po: Yes, that's fine. I just thought I covered it this 
morning. 

Okay. Counsel for both sides understand the provisions 
of MCQ-l covering protected information. Trial? 

P (LtCol Yes, sir. 

po: Defense'? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, sir. 

po: As soon as practical, notify me of any intent to offer 
evidence involving protective information so we may need 
to close the courtroom; right? 

P (LtCol Yes, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell) Yes, sir. 

po: Right. Okay, right now is there any issue relating to the 
protection of witnesses that we got to take up? 

P (LtCol No, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell) No, sir. 

po: If there are any protective order issues or things like 
that, we will solve them before the counsel in this case 
leave the iSland, won't we? 
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P (LtCol Yes, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Yes, sir. 

po: Good. I will be on a plane; you all will be here. We 
will solve them. 

Okay. I am required by MCO-l to consider the safety of 
witnesses and others of these proceedings. Both 
counsel, you got a duty to notify me if you got any 
issues about witness safety. 

80th last night and this morning, counsel for both sides 
and I met and we had a couple conferences in which we 
discussed various matters that are going to go on today. 
We are going to go into them today, right now; and I am 
going to cover what I thought was impDrtant. If I don't 
Cover something that you all think is inportant, tell 
me. 

Major Mori, do you have any notice of motions you would 
like to advise the panel on? 

ADC (Maj Mori): '(es, sir, 1 do. 

po: Okay. Well then, speak slowly please. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes/ sir. The defense would give notice of 
motions jurisdictiooal style and motions to dismiss for 
lack of jurisdiction and that the appointing authority 
is not authorized to appoint or convene a military 
commission and the military commission ~acks 
jurisdiction to convene at Guantanamo Bay. 

PO: Okay. 

AuC (Maj Mori): That the lack of jurisdic:ion, that the 
Preside~t's military order creating this military 
commission is invalid. 

po: Okay. 

ADC (Maj Mari): Lack of jurisdiction because the charges against 
MI. Hicks are not law o[ war violations or other crimes 
triable by a military commission. 

po: Okay. 
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ADC (Maj Mori): Lack of jurisdiction because the commission fails 
to provide the required protections for an accused's 
individual in a criminal trial under international law. 

po: Because of the commission process? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Commission process, that is correct, yes, sir. 
Not the commission members, but the commission process. 

po: Okay. 

ADC (Maj Mori): The motion to dismiss lacks jurisdiction because 
the commission violates equal protection under the U.S. 
Constitution and international law and that it 
applies -- the co~~ission process only applies to 
non-U.S. citizens. 

po: Okay. 

ADC (Maj Mori): The commission lacks jurisdiction because the 
commission is not an independent tribunal. It is not a 
structural challenge, sir. The motion to dismiss all 
charges as they fail to state an offense. Lack of 
jurisdiction over conduct occurring before the beginning 
of the armed conflict into -- in Afghanistan as the 
commission would only have jurisdiction when an armed 
conflict in violation of the laws of war. 

po: Okay. 

ADC (Maj Mori): That the commission lacks personal jurisdiction 
over Mr. Hicks, an Australian citizen, who resided 
outside of the U.S. and whose conduct has no nexus to 
the O.S. Motion to dismiss for lack of speedy trial. 
Motion to dismiss for imposition of pretrial punishment. 
Motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction because 
Mr. Hicks is entitled to the presumption, status and 
prisoner of war and must be tried for any crime he may 
have committed in a system equal to a court-martial. 
Motion to dismiss for unlawful command influence. 
Motion addressing the presiding officer's role in 
providing legal advice to the other members and the role 
of an attorneY on the commission. Motion to dismiss for 
improper referral of the charges as members belo\oJ the 
pay grade of 0-4 are systematically excluded from the 
selection process to serve on the commission. A motion 
for a bill of particulars. We also would ask, sir, that 
the ability to amend or add any motion or withdraw any 
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po: 

motion prior to the due date set by the commission, sir, 
for motions. 

Okay. Are you going to give a copy -- just a written copy 
of that to the trial and us? 

ADe (Maj Mori): Yes, sir, I can. 

PO: 

ADe (Maj 

po: 

ADe (Maj 

PO: 

AOC (Maj 

PO: 

I would appreciate that. 

Okay. On your motion for a bill of particulars, with 
that motion alone, ~ou are going to provide the motion 
to trial by the 1St , of Septe~ger. Trial is going to 
give you a response by the 29 of SeptembE~ and you are 
going to file your reply, if any, by the 6 of October; 
right? 

Mori) : Yes r sir. 

Okay. 

Mori) : We can meet those deadlines, sir. 

It's what you agreed to yesterday. 

Mori) : That's fine, that's fine. 

Okay. On the other motions you named, two of them 
specifically are going to go up now on the times I gave 
you earlier because it is going to get to Mr. Altenburg 
so he can do the challenges; right? 

ADe (Maj Mori): Okay. 

PO: So we got rid of the BoP and we got rld of the challenge 
questions. On the other ~otions, you are going to 
provide m~fiions by the lS of October. Trial, respond 
by the 15 of Octobar and defense will then reply if 
necessary by the 22 n of October; right? 

ADe (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. Defense, you made a motion for a continuance in 
which you requested that the court hold proceedings in 
abeyance pending various diplomatic discussions between 
the United States and Great Britain which might have an 
affect upon your client. Without going any further, did 
you make that motion? 
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ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, Slr. The defense did and provided it to 
the 

po: Did you make the motion? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: Thank you. However, you are willing to -- despite that, 
you are willing to proceed on the stuff we have already 
talked about as long as we don't get into the actual 
trial on the merits; right? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: With that caveat, do you feel compelled to argue about a 
motion for continuance at this time? 

P (LtCol No, sir. 

po: Thank you, I appreciate that. 
until necessary on the motion 
connection with -- what? 

In that case we won't rule 
for continuance. In 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, I was just going to say that motion -- that 
request for continuance has been provided to the court 
reporter and should be marked as the next review 
exhibit, sir. 

PO: Do you have your response up there? 

P (LtCol We do have a response, sir. 

po: Okay. Well, give them to the court reporter and we can 
mark them both as the next two. 

Review Exhibits 15 and 16 were marked for the record. 

P (LtCol 

po: 

Yes, sir. 

In connection with these motions that are going to be 
addressed to the commission, not the ones -- the briefs 
th~t are going to Mr. Altenburg by the -- how about the 
IS of October? The commission .would like you to, both 
sides to file briefs with the commission on the issue of 
do all these motions have to be certified to 
Mr. Altenburg? To the appointing authority? Just on 
the jurisdictional ones and specifically on the 
provision of MCO-l Section 4 (A) (5) (D), do all 
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interlocutory questions that could or really could 
terminate the proceedings have to be certified or just 
ones in which our ruling is about to terminate 
proceedings? 

Got any questions on that, trial? 

P (LtCol _ None. 

po: Defense? 

ADC (Maj Mori): None from the defense, sir. 

po: Okay. Either side got any objections to the POMs? 

P (LtCol _ No, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Not at this time. We will submit those in 
writing if we have them, sir. 

po: By when? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): This 1 October. 

PO: I would li.ke to use t.hem to get the motion practice and 
the things done. We are not talking about a motion 
to -- I want an objection -- 15 September? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): 15 September is great. 

PO: Through motions and discussions, I have learned that there 
are concerr.s about the communications with the office of 
the appointing authority. Does either counselor either 
side object if the presiding officer requests 
interpretations of the MCa or the MCls in the appointing 
authority's area of interest directly bye-mail from the 
presiding officer to the appointing authority after 
notice to counsel and providing counsel with the 
opportunity to brief the issue? 

P (LtCol _ No, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): No, sir. 

PO: We set last night 
date in this case 
trial? 

well, ~~ agreed last night on a trial 
of the 10 of January; correct, 
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P (LtCol 

po: 

P (LtCol 

Yes, sir. 

Before I go, do you want a chance to stand up and argue 
that I should sooner? 

Sir, we have discussed it. 

po: Well, no. No, we are right here. Do you want to argue? 
You can argue. 

P (LtCol We don't need to argue, sir. 

po: Okay, lOth of January; right? 

DC (Mr. Dratell) Correct, sir. 

PO: Okay. Recognizing that we have your motion of continuance 
and we will have other things coming on and things that 
may happen. 

Now, we got a lot gf motions here. So we set a motions 
hearing for the 2n of November right here; right? 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Correct, sir. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: Major Mori had that thousand yard st&re. I was making 
sure he was looking at me. Okay, 2n of November here 
for motions hearing. Did I forget to cover anything? 

AP (Maj No, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratell): Nothing that I can see, Your Honor. 

po: 

ACC: 

PO: 

Accused and counsel, please rise. 

Mr. David Hicks, I now ask you how do you plead? 

Sir, 

To all the charges, not qu~lty. 

Thank you, please be seated. Nothing further from either 
side. This court is in recess and are to meet on the 
2na of November or on call. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1549, 25 August 2004. 
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The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1301, I November 2004, 

po: The Commission is called to order. 

P (LtCol_ All parties present when the Commission recessed on 25 
~004 are once agai~ with the foHowing e~s: Colonel 
~ieutenant Colonel_ Lieutenant Colonel_have all 
been permanently excused by the Appointing Authority, 

po: 

The court reporter is Sel'"p,""tl 
has previously been sworn. 
previously been sworn. Security officer, 
been sworn. 

who 

The absent members and alternate member were permanently excused by 
the Appointing Authority during his action on challenges. Their permanent 
excusal is reflected in RE --

P (LtCol_ Fifty, sir. 

po: -- fifty. The three remaining members fulfill the requirements ofMCO I 
Section 4(a). 

Okay. Mr. Dratel, before you say anything, prior to the start of this session, 
we had an MCI 8-5 conference, present which were the defense counsel, 
trial counsel, and the Presiding Officer. At that session we covered a lot of 
things which we're going to handle during the course of the sessions this 
week. If either side believes that we went over things that we don't handle, 
please advise the Commission. 

Okay. Now on the -- among the many matters we covered, the first thing 
was the burden of persuasion and motions practice. As a general rule, the 
burden of persuasion is on the moving party. If, during this case, any 
moving party believes that the burden of persuasion will shift or has shifted 
to the opposing side, the moving party has an obligation to so advise the 
Commission. Any questions on that, trial? 

P (LtCol_ No. sir. 

PO: Defense? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): No, Colonel. 

PO: Counsel may wish, but are neither encouraged, nor required to provide the 
Commission with draft findings of fact and conclusions of law for any 
particular motion. If counsel so intend, they'll advise the Commission 
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during their portion of the argument. Such matters will be provided to 
opposing counsel within 24 hours orthe argument. Opposing counsel will 
have 48 hours tram the time of receipt to comment thereon prior to the 
matters being submitted to the Commission unless I grant a delay. All 
counsel should note the Commission is not required to wait for any such 
matters prior to making a decision or issuing a ruling. 

Comments. trial, defense? 

P (LtCol_ No, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Just that the defense takes the position that we just want to make clear 
that we -- we think that the findings of fact and conclusion of law that arc 
submitted by either side should not impair the Commission's independent 
review and its independent reaching of findings of fact in conclusions of 
law. It's not going to be a contest between one and the other, but the 
Commission needs to make its decision based on its own review and not 
necessari Iy choose between one ofthe other. 

po: Okay. Now, Mr. Dratel, now that I've said that, you can proceed with your 
motion. You got a Defense Motion 37 that's been marked as RE? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): I'm not sure of the RE number, Your Honor. 

PO: Just a second, Mr. Orate!. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Yes, sir. 

29 PO: Okay. Thirty-seven has been marked as 54-A. 
30 
3 I DC (Mr. Dratel): Thank you, Colone!' Our motion is to dismiss the charges, and to 
32 essentially rcfer this matter to the Appointing Authority, and I'll get to the 
33 second part later when we address that. But the failure to appoint an 
34 alternate upon the elimination of the members from the panel. including the 
35 alternate, is a clear violation ofMCO -- Military Commission Order number 
36 I, section 4(A), capital A, 2. And that section says that the Appointing 
37 Authority shall appoint an alternate and that is mandatory and not 
38 discretionary. In this instance, the alternate has been excused. 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

There has not been an alternate appointed to replace the alternate that was 
excused. And I -- it's obviously imperative that the Commission follow it's 
own rules in something so fundamental as the composition of the panel, and 
there is a tremendous practical importance as well and potential prejudice 
with respect to the failure to follow this rule, which is that we could embark 
on -- on proceedings and deliberations and even decisions, and then find 
that we have a problem with a specific member, whether it be some 

125 



I 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

incapacity, either in one form or another, that could then reduce the panel 
below three, and then we would have to put someone on in the middle. And 
I think that would taint and essentially disqualify and undermine the 
integrity of the whole panel if we had to do that. 

So I think there's a great practical importance for -- in adhering to these 
rules in addition to the simple procedural fact that this is a very, very clear 
and unambiguous statement of the rule in 4(A)2, and has not been complied 
with in this instance, and needs to be complied with. 

The second part of D 37, our motion, is that by excusing two members -­
leaving out the alternate at this point -- but of the original four members 
plus the Presiding Officer, two members have been excused. So now -- we 
now have, instead of a five-member Commission, it is only a three-member 
Commission, and that works to the significant detriment of Mr. Hicks. 

And -- and just as a threshold matter, that number, while it is permitted in 
the MCO, is not consistent. In fact, it is contrary to the lJCMJ and the 
enabling legislation that permits these Commissions to operate. and cannot 
be contrary or inconsistent -- contrary to or inconsistent with the lJCMJ. 

And inconsistent with the lJCMJ, Section 816, which is Article 16 and it 
conflicts with a general court-martial, which is one in the military which 
would expose the defendant to at least a year of confinement. requires a 
five-member Commission. And in this case what we have is a potential life 
sentence tor Mr. Hicks. So just as a matter of compliance with the lJCMJ, 
this Commission is out of compliance as a three-member Commission as 
opposed to a live-member Commission. 

In addition, another part of enabling legislation says that the rules for 
Commission must be uniform, and I will get to that in a minute as to why 
this particular Commission, as a three-member Commission, is not a 
uniform application of the rules. 

The additional Commission being constituted as -- with five commissioners, 
I think, is a more than tacit -- I think it is an explicit acknowledgement that 
five is the appropriate number -- the appropriate minimum number for a 
case of this magnitude. where the defendant faces a potential life sentence. 
And to now reduce that is not only against -- it's not only against the rules 
and contrary to lJCMJ, but it's also inherently unfair. And if the purpose, as 
the President's military order sets forth. is to provide a full and fair 
proceeding for Mr. Hicks, this Commission, as a three-member 
Commission, does not provide that. And I think that's found not only with 
respect to the lJCMJ. but also the factors that I am going to lay Ollt right 
now that the UCMJ recognizes that a case of this magnitude, where the 
defendant is exposed to more than a year sentence, requires a tive-member 
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Commission. 

But just to look at some other factors, in terms of -- first, the numerical 
advantage that the prosecution gains from the reduction from a five-member 
Commission to a three-member Commission. First is that. the number of 
votes required to acquit from a three-member Commission is exactly the 
same votes required to acquit in a five-member Commission: two votes. 
Since it is a two-thirds majority that controls and require for a verdict in a 
five-member Commission, two votes would be more be more than 
one-third. therefore there would be an acquittal. It would be three to two. 

In a three-person Commission, you're still required to have two votes to 
acquit, but let's look at the burden on the prosecution. The burden on the 
prosecution is half in a three-member Commission. Rather than four votes 
to convict, which you need -- which prosecution would need to overcome 
the two-thirds threshold -- in a five-member Commission here. the 
prosecution would only need two members. So the prosecution's burden is 
half. The defense remains the same, inequitable. And I think that is 
implicit in the -- in why the five-member Commission. again. was 
constituted in the first place. why it's required under the UCMJ. 

Second, and in terms -- in this context of the uniform palt of it, this 836(b) 
of the UCMJ, in failing to replace the other two members, and in failing to 
appoint an alternate, what you have is a three-member Commission for this 
case. But in the same opinion, the Appointing Authority stated that 
replacement members for two other defendants facing Commissions will be 
appointed, al Qosi and al Bahlul. Those two defendants will have 
replacement Commissions, they will have the live person Commission, 

That is not a uniform application of these rules, That is inequitable for Mr. 
Hicks, He is facing the same punishment and penalties. and essentially the 
same charged offenses as they are. Is he not being afforded the same rights 
that he has under the UCMJ and rights that would give him full and fair 
proceed ing? 

The Appointing Authority does not state a reason or rationale for making 
this distinction. making any of the distinctions. Why three instead oftive? 
Why three instead of the five in the UCMJ? Why three instead of the five 
that we had initially? Why three for Mr. Hicks and five for the other two 
defendants? There is no rationale in the Appointing Authority's decision. 

If the basis -- ifthe only basis is haste and expedition to get these processes 
moving, then I think that is unfair, because it is not a full and fair 
proceeding. It's merely a swift proceeding. And those are not the same 
thing, and what we need here is a full and fair proceeding. The net result of 
a three-member Commission as opposed to a five-member Commission. is 
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PO: 

to penalize Mr. Hicks for exercising his rights to challenge Commission 
members who ought not serve. And even the prosecution agrees to a certain 
extent. with respect to some ofthe members excused. The Presiding 
Officer agreed in his recommendation to the Appointing Authority. 

So what is happening now is Mr. Hicks has been penalized. In the ways 
that I've described, he has been penalized for exercising that right. So he 
had this Hobson's choice which he didn't even realize at the time; which is, 
have a Commission with five members, some of whom ought not serve, or 
go with a Commission that is below the standard for cases of this 
magnitude. And I submit that is not a full a fair proceeding ifhe is 
pena I ized that way. 

And another aspect of it, I think, which has to be addressed and considered 
is that with a five-member Commission, with four nonlawyers and one 
lawyer -- the lawyer being the Presiding OtTicer. also a retired military 
judge -- the influence of one person in a five-member Commission with 
four non lawyers is less than in a three-member Commission with two 
non lawyers. All it takes now is one person to be influenced by the 
Presiding Officer's opinion, experience, expertise, and malters oflaw. 
Previously it required three. So what you have done is reduced the 
prosecution's burden, amplified the potential undue influence of the 
Presiding Ot1icer creating a nonuniform system that is in conflict with and 
contrary to the expressed provisions of the UCMJ and violation of the 
UCMJ as a result. 

So we would ask for a dismissal based on that ground. However, 
subsequently based on the 8-5 meeting that we had, [ will address the 
context of the remedy in terms of whether the Commission should institute 
that remedy of whether it should be certified to the Appointing Authority as 
a case dispositive motion. But I'm going to wait for the Presiding OHicer to 
get to that particular part of the proceeding before I address that part. 
Thank you. 

Trial? 

P (LtCol_ Sir, the defense is entitled to three members, not live. Five is a 
court-martial standard, and simply put, this is not a general court-martial. 
Article 21 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice expressly says that 
jurisdiction in a court-martial does not deprive a military Commission of 
jurisdiction. 

In Article 36, Congress gives the President the authority to prescribe rules, 
and what Congress says is that it cannot be inconsistent with the Uniform 
Code of Military Justice. Well, the Uniform Code of Military Justice 
expressly makes certain provisions applicable to military Commissions. 
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Congress is clear when there's a provision that applies. Nowhere in the 
Uniform Code of Military Justice does it say, in a military Commission you 
have to have at least five members. The President has prescribed rules, the 
rules that are -- that have been prescribed pursuant to that say that quorum, 
the minimum number that we need to proceed is three. The defense is not 
entitled to five members. 

Now, it was the Appointing Authority's -- within his discretion and 
authority to make a decision on this and he did it. That is within his role as 
the Appointing Authority. Why he did it, he doesn't necessarily have to tell 
us every reason why. But why he said five initially, to speculate, that's 
because he thought that's how many we needed is spurious. 

The defense made challenges. They exercised their ability to challenge 
certain members. They could have and should have thought at that time 
whether they wanted those to be granted. If they didn't want challenges to 
be granted, then they could have elected not to make challenges. The fact 
that challenges they made ultimately were granted and now they are 
complaining about that because of the numbers, that's something that they 
can take into account as part of trial strategy. 

Now. second issue, an alternate. You have to read both the provisions in 
MCO I, Military Commission Order number I, 4(a). The first provision, 
subparagraph I, says the Appointing Authority shall appoint the members 
and the alternate members of each Commission. It goes on to say. the 
absence of an alternate member shall not preclude the Commission from 
conducting proceedings. 

Any vacancy among the members or alternate members occurring after trial 
has begun may be filled by the Appointing Authority. May be filled. The 
Appointing Authority is required under Commission Law to appoint an 
alternate, he did. Once he is excused, he may fill it with another alternate. 
He chose not to, that is his discretion. Gentlemen, we have quorum, we 
may proceed. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): May I, Colonel? 

PO: Yes. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Just to take the last point first. It does not say maybe. It says any 
vacancy among the members or alternate members -- sorry, the case of -­
I'm sorry, the case of incapacity or resignation or removal of any member, 
an alternate member shall take the place of that member. And so any 
vacancy among the members or alternate members occurring aller trial has 
begun -- and we're not aller trial has begun -- may be fi lled by the 
Appointing Authority. We are before that. We are constituting the panel 
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po: 

here. We are constituting a lawful appropriate panel under the rules. not 
only of the MCOs, but ofthe UCMJ as well. 

So it's clear that an alternate -- and B is very clear and cannot be read, and 
the prosecution did not address B. because B is simply completely 
unambiguous, shall appoint an alternate. There really can't be any argument 
as to that. With respect to the issue of the number of members on the 
Commission, to say three because the rules say three is to beg to question, 
why not one? Would one be fair? No. And three is not fair either for the 
same reason that the UCMJ prescribed that a general court-martial has a 
minimum of five for a case where a defendant can face more than a year. 
Here we are talking about a potential life sentence. 

So I think that to say that three is okay just because it says it, begs the 
question for what this Commission needs to do, which is to determine how 
to have a full and fair Commission process going forward. The prescribe -­
and prescription for rules, it cannot be contrary to the UCMJ. This 
particular provision that pernlits three is contrary to a provision of the 
UCMJ that obviously is well considered for obvious reasons. Because that's 
what's fair for a case of this magnitude. Thank you -- oh. I'm sorry. may I 
just add one? 

Yes. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): To suggest that Mr. Hicks had to choose as I mentioned before -- the 
prosecution raised this issue, so I have to reply to it. To suggest that Mr. 
Hicks had to choose whether to retain members on a Commission who 
should not serve or to suffer the diminution of the number to an unfair 
number, I think is unconscionable. And I think that that is completely 
contrary to any notion offu II or fair. Thanks. 

po: Before the other members ask. Mr. Altenburg's decision came out on the 
19th of October. Why didn't we get your motion earlier? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): We had have been working on the other motions. We were preparing for 
the hearings. We have filed. I think -- some of them are a little redundant, 
because they are recast in other ways. But I think 30 motions for 
prosecution's responses needed reply. And we've been working on this and 
researching this, and we were ready to present it. We presented it as soon 

po: 

as we were ready to present it in the form that it was presented. And we 
apologize for it coming on the eve of this proceeding. 

I would direct the attention to everyone to MCI 8-6. Okay. Do you have 
any questions, Colonel_ 

CM(Col_No. 
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PO: Go on. Colonel_ 

CM (Col_ Mr. Dratel. why is relief for your motion to dismiss'? It doesn't seem 
that is consistent with your argument that this panel should proceed with at 
least five and an alternate. So why do you make a leap of faith that we 
ought to dismiss all charges here? I don't understand that. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Well. 1 think it's just a formal -- it's a formal request in the sense that, sir. 
that we not go forward. I think the motion also states that until -- unless an 
alternate is provided and the number of Commission members reaches the 
appropriate level, which is at least five, that it should not proceed. But I 
think that -- it also has to do with -- I think -- I am getting ahead of myself 
in terms of where we are going forward from here. So in sense -- in terms 
offor the panel to hear additional motions, deliberate, and decide, we 
believe we taint the entire proceeding and the panel. everything that it does 
going forward if it is done in an improperly constituted panel. 

So 1 understand the question and I hope I've answered -- I haven't answered 
it. I think the relief -- yes. the relief would be to put an alternate on and to 
add the two panel -- and add two more panel members. That is a form of 
relief. I guess when we say "dismissal." we mean that the panel as 
present -- is improperly constituted and would require the relief of making a 
properly constituted panel. 

CM (Col_ I understand, but that's not what you wrote. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): I understand that and it's inarticulate in that regard. and I appreciate you 
bringing that to our attention so that we could articulate it for you properly. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Thank you. 

PO: Okay. We'll issue a decision on that in due course. We're going to proceed 
with today's schedule. 

Now, Mr. Dratel. you want to address the Commission on the requirement 
for the Commission to -- for me to certify, under the provisions ofthe MCI, 
interlocutory questions on all case dispositive motions including D 37; is 
that right? 

DC (Mr, Dratel): That's correct. 

PO: Okay, Address away, 
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DC (Mr. Dratel): 4(a). 5(d) is again. plain and unambiguous. The Presiding Officer shall 
certify all the interlocutory questions. the disposition of which would atlect 
the determination of proceedings with respect to a charge for decision by 
the Appointing Authority. That does not provide discretion to determine 
which ofthose case dispositive motions get referred. and it does not provide 
for a decision by the Commission initially before they are certilied. 

po: 

So it's our position that the Commission -- that the Presiding Officer. who 
has this authority in the MCO. has to certifY these case dispositive issues to 
the Appointing Authority in the first instance. And I think part of the 
reason is because this is particularly important since we are talking about a 
jurisdictional issue. which is really the issue. And 1 guess that's the best 
way to answer Colonel_question Irom belore. which is why it's 
couched as a motion to dismiss. It's a question of whether this Commission 
has jurisdiction to hear this particular case. And so the Commission will be 
without jurisdiction even to decide an issue like this if it's case dispositive in 
order to be certified. 

[n addition. going forward from here would essentially taint the entirety of 
the rest of the proceedings and you would have to start allover again. And 
I think that that would be counter-productive, inefficient. and prejudicial at 
the same time. We -- and just so that's clear that we make our position 
crystal clear with respect to what we consider the consequences of going 
forward without having this certified to the Appointing Authority as a 
threshold matter, is that it would essentially delegitimize the remainder of 
the proceedings that we are going to have today, if we do indeed go forward 
into tomorrow and this week; because it would be in Iront of an improperly 
constituted Commission and it would have no value. And it would be 
completely void. as a result, once the Appointing Authority makes the 
decision --

Wait a second, wait a second. That only works if you're right. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): I think it works if we're right in two ways. 

po: It only works if you are right. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): But if we could be right in either way. 

po: It only works if you are right. 

DC (Mr. Orate[): But in either way. [n other words if you were right--

po: It doesn't work if you're wrong. [fyou're wrong, then it doesn't work. 

46 DC (Mr. Dratel): But there are two questions. One is the question of whether we are right 
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po: 

on the underlying motion as to whether the -- either the failure to appoint 
the alternate and the failure to reconstitute the panel as five is improper. 

But there's also the question whether matters in each -- whether case 
dispositive matters need to be referred -- need to be certil1ed to the 
Appointing Authority in the first instance prior to a decision by the 
Commission. If the Commission decides--

And that paragraph -- that paragraph, Mr. Dratel, gives who the decision on 
whether to abate? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): The Presiding Of11cer. 

po: Thank you. 

DC (Mr. Oratel): I'm just stating our position. 

po: That's fine. I just want to make sure we understand. 

OC (Mr. DrateI): Right, but there are two separate questions. Thank you. 

po: Trial? 

24 P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 

po: Goon. 

P (LtCol_ First gentlemen, the Appointing Authority has issued guidance where 
he has made it clear that he desires for the Commission -- he expects that 
the Commission tirst rule, rule on a question before it is certified and sent 
up. Now, in light of that, we agree with the same language, of course, with 
Military Commission Order number I, the Presiding Officer shall certify all 
interlocutory questions. The disposition of which would effect a 
tennination of proceedings. 

PO: 

If the ruling is that something would not be dismissed then that would not 
terminate the proceedings with regard to a charge. That seems like a simple 
reading. It says that if it's not case dispositive, by the ruling that the 
Commission makes, it does not have to be certil1ed by the Presiding Of11cer 
although it could be in his discretion. 

Yes, go on. 

44 DC (Mr. Oratel): That would be a completely asymmetrical system where the prosecution 
45 gets two bites of the apple and you don't. And I think that doesn't matter 
46 whether a motion would be granted or not. If it's a case dispositive motion, 
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I it is referable and that's also whether it's before or after. That is another --
2 that's a separate question which the prosecution did not add,·ess. but the 
3 question, which motions are up, I think it clearly -- well, case dispositive 
4 motions. You have to go up to the Appointing Authority. 
5 
6 P (LtCol_ If I may, sir? 
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po: Sure. 

P (LtCol_ It's not asymmetrical. [fa charge does not get dismissed and it goes 
forward, and if the accused gets convicted of it, it gets reviewed. If a 
charge, on the other hand. is dismissed, that is the opportunity for the 
government to get review. It makes it symmetrical so that the government 
can get review as well as the defense on that issue. 

po: Okay. We'll give you a decision. once again, in due course. 

Okay. Since we recessed in August, we've had a significant amount of 
work done, and we've had a lot of filings exchanged amongst counsel and 
other people. The sessions this week are designed to address the issues 
those filings either revealed or created. Before we start, we have a filings 
inventory. It's labeled in this case RE 51. [t contains all the filings as of 
today's date. When you hear us refer to 0 8, that is the defense eighth 
motion or eighth filing; and P 6 is the prosecution sixth filing. We'll attach 
a new inventory to the record as necessary. 

Okay. Defense, you want to make a motion that's listed as 0 15 on the 
tiling inventory; right? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): That's correct. sir. 

PO: Okay. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Sir, in accordance with your directive earlier. this is a motion in 
which the defense believes that the burden shifts in this case. The motion is 
regarding improper pancl selection under the case orthe Uniled Slates 
versus Kirkla11d which is a CAAF case. 

The defense bears the burden of establishing the improper exclusion of 
certain personnel from the selection process. Once the defense establishes 
Stich exclusion. the government would make sure, by competent evidence. 
that no impropriety occurred when selecting the appellate court-martial 
members. And you'll see in a moment. as I argue here, that that case and all 
oflhe other cases under Article 25 and 37; UCMJ Article 25 and UCMJ 
Article 37 apply. So I just wanted to give you a heads up if this is a burden 
shifting motion. The members have read our briefs on this motion. 
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So 1 want to try and keep it brief as far as the facts go, but in this case, the 
government, through the Appointing Authority in selecting the panel 
improperly, excluded an entire class of individuals who were eligible to sit 
on this panel. The President's Military Order has one criteria for 
members -- personnel who can sit on the panel; that's that they be 
commissioned officers, and sort offollowing the theme of Mr. Drate!'s prior 
motion, the government needs to follow its own rules. Ifit doesn't, it often 
ends up in a situation that has either the appearance of or actual unlawful 
command influence. And unlawful command influence is the gravamen of 
this problem -- of improper exclusion of a class of individuals. 

The President's Military Order says commissioned officers can be 
considered to sit on the panel. The general counsel's office sent out a 
memorandum that said, don't listen to the President's Military Order, only 
select people in the grade of 0-4. That is an improper exclusion. In doing 
so, everybody -- every officer, commissioned officer, eligible to sit on the 
Commission was excluded in the grade of 0-3 and below. The majority of 
all officers in the military. 

Whether the government likes it or not, those officers were cligible. And 
now, because of somebody doing something that they shouldn't have done, 
which is to give a directive undermining the President's Military Order, 
those people were excluded. The government has stated that had Article 25, 
which is the rule in the UCMJ which covers panel selection. It doesn't 
apply here. Well, I don't think that is true. The defense doesn't think that is 
true and there are several reasons for that. 

First of all, I'm sure that all of you have been exposed to the panel selection 
process for courts-martial in the past. You send up nominations for your 
officers, they get sent up to the convening authority, and the convening 
authority looks at those nominations and everyone else is eligible and 
decides under the Article 25 criteria who he or she is going to put on the 
court-martial, 

When you look at the panel selection criteria or procedures for the 
Commission, they were undoubtedly derived from Article 25. They did it 
exactly -- they did it under the UCML exactly, except that, unfortunately, 
there was an improper exclusion. Article 25 is set there to ensure that there 
is not an unlawful command influence so that everybody -- so that there is 
no court stacking, so that people are not selected for -- to gain a particular 
result. 

When the case law under Article 25 has stated that when there is improper 
court stacking, when there is improper exclusion, that it is unlawful 
command influence and that is where we diverge from Article 25 and get 

135 



2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
\I 
12 
\3 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

po: 

into Commission Law. Now, tenns have been used a lot, and I am not sure 
it means a whole lot, but certainly it means Article 37 of the Uniform Code 
of Military Justice. Article 37 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice 
applies to military commissions. How do I know that? Weill didn't know 
it until not too long ago when I read the Appointing Authority's decision 
deciding on the challenges in this case. Article 37 ofthe Uniform Code of 
Military Justice is directly applicable to military commissions. This -- do 
you want me to mark this, sir? 

I don't know what it is. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): This is a page -- page five ofthe Appointing Authority's decision 
2004-001 which --

po: Well, why don't you read to it me, because we have already got the--

ADC (Maj Lippert): I will in a minute, sir. I want to show it to make --

po: Okay. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): -- it easier. I am not sure so this may be a little bit --

CM (Col_ What page? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Page five, sir, the Appointing Authority's decision, the highlighted 
portion. Is that when the bill gets stopped? Right there it talks about -­
excuse me, sir, if you would. Second, any such rule or regulation may not 
be contrary or inconsistent with the Uniform Code of Military Justice. For 
example. Article 21, yada, yada, 37; unlawful command influence expressly 
applied in military commissions. Article 37 deals with unlawful command 
influence. 

PO: 

You can mark that. It is already in the record, sir, that is page five. The 
case law from the Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces and formerly -­
now CAAF -- used to be Court of Appeals for the Military, COMA. 

In several cases, has stated that improper exclusion of eligible members 
results in unlawful command influence. When there is unlawful command 
influence in a selection process, it strikes at the very heart ofthe fairness 
and legitimacy of the court, in this case, the Commission. In this case, an 
improper exclusion of an entire class of individuals who were eligible for 
the Commission have been excluded, and that robs this Commission of its 
jurisdiction and the charges should be dismissed. Thank you, sir. 

Go. 
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po: Are you going to mark these as an appellate -- as a review exhibit 
eventually? 

P (Maj_ Yes, sir. A review exhibit attachment to the motion, 

po: Okay. It is going to be Review Exhibit S4 B, it's a series of charts that the 
trial is putting on, I think -- not 54 B -- I'm sorry, it is going to be 26 D, I'm 
sorry. court reporter. 

AP (Maj_ Colonel Brownback, we will submit a six-pack of slides for 
substitution into the record vice the --

po: Okay. Great, that will be 26 D any way. 

AP (Maj_ Gentlemen, you've just heard the defense's argument. That is 
incorrect. The bottom line is the nomination and selection process was a 
lawful process and it is a lawful process. Article 2S ofthe UCMJ does not 
apply to military commissions. As you heard the defense state, the defense 
does not disagree that Article 25 of the UCMJ is not applied to military 
commissions. 

The standard is found in Military Commission Order number I. Now, 
gentlemen. this is the standard. It is found in Military Commission Order 
number I, and it states that the Appointing Authority selects the members. 
And that membership is from many officers in the different service 
components. The number one criteria is that they must be competent to 
perform the duties as Military Commission members. 

Now, let's look into the nomination process. There was a mandatory criteria 
tor officers in the grade of 0-4 and above. And this specifically requests 
what it takes to have competent nominees. Members who can perform the 
duties that you members will have to perform, quasi-judicial functions. 
That means those with experience, education, and judicial temperament. 
Now that is important -- very important with respect to quasi-judicial 
functions. 

This quasi-judicial role is something that you can find with command 
experience. Commander's experience with the military justice process is 
one that affords a senior officer to have experience looking at issues such as 
these; the Article 15 proceedings. courts-martial actions, all actions with 
both questions of law and fact have to be taken into account. Bullets two, 
three, and four, are functions which onicers perform and in the instructions 
and regulations surrounding investigations, summary courts, and 
administrative separation duty. there is a preference tor officers in the grade 
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PO: 

of 0-4 and above. 

Now, members, Congress has already told us (pointing to the slide on the 
projection screen), specifically under the UCMJ, which rules apply to 
military commissions. These are the Articles that apply specifically based 
on what Congress has told us. They said that the President may not 
prescribe rules that are inconsistent with what they say. Now, the Military 
Commission Order number I process is not inconsistent with that of the 
UCMJ. Article 25 of the Unitorm Code of Military Justice applies to 
courts-martial, the Military Commission Order number I, is the process for 
Military Commissions. 

In conclusion members, Military Commission Order number I is the proper 
standard. The argument to use United States 1'. Kirkland, or any other rule 
that the defense is arguing that applies here, is not the proper standard. The 
process in Military Commission Order number 1 was followed, and it was a 
lawful process. The prosecution will submit the proposed tindings of facts 
and law on this issue for your consideration. 

Okay. Defense? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir, I do. Majo"-discussed about having that the 
Appointing Authority wants to pick most competent people. Well, how can 
he know who's competent ifhe didn't consider the majority of the people in 
the armed -- the commissioned officers in the armed forces to sit on the 
panel when he was instructed to? But because of his military order, which 
was undermined by an exercise of unlawful command influence, by any 
person Article 37(a), which was surprisingly absent from the government's 
slide which mentioned what Articles of the Uniform Code of Military 
Justice are applicable to: Commissions. 

PO: 

When an exercise of unlawful command influence by some person, in the 
office of general counsel undermines the process, what's the reason for that: 
Well, improper motive. The defense doesn't have to show you that. The 
defense has to show you that there was an improper exclusion before the 
burden shifts to the government to show you that it wasn't. In this case, 
we've done that. There's been an improper exclusion of an entire class of 
people who were eligible. 

At this point, that's unlawful command inlluence and requires that the 
Commission examine that and determine the appropriate remedy. We 
believe that the appropriate remedy is dismissal. Thank you. 

Colonel_ 

eM (Col_ Prosecution, can you explain again why you believe that Article 25 is 
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I not one of the Articles. 
2 
3 AP (Maj_ Yes, sir, I can. Sir, if you look at Article 36 of the Uniform Code of 
4 Military Justice, that's the rule where Congress gives the President the 
5 authority to prescribe rules for a military commission. Right in there it 
6 says, the President has that authority. It also says that he can prescribe rules 
7 as long as they are not inconsistent. Well the rules of statutory construction 
8 are the rules that we use in meeting Congress' intent. 
9 

10 The first stop there is the plain language reading. And what the rule states 
II for statutory construction is, to determine Congress' intent. Congress will 
12 tell you, right in the law. 
13 
14 Now, here in UCMJ what Congress did was, specifically wrote what are the 
15 rules of Military Commissions and the rules that it wanted to apply. For 
16 those saying -- it's only saying courts-martial -- specifically, only states 
17 courts-martial, but here we are talking about "military commissions". It 
18 only gives those eight rules where it says, military commissions, these rules 
19 apply to them. In Article of25 there is no mention of military 
20 commissions. In fact. the title of Article 25 is "who may serve on 
21 courts-martial". It doesn't say who may serve on military commissions and 
22 what the defense wants you to do is just ignore what Congress intended 
23 when it created the UCMJ rules. It gave a limitation to the President and 
24 said he can prescribe rules as long as they are not inconsistent. 
25 
26 Did I answer your question, sir? 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
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po: Any questions? Okay, thank you. We'll issue a ruling in due course on 
that. Since the August recess, I've issued POMs 2-\' 4-2, 6-\. 9,10, and 12. 
A complete copy of all the current POMs is being marked as -- has been 
marked as RE 52. All counsel were given opportunity to object to POMs; 
however, I now ask ifthere are any objections to these POMs" 

P (LtCol_ We have none, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Yes, we do, Colonel. I'll just list them quickly with respect to all of the 
POMs. We object on the ground ofthat the Presiding Officer does not have 
ad hoc rule-making authority, and that violates the Administrative 
Procedures Act. 

With respect to POM 9 -- and these go to specific POMs now -- POM 9, 
while the Presiding Officer does have authority under the MCOs and MCls. 
with respect to protective orders, it is our position that in some instances, 
not as related to protective orders, become issues of law to the entire 
Commission to decide and those would go to substnntive issues such as, for 
example, the denial of access -- excuse me, the denying the defendant 

139 



2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

PO: 

access to certain information and certain evidence based on a protective 
order. As denial of access of different counsel, perhaps based on a 
protective order. which is contemplated by the MCOs and MCls. and any 
other protective order that would impair the ability of the defense to prepare 
and present matters. such as an inability and incapacity to discuss certain 
information with witnesses and other persons who are members of the 
defense team. 

Also, within that POM, POM 9 section 4(b), in that it permits the 
prosecution to eliminate a CC to civilian defense counselor the toreign 
attorney consulting on certain information that is communicated to the 
Presiding Officer and to detail counsel. Again, we would object to that as 
being contrary to a full and fair proceeding in which the detendant would 
have the right to have all his counsel, all his counsel representing him have 
access to --

I'm missing something, Mr. Dratel? Isn't that in the MCO? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Yes, it is. Btlt we challenge the MCO as well. We did that last time we 
were here when we broke for classified. but we haven't had an occasion to 
challenge it with respect to counsel. It has not come up yet with respect to 
any specitic issue that has been -- for which civilian counselor foreign 
attorney consultant has been denied access. So it is not right in that context. 
With respect to the POM obviously, we are just interposing our objection 
with respect to that. And with respect to POM 2-1, we object to the --

CM (Col_ Can you slow down just a little bit? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): I'm sorry, I'm sorry, Colonel. With respect to POM 2-1. we object to the 
assistant to the Presiding Otlicer -- I'll wait for you. 

PO: Okay. 

DC (Mf. Dratel): Oh--

CM (Col_ Go ahead. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Oh. We object to the assistant to the Presiding Officer providing legal 
advice on court procedural or closed court matters, or matters with respect 
to the Presiding Officer's court adjudicative function, because those terms 
are not defined with sufficient precision to preclude intrusion into the 
substantive affairs of the Commission. And again, notwithstanding other 
parts of that POM to address that. Nevertheless, those particular terms are 
not detined and as a result they do provide the possibility that the assistant 
to the Presiding Officer will, in fact, perform functions that are related to 
the substance of the issue. And that is what we have. Thank you. 
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PO: Any reason you all didn't object to these when they were issued? 

DC (Mr. Oratel): Again, we focused on other items and we focused on this in preparation 
to these proceedings. We apologize for any delay. 

po: The issues that are coming before this Commission are diftlcult enough 
without people not following what are fairly simple guidelines. 1 wish that 
all people would. and that is not addressed just to the defense, it is 
addressed to the prosecution also. 

Okay. Members, you all had an opportunity to review the POMs, didn't 
you? 

CM (Col_ Yes. 

CM (Col_ Yes. 

PO: Do you all believe the issuance of those POMs and the subject matters 
obtained therein is within my province under the Commission Law? 

CM (Col_ I do. 

CM (Col_ I do, too. 

po: Okay. Under the provision of the MCO, I forwarded certain interlocutory 
questions to the Appointing Authority. Interlocutory questions I through 5 
with counsel comments to 1, 2, 3, and 5, and the responses by the 
Appointing Authority are attached to the record as RE 41 through 49, 
respectively. In connection with the response to interlocutory question 4, I 
provided a memorandum to all counsel concerning my interpretation ofthe 
term "necessary instructions" in MCI 8. 

Basically, I will issue those instructions which any military oftlcer 
designated to preside over a commission or board might be required to 
issue. Have both members had an 0ppoltunity to review the decision 
memorandum which is marked as RE 53? 

CM (Col_ Yes. 

CM (Col_ I have. 

PO: Do you all agree with my interpretation of necessary instructions? 

CM (Col_ I do. 
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CM (Col_ I also do. 

po: Trial, you got any comments on RE 53? 

P (LtCol_ No, sir. 

po: Defense? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): No, sir. 

po: Members, prior to our session on 25 August, I gave you all certain admin 
instruction on publicity and transportation and such things. Neither side 
objected to those instructions on the record and I don't intend to revoke 
those now. 

However, after voir dire on 25 August, I stated the following: "As the only 
lawyer appointed to the Commission, I will instruct you on the law". My 
interpretation of Commission Law at that time was overbroad, and that 
instruction, namely that I will instruct you on the law, is hereby withdrawn. 
Instead, members, I advise you that all the members of the Commission 
have an equal say on what the law is and that I will not instruct you on the 
law. I will participate in all discussions and deliberations by the 
Commission on all questions of law and fact. During all the discussions 
and deliberations, I will certainly use my knowledge. ski II, and training, as 
well as other members of the Commission. But ultimately, your position or 
vote on what the law is, is no lesser or greater than any other member, 
including myself. Each of you all understand that and agree with it? 

CM(Col_Yes. 

CM (Col_Yes. 

po: Comments, counsel? 

P (LtCol_ No, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Based on the Colonel's statements in court and also with respect to RE 
53 itself, the defense offers RE 14-C which consists of defense motion 2--
0-2. The motion and the response and RE 14-C, which is a one-page 
withdrawal of that motion. 

po: Okay. RE 14 is A, a motion; B, a response. And then C is the withdrawal. 
Thank you. 

Okay. The defense submitted a request for continuance, 0 28, based 
generally on anticipated U.S., Great Britain negotiations which the defense 
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believe would inure to the benefit of Mr. Hicks. I denied that request for 
continuance. The request, denial, and associated documents are 33-A 
through C. 

The defense submitted another request for continuance, D 29. based on its 
desire to have an expert consultant in international law present during the 
sessions. This consultant would not be available until after 15 December. I 
denied that request. The request, denial, and associated documents are RE 
34-A through C. 

The defense then requested that I present the denials for the full 
Commission for its action. Since scheduling is clearly within the province 
ofthe providing officer under the provisions of MCI 8, I have declined to 
do so. 

However, I did present the question to the Commission as to whether the 
denial ofa continuance by the Presiding Officer could or should be 
reviewed by the Commission. 

Based on Commission Law. the Commission holds that the scheduling on 
the time and place of convening of sessions in the Commission is clearly 
within the sole providence of the Presiding Officer subject to the directions 
of the Appointing Authority under the provisions ofMCO I. However, the 
Commission may review a request tor continuance denied by the Presiding 
Officer to determine if failure to grant the continuance would result in the 
denial of a full and fair trial. 

You all agree with that statement of the Commission Law? 

CM (Col_ I do. 

CM (Col_ Yes. 

PO: Comments, trial? 

P (LtCol_ No, sir. 

ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir. 

PO: Okay. Members you all will make a decision on D 28 and 29 now. Do you 
want to do it now or after we review it further and have more discussions? 

CM (Col_ I'd like to review it further. 

PO: Okay. We'll give you a decision in due course. 
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Okay. Now. defense. you resubmitted or submitted the substance of 0 28. 

AOC (Maj Mori): Sir, you apparently you skipped the section on dealing with comments 
regarding the D 29. 

PO: I did? I don't think so. 

ADC (Maj Mori): I could just briefly address it to the members. The denial for 
continuance for Mr. Schmitt. 

PO: I thought you had submitted. Okay. Go on. sure. 

13 AOC (Maj Mori): Just briefly. 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
2<) 
30 
31 

33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

PO: Fine. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Members, we submitted a request for an expert consultant in 
International Ministry of Law. The Appointing Authority's office approved 
that request. finding it necessary for us to have the assistance of an expert 
consultant in that area to represent Mr. Hicks before this Commission. We 
sought to have that expert consultant here today to assist us during the 
motions session. 

That motion session obviously focuses primarily in areas that are within his 
expertise and to allow him to consult with us regarding if the defense for 
Mr. Hicks. His not being here interferes with our ability to consult. 
obviously, directly with him and to provide an adequate defense for Mr. 
Hicks. With the assistance of a consultant, which the Appointing Authority 
already found was necessary to have in our representation of Mr. Hicks. to 
not grant the continuance would deprive Mr. Hicks ofa consultant already 
found necessary to represent him. We would ask that the continuance be 
granted when Mr. Schmitt is available on December 15. Thank you. 
members. 

CM (Col_ I have a question. Why is it you waited 10 days ii'om the time that the 
Appointing Authority said you could have this guy until you e-mailed him 
to see ifhe was available for this session? 

AOC (Maj Mori): Sir, we had talked to him working through his chain of command. And 
he was told that it looked like he could come. In turns out that he didn't 
have his -- he could not come. His dean said, no, I can't spare you right 
now. We went through our Boss--

CM (Col_ That wasn't the question I asked you, really, I asked I think. From the 
time that the Appointing Authority said that he approved this request. you 
waited 10 days to contact him according to the paperwork that you tiled that 

144 



I read. 
2 
3 ADC (Maj Mori): Mr. Schmitt, sir, or the dean referring to Colonel Gunn's e-mail? We 
4 went first to Colonel Gunn to ask about getting the Appointing Authority to 
5 obtain his presence. The Appointing Authority didn't do any -- take any 
6 action to assist getting his presence here. He just replied to Colonel Gunn. 
7 
8 At that point. we contacted his -- scnt the e-mail [0 him working through his 
9 chain of command. And then, finally, Colonel Gunn, when he said, no --

10 the dean said, no, he can only be available in December, went back to 
II Colonel Gunn. Colonel Gunn then sent an e-mail directly to the dean again 
12 asking if it was possible to bring him up for this one week. He is a 
13 Department of Dcfense employee, he is in Germany. Yes, sir? 
14 
IS CM (Col_ Defense, would you agree that these proceedings are somewhat 
16 important? 
17 
18 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
19 
20 eM (Col_ Would you also agree that the individual that you wish to retain for his 
21 consulting services as a department of defense employee could also be told 
22 that whatever else he is doing is not as important as this? 
23 
24 ADC (Maj MOTi): Yes, sir. I agree one hundred percent with you on that, sir. 
25 
26 CM (Col_ So why has the defense not asked to go above the dean of the schooL 
27 because it seems to me that the appointing ~iUthorities and those folks that 
28 are responsible fOT this Commission could clearly make that judgment. 
29 
30 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, you clearly saw the e-mail that the -- we went through our chain of 
3 I command, Colonel Gunn. He sent correspondence to the Appointing 
32 Authority who chose, instead of taking any active role, to get Mr. Schmitt 
33 here and resolve the issue for the fiTst commission in 60 years. Instead he 
34 just sent a letter back saying he can come, but it shouldn't interfere with the 
35 school's schedule. 
36 
37 I agree with you one hundTed percent, sir, this is the most important thing. 
38 don't have the power. I wish I had the poweT, because he should be heTe. 
39 This is the first military commission in 60 years, and it would just take the 
40 Appointing Authority, because the Military Commission Order Tequires 
41 other agencies and the Department of Defense to cooperate and facilitate 
42 these commissions. And there are instructors willing and ready to teach and 
43 cover fOT him this week, and they chose not to do that 
44 
4S CM (Col_ Okay. Let me ask you the whole question. I'm not a big believer in 
46 the one-man theory . 
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I 
2 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
3 
4 CM (Col_ Are there not other folks beside this single individual? 
5 
6 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. I actually had another consultant before Mr. Schmitt who was 
7 taken away from me because he got PC Sed. This was actually Our second 
8 one due to rotations. I obviously distinguished between a consultant and a 
9 witness, because the person is a consultant, they actually do get kind of 

10 assigned and attached to the team and covered under confidentiality. I don't 
II want to impose on everyone by trying to get many people involved, but tnat 
12 one was sufficient for our representation of Mr. Hicks. 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 

P (LtCol_ Sir, ifl may have an opportunity to respond? 

po: Well, I am waiting to see if the members have any more questions first. 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 

CM (Col_I'm good. 

po: Yes, now you can. 

24 P (LtCol_ Sir, first we'd like to clarify one thing. You have before you the letter 
25 from the Appointing Authority regarding this consultant. It does not say 
26 that he is necessary for this proceeding. It basically is a grant. Yes, the 
27 government will pay for this individual to go there; your request is 
28 approved for that to have happened. But the Appointing Authority also has 
29 made it clear that he does not deem this necessary by saying, if this will 
30 interfere with his duties there with his mission. then you can't do it. 
31 
32 So it's misleading to say that the Appointing Authority said that it was 
33 necessary to have him here. Well, if the government, prosecutors, we don't 
34 have a consultant and we are on the same boat as the defense as far as 
35 background experience. We have attorneys on both sides. We don't have 
36 some highly-paid consultant. Our side. we prepare through reading and 
37 pretrial-- pretrial motions preparation. We are here, we are prepared. We 
38 believe the defense can be and should be as well, so we do not feel that the 
39 Presiding Officer's decision to deny it in any way denies the accused of a 
40 full and fair trial. 
41 
42 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, can I just be brief for a moment? 
43 
44 po: Goon. 
45 
46 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, part ofthe question back in September, I started trying to obtain his 
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19 

PO: 

presence here when I went through Colonel Gunn and began that ofticial 
process. Whether the government has an expert or not is irrelevant. The 
government has the Department of Justice assisting them, the FBI, the entire 
investigative task force, any Department of Defense employee they want to 
reach out and touch. We have one, Mr. Schmitt. We asked for him, we got 
him assigned, it is the most important thing going on right now. I think, in 
military justice, this Commission, the first one in 60 years. that he could 
have been excused from his teaching duties. His dean felt not, the 
Appointing Authority did not feel that it was that important to stress, and 
that is why I am at the Commission asking you gentlemen to recognize that 
it is that important. And to allow us to schedule so that he can be here, or to 
have the Presiding Officer order that he be brought here sooner. 

Okay. We will still issue a decision on 28 and 29 in due course. 

Okay. Defense, you resubmitted 28, the substance of it as D 38. 
characterizing it as a motion to dismiss for improper referral of charges. D 
38 will be marked the next review exhibit in line. 

20 Defense? 
21 
22 ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir. I do not want to belabor this particular motion. I'm not sure 
23 whether the members are able to read that or not, I am not sure if they saw 
24 the continuance requests for --
25 
26 
27 
28 

PO: The members have seen both continuance requests, and the members have 
read D 38. 

29 ADC (Maj Lippert): Thank you, sir. Brietly. the Australian government and the United 
30 States government entered into negotiations regarding whether Mr. Hicks 
31 would be brought to trial before military commission. And ifso. under 
32 what conditions he would be brought to trial. 
33 
34 At the same time, and ongoing, although I believe they are beginning to be 
35 resolved right now, the United States government and the government of 
36 Great Britain entered into negotiations regarding how their citizens held at 
37 Guantanamo were going to be -- whether and when and how they were 
38 going to be tried, or if they were going to be tried before a military 
39 commission. 
40 
41 Part orthe Australian agreement -- the agreement the United States has with 
42 the Australians was that any benefit that flows to the British Guantanamo 
43 detainees as a result of the British/United States negotiations, would also 
44 tlow to Mr. Hicks. The substance of our motion is that this case was 
45 improperly referred to the Commission because, to date, one, no British 
46 citizen has been designated and will ever be tried at a military commission 
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1 ifthe British have anything to do with it. And two, if that is the case, then 
2 that benefIt of not coming before a military commission under the 
3 agreement between the United States of America and the Australian 
4 government should flow to Mr. Hicks. If that hasn't been resolved and 
5 nobody -- and/or if no British citizen held in Guantanamo is going to be 
6 tried before a military commission, neither should Mr. Hicks. 
7 
8 And the Appointing Authority in making a decision to forward the charges 
9 to this Commission and refer them here, before that whole issue was 

10 resolved, makes the referral improper, premature, and perhaps unnecessary. 
II And therefore, we believe that the case should be -- we filed a continuance 
12 motion, or request for continuance to at least halt it until that was resolved, 
13 but we also feel that it is improperly referred and that there is no jurisdiction 
14 because of that. That is the basis of the motion. Thank you. 
15 
16 P (LtCol_ Gentlemen. once the Military Commission has been convened and 
17 once charges have been referred to this Military Commission, it is your duty 
18 to proceed to a full and fair trial, but expeditiously. An in indefinite 
19 continuance or trying to hold these proceedings off, whatever the defense 
20 tries to cast this as, they want to hold these things offto see how things go. 
21 Well, that is not a cognizable -- that's not consistent --
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

po: It's not a date certain. 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 

CM (Col_ What did you say? 

po: It's not a date certain. 

P (LtCol_ An indefinite continuance is just in direct contradiction with the duty 
to proceed expeditiously. The defense has statements in this. not only are 
they unsupported, but they demonstrate a doctrine that is known as the 
political question doctrine annunciated by the U.S. Supreme Court, Baker 
versus Carl', a case that we have cited in our response here. 

The point of that is there is a branch of the government that deals with 
diplomatic matters dealing with Great Britain, dealing with Australia. It's 
not lawyers, it's not this Military Commission, it's not a court. That's left to 
the diplomats to decide diplomatic matters. It would impinge on that for 
this Military Commission to decide what is or is not required as a matter of 
diplomacy between the United States and Australia. 

And the statements of the defense highlight this, because a military 
commission or a court is essentially not competent to decide these matters, 
what is required by these diplomatic negotiations. They are not even 
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talking about a treaty or something that has some kind of effect like that. 
2 We are talking about some kind of negotiations that the defense feels 
3 entitles them to an indefinite continuance. 
4 
5 The defense is wrong about what it's asserted. Australia has indicated that 
6 they desire for these proceedings to proceed expeditiously, which is 
7 precisely the language of MCO number 1. 
8 
9 And furthermore, the statement that no British citizen will ever go to trial 

10 before the military commission is simply unsupported and so that just has to 
11 be completely discounted from the defense. Gentlemen, bottom line is that 
12 this defense request to hold these proceedings in abeyance is subordinate to 
13 the political question and should be denied. 
14 
15 ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir. It is not about continuance -- I'm sorry, sir. 
16 
17 CM (Col_ He used the word "abeyance". 
18 
19 
20 

po: In abeyance, what do you mean by "abeyance"? 

21 CM (Col_ And the motion is for continuance. 
22 
23 P (LtCol_ Sir, when he says he wants a continuance but he doesn't give that date 
24 certain, and instead he said he wants it tor an indefinite period oftime, I am 
25 casting that more as a holding in abeyance then some kind of continuance. 
26 
27 ADC (Maj Lippert): Sir, maybe perhaps I can clear up your question. We put in a motion 
28 for a continuance originally. The Presiding Officer ruled on that motion 
29 said, no. there is not going to be a continuance we arc going to drive on. 
30 
31 We then submitted a motion to dismiss based on an improper referral. And 
32 the reason we have an improper referral is because of these negotiations, 
33 these agreements, or whatever will inure, or may inure to the benefit of Mr. 
34 Hicks. And if that is the case, it is incumbent upon the Appointing 
35 Authority before referring this case to a military commission to ensure that 
36 all ofthose things are resolved. In this case. they have not. They sent him 
37 here knowing that the negotiations with the British are ongoing, and 
38 knowing that the benefits given to the British detainees will now to Mr. 
39 Hicks. 
40 
41 Nonetheless, they reterred the case. That doesn't make any sense. The 
42 relerral is improper because it is done prematurely and may not be 
43 necessary at all once the agreements between -- actually not diplomats, but 
44 the Department of Defense, who is negotiating these arrangements, not the 
45 diplomats. So the Secretary of Defense is entering into agreements as to 
46 disposition of cases, some which might benefit our client and the 
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po: 

Appointing Authority's ignored that and driven on. And that is improper, 
and that is why it should be dismissed. Thank you, sir. 

Thank you. 038 was marked previously as RE 55. 

Okay. Lefs take about a 20 minute break -- how much time do -- 25 
minute break while we think some ofthis stuff over. 

Court is in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1414, I November 2004. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1443, 1 Novemher 200.J. 

PO: The Commission will come to order. 

P (LtCol_ Sir, we would like to note for the record that Sel:geantl 
has replaced Sergeant_as court reporter. 

PO: 

Also, at the prosecution table with us is Commande~as you 
know, the lead prosecutor in the Hamdan, al Bahlul cases. With your leave 
he will later be arguing two motions that are common to the Hamdan and 
Hicks cases. 

A detailing letter detailing Commande,..as well as one other 
individual has previously been marked as RE 57 and has been provided to 
the court reporter. 

Okay. Let's talk witnesses. 

The defense submitted a request for certain persons as expert witness on the 
law in this case. I denied those requests because I did not tind the witnesses 
were necessary. The defense has submitted those requests to the full 
Commission for consideration. The name of the witness and the RE which 
contains the initial request, associated documents, the denial, and the 
request to the full Commission are: CherifBassiouni. 0 31, which is RE 
35; Jordan Paust, 0 32, which is RE 36; Antonio Cassese. 0 33, which is 
RE 37; Tim McCormack, 0 34, which is RE 38; George Edwards, 035. 
which is RE 39; and Michael Schmitt, 0 36, which is RE 40. 

Members. have you both had the opportunity to review all the matters 
contained in RE 35 through 40? 

44 CM (Col_ Yes. 
45 
46 CM(Col_Yes. 
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PO: Counsel, either side feel compelled to say anything about these requests that 
is not contained in the filings? 

5 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, just briefly. We have obviously asked for the six witnesses. By 
6 reviewing their CV's in the request, you can obviously see they're qualified. 
7 And their qualifications certainly impacts the probative value of their 
8 testimony. A1ter getting a chance to obviously review the motions that are 
9 involved in this case, each witness will testify on issues directly relevant to 

10 all the motions before the Commission. Having the witness here will allow 
I I us to present evidence, the government to cross-examine that witness, allow 
12 yourselfto ask questions of that witness in that particular expertise and area 
13 so that we can become educated in the international law, international 
14 humanitarian law, law of war. I don't believe myself or anybody within this 
15 room is a -- has extensive experience in international law, practicing in it, or 
16 advanced education, masters in law from international law; it's a very 
17 specialized area, very complex area. And having individuals testilY 
18 regarding those subject matters that we have requested, especially, 
19 individuals with the experience that we have asked for. 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
:12 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

po: 

Professor Cassese, former judge from the International Criminal Tribunal of 
Yugoslavia; Professor Bassiouni, who has been a professor and consultant 
for the Department of State, Department of Justice, and International1.aw; 
Michael Schmitt, who we have addressed, who is a DoD employee, 
employed over in Germany for the Department of Defense in European 
Center, George Marshall Center; we have Mr. Tim McCormack, who is the 
Foundation Australian Red Cross Professor ofinternational Military Law 
for Melbourne. He is also the Foundation Director for the Asian/Pacific 
Center for Military Law. Another one of his experiences, which directly 
relates to this obviously, is his role as an amicus curiae for the international 
tribunal regarding the trial of Milosovich, where he is an amicus curiae for 
the trial chamber. 

I think the defense has requested witnesses that are -- their testimony is 
admissible, where the -- it would provide probative value and it should be 
admitted. 

Before you sit down --

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: Okay, Bassiouni, which motion is he going to be testilYing on'? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Professor Bassiouni would testilY, specifically, for the most weighted 
area, I would say, in the area of conspiracy. 
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PO: Can you do me a favor and talk about the motions listing? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: Thanks. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir. he would testify, going through, mainly on conspiracy, D II. 

po: Okay. 

ADC (Maj Mori): He would address also -- tOllch on probably D 17 and 0 3, slightly. 

po: Okay. Mr. Paust? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Mr. Paus\, would hit on 0 5, D 10. 

PO: Okay. 

ADC (Maj Mori): And also, 1 am giving the main areas they may have --

PO: -- that is fine, 1 understand that. Mr. Cassese? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Mr. Cassese would also hit on the conspiracy, as well as testify 
regarding D 3 and D 17. 

PO: Mr. McCormack? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Mr. McCormack would deal with D 12, D 13 primarily. 

PO: And Mr. Edwards? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Mr. Edwards would deal with 0 8, 0 4. 

PO: I am not holding you -- I am just asking you what's the primary one. How 
about Mr. Schmitt? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Mr. Schmitt -- Mr. Schmitt would testify regarding D 20, 0 11,012, 
and 0 13, and 0 3, and 0 17, the international armed contlicts. 

PO: Okay. You got anything else you want to say? 

ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir. thank you. 

PO: Any questions of defense counsel? 

46 No audible respollse 
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I 
2 eM (Col_ If I understood you right, and I copied these down, why wouldn't you 
3 consider when you have, like, two -- at least two, and in some cases three, 
4 testifying on the same thing; wouldn't that be cumulative? 
5 
6 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, I think -- when you get to about three on the subject area, 1 would 
7 agree it is probably cumulative. But the issue is with these areas of law that 
8 we need to be able to bring in, obviously, eminently qualified experts, and 
9 to show by having at least two or three testif'y, that our position is the 

10 correct position, and is what is accepted in international law across the 
II broad spectrum in the international community. So I would think at least 
12 three would be necessary for that before 1 would say that is cumulative in 
13 witnesses, sir. 
14 
IS CM (Col_ Can you articulate to me why these individuals physically need to be 
16 here. and that their knowledge and their expertise cannot be passed to you 
17 guys or to us in another manner, and then you present it since you are the 
18 defense counsel? 
19 
20 ADC (Maj Mori); Well, sir, I cannot provide evidence personally, myself. 
21 
22 CM (Col_ But you can argue and make --
23 
24 ADC (Maj Mori): 1 can argue, yes. sir. But it is from the evidence that 1 would argue 
25 and --
26 
27 CM (Col_ So my question is: Why is it necessary for me to get the evidence 
28 directly from him in person and not trom some other medium? 
29 
30 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir. you can judge the witness' demeanor, his credibility. so that you can 
31 have the opportunity to ask him questions. the prosecutor can ask him 
32 questions. we can ask him questions right here, and we can get to the heart 
33 of his testimony and ensure that what is contained in a written document or 
34 what was written in an article is in context for this case because that is what 
35 is very important. This is the first time military commissions have 
36 happened in such a long time that there is not much written specifically on 
37 this issue and the importance of these issues. There is no book out there 
38 about military commissions because there just hasn't been any in such a 
39 long time. 
40 
41 eM (Col_ Isn't pretty unusual to have witnesses present evidence to a panel when 
42 it is that panel's responsibility to interpret the law, to have someone come 
43 up here and give me their opinion of the law when it is my job to interpret 
44 that law? 
45 
46 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir. Mr. Dratel was set up to answer that next, if I could let him answer 
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PO: 

that question. 

Actually -- okay. Go on, I'm sorry. 

5 DC (Mr. Dratel): In the context of this particular Commission and in this particular case. it 
6 is a unique situation, it is unique for several reasons. One, is that we have a 
7 panel that finds the facts and the law but is not made up of lawyers. We 
8 have two Commission members who aren't lawyers. There is no judge who 
9 would make a finding. who would be someone who had experience in 

10 adjudicating these types of issues and would have expertise in the context 
I I and could consult the law in a way that there was training already in place 
12 to make a certain type of determination. 
13 
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PO: 

So I think in one context, in this type of case, it is important to have that 
type of expert testimony so that the Commission members can feel satisfied, 
and that this is. in fact, the state of the law and not a paragraph from a book 
that you can't cross-examine, and you can't ask questions, and you can't 
determine whether it applies to this case, or it is something in the abstract, 
or something that applies to something that was written years 25. 30, ten. 
three, years ago. 

The second part of that, and I think they are closely related to each other, is 
that we are not addressing in this Commission offenses that are written out 
in some international, or law of war book as existing before the 
President's -- before the MeO or the MCI that created them. So part in 
parcel of our argument is, you're not going to find these particular offenses 
discussed as they as they exist here because they did not exist. So you have 
to have the people who know what they are talking about. these preeminent 
authorities in the field, come in and tell you what state is with respect to this 
particular new type of offense that the government is seeking to create in 
this Commission. And what would be the harm of getting the maximum out 
of the these witnesses? Not the minimum, something on a piece of paper. 
but getting the maximum. Getting in to explain to you from the witness 
stand what the state of the law is. You can satisfy yourself that you are 
fully educated that you don't have a question hanging out there that you 
can't ask a piece of paper, but you can ask a human being, an expert. 
someone who is not going to come in here and risk their reputation on a 
particular side. Someone who is going to come in and give you the state of 
the law. They have the expertise. They have the knowledge and the 
experience in international tribunals, in military law. in law of war. And 
that is what we are trying to do. is to get the panel the maximum so that we 
have a full and fair proceeding. Thank you. 

Do you want to say anything? On the witnesses not on the P 6 thing that we 
are going to hit later; okay? 
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P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. Primarily, the reason that we believe that these witnesses 
are not necessary is what we stated in P-6. 

po: Fine, thank you. We are supposed to hear next in order 12, 13, 11,9.20; 
right? That's what you all told me you want to do; right? 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 

po: Major Mori? 

ADC (Maj. Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: Thank you. Okay. So you are telling the panel that you can't argue these 
motions without these people; right? No, you are telling the panel that you 
would be a lot better off with them; right? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): The whole system would be a lot better off, sir. 

po: I imagine that the prosecution would argue that, but that is okay. 

Okay. Members. do you want to address that here or do you want to go 
back and take a short deliberation on this? 

CM (Col_ Deliberation. 

CM (Col_ Deliberation. 

po: Court is in recess for ten minutes. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1458, 1 November 20o.t. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1507, 1 November 2004. 

po: The Commission will come to order. Let the record reflect that all parties 
present when the Commission recessed are once again present. 

The Commission has considered the witness request, RE 35 through 40, and 
the Commission does not find that they are necessary at this time: therefore. 
the requests are not granted. 

41 Prosecution, you got a motion to exclude legal expert testimony, P 6. which 
42 is attached to the record as RE 13 A through C. 
43 
44 Members, have y'all had a chance to look at this motion? 
45 
46 CM (Col_ Yes. 
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CM (Col_ Yes. 

po: You got anything you want to say about it" 

p (LtCol_ Thank you, sir. Gentleman, the request from the defense illustrates 
very nicely why the prosecution brought this motion. Because this type of a 
witness, a law professor, to explicate the law, in essence to give a lecture on 
what the law is, that is not evidence at aIL That is why we brought this 
motion to exclude this type of testimony. Although, the defense would 
attempt to make it seem so, it is neither a normal mode of establishing what 
the law is before a Commission, nor is it required of you to allow this type 
of evidence. 

Evidence goes to establishing facts, What the law is simply put is a 
different matter. 

No, counsel would not need evidence to say, this is what the law says. This 
was against law, this was not against the law, When we do that we present 
legal briefs and we go to somces law. Neither the prosecution. nor the 
defense needs to have someone to have somebody on the stand to tell you 
that for us to point to the law, Does the prosecution have to get someone on 
the stand to say, Military Commission I nstruction number 2 says X, Y, Z 
and what I meant by that was A, B, C. No, you are expected to go to the 
source of the law and to study it and go to other sources of the law to give 
that meaning as needed. 

Another important reason to exclude this type of testimony is that it is the 
province of this Military Commission to determine what the law is. 
Bringing in a law professor, an expert, invades that province because, again, 
you interpret those sources. I f a purported expert came in, and told you, this 
is what the law says, it says that this charge must go, the only way -- the 
only thing that gives that any weight would be the source ofthat opinion. 
And that is what you must go to, the source of that opinion. Now, that is 
not to say that these legal scholars' opinions carry no weight. or do not come 
in here at aIL Counsel for both sides are free to. and have freely used the 
opinions oflegal scholars, and those come in. Now. we've provided a 
couple of cases in our brief that some of them are kind of lengthy, but the 
portion that talks about the use of legal scholars, very informative and very 
important. Now, the two cases that are worth reading are the U.S. Supreme 
Court case of Poquete Hobona and a federal appellate decision by the name 
of Youse! 

And pursuant to these cases -- and they are talking about exactly this 
issue -- when we go outside of statutes and we look to international law and 
what the sources of international law are. Of course, this is military 
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commission, it is a United States military commission. The first place we 
look is to United States law, U.S. orders. regulations, statutes. Supreme 
Court decisions. We look to those as a source of law. 

U.S. law at times incorporates international law. For instance Congress has 
said that a person can be charged under the law of war. the law of armed 
conflict; that is incorporating something. To understand what those charges 
can be and who may be charged, it is saying you look to the law of armed 
conflict. and to determine that you have to go to some international sources. 

After U.S. law, we look at treaties. We can also look to customary 
international law in some instances. But as Youse/said, for customary 
international law, you look at the practice of states and court decisions. in 
some instances, you look to court decisions. The works of commentaries of 
jurists are not primary sources of international law and over-reliance to 
them -- on them can lead to confusion and error. 

Now as the Youse/court said, while jurists, meaning legal scholars olTering 
their opinions, can be useful in explicating or explaining a point of law, 
they -- both those cases talk about the works of jurists. We think that's 
significant that we look to the works of jurists. To have someone come in 
here and give a lecture essentially would lead to a temptation not just to say 
what the law really is, but what they think the law should he or the 
temptation to apply the law as they would like to see it. Prior works that 
these people have published, works that at least has some more reliability 
because that is in a more general setting, it is where they are attempting to 
interpret, and they would -- to make it persuasive -- they would cite. They 
would say, where are these sources of law, and not just what they think the 
law ought be. 

As the Youse/court said, the claim of scholars to speak for the 
"international community," loosely so called, however, common place in 
our time, should be regarded with skepticism. So the Youse/court laid out a 
hierarchy, if you will. The first place look to it -- to tind it in the source 
law. and at the bottom of that hierarchy would be the works of jurists. 

Again, we are not trying to keep the works of these individuals out, they can 
be presented. Your ruling here will set a precedent; and we think a 
precedent that says each case can start with a battle of legal experts, 
because, let's face it, that is what it would start off as. They want to present 
somebody who would say that their view of the law is right, and that is what 
Major Mori is essentially said when he made his argument about some of 
those witnesses. He wants to show that his view of the law is right. Well, 
of course, we believe our view of the law is right, we call experts. The 
Military Commission, while full and fair, is also supposed to be efficient 
and conducted expeditiously. And starting off with a battle of legal experts, 
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would be bad precedent because it would be very inefficient and create a 
legal side show. 

Counsel should be held to the burden of submitting articulate legal briefs 
that point to legitimate sources of law to support their position. Gentlemen, 
we will be offering proposed essential findings for your consideration. 
Thank you. 

Oelense? 

II DC (Mr. Oratel): I am a little unsure of what the nature of this motion is at this point since 
12 the request for these specific witnesses has been denied to the extent that it 
13 is a blanket categorical request that the panel exclude a whole category of 
14 evidence before you've even heard what it is. I think that would be 
15 extraordinary. Asking the Commission in the blind to have a blanket 
16 prohibition on a certain type of witness, so that going forward you deny 
17 yourselves the right to hear testimony that's relevant and necessary before 
18 you've even been asked to hear testimony and why it's relevant and 
19 necessary. So 1 think the motion should be denied out ofhand for that 
20 reason alone, because it is not in any context at all other than these specific 
21 witnesses which the Commission has already denied. 
22 
23 It would be neither full nor fair to prejudge before you even know a request 
24 for particular type of witness to say that witness cannot be called. This 
25 should be evaluated on a witness-by-witness basis, on a subject 
26 matter-by-subject matter basis. And again. otherwise, it would deprive the 
27 Commission of relevant and necessary testimony. 
28 
29 
30 
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Now, the government wants to pick and choose rights that it thinks should 
be transferred, ordinary jurisprudence to this Commission. To pick and 
choose statutes, to pick and choose principles; and only those that make it 
less fair. only those that provide less information to the panel. only those 
that give you less of a foundation to make the decisions that you need to 
make. 

When we were here in August and had voir dire. because of this 
extraordinary situation where we have lay members of the Commission as 
finders of the law, we ask: Are you comfortable in that role? Do you think 
you can do it? Do you understand the complexities of the issues that you 
are going to face. And we got affirmative answers. And part of the reason 
that we got affirmative answers was that we were going to be given the 
opportunity to educate the panel, to give the panel the tools it needed to 
make the right decision. 

That is what these types of witnesses are designed to do. We are not in a 
federal court with ajudge sitting, who's had experience in training as a 
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judge, has been through law school, has been through judge school, has 
been sitting on the bench as a context for making these kinds of decisions. 
We are not there. And even if we were there, some of this testimony would 
be appropriate, because what is expert testimony appropriate for? To give a 
layperson a foundation and a discipline for which they do not have 
experience or access in their ordinary lives. That is everything from an FBI 
agent talking about drug codes, to questions of securities law. And all of 
those are appropriate subjects of expert testimony in the federal courts. 
This is an appropriate subject, and there are appropriate subjects even going 
beyond the witnesses that have already been denied. But you can't even 
know because we haven't even gotten there yet. 

With respect to talking about the government said they can put on 
witnesses, we want them to put on witnesses. They won't be able to in this 
context. They will not be able to put on witnesses who will get up there and 
defy the witnesses that we can put on. the six witnesses, the preeminent 
authorities. We are all for giving you the maximum amount of information. 
We are all for you being an informed panel, not a deprived panel. 

In the Yousefcase it did not say it was invalid; it said there is a place for it 
and there was a hierarchy of it. But also in Yousef, you're talking about 
traditional practices. 

Again, this is not traditional practice. We are being deprived of the 
opportunity to provide to you the proof in the context of what is the practice 
in international law that these offenses do not exist. They haven't existed, 
and they did not exist until MCI 2 created them. And saying that MCI 2 
was created based on the Presidential Military Order is not an answer to the 
question of whether these offense existed under the law of war, under 
international law, by Congressional authorization -- and we will go into that 
later in the argument on the charges themselves -- but that is just us. When 
I left here in August. I was confident that we could come in and provide to 
you the ultimate foundation for you to make the decision as if you were 
experts. Because that is what you need to be to make these decisions 
properly. 

I submit that they don't want experts because they are afraid orthe answers 
that the experts will give and their inability to give you contrary answers. 

We have talked about the importance of these Commissions. the first in 60 
years in this countlY; and I think it is of the utmost importance that when we 
proceed with these Commissions, that the Commission not do it with 
blinders on, not do it in a way that the Commission remains uninformed, but 
in a way that the Commission becomes most informed. because that is what 
Mr. Hicks' liberty depends on, and the future of military justice in this 
Commission and in this country. 
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So I think the motion should be denied for all those reasons. Thank you. 

4 P (LtCol_ First, that's nonsense. The government can bring witnesses. could 
5 bring witnesses. and we could turn this into a battle of experts. In our briefs 
6 we layout the well-established principles of international law. We layout 
7 the cases that are precedent; and to say that we could not bring one is some 
8 kind of attempt to double dare the government or something into saying 
9 okay. fine. bring on the witnesses and turn it into a macho fight or 

10 something. That is nonsense. 
II 
12 The defense has expressed concern about a fellow Colonel. We have three 
13 Colonels on this panel. three career military officers. And they have 
14 expressed a lot of concern because one is a lawyer. he is going to have 
15 undue influence. And yet they want to bring a parade oflaw professors to 
16 wag their fingers at you and tell you what the law is. You should look at 
17 the law that they would look at to detennine what the law is. They do not 
18 make the law. That is what Yousefsays. Law professors do not make the 
19 law. It would be misleading, it would inappropriate, it would be inefficient, 
20 and that is why we brought the motion. 
21 
22 
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PO: 

The context is, the defense clearly indicated by bringing witness requests 
that they intended to put this type of evidence on. That is the context. We 
think law professors lecturing on the law is not evidence. it's inadmissible. 
To explain our views on the law. it should be through the traditional 
methods which can include the works of jurists. Thank you. 

You got any questions? 

CM (Col_ Nothing. 

CM (Col_ None. 

po: Members, I propose we deny the government's motion to exclude all expert 
legal testimony and rule on any witness request on a case-by-case basis. Do 
you agree? 

CM (Col_ Yes. 

CM (Col_ Agreed. 

po: Prosecution 6 is denied. The Commission will entertain all witness requests 
and grant or deny the requests on an individual basis. This decision will not 
be further reduced to writing. 

CM (Col_ Can I make comment? Should the Commission choose to hear 
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po: 

evidence presented by legal experts. I am going to ask that this Commission 
make those recommendations on who it should be. not the defense or the 
prosecution. I feel it is important that we do understand the law. But I can't 
decide who I need to hear from yet until you present the motions and we 
discuss the laws. I don't presume to know enough to bring the right people 
in until I know what I don't know. 

Okay. Defense. the way I understand it. you wanl to present your motions 
in the following order: D- 12. D- I 3, D-II. D-9. and D-20. Prosecution will 
go along with it, although, I would like to do it a little bit differently. 

Before we start on your motions -- on thos~ there is an issue of 
conclusive notice Major Mori and Colonel_are working on. It is 
going to be handled before the Commission finishes up its session here al 
Guantanamo. 

Y'all work together; if you can't get something worked out. we will be ready 
to look at the first thing Wednesday morning. So y'all got that. 

Okay. You ready to start with D -- what are you on -- D-12. defense? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, is it possible to have a \ 5-minute recess? We have some wilh the 
Commissions ruling --

PO: Okay. I don't think we can get your client in and out in 15 minutes. 25 is 
what is going to have to be. 

The Commission is in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1526. I Novemher 2004. 
The Commission Heuring was culled to order al 1551, 1 November 2004. 

33 PO: The Commission will come to order. Let the record reflect all parties present 
34 when the Commission recessed are once again present. Okay. defense? 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes. sir. Since the defense witnesses were denied, the defense would offer 
what's been marked as Review Exhibit 59-63. Fifty nine is a statement by Mr. McConnack; 
Sixty. Mr. Cassese; Sixty one, Mr. Edwards; Sixty Iwo is Bassiouni; Sixty three is Michael 
Schmitt. 

po: That's only five. isn't it? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes. sir. 

po: Okay. Pass them to the record and ... 
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ADC (Maj Mori): They've been previously supplied to the court reporter, sir. 

po: Okay, great. 

5 
6 

ADC (Maj Mori): Ready for our first motion, sir? 

7 PO: Yes, we're waiting here. 
8 
9 I' (LtCol_ Sir, just if - we haven't seen these yet, we would like to - once we've had 
lOa chance to read them we would like the opportunity or potential to object to some portion -
II additionally we would like to notify you by tomorrow morning based on reading those. 
12 
13 PO: Okay, we won't, members we won't issue a decision on this until prosecution has 
14 had a chance to talk, right? 
15 
16 CM(Col_ Correct 
17 
18 CM (Col_ Agreed. 
19 
20 PO: Okay, there you got it. 
21 
22 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, just for the record I think these attachments obviously represent a file 
23 provided by defense that this is what they would testify to. Sir, the first motion deals with the 
24 charge of murder by an unprivileged belligerent. Mr. Hicks is charged under an attempt theory 
25 but what it focuses on, is there a charge of murder by an unprivileged belligerent under the law 
26 of war. It's our Motion 012 and you've had both our motion, the government's response, and 
27 our reply. 
28 
29 It focuses on two main issues; first, is this offense an offense that existed under the law of war 
30 prior to the creation of the Military Commission Instruction Number 2. The defense's position is 
3 I it did not because it didn't. The next issue is what does exactly the law of war protect and 
32 regulate? Because to commit a war crime to violate the law of war you have to actually violate 
33 something specifically restricted within the law of war. The law of war is not meant to be a 
34 criminal code regulating or restricting any possible type of offense that occurs within an 
35 international armed conniet. And for the purpose of this motion we can assume that the 
36 individual involved that's charged with this under the hypothetical murder by an unprivileged 
37 belligerent doesn't qualify for combatant immunity, wouldn't qualify for POW status. 
38 
39 But the individual status isn't relevant to determine whether something was a war crime. And 
40 why is that? It's because the law of war protects certain people and certain places, only. It 
41 doesn't protect everyone. And one ofthe people the law of war doesn't protect is a service 
42 member unless that person is wounded, surrenders, or is somehow out of combat. It's important 
43 to note that it protects, and the government did a great job ofthis in their reply, in their response 
44 to my motion, it said that numerolls charters and conventions it talked about war and everyone 
45 of them talked about willfully killing of protected persons, killing persons taking an active part in 
46 hostilities, members of the civilian population, treating inhumane acts committed against the 
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I civilian population. Because that is who, one of the classes of people the law of war protects. It 
2 does not protect everyone. 
3 
4 The law of war is not in effect until there's an armed conflict and once it's in effect it only 
5 protects certain people and certain places. And you'll notice in MCI number 2 on page 4 under 
6 the war crime section, it talks and it has an offense willful killing of protected persons, valid 
7 offense under the law of war triable by military commissions. 
8 
9 The next one, attacking civilians, valid offense under the law of war to be tried by military 

10 commission. And those you will find contained in the Geneva Conventions, the ICTY, the 
II ICTR, the Ie -International Criminal Court. The definition of war crimes, those are exactly 
12 what is meant and who's protected. The International Criminal Court is part of the latest 
13 definition of war crimes. And again it specifically talks about grave breaches. inhumane acts, 
14 against persons or property protected under the provisions of the relevant Geneva Conventions. 
15 Unless you're protected by the law of war it's not a crime to murder to steal from to give 
16 someone a bad check it's not a violation of the law of war. It must violate the law of war. 
17 
18 I would like to use a hypothetical to explain. The US has invaded Canada and our lines movc 
19 up near south of Montreal and a Vermonter decides he wants to help the US military. He is not a 
20 soldier, he does not qualify for POW status. He takes his hunting rifle. gets in his pickup and he 
21 is driving to the Canadian border. He crosses over the Canadian border and he is there. he gets 
22 to where the US troops are and he gets a cup of coffee. At that point in time has he committed a 
23 law of war violation? No, he hasn't. But there are consequences for his conduct. By being a 
24 civilian who takes. begins to take part in the hostile activities, he gives up the ability not to be 
25 targeted by the opposing force. He is now a lawful target. 
26 
27 Typically the law of war protects civilians, they cannot be lawfully targeted. unless they take part 
28 in the hostilities. He loses that protection. So our Vermonter up there, when he gets to the tront 
29 lines with US forces he can now be lawfully targeted by the Canadian forces. What else are the 
30 consequences of his actions? Well, if the Canadian forces were to surprise attack that night and 
31 capture him he would not be entitled to Prisoner of War status and the protections under the 
32 Geneva Convention 3 regarding prisoners of war. It's not a war crime because he hasn't done 
33 anything yet contrary to the law of war. If that Vennonter went up to the front line and shot a 
34 civilian who was walking in a town and he shot him, that is a war crime because it is prohibited. 
35 You cannot kill protected people and that is a war crime. Nowa soldier - yes, sir. 
36 
37 CM (Col_ What ifhe shoots an American soldier? What's your opinion there? 
38 
39 ADC (Maj Mori): Ifhe shoots an American soldier and he's an American citizen on the same 
40 side0 

41 
42 CM (Col_ In your example he was a Vermonter. 
43 
44 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
45 
46 CM (Col_ I'm assuming that ... 
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I 
2 ADC (Maj Mori): He's on our US side. 
3 
4 CM (Col_ Okay. 
S 
6 ADC (Maj Mori): He is on the US side. 
7 
8 CM (Col_ Well, my question is ... 
9 

10 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. I understand exactly what you're saying. lie is - he is on the US 
II side and he's fighting the Canadians and he shoots a Canadian soldier. That is not a law of war 
12 violation because the soldier that is participating in hostile activities on either side is not 
13 protected by the law of war. Ifthey are wounded and if they are surrendered that would be a war 
14 crime. If that Vermonter shot a wounded - found a wounded Canadian soldier and shot him: war 
15 crime. Ifhe saw a Canadian pull up the flag to surrender, shot him: war crime. Ifhe had 
16 violated Canadian prisoners and abused them: war crime. Because once a soldier is captured. 
17 once a soldier is wounded, or anyway out ofthe fight, they - law of war then comes in and 
18 protects them. 
19 
21l CM (Col_ What do you classify this Vermonter on the battlefield as? 
21 
22 ADC (Maj Mori): I would - I would briefly - this motion - he is a civilian participating in 
23 hostilities and who does not quality for POW status. 
24 
25 CM (Col_ So you're calling him a civilian? 
26 
27 ADC (Maj Mori): Well, technically, under the Geneva conventions - the Geneva Convention 
28 uses the term civilian who participates in hostilities for someone who loses the protection of civil 
29 - civil protections under the Geneva Convention. They distinguish between a civilian who 
30 participates in hostilities, loses their protections under Geneva Convention IV. You can use 
3 I whatever term-
32 
33 CM (Col_ No, you can't use whatever term. 
34 
35 ADC (Maj Mori): Well the problem ... 
36 
37 CM (Col_ Is he a combatant or is he a noncombatant at that point in time whether he's 
38 lawful or unlawful. 
39 
40 ADC (Maj Mori): He's a combatant. He's a combatant. 
41 
42 CM (Col_ Terms matter. 
43 
44 ADC (Maj Mori): Exactly. 
45 
46 CM (Col_ Terms matter. 
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ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. He's a combatant. And he could be - if we use the term lawful or 
unlawful to distinguish whether or not he would be entitled to prison of war status if captured. 
And that's the way I believe it's being utilized in this commission. So an individual who would 
not be entitled to prisoner of war status but has just been in the hostilities is an unlawful 
combatant. It's not the status ofthe individual that's committing the act that determines if it is a 
law of war offense. It's who the target was because that's how the law of war operates. 

I'm not saying that that Vermonter in Canada who shoots a Canadian citizen could not be tried 
for a crime. It may be a crime under Canadian law but it wouldn't be a violation of the law of 
war. Because the law of war doesn't criminalize his conduct. It just removes the protection of 
immunity. And I provided as an exhibit, Exhibit 58, the court reporter has that and it should be 
provided. 

po: Yes. 

ADC (Maj Mori): It is from the conduct of international armed conflict, Dinstein. And his close 
-I highlighted certain portions of it - it's very specific. and he used to be on the staff as a 
professor oflnternational Law at the US Naval War College. he's now a professor at Tel Aviv. 
He has sections in the chapters of what would be lawful and unlawful combatants and what's 
important is the distinction between them. Well, to read a paragraph, 'There are several 
differences between the prosecution of war criminals and that of unlawful combatants. The 
principle distinction is derived from the active or passive role in the law of international armed 
contlict. War criminals are brought to trial for serious violations of the law of international 
armed contlict. They have to violate the law of arnled contlict. With unlawful combatants the 
law of international armed conflict refrains from stigmatizing their act as criminal. It merely 
takes off the mantle of immunity from the defendant who is thereby accessible to penal charges 
for an offense committed against the domestic legal system." 

So the - our Vermonter who is in Canada and shoots a Canadian soldier didn't violate the law of 
war because that soldier wasn't protected but he may have violated Canadian law and Canada 
can prosecute him for that in their domestic courts. But if they - if it was a person who was 
entitled to prisoner of war status, a lawful combatant, he could be tried but then his defense 
would be "I was a lawful combatant. I was entitled to prisoner of war status, I have immunity. 
combatant immunity," So it's an interesting distinction and it's also sort of counter-intuitive, if a 
person's not a - wouldn't be entitled to prisoner of war status they shouldn't be out there fighting 
but that's not how the law of war operates. The law of war protects people. And until you get 
into a protected status you can - you could violate the law of war by attacking a soldier by using 
a means that's prohibited, by using blinding lasers or glass bullets. That would be a law of war 
violation but that's not because of who he is, it's the means and methods that he utilizes. 

When the law of international armed conflict negates the status oflawful combatancy (sic) it 
exposes the culture of appeals sanctions of acts criminalized by the domestic legal system. In 
other words, international law merely removes the shield otherwise available to lawful 
combatants as a means of protection. Conversely when the law of international armed contlict 
directly labels an act of war crime, a prohibited act, whether it's capturing a civilian or place, in 
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I short is provided by international law against the enemies. And a war criminal is tried by virtue 
2 of the international law where there's an international armed contlict while an unlawful 
3 combatant is prosecuted under domestic law. 
4 
5 So this charge, as it's written, in MCI 2 is not an offense under the law of war. It is an attempt to 
6 make a status offense of somebody who was not entitled to prisoner of war protections. It is. as I 
7 mentioned in the beginning, a war crime is attacking - civilians attacking civilian populations 
8 that's contained in killing of protected persons and civilians. Those are war crimes. This second 
9 charge has been made up and it's trying to make a status offense - just basically if you have not 

10 don't meet prisoner of war status. 
\I 
12 CM (Col_ Can I ask a question~ 
13 
14 PO: Sure, yeah, go ahead. 
15 
16 CM (Col_ Major Mori, in the beginning of your story you said the guy was fighting with 
17 the US? 
18 
19 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
20 
21 CM (Col_ When he joins the US forces then what's the law of war say? Who's 
22 responsible for his conduct according to the law of war when he joins and that LIS commander 
23 accepts him? 
24 
25 ADC (Maj Mori): Well, ['m not saying he even was accepted, sir. 
26 
27 CM (Col_ Thafs not what you said. You said he was fighting with the US side, 
28 drinking coffee with them. So none of your story then flushes, if I understand the law of war, if 
29 the US said. "You're fighting with uS now:' 
30 
31 ADC (Maj Mori): No, it would - because for the purpose of hypothetical he would not be 
32 entitled to prisoner of war status, he wouldn't have joined their-
33 
34 CM (Col_ My question -
35 
36 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
37 
38 CM (Col_ My question is when Colonel_asked you, "What ifhe shot a US guy" 
39 and you said, "No, he's on their side". 
40 
41 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
42 
43 CM (Col_ Okay. You started your story and said he went up with the US guys and had a 
44 cup of coffee. 
45 
46 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
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I 
2 CM (Col_ I'm asking you what's the law of war say when the US takes that guy on? 
3 
4 ADC (Maj Mori): Ifby him - ifhe were to join the US forces? What does the law say whether 
5 he is then a privileged combatant entitled to prisoner of war protection or not? I would say if 
6 he's not wearing the proper uniform or distinctive symbol, he wouldn't be entitled to prisoner of 
7 war protection. But it wouldn't make him that a war crime in and of itself. He still would have 
8 to either attack a protected person or place. 
9 

10 CM (Col_ So you're implying here that someone running around a battlefield, who is 
II not necessarily on one side or the other, is the moral equivalent of someone in my neighborhood 
12 walking around with a gun and he shoots somebody? 
13 
14 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. I mean what law would apply to him? Yes, sir. The domestic law 
15 of the area. And what's important is how the law of war also compensates because it says that he 
16 can be targeted and he doesn't get the prisoner of war protection. So he allows - at that point 
17 that person running around can be targeted by the enemy and shot without any worry, without 
18 anything because it's just like another soldier in that he can be targeted, he's lost the protection 
19 of being in a civilian status. But he has to violate the law of war to commit a law of war 
20 violation, sir. 
21 
22 CM (Col_ The other question I have for you, Major Mori.. is the reply that you tiled on 
23 26 October 2004, paragraph 2 says "Facts: Mr. Hicks never fired a weapon or assisted in firing a 
24 weapon at US or any other force during international armed contlict in Afghanistan." 
25 
26 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
27 
28 CM (COI_ On what basis do you say that is a fact? 
29 
30 ADC (Maj Mori): Well, I say that is a fact because of my knowledge of the case, sir. 
31 
32 CM (Col_ That's your assel1ion that it's a fact - we have yet to determine what the 
33 facts in this case are. 
34 
35 ADC (Maj Mori): Well, yes, sir, and that's -
36 
37 CM (Col_ So your motion is resting on facts that we have yet to determine-
38 
39 ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir, that's why I started - when I started I said, "Assuming for the 
40 motion" on whether it's a valid offense under the law of war in this MCI 2. Just assume, assume 
41 for the sake of determining whether it's a valid offense or not you can just look at the evidence 
42 and assume that the acts actually occurred. But not Mr. Hicks, but in a legal sense. That 
43 someone killed someone. That that person who did the killing was not entitled to prisoner of war 
44 status. And that the person they killed, and when we look at the charges of Mr. Hicks they say 
45 the target was - they say the target was coalition forces only. He is not charged with shooting at 
46 civilians, he's only charged with intending to kill American, British, NATO, Australian, Afghan 
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and other coalition forces. He is not charged with any attack on any civilians nor was he charged 
with shooting at a soldier who had been wounded, nor was he charged with shooting at - using 
improper means to attack a soldier. Fairly technical area but it doesn't violate the law of war. 

po: To shoot-

ADC (Maj Mori): To shoot a soldier. The answer is counter-intuitive 

9 CM (Col_ You never answered my question. I f I look at this piece of paper, on 26 
10 October 2004 -
11 
12 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
13 
14 CM «('01_ The second paragraph says exactly what I read, "Facts: Mr. Hicks never fired 
15 a weapon or assisted in firing at weapon at US or any other force during the international armed 
16 conflict in Afghanistan." Now-
17 
18 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
19 
20 CM (Col_ As I read that, I'm not saying he did or didn't. 
21 
22 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
23 
24 CM (Col_ Okay. Why do you say that is a fact? That's the only question I want you to 
25 answer. Why do you say that is a fact? 
26 
27 ADC (Maj Mori): Because it's no - it's not-
28 
29 
30 

PO: Would you prefer. Major Mori, to withdraw that fact trom your motion? 

31 
32 

ADC (Maj Mori): That's fine, yes, sir. Yes, sir. 

33 PO: Okay. 
34 
35 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
36 
37 PO The commission will disregard paragraph 2 of the reply. Okay. You were about 
38 to say something, Col_1 think before? 
39 
40 CM (Col_ No, I'm fine. 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

PO: Okay. Prosecution? 

P (LtCol_ Sir, terms certainly do matter because under valid, binding, still relevant 
US law an unlawful combatant can be prosecuted by military commission for the acts that render 
him an unlawful belligerent. That is Ex Parte QUirin. It is a US Supreme Court case that exact 
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I propo,ition is very recently cited just months ago. The defense attempts to make this seem like 
2 MCI 2 just made this up, that's their assertion. This offense, and we laid it out in our brief, we 
3 didn't just layout the part about murder and the treatment of murder under Geneva Conventions 
4 and things like that, we laid out going all the way back to 1795 and the defense ignores that. 
5 They ignore Quirin, they ignore Ra.wl vs. Bush, they ignore precedent, they just want to try to 
6 sidestep. 
7 
8 The fact is that under US law and specifically the US Supreme Court has said for US Military 
9 Commissions we can prosecute people tor unlawful belligerence. And we have demonstrated 

10 that in 1795 a Justice acknowledged that hostility committed without public authority is a 
II violation of, he said not only domestic law, but ofthe law of nations. In 1795 a Justice said that 
12 and yet the defen,e wants you to believe that somebody made this up in 2003. This offense-
13 this offense existed long before the Geneva Conventions even came into existence or the Hague 
14 Conventions back in 1899. 
15 
16 You see not only li'om the 1795 case but from the Winthrop treatise that we cite in our briefthat 
17 prior to those conventions ever coming into existence there was this problem of people being on 
18 the battlefield and acting like combatant, when in fact they didn't have that lawful status. They 
19 didn't have that privilege. Killing people without a privilege to do so was a crime long before 
20 MCI 2 was signed and it was long before the Geneva Conventions back to that point. The 
21 Geneva Conventions tried to ameliorate some ofthe harsh effects of war. It did not take 
22 somebody like an unprivileged belligerent and say okay now you can't be prosecuted, now you 
23 cannot be prosecuted. People like that were prosecuted at Military Commissions during the US 
24 Civil War. People did not have the privilege who were acting as belligerents either through 
25 murder or destruction of property. 
26 
27 So I'll try to avoid some of the same arguments later when I talk about the destruction of 
28 property because it's the same thing. These acts of belligerency, without the privilege to do so .. 
29 were punished by Military Commissions in the 1800s and the 1700s and the 1900s. A.nd the 
30 Geneva Conventions that say we want to ameliorate some of these effects and we want to take 
31 some people and want to put them into a protected ciass, well it didn't do anything for those 
32 people because people on the battlefield who do not have the privilege to be there, people who 
33 are not there for a nations' stake, people who are there without distinctive emblems, people who 
34 are otherwise violating the laws of war, they are a problem under international law, they are a 
35 problem and before the modern era we're in now, they were summarily executed. 
36 
37 That's why we don't have too many cases that we can point to because we see from Winthrop 
38 that that's - and that was considered essentially acceptable under international law. When you 
39 picked up an unlawful combatant that they were executed. And you see that from the List case 
40 where they- where because the prosecution couldn't prove that in fact they were lawful 
41 combatants, the Germans executing them was considered not a problem. Maybe the wrong thing 
42 to do but, in other words, this is what happened to unlawful belligerents before. And again, 
43 military commissions were done in the Civil War of unlawful belligerents, Ex Parte Quirin 
44 stands for the proposition that continues to be part ofthe law and the Geneva Conventions didn't 
45 change that and they are still cited as part of the law. 
46 
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po: Go. 

ADC (Maj Mori): If there are all these prosecutions and this charge is a valid offense under the 
law of war where is one of the statutes? Where is one of -look here's the statute from the Civil 
War where we charged someone for killing someone, for not being a privileged belligerent. The 
law of war evolved a lot since 19 - 1795. Things that were illegal then might be legal now. 
Things that were legal then are illegal now and vice versa. What is the present day state ofthe 
law of war? So much changed in 1949 with the Geneva Convention. Quiri1l predated that. 
Quirin stands for nothing more than you can prosecute someone who commits an act against the 
law of war. 

But to charge what the government is attempting to use against Mr. Hicks, by claiming that he 
violated the law of war because of shooting at some another soldier is not a violation of the law 
of war. It's that simple. We may not like it. We may not - we may wish that the person should 
be held accountable, and they should be under the domestic law that applies, but it doesn't 
violate the law of war. The law of war is not there to regulate everyone's conduct in a 
geographical area where the conflict is occurring. It's there to protect certain people: civilians 
and service members that are out of combat either because they're wounded or surrendered or 
captured. That's who it protects. 

21 When you get an opportunity to read the affidavits of Mr. Schmitt, Mr. McCormack, they 
22 articulate the law better than I can because they are experts in this area. And when you read the 
23 pages from Dinstein who talks about it there is a distinction between status and what the conduct 
24 is that violates the law of war. To violate the law of war you must attack a person or place that is 
25 protected by the law of war when the attack occurs. And soldiers, whether we like it or not, are 
26 not protected unless they're wounded or out of combat. 
27 
28 PO: So your contention, Major Mori. is that if you substitute for Mr. Hicks the name 
29 John Jones all those facts are true in Charge II? The only people - the only person who could try 
30 him for those acts would be the domestic courts of Afghanistan, is that correct? 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: That's your contention? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. And I guess there are also arguments as well, that ifthere were 
someone who was actually ki lied -

39 po: 
40 

Yeah? 

41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

ADC (Maj Mori): Then potentially the foreign extra territorial obligation like federal court so 
there's that possibility. But that - in this case that's why I'm saying is that there is no - does that 
make sense or did I just confuse you? 

po: That's alright. that's your answer. Go on please. 
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I ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
2 
3 CM (Col_ If I read the President's Military Order that stood this Commission up and I 
4 go to Section I E and I read the last part ofthe sentence - and I'll quote here, "and, when tried, to 
5 be tried for violations of the laws of war and other applicable laws by military tribunals". What 
6 is your impression of what other applicable laws means there? 
7 
8 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, Article 2J of the UCMJ provides the jurisdiction for military 
9 commissions. They can try law of war violations or those authorized by statute. There's only 

10 two authorized by statute; aiding the enemy and spying. Otherwise there's the law of war. 
II There is no others under Article 21 and that is from where - and if you notice in the President's 
12 Military Order he cites the section 821 which is Article 21 of the Uniform Code of Military 
13 Justice. And that's what it says offenders or offenses against the law of war or statute. That-
14 there is no other offenses. Now I would say if we were - if we were a military commission, if 
15 we were occupying an area - you could - an occupying military commission could regulate the 
16 domestic and have regulations and things like that but that's not what we are. that's not what this 
17 commission is about. And that's where you saw some of the other prosecutions in past military 
18 commissions where they were regulating sort of regular domestic crime. But that's not the case 
19 here, this is a war court to hear law of war violations only or those two statutes. And you can't 
20 violate the law of war unless you attack a protected person or place or use improper means. 
21 
22 PO: Colonel_ 
23 
24 CM (Col_ No. 
25 
26 PO: You got anything else? 
27 
28 CM (Col_ The charge here is attempted murder-
29 
30 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
31 
32 CM (Col_ Which under federal statutes and US law is a crime. A crime doesn't have to 
33 be committed, the murder doesn't have to be committed to have the crime be punishable if the 
34 person is found guilty of that crime. 
35 
36 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
37 
38 CM (Col_ Explain to me again why that does not constitute the commission of a crime 
39 on the battlefield then and the only way that the commission of a crime is ifhe kills someone 
40 who is not protected. 
41 
42 ADC (Maj Mori): To violate the law of war, sir, you have to do something that's prohibited by 
43 the law of war. 
44 
45 CM (Col_ So in effect I have to wait lor him to kill somebody before I can charge him 
46 with anything? 
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ADC (Maj Mori): Even better, you can shoot him. And that's, sir, because that is the 
consequence under the law of war, if you are not entitled to prisoner of war status and you 
participate in hostilities, you are a lawful target. That is the consequence. Now if I shoot, if I 
shoot a soldier I'm not violating the law of war. That's just the state of how it's developed over 
time. I know it seems - when I first started looking at it, getting educated because I didn't know 
any of it, it seemed counter-intuitive to me because it shouldn't be that way -

CM (Col_ What does the word "unlawful combatant" mean? 

ADC (Maj Mori): An unlawful combatant is a person participating in hostilities who when 
captured would not be entitled to prisoner of war status. It doesn't mean every act they do is 
unlawful. If the status - it's the status versus conduct. Just because you're an unlawful enemy 
combatant doesn't mean you're a war criminal. Ifan unlawful enemy combatant writes a bad 
check to a US soldier, is that a law of war violation? No, because the law of war doesn't cover 
all types of otfenses. It only covers specific things and provides protection of certain people at 
certain times. 

po: Colonel_ 

CM(Col_No. 

po: Okay. Thirteen? Oh you weren't done there, Major Mori? I thought you were. 

ADC (Maj Mori): No, I'm done. Yes, sir. 

po: Yes, he's done. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Did I answer your question, sir? 

CM (Col_ Maybe. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Sir, I want to switch gears on you, if [ can, completely. D 13 deals with 
aiding the enemy. Aiding the enemy is undoubtedly an offense triable by military commission. 
Undoubtedly. Why? Because the Congress of the United States made it so. Aiding the enemy 
and spying are the only two non law of armed conflict. law of war offenses that this commission 
has the authority to try. This one is - aiding the enemy can be tried by this commission. 

Unfortunately, it can't be - it cannot be charged against Mr. Hicks and here's why. The 
government has alleged. in its charge sheet, which you've all read, that either Mr. Hicks was 
fighting with the Taliban or was associated with al Qaida and that they picked Mr. Hicks up 
during an armed conflict that was taking place in Afghanistan in 2001. If Mr. Hicks was fighting 
with the Taliban or was a member ofal Qaida, he is the definition of the enemy. They've 
alleged that he is the enemy. In tact the President has designated that he is an enemy combatant. 
This is not a difficult concept. If you are an enemy - if you are the enemy you cannot be charged 
with aiding the enemy unless - there are two very narrow exceptions applied. 
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2 One ofthese narrow exceptions was demonstrated in US v. Quirin which the prosecution cites. 
3 In Quirin, eight saboteurs, one of whom was an American citizen, came onto our soil and they 
4 were then charged with aiding the enemy. If you come onto a - the soil ofthe United States and 
5 you are an enemy you can be charged with aiding the enemy because when you come onto our 
6 soil you have an allegiance to the United States. During that time you have to abide by the laws 
7 of the United States and you gain a temporary allegiance to the United States. Accordingly, you 
8 can be charged with aiding the enemy. 
9 

10 The second very narrow exception is if you are a POW. If you were a POW and you aided the 
II enemy, you have an allegiance to the United States and you can be charged with aiding the 
12 enemy. 
13 
14 Mr. Hicks, as the prosecution has conceded, is an Australian citizen. He has no allegiance to the 
15 United States. If you're a US citizen you have an allegiance to the United States. If you're a 
16 member of our forces, you have an allegiance to the United States. If you are an Australian 
17 citizen in a foreign country, such as Afghanistan, you don't have an allegiance to the United 
18 States that you can betray by aiding the enemy. That is the gravamen of the oftense, betrayal of 
19 an allegiance. 
20 
21 Prosecution and the defense can show you no other case in the history of the United States 
22 jurisprudence where a non US citizen who has never set foot on US soil was charged with aiding 
23 the enemy. Why? Because it doesn't exist, it just doesn't happen. Because if you are the 
24 enemy, you can't aid the enemy. It's nonsensical. It's an expansion of a concept that the 
25 government wishes were the case. There's been a lot of rhetoric about a global war on terrorism 
26 that we will come and get you if you aid or harbor or abet a terrorist, we're going to get you, and 
27 that's fine. But unless you have an allegiance to the United States you're not aiding the enemy if 
28 you do that. If we would follow what the government wants as aiding the enemy, every enemy 
29 that we capture could be tried for aiding the enemy. 
30 
31 Conversely let's say we're in Iraq and the United States invades Iraq. And the Iraqis 
32 miraculously won or miraculously succeeded in keeping us from our achieving our objective and 
33 captured some of OUT soldiers and they applied this theory. The Iraqis could try American 
34 soldiers for aiding the enemy. Because who is Iraq's enemy? The United States of America. 
35 That makes no sense. We wouldn't stand for it. It doesn't happen because this offense does not 
36 exist or does not apply to Mr. Hicks because he has no allegiance or had no allegiance to the 
37 United States of America. It's that simple. 
38 
39 MCI 2, which the government cites as its source of law for this, is written by the government for 
40 the government after this offense - or after these this alleged conduct occurred. It's hardly 
41 authoritative on what the state of the law is. They cite it in their response. They cite - they state 
42 in fact that MCI 2 is declarative of existing law on this. My response to that is ifi!'s declarative 
43 of existing law then why don't you just write down the existing law, cite me to the existing law 
44 instead of writing a new MCI 2 regulation that creates it out offull cloth. They can't do that 
45 because it never existed. This concept of your enemy - of being the enemy is aiding the enemy 
46 has never existed before. Accordingly, while it's an offense triable by military commission, it 
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doesn't state an offense against Mr. Hicks because as the government alleges - if as the 
government alleges he was the enemy he can't be tried for aiding the enemy. Thank you. 

CM (Col_ We don't get to ask questions here? 

po: You can ask questions any time you want. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col_ Let's go back to this duty of allegiance -

ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col_: - issue. We heard a motion earlier today for continuance trom the defense-

ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col_ - that the Australians and the United States were going to come to some kind 
of agreement that was going to provide Mr. Hicks with some sort of favorable status in front of 
this military commission or some diplomatic settlement. Would that not imply that the United 
States and Australia are allies? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Well, I think it's fairly obvious that Australia had soldiers in the - in 
Afghanistan at this time maybe one or two-

CM (Col_ Okay, so let's take that one step further now - who do you think the 
Australians were lighting against? Was it the United States7 

ADC (Maj Lippert): No, sir, they were not. 

CM (Col_ Okay. So why wouldn't Mr. Hicks' allegiance to Australia not transfer to 
the United States if on the battlelleld both countries were allies? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): The transfer of allegiance, right, that we can I guess you want to call it 
standing - who has standing to accuse Mr. Hicks of being treacherous or betraying them? Is that 
basically what you're saying, that the United States has standing to assert Australia's right to try 
him for betraying Australia while - because he was lighting with the Taliban against Australia 
during 200 I. 

CM (Col_ What I'm saying is you made a distinction in your argument that he is the 
enemy. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): That's what is alleged, yes, sir. 

CM (Col_ That's what is alleged. Then is he the enemy of only the United States'? 
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I ADC (Maj Lippert): He's the enemy of the Coalition I think at that point. But-
2 
3 CM (Col_ But then - so his allegiance is to -
4 
5 ADC (Maj Lippert): To Australia. He still doesn't have any allegiance to the United States of 
6 America. If it was an occupied situation where the United States was controlling that territory 
7 yes, he would have an allegiance to the United States. But the United States didn't control any 
8 territory in Afghanistan. The - if that was the case, sir, Australia would be entitled to take action 
9 against Mr. Hicks. But Australia has said he didn't violate any Australian law. (would believe 

10 that Australia would vindicate its own rights, not the United States. that's never been done before 
II either. This theory of a Coalition partner - that one Coalition partner vindicating the rights of 
12 another Coalition partner has not been done before under the auspices of aiding the enemy either. 
13 It just doesn't happen. Australia - if Australia was upset about it they could have tried it. 
14 Unfortunately they - he didn't violate any Australian law according to the Australians. (think 
IS now Australia has changed their laws - ( think that's cited in our brief, that in fact his conduct 
16 might have been criminal would be if he did it now would be criminal now, but it wasn't then. 
17 The United States has no standing to assert its - assert a - to vindicate a betrayal of Australia. 
18 Why would we care? It's not - we don't have any standing to do that. The United States doesn't 
19 have any standing to do that. The government is trying to make it so but that's an expansion of 
20 what aiding the enemy is all about. And that's why the offense doesn't stick to Mr. Hicks. 
21 
22 PO: Trial? 
23 
24 P (LtCol_: Ex Parte Quirin is the case that you all will have before you and the 
25 Supreme Court case will be one thing we ask you to read in the transcript. There are some 
26 relevant portions of that lengthy transcript. This phantom element of allegiance to the United 
27 States - apparently the defense continues to confuse treason with aiding the enemy because in its 
28 brief it points to a treason statute and treason case law. That's betrayal of a country that a 
29 country itself wants to vindicate. Aiding the enemy as an offense has existed since the beginning 
30 of the US military and the defense did a nice job of tracing this all the way back, aiding the 
31 enemy. But what the defense then does is try to mingle that in with treason because they want to 
32 import an element with treason. They want to import allegiance to the United States. (fyou read 
33 the QUirin case you'll see these were Gernmn Nazi saboteurs, members of the German military 
34 who came to the United States. They were convicted of aiding the enemy. Nowhere in that 
35 opinion does it say that allegiance is an element. The defense comes up with these two narrow 
36 exceptions but we don't read that in a case anywhere. That's why we talk about sources of law-
37 look to cases, look to treaties. This is a theory the defense has. The Quirin case - what are we 
38 talking about here? We're talking about a German soldier, an enemy of the United States at that 
39 time. He was convicted of aiding the enemy, and the other Nazi saboteurs, a clear case. As the 
40 defense notes this offense is clearly triable by military commission so we agree on that. That 
41 Congress has said okay anything that can be triable under the law of armed connict and these 
42 statutes; spying and aiding the enemy. And Congress lays out what aiding the enemy is. 
43 Where's allegiance to the United States in the Congressional Statute? It's not there. And in the 
44 case law that the defense cites you look at it and it talks about the broad nature of aiding the 
45 enemy and a broad category of people who can be guilty of aiding the enemy. Now where 
46 allegiance may come in is that MCI 2 correctly notes that in order for any offense to be a crime it 
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has to be a wrongful; thars accepted jurisprudence: it has to be wrongful. So what it says is in 
the case of a lawful combatant, okay, a United States soldier lighting in Iraq, he couldn't just be 
picked up and tried, his conduct has to be wrongful. And what MCI 2 is laying out in its 
comment, is that to be wrongful for a lawful combatant at that point you may have to go toward, 
did that person have an allegiance toward the entity or country they were fighting. That's when 
you go forward. But otherwise, MC[ lays out the elements, it is declarative. We've done our 
best to show you the underpinnings for that, which includes US v. Quirin. and the fact that an 
enemy was convicted oflhis. It is an offense, it does not have allegiance to United States as an 
element, it never did, and so it should not be dismissed. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Sir, the prosecution points to part of the transcript in US v. Quirin, they did 
it in their use that - transcript citing the actual charge from Quirin from their brief and it says­
and I'm reading from the prosecutions' brief here - that when the enemies of the United States 
using the German side of the coin enter into the territorial limits of the United States that's on 
page II of the prosecution's brief, it's in the Quirin transcript at - they don't really cite the page. 
I can't tind it. 

po: We can find page II of their response. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir. That is the reason why the eight Nazi saboteurs were tried for 
aiding the enemy because they came into the United States. US v. Gillars, which is cited in our 
brief makes it clear that if you come into the United States you have a temporary allegiance to 
the United States. That's how you get the nexus that allows _. that allowed the Quirin court to try 
those eight Nazi saboteurs for aiding the enemy. 

CM (Col_ So if the eight saboteurs were spying or doing whatever a saboteur does in 
World World II and they were doing it in Canada what then? 

29 ADC (Maj Lippert): Well-
30 
3 [ CM (Col_ Who then - who then has the right or the responsibility to protect the United 
32 States from those saboteurs? 
33 
34 ADC (Maj Lippert): Well. let's parse it up. Quiril1 is a very complicated case. Those eight 
35 saboteurs came into the United States of America. [fthey had been wearing their uniforms, and 
36 carrying guns and got otT the boat and ran up the dock and started shooting everybody, what 
37 would we call it? That would be called an invasion, right, sir? What made those eight saboteurs 
38 unlawful combatants and rendered their belligerency unlawful, which is what we talked about in 
39 a prior motion, is that they took off their uniforms. At that point they became unlawful 
40 combatants. What else did they become? They became spies. The tact that they were in the 
41 United States doing it made them - made them liable for aiding the enemy. If they were doing 
42 the same thing in Canada, right, sir, they would have been invading Canada ifthey had their 
43 uniforms on, they would have been spying on Canada at that point and Canada could have done 
44 something about it and they would have had a temporary allegiance to Canada and Canada could 
45 have tried them for aiding the enemy because Canada was at war with Germany as well. 
46 
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CM (Col_ Whoa, you just made an assumption there. Let's not assume Canada is at 
2 war with Germany. 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Okay. 

CM (Col_ Let's assume Canada is a neutral country -

ADC (Maj Lippert): Okay. 

CM (Col_ And they really don't care what the saboteurs are necessarily doing in their 
country because they're not breaking any Canadian laws. Who then has the right andlor the 
responsibility to hold those people accountable for the acts against the United States? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): If they were acting against the United States and they were not wearing 
uniforms they could be tried for spying or tried for sabotage but they couldn't be tried with 
aiding the enemy because at that point in time they were the enemy, whether it be in Canada or 
Timbuktu. They're still the enemy. This is the same exact situation you're talking about with 
Mr. Hicks. They're not liable for aiding the enemy, because, sir, they were the enemy. There 
has to be an allegiance, that is the crux of the offense. 

PO: Major Lippert -

ADC (Maj Lippert): Thank you, sir. 

PO: Can you do me a favor? 

ADC (M~ Lippert): Yes, sir. 

PO: Can you show me in Article 104 where it says anything about allegiance? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): No, sir, I can't but-

33 PO: 
34 

Thank you, please. I've heard it. I've heard it. Thank you, Major Lippert. 

35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Thank you, sir. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Can I comment with one point? 

PO: Yeah, I just didn't want to hear Major Lippert tell me he can't - stand up - and 
I'm not mad at Major Lippert, I mean he's arguing his case but it's not in 104 and neither side 
put 104 into their briefs in whole so that the members could look at this stuff. And if you're 
going to cite a spec then perhaps it'd be a good idea to put it into the brief especially when it's a 
really crummy small spec which says any person who aids or attempts to aid the enemy with 
arms, ammunition, supplies, money or other things shall be punished by, shall suffer death or 
other such punishment as a courts-martial or military commission directs. That's all it says. 
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I Okay. So, yes, you can say whatever you want to, Major Mori, and then you can tag team with 
2 Major Lippert. Because I'm not mad at him. I just want you all to pay attention to the law. 
3 
4 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. I just wanted to address first for 104 as you look at the cases that we 
5 have prosecuted prior in the military system most of the majority of our prisoners of war 
6 collaborated with the capture. In Quirin is the only other case where there were actually 
7 civilians who were these unlawful combatants tried and you do have, where someone is a civilian 
8 and not an actual combatant, that's where treason was utilized. So we have to look at where does 
9 US law apply. Right now are we governed by - are we governed by Brazil law? 

10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 

PO: I'm getting very confused, Major Mori. 

ADC (Maj Mori): What I'm trying to say is what law does David Hicks have to abide by in 
Afghanistan? Afghanistan and the country he is a citizen of, Australia. That's who he has to 
respect and until it comes into an area that's under control orthe United States, thaI'S when US 
law applies. 

PO: Okay. You got anything? 

20 CM (Col_ No. 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

PO: Colonel_ 

CM (Col_ I'm okay. 

PO: Okay, let's hear eleven. No, let's take a - want a break -- 20 minute break. 
Court's in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1647, 1 November 2004. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1707, I November 2004. 

PO: The Commission will come to order. Let the record reflect we've got a new 
court reporter. 

p (LtCol_ Yes, sir. Sergeant_has returned to the courtroom. 

PO: Okay. Everyone else is still here. Defense? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Major Mori is prepared to argue D II, which is the conspiracy. After 
that would be D 9, which also relates to the conspiracy charge, count one; 
and then D 20 which has to do with the word "terrorism" in count one as 
well, also related to the conspiracy. So the next three motions are all ofthe 
same piece with respect to conspiracy. And we're at a little bit of a dilemma 
here because we do not want to break them uP. but we also, know that we 
have gone on for a while, and there's been a lot for the Commission to 
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po: 

absorb. particularly after reading so much material. 

We think -- the defense thinks, [ know the government does not agree. We 
have asked the prosecution, they don't agree -- we think this would be an 
appropriate place to break, let the panel absorb what has gone on already, 
which is quite dense to begin with, come back in the morning fresh with 
these three that really ought to go together rather than extend it to the 
point -- beyond the point where it has the appropriate level of impact as we 
get further into the day. And it's not just question offatigue, it's also a 
question of just -- [ know from terms and concepts that you come to on one 
day, and then the next day. and the next day. it's just impossible to absorb 
them all appropriately on one day or two days. It's better to spread them 
over time, get a chance to sleep on it. let that sink in. come back. 

We will still finish tomorrow with all the motions. [think we're all 
confident oftha!. [don't have any doubt that we will tinish tomorrow. 

What do you say. You talking? 

20 P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. Well, as stated, we would prefer and suggest that we do a 
21 couple more tonight, just because it's 1700, we've been going for four hours. 
22 we think it would be fruitful to maybe consider the conspiracy. We've had 
23 Commande.sitting waiting for this one, and we'd like to get that one 
24 done. If we need to do the three together--
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

po: No offense, Commander_but your personal sitting there waiting isn't 
really going weigh too heavily. 

A TC (CDR_ No offense taken, sir. 

P(LtCol_ So we would prefer to --

CM (Col_ The prosecution wants to bundle the three together, and that's 
understandable. But if you think it's going to take longer than you're going 
to be here, are there other motions that you're prepared to state today that 
are individual that we can stop? 

DC (Mr. !Jratel): We've structured them so that they flow and there's a real logical flow 
that one gives you foundation for the ones after it. And the conspiracy one 
is a complicated -- is the most complicated of the charges, and it is, in my 
opinion, having litigated conspiracy, which is very common in the civilian 
courts, in the criminal courts, not so common in the military courts -- to me 
is a very, very difficult concept for lay people to get their minds around 
because it is a concept that in ordinary law is dimcult, and in the law of war 
is -- adds another layer of complication. I think it's going to being the 
longest argument, and then you're going to have two after it that we're going 
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to want to do together so as not to break them up, and then we're going to 
get into a situation where I think we're going to be in overload for 
everybody. 

The Commission, looking around, doesn't want to, but since you tell us that 
that's what you need, we'll do it for you. Court's in recess until 0930. 

8 The Commission Hearing recessed at J 7 J /, / November 2004. 
9 
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The Commission Hearing wa.< called 10 order al 0931, 2 NOl'ember 201J4. 

po: The Commission is called to order. All parties present when the 
Commission recessed are once again -- on I \Iovember are once again 
present with the exception of the court reporter. 

P (LtCol_ Sir, Sergean~1 believe, was the court reporter when we 
recessed, and is again the court reporter. 

po: Well, she's here now at any ratc. 

Okay. For everyone's general information. POM 1-1 defines what this 
Commission means by "Commission Law". It applies collectively to the 
President's Military Order DoD Directive 5105.70, the Military 
Commission Orders. the MCIs, Appointing Authority regulations, and any 
changes to the foregoing. When we use it, we use it as a shorthand 
reference to those above hand matters. 

The Commission carefully considered D 37. a defense motion to declare the 
Commission improperly constituted. The motion is denied, neither party 
having stated that it would turnished proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions oflaw. Our written decision will be appended to the record of 
trial prior to authentication. 

The Commission has carefully considered the defense request that the 
Commission interpret MCO 1. section 4(A)5(d) to require the Presiding 
Officer to certify all interlocutory questions which, if granted, would 
tenminate the proceedings with respect to a charge. The Commission does 
nol so interpret that section. The Presiding Onicer will certify interlocutory 
questions when the disposition thereof does effect the termination of 
proceedings with respect to a charge. The Presiding Officer may certify 
interlocutory question which he deems appropriate. Counsel for both sides 
are free to request that the Presiding Officer certity any interlocutory 
question. The Commission will not issue a written opinion on this subject. 

The Commission has carefully considered DIS, a defense motion to 
dismiss the charges for improper panel selection procedures. The defense 
motion is denied. If the government still intends to furnish proposed 
findings offact and conclusions of law, the Commission will not enter a 
written decision prior to 1700 hours on 5 November. 

So y'all don't bust your tingers takin~fter this session, you can get 
copies of what I'm reading from Mr._the assistant. 

The Commission heard the on the record objection to the POMs. Ifthe 
defense wants the Commission to take any action on those objections, the 
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defense will provide a motion to the Commission no later than 1700 hours 
on the 4th of November. Prosecution response, if any. will be filed no later 
than 0900 hours on the 5th of November. In setting these time lines, the 
Commission has taken note that all parties were given the opportunity to 
comment on the POMs when they were issued. 

The Commission draws the attention of all parties to MCI 8, paragraphs five 
and six. The parties must comply with the dates set, or they must request a 
delay. Failure to answer is not acceptable. The Commission is not aware of 
any occasion in which the Commission has not granted a request for delay. 

Okay. The Commission has carefully considered D 28 and 29, the defense 
request for continuances which were denied by the Presiding Officer. The 
Commission does not find that the required continuances are necessary to 
provide Me. Hicks a full and fair trial. 

The Commission has carefully considered D 38, a defense motion to 
dismiss for improper referral. The motion is denied, neither party having 
stated that it would furnish proposed findings of fact and conclusions of 
law. A written decision will be appended to the record of trial prior to 
authentication. 

I said yesterday -- and I realized it's the tirst time we've discussed it -­
please, if you intend to attach or to submit proposed findings of fact and 
conclusions of law, tell us when you're arguing. The Commission is 
working very hard on these things, and a late-submitted findings might be 
too late. 

Be that as it may, the Commission has carefully considered D 12, a motion 
to dismiss Charge II for failure to state an offense triable by military 
Commission. This morning, entered as 24 D are proposed essential findings 
from the defense. 

P (LtCol_ No, sir, that's --

PO: From the prosecution. Okay. Defense, you have the times I stated 
yesterday. If you choose to submit anything, the Commission defers 
decision on this motion until a later time. 

The Commission has carefully considered D 13, a motion to dismiss Charge 
III for a failure to state an offense. The Commission received this morning 
prosecution proposed essential findings. Defense, once again, you've got 
the time I said you have to respond thereto. The Commission defers 
decision on this motion until a later time. 

Okay. Counsel -- this is for all counsel -- before we hear arguments, the 

182 

--,-----~ .. -,,-



I 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
I I 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

Commission has read the motions and the attachments. The Commission 
would request that counsel keep their arguments focused on the main 
points. The Commission doesn't need a recitation of the entire brief. The 
members of the Commission are prepared to ask questions in the areas in 
which the filings do not appear logical or provide enough information. 
Enough said. Okay. Defense, you're up. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. First motion is D 12, defense motion to dismiss Charge [for 
failure to state an offense triable by a military commission. It is a charge 
based on conspiracy. 

PO: Okay. You're talking D II? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Did I say D 12? D I I, sir. It's a charge based on conspiracy 
in the Military Instruction number 2. The charge itself. as we've stated in 
our papers contained in military Commission number two, does not exist in 
international law. It is actually a merger, or creation of the U.S. or civil 
common law jurisdiction's crime of conspiracy connected with the concept 
of joint criminal enterprise, or common criminal purposes as it's also called. 
And I'd like to provide, if every member doesn't have a copy of Military 
Instruction number 2 handy, I have extra copies, because I'd like to address 
the specific charge contained therein on page 19. May I approach, sir, if 
any member needs a copy? 

PO: We all got them. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. If you look at the elements as they're contained. on page 19, 
Military Commission Instruction number 2, on the very bottom paragraph it 
begins the elements that the government alleges. And there's a first 
sentence, "the acclIsed entered into an agreement with one or more persons 
to commit one or more sets of offenses, or", and that connects the two 
elements. The first one is what you would find in a sort of conspiracy 
charge. The second half of that is what you would find in similar to ajoint 
criminal enterprise. And in each element, on the next page, two, they have 
that same "or", where they've joined -- in both two and three -- where the} 
have joined this conspiracy -- typical conspiracy charge with joint criminal 
enterprise. 

Nowhere has that been done or exists in international criminalla" or under 
the law of war. And that is why this, on itself -- the charge itself, is flawed. 
The allidavits that we submitted from Professor Bassiouni addresses 
specifically that this is inappropriate and has no foundation. 

I'd like to address each area, the conspiracy and the joint crim inal enterprise 
to understand why each side does not have the support and how the 
government is trying to use it. 
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First, conspiracy. Conspiracy is only utilized in the crime of genocide. It's 
only applied there, and it's not applied anywhere else. I'd like to provide the 
members Review Exhibit 65, if I could approach, sir. 

Yes. 

ADC (Maj Mori): It is a copy of the Intemational Criminal Tribunal tor Yugoslavia 
statute. And as the statute covers, Article II, grave breaches; Article III, 
violations oflaw or war. Article IV, Genocide. Genocide is a totally 
different category of offense separate from the law of war. And specifically 
mentioned is the theory, conspiracy to commit genocide. You have that 
within this realm of genocide offenses which is separate from the law of 
war. And that is the exception which proves the rule that there is not 
conspiracy in any of those other areas, And in hoth of the government's and 
the defense briefs and motions, you see where the ICTY, International 
Criminal Tribunal of Yugoslavia, or the International Criminal Tribunal for 
Rwanda have used the charge of conspiracy relating solely to the genocide. 
Nowhere else is conspiracy used. 

The government seeks support from the Nuremberg trials, which were 
conducted prior to the creation of the Geneva Conventions and many 
different advances in international law, and I'd like to approach, sir, and 
provide the members Review Exhibit 66, which is a copy of a specific page 
out ofth~ International Military Tribunal transcript volumes which we cite 
in our briefs, But it's the court's decision specitically geared for the first 
part I've highlighted, Count I, however, charges not only the conspiracy to 
commit aggressive war, but also to commit war crimes and crimes against 
humanity, And in the next section I've highlighted, it talks -- the tribunal 
will therefore disrcgard the charges in Count 1 that defendants conspired to 
commit war crimes and crimes against humanity, 

Why? They explained because the charter doesn't define conspiracy to 
commit war crimes as a separate offense, So even in the area of law of war 
violations back in Nuremberg, they rejected the use of conspiracy because 
they have -- law of war is internationally based, it has to be accepted around 
the world. Conspiracy is only utilized in a small portion of countries. 

Now, there is a theory of liability that's been utilized -- sort of group 
participation in a crime. And we see that in the area of joint criminal 
enterprise, or common criminal purpose, But the ditTerence between that 
and conspiracy is conspiracy is an offense itself. Someone could be 
charged with conspiracy, Someone could be charged with rape, whatever 
the offense is. Joint criminal enterprise is not an offense; it is a theory 
under which you hold people responsible for a crime that has been 
committed, like aiding and abetting. It's not a charge in and unto itself. It's 
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I kind of a complicated -- and that's what the government is using to try and 
2 hopefully confuse people by merging in this joint criminal enterprise to 
3 rescue the fact that conspiracy is not accepted in international law except 
4 for genocide. So they throw in this joint criminal enterprise. but no one has 
5 ever been charged with joint criminal enterprise. It's just a way that -- an 
6 area ofthe law that you would apply to look at people's participation in an 
7 offense to see whether or not they're criminally liable. And I mention that, 
S too. because back in the ICTY -- that's seven -- they talk and the individual 
9 criminal liability responsibility. And they talk about the different ways that 

10 people are individually. criminally responsible, and they do not mention 
I I conspiracy. 
12 
13 It's well settled that conspiracy, except for genocide. is not accepted. So 
14 that first halfofeach of that element in MCI I -- [mean, MCI2 is invalid. 
15 And the way they're trying to use joint criminal enterprise, the second part 
16 is invalid. The prosecution seeks to find support for the conspiracy charge, 
17 and they cite very thoroughly this law review article by Mr. Barrett. 
18 "Lessons of Yugoslav Rape Trials, The Role ofC'onspiracy Law in 
19 InternationarTribunals" written in November 01'2003. And when you read 
20 this, you see exactly what he's doing. And he concludes it in his last 
21 section: "For these reasons, one would expect joint enterprise liability and 
22 command responsibility to provide the limited use for prosecutors pursuing 
23 rape convictions". That's what he's writing about. The ICC, International 
24 Criminal Court would likely benetit trom a supplemental theory such as 
25 conspiracy. 
26 
27 Now, why is he writing an Article in 2003 advocating that conspiracy 
28 should be allowed to be used in the International Criminal Court unless --
29 because it's not being used. It doesn't exist. And we're talking about what 
30 is the state of the law, international criminal law, international humanitarian 
31 law in 2001 during charged offenses? There was no offense of conspiracy. 
32 The government tries to rely on U.S. law. That's -- this is not an offense 
33 that occurred within U.S. territory. We're talking about internationally 
34 accepted law of war. 
35 
36 CM (Col_ In the Nuremberg trials, how did the charge of conspiracy to commit 
37 genocide appear? 
38 
39 ADC' (Maj Mori): See, in Nuremberg, they didn't use conspiracy and terms like that. 
40 What I was referring to was the ICTY statute. 
41 
42 CM (Col_ Okay. How did that come about? Where did that element of law --
43 
44 ADC (Maj Mori): Where did the common conspiracy and the common purpose come 
45 from, where they start using that terminology? Remember there's only four 
46 countries that were involved in creating the statute, and it came solely from 
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I those four countries, working out how to create different offenses and 
2 different theories of liability. And obviously the U.S. was -- we talk about 
3 it a little bit in our moving papers and also our experts talk about the 
4 historical and those very meetings -- the London conference, I believe -- on 
5 how these four countries worked and thought about which theories and 
6 which crimes could be accepted, because there's different judicial systems 
7 in the countries across the world. And so the American influence was to 
8 push this conspiracy theory, and yet it was rejected by the tribunal because 
9 it's not internationally accepted. They only dealt with the conspiracy to 

10 commit aggressive war, not war crimes. And that, sir, really is --
II 
12 CM (Col_ Did I read it wrong that some of the accused in the Nuremberg trials 
13 were, indeed. at one point charged with conspiracy to commit war crimes? 
14 
15 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
16 
17 CM (Col_ Where did the Nurembergjurists come up with the idea that they could 
18 charge those folks with conspiracy to commit war crimes? 
19 
20 ADC (Maj Mori): It wasn't the jurists, sir. 
21 
22 eM (Col_ Who was it? 
23 
24 ADC (Maj Mori): It was the prosecutors -- the American prosecutor who was the lead on 
25 that, borrowing from his experience in the U.S. trying to advocate this very 
26 flexible, expansive criminal tool to try to bring many people into 
27 culpability. and that is a theory that is. I think, it's 43 -- less than 43 
28 countries, 36 countries that utilize some sort of conspiracy: 140 don't, 
29 That's why it's not recognized under international law as something that's 
30 customary on international law, except for genocide which began with the 
31 genocide convention, which was signed oIfby all ofthe countries. So 
32 Nuremberg was originally from the prosecution putting forth this theory. It 
33 was rejected by the actual tribunal. And the statute itself was written by 
34 only four countries, the U.S" England, France, and Russia. 
35 
36 CM (Col_ Your underlying assumption in your argument here, is that this 
37 Commission is bound by only international law. 
38 
39 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir, by the laws of war recognized. 
40 
41 CM (Col_ But the laws of war are defined in many different ways by many 
42 different countries. So who do you suppose we ought to listen to when it 
43 comes to deciding which interpretation of the laws of war we should use? 
44 
45 ADC (Maj Mori): Well. sir, for one, I would like you to bring -- let us bring experts in to 
46 educate, because the --
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1 
2 CM (Col_ Well, 1 want you to educate me now. 
3 
4 ADC (\I1aj Mori): Well. sir. I think, on that we follow things like the International 
5 Criminal Tribunal of Yugoslavia, the International Criminal Tribunal of 
6 Rwanda, the International Criminal Court, things that have -- especially the 
7 International Criminal Tribunal of Yugoslavia, which is accepted and 
8 supported and is participated in by both the U.S. and many countries around 
9 the world, and has been in existence for many years, has cases that have 

10 gone through, gone through their appeal process, and has been subject to 
11 scrutiny by the international community. So they have created a system in 
12 focusing on law of war crimes that's part of it. And this is how it's practiced 
13 internationally and how it's accepted. And if we're looking at holding 
14 people accountable for conduct outside of the U.S., we've got to have a 
15 standard that's internationally accepted. 
16 
17 CM (Col_ I'll let you continue you now. I have another question with your line of 
18 reasoning, but I need to give you a chance to continue on because I kind of 
19 broke you up there. 
20 
21 ADC (Maj Mori): I was actually near the end, sir. 
22 
23 CM (Col_ Okay. I'll wait until you finish, and then I'll ask. 
24 
25 ADC (Maj Mori): The government's reliance on the {!uirin case, specifically in the 
26 Supreme Court's decision. the Supreme Court did not review whether 
27 conspiracy was an appropriate charge under the laws of war. The Court 
28 looked solely at the first specification and found that it was. And really, 
29 reliance on Quirin, which occurred -- which was conduct occurring within 
30 the U.S, where U.S. law applies, is tutally different than applying what law 
31 applies to an individual in a country outside of the U.S. And I think that's 
32 an important distinction with what's going on in this case. 
33 
34 Sir, that's all I have. 
35 
36 CM (Col_ You're familiar with it (holding up a copy ofField Manual 27-10)? 
37 
38 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
39 
40 CM (Col_ Law ofland warfare? 
41 
42 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
43 
44 CM (Col_ Does it not state that conspiracy to commit certain crimes is indeed a 
4S crime in and of itself in this hook? 
46 
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ADC (Maj Mori): 27-10. 
2 
3 CM(Col_Yes. 
4 
5 ADC (Maj Mori): Written by ir11956 by the U.S. solely, sir. The U.S. has always felt that 
6 conspiracy was a proper charge. It's been rejected by the international 
7 community. We have to apply standards, and [ know it's -- and plus that's 
8 an Army pub; that's not an authoritarian pub. It's one word and in one 
9 sentence. I'm talking about -- and that's why [ say, going to the ICTY 

10 which is an entire justice system that has had cases that have been reviewed. 
II and has an acceptance of the worldwide community. 27-10 is one sentence; 
12 that is not authoritarian in this area. We have to look at the practice of 
13 states, and many of the affidavits we submitted talk about how something 
14 becomes customary law. And that one word certainly reflects the U.S.'s 
15 position on how we would like the state ofthe law to be. But applying a 
16 full and fair trial to David Hicks in conduct that occurred in Afghanistan 
17 outside the U.S., to what law applied there is either Afghan law or 
18 intemationallaw. And the theories we use here must be internationally 
19 recognized to have a legitimate process. 
20 
21 CM (Col_ What if the international laws haven't caught up with the times? The 
22 international laws are based on things that happened in the past. 
23 
24 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes. sir. 
25 
26 CM (Col_ Okay. [n 1946 we did not have nonstate actors necessarily. We had 
27 them, but we didn't have them the same way with do today. So where and 
28 when do the laws evolve to cover situations that when you look back, the 
29 folks back then just didn't have the wherewithal to understand that this is 
30 what the world was going to look like? 
31 
32 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, actually we had nonstate actors, as far back as pirates, because that 
33 is probably the first nonstate actors that we dealt with in criminal matters 
34 and sent our military out to attack them. 
35 
36 [ agree with you and [ understand your concept. An event occurs which 
37 may initiate the changing of the laws or the perspectives. But we have to 
38 look that we're talking about, what was the state of the law within 200 I? 
39 Because if we change the law after the conduct occurred, we're violating the 
40 basic principle, the ex post facto, prohibition of creating a crime after the 
41 conduct. And [ have no -- [ think times are changing, and would it be 
42 surprising to see different changes in international law evolving over the 
43 next five, ten years. That may very well happen. and the cause or the 
44 impetus for that may be the events that have taken place in 2003. But that 
45 law hasn't changed yet. It is unfair to hold someone accountable for an 
46 offense that wasn't in existence at the time the conduct occurs. Thank you, 
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sir. 

po: Prosecution? 

AP (CDR_ Thank you. sir. What you have to ask yourself is what's more binding 
on this Commission? The ICTY Yugoslavian court. or what we've already 
got as established United States military commission case law? The 
defense waited unti I the end to talk about the Quirin case. Where do you 
stalt assessing this issue? You start with Military Commission Instruction 
number 2. That, in essence, is your charter. If Nuremberg proved anything 
it was, you look to your charter first. In the international criminal tribunal 
of Yugoslavia. used when they were trying to determine if this common 
criminal enterprise existed, they looked to their charter first. they looked to 
Article VII. Read Article VII. Major MOTi provided you a copy of it. The 
words "common criminal enterprise" do not appear in Article VII. It was 
~ according to the judges ofthe ICTY. and that gets to what Colonel 
_brought up. It evolves with each ofthese international tribunals. 
with things like Nuremberg and the ICTY. they are evolving in response to 
what's going on at the time. 

Nuremberg. They convicted eight people. eight people of conspiring to 
commit aggressive war. Eight people got convicted of conspiracy. 
Contrary to what the defense asserts, that you can only convict somebody of 
conspiracy to commit genocide, Nuremberg tells us that's not the case. 
Where did that conspiracy to commit aggressive war come from? With the 
times. They came up with that charge because they needed to reach back to 
1937 when the Germans started in their planning and their preparation 
phase. That's where this charge came from; with the ICTY as well, the 
common criminal enterprise. You had massive killings that are being 
prosecuted by the ICTY. The ICTY takes that very seriously. and they don't 
want to just get the guy who pulled the trigger. If you signed on to the 
enterprise, you knew the intent of the enterprise. you knew the kind of stuff 
they were going to do, they want to call you a perpetrator of the offense. 
That's how that evolved. 

Now, we don't have to evolve here. Because we've got Quirin. Contrary to 
what the defense says, they try to push that otf. That's United States law, 
that's U.S. domestic law. No. what they were applying in QUirin is the law 
of war. The statute in Quirin was Article 15 of the Articles of War. That 
was a precursor to what we know now as the Unilorm Code of Military 
Justice. Article 15 ofthe Articles of War said. you can try offenders and 
offenses in violation of the law of war. Article 21 of the UCMJ, the one 
that exists for this Commission, says the very same thing: You can try 
offenders and offenses in violation ofthe law of war. This was not pure 
U.S. domestic law that was going on; this was law of war violations. The 
statutes remained the same. 
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See the UCMJ gets enacted in 1950. effective 1951. Why did they keep 
Article 15 the same when they did Article 21? Because of Quirin. You 
look at the Senate report, you look at the House report, they write in those 
reports, we're keeping it the same because we've already been up before the 
Supreme Court in QUirin, referenced right in the reports. Your statute today 
is the same as the one that existed in Quirin. So any talk about things going 
upon before the Geneva Conventions. that's just not applicable because we 
knew it got confirmed again in 1950. 

Now. what was going on in Quirin? Specifically, Quirin is charged with 
conspiracy to commit a law of war violation, giving intelligence to the 
enemy. and spying, and it all shows up in Charge IV. similar to our charge 
that has [sic] one conspiracy charge with several offenses he was alleged to 
have conspired to commit. 

Now, this case, Quirin, goes all the way up to the United States Supreme 
Court. Just like Major Mori is doing now, Colonel Royal in 1942 presented 
the very same arguments. He said conspiracy is not a law of war violation. 
And when we're at the end of my argument. I'm going to give you the 
transcript from Quirin and just ask. insert Major Mori's name where 
Colonel Royal's name was. Because the argument's the same and it's been 
ruled upon. Conspiracy is an offense under the law of war. And your best 
reference for that is the United States interpreting what the law of war is. 
That argument went up before the Supreme Court. I f you read the Quirin 
opinion, they start it with saying, what did the defense argue? What things 
are they putting forward? And the Supreme Court said they're arguing that 
conspiracy is not an offense under the law of war. 

Now, when addressing it, they do what supreme courts do, and they look at 
narrowing their opinion to whatever it takes to get the job done. So they 
said, hey, Charge I, that's a triable offense by the Military Commissiorl; 
we'll stop with that. But, did they say conspiracy was not an offense? No, 
they didn't. Did those individuals get convicted of conspiracy? Yes, they 
did. Were they put to death in part because of their conviction for that 
conspiracy? Yes, they were. 

How did others interpret what was going on with this conspiracy? That 
takes us to the 10th Circuit in Co/epaugh v, Looney. Again, a guy, just like 
Major Mori, stood up and said, conspiracy to commit a violation of the law 
of war, not a violation. Again. he got convicted of conspiracy. it went up 
the 10th Circuit. it was upheld. The Department of the Army in their field 
manual, which, I know it was down played by the defense, but if you look 
at the recent decision in Hamdi, we have Supreme Court justices citing that 
field manual. That field manual, they read Quirin, they read Co/epa ugh. 
they put in that field manual in 1956. 1957, that is an oHense. We carl 
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PO: 

punish conspiracy to commit law of war violations. 

Why weren't these cases in the defense filings? You look at their initial 
motion, they say nothing about these two cases. They don't mention the 
Department of the Army field manual. We raised the cases in our response. 
They come back with a reply, and they don't say anything again. Kind of 
reminds me of a time when I was in high school, there was a best friend that 
had a '57 T-bird convertible. His dad had worked on this thing for ten years 
getting it ready for when he got his license. We took it out the day after he 
got his license; he banged it up, it got damaged. Put it back in his garage 
that night, threw the tarp over it the cover for the car, and for a week, he 
didn't drive it again. didn't tell his dad, told his dad he didn't feel like 
driving. Just like here and just like those cases, the damage is done, the 
damage isn't going away. Those cases damage the defense's argument. 
You can't just ignore them and blow them off and throw a tarp over it and 
pretend like they're going to go away. That's the most binding thing we 
have. 

Now, yesterday, we got handed a bunch of affidavits from experts. And it 
was somewhat disconcerting because we were asked to make our arguments 
within about 45 seconds of being handed those atlidavits. But if you notice. 
at the end of yesterday. the prosecution team was saying. we're still ready to 
argue. We're ready to go. Why? Because none oftheir experts in those 
affidavits mention Quirin. mention Colepough. mention the Army field 
manual. the most binding thing you've got. 

Let's talk Nuremberg. Nuremberg tells us a few things. First. you can 
convict a conspiracy and it doesn't have (0 be genocide. Second thing 
Nuremberg (ells us is. look at your charter. And I want to seize on one 
thing with Nuremberg and exactly what happened there. because I think 
that's going to play in some other arguments that have been made. And if 
you'll indulge me while I try to put this on the ELMO. sir. 

Please state for the court reporter what you're showing us. 

AP (CDR_ This is Article 6 of the Nuremberg charter. 

po: Has that been marked as an appellate exhibit. review exhibit? 

AP (CDR_ Not yet. sir. 

po: You will. 

AP (CDR_ Yes. sir. 

PO: Thank you. 
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2 AP (CDR_ And I don't know how well that's coming up, but it's important because it 
3 plays on a rule of statutory construction, one that was argued yesterday. 
4 The defense is saying when it came to law -- war crimes, you couldn't 
5 convict of conspiracy. Well, why is that? Because they followed their 
6 charter. If you look at 6(a), where it says "aggressive war", that kind of 
7 thing, they put the word "conspiracy" in there. When you go to (b) and 
8 they're talking about war crimes, they don't put the word "conspiracy" in 
9 there. What they held in Nuremberg was, we're bound by our charter. 

10 That's why they didn't convict of war crimes, because they had to follow 
II their charter. Because they applied the rule of statutory construction that 
12 the government is arguing you need to apply in both the Article 25 motion 
13 from yesterday, and an Article 10 UCMJ motion that will most likely come 
14 up today. When they want it to apply to a certain o/1ense and they say it, 
15 then it's there. But if they conspicuously don't put those words in the other 
16 statutes, then you don't apply it. So applying those rules, if they wanted 
17 conspiracy to commit war crimes, they would have put the word 
18 "conspiracy" in (b). Article 10, the speedy trial statute, doesn't have the 
19 word "military commission" in it. Same rules, 60 years apart being applied. 
20 
21 Now, there are two theories of conspiracy liability contained in MCI 
22 number 2. You have the traditional conspiracy of an agreement; you have a 
23 second theory which is the common -- I'll call the commOn criminal 
24 enterprise. The government has put both of these theories within the 
25 charge. If either one is proven beyond a reasonable doubt, you're entitled to 
26 convict. Now, if you look at the ICTY and what they did, we will concede 
27 up front that the ICTY, one, targeted specific international criminals when 
28 they convict under common criminal enterprise, they convict of the 
29 substantive offense. And we draw your attention to the Tadic decision. 
30 What was very important to the ICTY -- and I'm going to ask you to read 
31 the paragraphs roughly 190 through 193 when you go to deliberate on this. 
32 What was important for them was the label they attached to the guy who got 
33 convicted. To them, even if you were just a member of the common 
34 enterprise, they didn't want to call you an aider and abettor. They didn't 
35 want to call you an accomplice. If your enterprise had guys who went out 
36 there and committed murder, they wanted to call you a murderer. Because 
37 to quote them, "at the time depending upon the circumstances, to hold the 
38 latter liable only as aiders and abettors might understate the degree of their 
39 criminal responsibility". 
40 
41 I f anything, we are probably taking a lesser stance that than the ICTY. If 
42 this accused gets convicted, he walks away with a conspiracy conviction. 
43 He will not be labeled a murderer. But the gist of what they were trying to 
44 do with the ICTY is very similar to what we're trying to do here. Paragraph 
-15 190, all those who engaged in serious violations ofthe law, whatever 
46 manner in which they may have perpetrated or participated in the 
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po: 

perpetration of those violations must be brought to justice. That's what MCI 
number 2 does for us. It allows us to bring people to justice. 

Now. under our system we've got the traditional agreement conspiracy 
firmly established. And when you look at the common criminal enterprise 
theory of conspiracy and compare it to the agreement kind of conspiracy. 
they are very. very similar. It is not a large stretch to have this other theory 
in there. 

Now, the ICC was brought up. We didn'.Ui,ill.~'!:r on the ICC. The United 
States is not a party to the ICC. Colonel_asked where did this 
genocide conspiracy theory come from. First. that's not the only we convict 
[sic] on conspiracy of. We convict on conspiracy to commit aggressive 
war, conspiracy to commit apartheid, conspiracy to commit on various drug 
conventions. Genocide came up in 1948 with the Genocide Convention. 
Ex post facto came up in the defense's argument. How can that be? We've 
already convicted two guys of conspiracy alone, just in CoZepaugh and 
QUirin. We've convicted conspirators with the assassination of Lincoln 
back in the 1860's. You're not on notice that conspiracy is considered to be 
an offense in violation of the law of war? It's in our Department of the 
Army field manual for the last 30, 40 years. 

The bottom line is you start with MCI number 2. That's your charter. 
conspiracy is an offense under MCI number 2. Secondly, the United States, 
in interpreting the law of war, has conspiracy as an offense. And as I 
promised, at this point. we would like to distribute to the members what's 
previously been marked as a review exhibit with the court reporter; and 
that's the particular transcript part from the Quirin case. 

Sergeant_you've got this as marked? 

AP (CDR_ One other thing, sir, we would state that we do intend to file essential 
findings in conjunction with this argument. 

po: Trial -- or defense, I'm sorry? 

ADC (Maj Mori): The government wants to live in the past in 1942. There were a lot of 
things in 1942 that aren't the same now. There were a lot of different legal 
theories, and there's been a lot of advancements, both in our country and 
around the world since 11)42. 

We have. in this Military Commission Instruction number 2, not an 
authoritative document. Why? Because it says so itself. 11 says this is just 
reflective of existing law. If that means anything in here, you should be 
able to find in some other source document; some other convention, some 
other charter from another court. This is declarative of existing law. So we 
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don't need this. Every charge, the government should be able to sa). look, 
this is declarative, existing law. and we can prove it because we have the 
charter. we have the convention. But it doesn't because it's not declarative 
existing law. And the government subtly concedes. well. we do have this 
two-theory approach. No one else has done this two-theory approach. 
We're not here to make stuff up after the fact. The fact is conspiracy is not 
used. internationally accepted. except for the offense of genocide and the 
other conventions. We're not talking about drug distribution in this case. 

And we see how it's been recognizcd -- the ICTY. we have U.S. 
practitioners that serve as judges. that serve as prosecutors. that participate 
in that international criminal tribunal. We recognize it. But the 
government's only -- is to go back to 1942. when segregation was legal in 
this country. and it was the same Supreme Court that found segregation 
legal. And they also hit -- remember, the government tried to make. well. 
the Supreme Court didn't have to determine whether conspiracy is a valid 
charge. And that's the support for showing it's a valid offense; the Supreme 
Court didn't rule on it. 

Quirin and the other offenses occurred in the other cite [sic]. occurred in the 
U.S. We cannot turn a blind eye to the advancements in international law 
and how it has been codified and practiced in these international tribunals 
for years, which we participate and support. We must recognize. and that is 
the challenge. Is this retlective? Is MCI number 2 retlective of existing 
law? We say it's not; the government says it is. We bring you experts. we 
want to bring you experts, I want this Commission to ask Professor Schmitt 
about Quirin. I wanted that. The prosecutors didn't want that. and they 
have the audacity to stand up here and say, oh. these affidavits. You could 
have asked anyone ofthem. And you know what? They could have. They 
could have stood here and said, Mr. Schmitt, you tell this Commission 
about Quirin. But they didn't want to do that because they know they'd 
lose. 

Conspiracy as contained in Military Commission Instruction number 2 does 
not represent existing international law in 200 I. And joint criminal 
enterprise is not just a quaint thing that we can throw in with U.S. 
conspiracy. because there's a broad distinction between them. U.S. 
conspiracy law, you don't have to commit the offense. No offense must be 
committed for there to be a crime. Joint criminal enterprise. an otfense 
must occur. Conspiracy to commit robbery? Hey. let's rob a bank, I'll buy a 
mask. Crime. Joint criminal enterprise to commit robbery, let's rob a bank. 
Okay. let's go. If we're going to do it, somebody has to actually rob the 
bank. There is a huge distinction. And what the government is doing by 
sliding joint criminal enterprise into conspiracy is trying to say, we can use 
joint criminal enterprise theory. and no offense has to be committed. And 
that is not the standard of the law; it's perfectly clear in the ICTY and the 
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PO: 

ICTR. It's not a valid offense. MCI 2 is not reflective. and it should he 
struck because it's not reflective. Thank you. 

Okay. Any questions? 

Okay. Within the time lines we set for getting the findings, we'll issue an 
opinion in due course. 

Okay. What do we have now? Nine? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Excuse me, Your Honor? 

PO: Yes. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): I didn't hear the last --

PO: Nine? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, we'll make proposed findings as welL sir. 

PO: Well you've got the opportunity. Read what I said yesterday. 

Okay. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): May I proceed, Colonel? 

PO: Goon. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Thank you, good morning. First, I would ask the Presiding Officer to 
refer or to certify D 37 to the Appointing Authority for decision. 

PO: Okay. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): 09 is a defense motion to dismiss from Charge I, the conspiracy charge. 
The aspect of it that charges destruction of property by an unprivileged 
belligerent, because, in fact, that offense does not exist under the law of war 
or a congressional authorization, which are the only two sources that this 
Commission has jurisdiction over, defined offenses. 

I want to start out with some principles that I think bear repeating, because 
they're very important in the context of this motion. And the tirst is what 
we've been determining ex post facto. And if I go swimming and them 
make swimming a crime tomorrow, they can not prosecute me on Thursday 
for swimming today. And I understand about the need for a law to evolve. 
and the whole purpose of that, and frustration perhaps with the ex post facto 
principle. But if you can't accept that as a fundamental principle of United 
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States Constitutional law. intemationallaw. common law. then you're not 
doing your duty here. 

Now. another issue is what exactly is the Commission looking at in making 
a determination with respect to the sufficiency of these charges. And you 
have to focus on the charge sheet, because the charge sheet is the limit of 
what you can consider with respect to sufficiency. So for example. if 
someone's charged with automobile theft, and even though it says 
automobile theft is the charge. if what's pled in the accusatory instrument. 
the indictment. the information, the complaint, if what's pled says Mr. Smith 
was apprehended behind the wheel of a yellow Ferrari, that's not sufficient. 
Even if it pleads somewhere else that Mr. Smith doesn't have the money to 
afford a Ferrari; even if it pleads a dozen other things, it has to plead what 
the offense is, which is that without the authority of the owner. It's 
insufficient. You cannot include other aspects into the charge sheet 
regardless of what you may believe, what you may believe is commonly 
understood. This is very specific, and this is what is involved in a challenge 
to the sufficiency, and it's very important to the context of this motion. 

The phrase "unprivileged belligerent" in this context, as it was in the 
context ofthe attempted murder charge, Charge II, is a red herring. It is a 
complete distraction. It is irrelevant to the conduct charged. There is 
nothing that a soldier does that is a war crime or not a war crime that an 
unlawful or unprivileged belligerent does that is a war crime or not a war 
crime. There is no distinction in their conduct. ~s back to questions 
yesterday that both Colone_and Colonel_asked, and I think 
it's important because it's really important in the context of this discussion 
about destruction of property. 

The focus is not on who the actor is. The focus is on who the target is or 
what the target is. So for example, you're trying to determine whether -­
and I think. Colonel_you asked yesterday, so you have to wait for 
the murder to occur before you can prosecute it? As a law of war crime, 
even if an unlawful combatant kills a soldier, it is still not a war crime; it is 
an ordinary crime, it is not a war crime. There is no distinction between a 
soldier killing a soldier, other than the exceptions that Major Mori noted. 
There's no distinction between a soldier killing a soldier, and an unlawful 
combatant, or an unprivileged belligerent k~soldier. There is no 
distinction, neither is a war crime. Colone_asked, what if the 
person, the unprivileged belligerent joins the U.S. forces in Canada? No 
distinction. 

43 eM (Col_ That's not why I asked that question. 
44 
45 DC (Mr. Dratel): But I'm just saying, that there's really no distinction in context of these 
46 charges. It's as ifin my Ferrari example, you said he was driving down the 
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1 street in a Ferrari wearing a blue hat. It has about as much significance as 
2 that in the context of what we're talking about. And we're not asking you to 
3 take our word for it. We were looking to bring in witnesses because I -- you 
4 know, maybe you don't hear it from your side, but I hear it from here, which 
5 is the sort of unspoken preface to some of the questions, which is a 
6 challenge, a sense, somewhat, of incredulity. And that's what we have to 
7 overcome, and that's why these witnesses are necessary is to overcome that. 
8 The unspoken preface to each question is, are you telling me that, or is it 
9 possible that? And we're telling you that, yes, that's what the state of the 

10 law is. And I won't go over -- Major Mori spoke eloquently about that. I 
11 don't need to repeat it. 
12 
13 And the affidavits for us are really a poor substitute for what we think is 
14 necessary, an interactive presentation that involves the Commission and 
15 involves the prosecution as well. 
16 
17 CM (Col_ I need to make a statement here, comment. It is my opinion that 
18 testimony from expert witnesses, in and of itself, may be a good thing for 
19 this Commission. But it is my contention that you, the defense, and you, 
20 the prosecution, should not tell me who I need to listen to. I should be able 
21 to, and this Commission should be able to pick who we want to hear from in 
22 terms of expertise on the law of war. That is the problem I have with your 
23 motions to bring expert witnesses in. I don't have a problem with the 
24 concept in general. I have a problem with you picking, and you picking 
25 who you tell me 1 should listen to. 
26 
27 DC (Mr. Dratel): Well, we certainly don't have a problem with the Commission choosing 
28 witnesses that it seeks from, but I would also say that if you look at the 
29 credentials ofthe people that we have presented, it would be an 
30 insurmountable challenge to find a better equipped. a better educated group 
31 of experts to discuss the subject that we're discussing. 
32 
33 eM (Col_ I will take that on as a challenge for the Commission. 
34 
35 DC (Mr. Dratel): In the context of what we're talking about, the northern alliance stands in 
36 no different position than Mr. Hicks in terms of combatant status. Special 
37 forces not wearing uniforms stand in no different position than Mr. Hicks. 
38 And we're not conceding that Mr. Hicks is an unprivileged combatant, but 
39 for the purposes of the charge we are, because it's alleged in the charge that 
40 he is an unprivileged belligerent. So that's why we're going from the four 
41 corners of the document. But there's no distinction there. I just want to 
42 make that clear, because it's not a magic word that transforms something 
43 that's legal into something that's illegal. 
44 
45 Now, the destruction of property by an unprivileged belligerent is not a 
46 violation of the law of war; it is mere vandalism or destruction of property 
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I under a domestic prosecution ofthe country, or the jurisdiction that has 
2 jurisdiction over that conduct or over thal person. 
3 
4 CM (Col_ Mr. Dratel, would you assert that if that property had special 
5 protections under the law of war, that it would be then a crime? 
6 
7 DC (Mr. Dratel): That was my next statement. It does not enumerate any protected 
8 property, which is what is protected under the law. 
9 

10 CM (Col_ And I agree with that. But how am [ to rule on your motion if [ have 
I I not determined whether the facts prove that the property was protected or 
12 not? 
13 
14 DC (Mr. Dratel): Because that's why you have to -- you're limited to the charge sheet, and 
15 it's not there. This charge is not supported in the charge sheet. It's like my 
16 Ferrari example. That's what you're limited to. You don't have a factual 
17 hearing to determine. That's the trial. But first, they have to charge it 
18 sufficiently, and it's not an unimportant distinction; it is the difference 
19 between a fair proceeding and an unfair proceeding. 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

And I'd also -- and to go back to MC[ number 2, which is not where you 
begin, because you begin with the authority for what's in MC[ number 2, 
and the authority is law of war or other designated offenses spying, which 
we've already said: Aiding the enemy, spying. So law of war offenses is 
what it's limited to. So what you have in MC[ number 2 is you have law of 
war offenses, and they talk about protected property. [n MCI number 2, 
then you have a whole "other crimes" section which is the set of crimes, 
which is swimming is illegal as of Wednesday: that's what that is. And this 
one, destruction of property by an unprivileged belligerent is there because 
really, what they're saying, is destruction of property. That's my point. 
Unprivileged belligerent has no meaning in the context ora war crime, a 
law of war violation. There is no distinction between a soldier destroying a 
hospital. and an unprivileged belligerent destroying a hospital in terms of a 
war crime. [fit is a military necessity, they have combatant immunity from 
any prosecution. It's a military necessity for the lawful combatant, it's not a 
war crime. It's just crime, an ordinary crime punishable in that jurisdiction. 

And going back to yesterday again. [ appreciate the frustration with the 
notion that our jurisdiction is not universal, but it is not. There are some 
things that the United States cannot do. regardless of whether we have the 
military or diplomatic capacity to pull people off the street anywhere in the 
world and bring them here. either in Guantanamo or to the United States. 
Doesn't mean we have the lawful right to do it, doesn't mean we have 
jurisdiction. Just as we don't acknowledge the jurisdiction. for example, the 
prosecution talks about the ICC. We don't acknowledge it. We would not 
permit the imposition of those standards on citizens here, regardless of 
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whether they violated those standards. The same thing applies. Jurisdiction 
2 is not a universal concept all the time. 
3 
4 But you had a question? 
5 
6 CM (Col_ No. Keep going. 
7 
8 DC (Mr. Orate I): What this really is, by this intrusion ofthis red herring of unprivileged 
9 belligerent is an attempt to convert status into an offense; and status is not 
lOan offense. Status of unprivileged belligerent is not an offense. It is the 
I I conduct, the target that makes it an offense, and it's true regardless of 
12 whether it's an unprivileged belligerent or a privileged belligerent. There 
13 would not be any distinction between a privileged belligerent or an 
14 unprivileged belligerent destroying protected propelty for purposes of war 
15 crimes. 
16 
17 CM (Col_ You're discussion with me a minute ago about the actual words in the 
18 charge, not using the words "protected property". Would you not assume 
19 that the word "property" would be encompassing of both protected and 
20 unprotected property? 
21 
22 DC (Mr. Dratel): No, and I'll tell you why: Because the two -- protected property already 
23 is an offense under the law of war, and that's not what they've charged. 
24 They've charged this new, swimming on Wednesday charge. That's what 
25 they've charged. And you can't assume it. They wrote it, they're 
26 responsible for it, they're held to it. You can't read into it, you can't rewrite 
27 it. And in addition, having that--
28 
29 CM (Col_ I'm not asking to rewrite it. I'm asking what your interpretation of it is. 
30 I'm going to ask them the same thing in a minute, because it would seem to 
31 me that without adjective of "protected" on the word "property", that this 
32 Commission could look at all property, whether protected or not and then 
33 decide. 
34 
35 DC (Mr. Dratel): But that wouldn't be a law of war violation as it exists on the date that 
36 the conduct allegedly occulTed. And we're talking about swimming on 
37 Wednesday. Swimming'S illegal. 
38 
39 CM (Col_ My question is: You're telling me that the charge as written and the 
40 word used, "property", without the adjective "protected" in front of it, 
41 precludes me from interpreting that charge as destruction of protected 
42 and/or unprotected property. 
43 
44 DC (Mr._ Well, you've just added three words that aren't there. You can't. That's 
45 right you can't -- just like the Ferrari, you can't say, I assume it was stolen. 
46 You can't. I assume it was without the authority of the owner. No, you 
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I can't. It's an essential element. it is the essential element. 
2 
3 CM (Col_ But "property" has no adjective in front of it right now. 
4 
5 DC (Mr. Orate\): That's why it's not an offense under the law of war. 
6 
7 CM (Col_ I believe there's no adjective there because the Commission should be 
8 allowed to decide protected or unprotected based on the facts. 
9 

10 DC (Mr. Oratel): If they thought it was protected property, they would have charged it 
I I under the --
12 
13 
14 

po: Okay. If you two would please slow down so the court reporter can keep 
up. and we can focus more on what we're on here. 

15 
16 CM (Col_ I am. 
17 
18 DC (Mr. Oratel): They would have charged it under the preexisting -- and you can't 
19 assume that. No, you can't. That's not a decision for fact. That's not a 
20 decision for facts. You can't charge someone with a vague offense that 
21 doesn't assert the elements, and then fill in the elements later; that is lack of 
22 notice, that is vagueness, that is due process, that is just simply not 
23 acceptable as a proposition in law, and in a full and fair proceeding. It's just 
24 not. I mean, those are principles that we either have to abide by. And if we 
25 abandon them, then we abandon the notion that this is full and fair. 
26 
27 And the government's reasoning is perfectly circular. MCI 2 says it, so it's 
28 binding: and it's binding because MCI 2 says it. You have to go outside 
29 MCI 2. because MCI 2 can't say swimming is illegal on Wednesday. And if 
30 it said it, and it's binding, then it's biding because it said it. That doesn't 
3 I make it so. 
32 
33 The government cites cases. All these cases have these little phrases in 
34 them, like violations of the law of war, or things like they lose their 
35 protected status. That's different, those are different issues. Also they say 
36 they would be treated like highway robbers or pirates. What does that 
37 mean? Like common criminals, not like war criminals. Prosecutable by the 
38 domestic law of the jurisdiction that has jurisdiction, or by the sovereign 
39 that has jurisdiction over that conduct or that person. Instead, again. this is 
40 an attempt to create a status otfense out of what is a law of war -- conduct 
41 offense of protected property. And it doesn't exist under the law of war. 
42 Obviously, it hasn't been authorized by Congress. Those are the two 
43 sources of jurisdiction for this Commission for offenses. It is found under 
44 neither. There is a real offense that they obviously chose not to use for 
45 obvious reasons. They're stuck with what they charged, it's insufficient, and 
46 it should be dismissed. Thank you. 
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I 
2 P (LtCol_ Gentlemen. under U.S. law, a U.S. military commission can try an 
3 unlawful combatant, or an unprivileged belligerent for the acts that rendered 
4 his belligerency unlawful. That little phrase is from Ex Parle Quirin. And 
5 recently the Supreme Court said in Rasul v. Bush, that that case law is not to 
6 he brushed aside; it is still vital case law. 
7 
8 The United Stutes is not charging a status offense. The accused is not 
9 charged just with being an unprivileged belligerent. He is charged with 

10 conspiring to destroy property while an unprivileged belligerent. 
II Destroying property when you have no combatant privilege to do so is not 
12 swimming on Wednesday. It was a crime long before January 1-"of200 I. 
13 when the government alleges that the accused signed on with AI Qaida. 
14 started training with them. 
15 
16 There is an opinion cited by the government in our response. and we won't 
17 go into great detail about it, but we would ask that you do look up this 
18 opinion. It's by Attorney General Speed in 1865. And in 1865. Attorney 
19 General Speed says there's a difference between a soldier and someone who 
20 is not a soldier. someone who is an unlawful combatant. And in 1865. 
21 Attorney General Speed is drawing that distinction, and somebody who 
22 doesn't have that combatant privilege, who conducts acts like destroying 
23 property. like conspiring, like murder. they can be taken before a military 
24 commission. The laws of war can be invoked. That's what they did in 
25 1865. 
26 
27 In the I940s is when QUiril1 was decided. This is no ex post facto. And 
28 again. going back to the FM 27-10, we just remind you that that was a 1956 
29 manual, and is a manual that continues to be considered by all the services 
30 as a source. And it says, individuals who take up arms and commit hostile 
31 acts without having complied with the conditions prescribed by the laws of 
32 war for recognition as belligerents are, when captured by the injured party, 
33 not entitled to be treated as prisoners of war, and may be tried and 
34 sentenced to execution or imprisonment. 
35 
36 1956, now today in 2004, the defense says they weren't on notice that this 
37 was unlawful conduct, laid out quite clearly in 1956. So by Attorney 
38 General Speed's opinion in 1865. by other precedent that we've laid out 
39 which includes the Lieber Code in the 1860's, it lays out the distinction 
40 between combatants and noncombatants. Not just the status, but when 
41 those people try to destroy things and kill people, they've committed a 
42 violation that may be tried by this Military Commission. Thank you. 
43 
44 DC (Mr. Orate]): Well that's not what they say. That last part was now in terms of what 
45 crimes are crimes under the law of war. 
46 
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I And I'll -- first, conspiracy. I'm going to get into a little bit of conspiracy 
2 here. Just because you have a conspiracy doesn't mean that you can 
3 conspire to do things that aren't crimes and be punished. The object of a 
4 conspiracy must be unlawful. Therefore, a conspiracy to swim on Tuesday 
5 when it's not a crime until Wednesday is not a conspiracy, it's not a crime. 
6 The object has to be illegal at the time that the conduct committed, that the 
7 agreement is made for the conspiracy. So that doesn't change it. It's not--
8 and again, another magic bullet. conspiracy, when you shove everything 
9 that's inappropriate inside it and make it appropriate. You can't do it. 

10 
II It is a status. Because what all these citations are to is not a question of 
12 saying that destruction of any property is a law of war crime. These 
13 citations are to the treatment of the person. Because as Colonel_ 
14 said yesterday, you can take them out and shoot them, as we've 
15 acknowledged. If you lose your privilege status, you're not entitled to 
16 prisoner of war treatment. That is what the status means; not that one set of 
17 conduct by one is a war crime, and not a war crime by somebody else. 
18 There is no distinction in that context. If you look at it from the context of 
19 what occurs, it becomes apparent. A soldier has no more right to destroy 
20 protected property than an unprivileged belligerent. They're both 
2 I prosecuted as war criminals if they violate the law of war. 
22 
23 CM (Col_ Say that last thing again. 
24 
25 DC (Mr. Dratel): They have no -- if they violate the law of war, each ofthem --
26 
27 CM (Col_ About the soldier and the unprivileged belligerent. Military necessity. 
28 
29 DC (Mr. Dratel): But that's only a war crime. It's not a war crime for the unprivileged 
30 belligerent to do it; it's an ordinary crime. It doesn't make it a war crime 
3 I because they are an unprivileged belligerent. There is nothing in that 
32 distinction. It's a red herring. That's why they keep coming back to it, 
33 because it clouds the issue; it doesn't crystallize it. 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 

po: 

And he said that destruction of property was a crime long before; it's not a 
war crime, it's never been a war crime. They made it up in MCI number 2. 
that's why it's not in the section of the law or war, that's why it's in a new 
section. Thanks. 

Colonel_ 

42 CM (Col_ Under whose laws would an unprivileged belligerent who does, 
43 indeed, destroy property be tried? 
44 
45 DC (Mr. DrateI): Under whose laws? It would be the sovereign who has jurisdiction over 
46 the conduct or the person. But it's not a war crime under any circumstances, 
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it's not a war crime. 
2 
3 CM (Col_ What if it's not the sovereign state's property? What ifthat property is 
4 someone else's property in that sovereign state? 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
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37 
38 
39 
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41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Private property? It's still the sovereign's-­

CM (Col_ Some other government's property. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Well, that government could prosecute them as a criminal offense, not as 
a war crime before a military commission. This Commission does not have 
jurisdiction for those offenses. I'll give you a good example. In 1998, the 
United States embassies were bombed. We couldn't bring them before a 
military commission, they were prosecuted in federal court for crimes 
against the United States property occurring overseas. Federal offense, not 
a war crime. not triable by military commission. There's as plain of a 
distinction as you could have. 

po: Okay. It's 1047. We'll break until IllS. Court's in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1047,2 November 2004. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1115, 2 November 2004. 

PO: The court will come to order. Let the record reflect that Commande~ 
is no longer with us, and we have a new court reporter. 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. Sergeant_has replaced Sergeant_ 

po: Okay. Neither side advised the cuurt as far as -- the Commission. as far as I 
can tell, that they were going to submit findings on D 9; is that correct? 

LJC (Mr. Dratel): That's correct, Your Honor. 

po: I am not asking for them. I am just saying, I didn't hear anybody say 
anything. 

P (LtCol_ That is correct, sir. 

PO: Okay great. What do you got next, Major Mori? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. D 20, sir the motion to strike the word "terrorism". 

Sir, the defense moves the Commission to strike the word "terrorism" from 
Charge l. It's basic proposition is that. again. lInder MCI number 2, the 
offense of terrorism that is created in that it is not reflective of prior 
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international criminal law. Specifically, not an offense under the law of 
war. 

And where is the source document showing. reflecting the offense of 
terrorism as contained in Military Commission Instruction number 2? 
There isn't any. There are some conventions dealing under the descriptive 
word of "terrorism conventions" to do with specific acts, hijacking, 
attacking oil platforms. Because that is the focus, it as to be specific acts. 

The term "terrorism offenses" as we talk about, is a sort of descriptive term. 
I!,s not an actual crime in and of itself. The charters -- I mean. the 
conventions deal with specitic types of crimes; whereas the offense in 
Military Commissions number 2 doesn't deal with -- is not reflective of any 
of those conventions. So those conventions don't serve as a declarative law 
prior to Military Commission Instruction number 2 being published. 

The government seeks support in the word -- where the word "terrorism" is 
used in several sources. It seeks it from -- mentions the Australian War 
Crimes Act of 1945 where you said he used the word "systematic 
terrorism". Well, that is not all it said. It said -- it was listing certain 
offenses to be investigated. It said murders and massacre-systematic 
terrorism. 

There, and of course, the government doesn't say it was ever used for any 
prosecutions. Again -- and then it looks at these other cases, another case 
from very early on, where again, when you look at the case Motomura. it is 
not actually for an offense of terrorism, it is for his brutality treated 
unspecific people for actually the torture and the abuse that occurred, which 
are specific acts. It's not -- it's not an all encompassing charge of terrorism. 
Most revealing is the Galic case that the government cites to. And if you 
read it and if you look at the section where it really address the history of 
the case, you look at -- it's paragraph -- it starts at paragraph -- it's probably 
about paragraph 91 where it starts getting into that, even a little bit sooner, 
but it is very broad. But around 115 it talks about that court, and it's kind of 
giving a little history itself on where this sort of terrorism -- again, they use 
this "systemic-terrorism" as a descriptive term. It talks about in that the 
government used this court from 1919, this Commission where it mentioned 
it. It talks about -- and the government mentions in the brief that in '45, the 
British Delegation tried get it in, but that was rejected. It doesn't support 
that there was a offense terrorism under the law of war. 

And so we look at of Tenses, how is the international tribunals, and that's 
Calico Now, they didn't find that there was an offense ofterrorism; they 
found there was the specific offense of attacking civilians, which is a 
violation of the law of war; and that there was really an aggravating element 
of with an intent to inflict terror. That is really all Galic found. When you 
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look at the holding, that's saying, we are not talking ifthis offense is found 
2 in customary international law. We are looking, is it an otlense within our 
3 special charter, because they have jurisdiction ofthings beyond just the law 
4 of war, they have problems against humanities. and they can expand it, and 
5 did the offense as drafted in the Calic case. Galic was charged with sniping 
6 and shelling civilians with the intent to inflict terror. Did that specification 
7 meet an otfense under the rule of law, and so they had the facts. In our case 
8 there -- and the charge doesn't reflect what was found in Calic. Galic really 
9 shows no more support for anything that a aggravating factor to Military 

10 Commission Instruction number 2, charged attacking civilians. Galic 
II would stand for the support that they could have an aggravating element of 
12 with the intent to inflict terror. That is really what Galic stands for. It is 
13 interesting because the government seeks Galic as their support. And if you 
14 look at the very first sheet, it says "Prosecutor Darrell Mundes" is the 
15 prosecutor. And that is whose article the defense cites and provided who 
16 talks about how difficult it is. He says, it's challenging to prosecute 
17 terrorist-type offenses. Why? Because not the least of which is the fact that 
18 there is no internationally recognized definition of terrorism per se. And he 
19 is writing this at the same time that he is working and experiencing it and 
20 he is reflecting the accurate reflection of Galic; that there is not a terrorism 
21 offense. It is -- Calic just stood for the aggravating factor. 
22 
23 He talks in the article about the struggle dealing with prosecuting this 
24 terrorism. He talks about -- and we cite it, I don't need to read the whole 
25 thing, we have provide that too -- because that was -- this presentation that 
26 he gave was in 2003, again, because we are focusing on what was the law in 
27 200 I? That's where the same thing with the Galic decision comes out in 
28 2003. So you have to think about it, consider it how it supports what was 
29 the state of the law. But I think even in 2003, again, the same prosecutor 
30 who worked on this was explaining that it doesn't. 
31 
32 And he makes a very interesting point, which is exactly what I am trying to 
33 say. Several international treaties cover acts that fall under the general 
34 category of terrorism. The general practice is to prosecute individuals for 
35 the underlying criminal acts; not for the undefined crime of terrorism. 
36 
37 And there is no source document for Military Commission Instruction 
38 number 2's offense of terrorism that they have created. 
39 
40 p (LtCol_ Thank you, sir. Terrorism is an offense under international law, and 
41 has been a offense under international Jaw prior to the aets of the accused, 
42 starting January 1 st 2001. 
43 
44 The prosecution relies notiust on the use of the word "terrorism" in its 
45 brief; instead it relies on the well-founded principle that acts designed to 
46 intlict terror on a civilian population are a violation of international law. 
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And we go back to 1919 to show that the allegation that this was made up 
with MCI 2 it's just simply not true. That that principle has been true ever 
since 1919, and before that. 1919 they were recognizing that terrorizing a 
civilian population is an offense. 

The Galie decision, now, this is international court for the International 
Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia, and we cite that because this 
Commission -- while that is not binding on you, this tribunal went through 
an analysis of terrorism. And they go back to 1919 to determine whether 
General Galic could be convicted of a separate offense, terrorism. 11 should 
be noted that this tribunal, specifically, considered the question of whether 
General Galic could be convicted ofthis oflense when his acts occurred in 
1993. So while the tribunal was considering this in 2003, they looked at it 
to see whether this was a violation of international law prior to 1993, and 
they found it was. They found that it was a violation. Acts that the primary 
purpose of which is to terrorize a civilian population. And this was a 
separate offense from attacks on a civilian population. So these are two 
separate offenses. The Galie tribunal found that it was permissible to 
charge these separately. 

Gentleman, we are not going to go through, ad nauseam, the citations that 
we cited in our brief. We will just note that the issue with terrorism has 
been an evolving one, and it has been one where the principle exists that 
terrorizing civilians is a crime. 

26 Now, the defense raised the issue of piracy and pirates, and that's interesting 
27 because pirates posed a problem from outside our shores. And international 
28 law and the principles of international law allowed the United States to deal 
29 with this in international law, and applying laws of armed conflict. We will 
30 acknowledge up front that the precise situation we find today, a potent 
3 I terrorist organization known as al Qaida that has about every attribute of a 
32 state except for territory it calls its own, attacking, waging war against this 
33 nation. As a primary purpose, this organization is trying to coerce this 
34 government and terrorize its people. The principles undergird the offense. 
35 The question for you is not an international standard. There is aU. S. 
36 standard for terrorism, well-established and well-founded. The question is, 
37 are the principles of international law in conflict with that, and they are not. 
38 
39 Definition, the GaUe court goes through and says what terrorism is. And 
40 again, it is quite clear. The purpose of this -- I will say it one more time just 
41 for emphasis -- acts or threats. They didn't, specitically, address the threats 
42 because that wasn't addressed in Galic. Acts or threats, the primary purpose 
43 of which are to terrorize a civilian population, are prohibited under 
44 international law. Thank you. 
45 
46 ADC (Maj Mori): The government goes again, mentioning going back to 1919. And if 
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I you read Galic in 116, it talks about, the Commissions list of war crimes. 
2 murders, massacres, systematic terrorism of civilians is one item. The few 
3 trials held in 1921 and 1922 and Leipzig, pursuant to the Treaty of 
4 Versailles, are generally considered to have been a failure. In any event 
5 they do not advance --
6 
7 CM (Col_ I want you to start reading that again and slow down. 
8 
9 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. The Commission's list of war crimes had murders and 

10 massacres, systematic terrorism as one offense -- of civilians as one item. 
II The few trials held in 1921 and 1922 of Leipzig, pursuant to the Treaty of 
12 Versailles, are generally considered to be a failure. In any event, they do 
13 not advance the concept of systematic terrorism created by that 
14 Commission. And in '45 the prosecution relies on this British delegation. 
15 And again, the cOllrt addresses that they didn't lise it. And again, the main 
16 issue here is the underlying acts not being confused with the descriptive 
17 term of terrorism. like we talk about white-collar crime talks about financial 
18 crime. Could be embezzlement. could be money laundering; it's specitlc 
19 acts, and offenses must be geared at that. There is no internationally 
20 accepted definition as we talked about in our papers, there is no one 
21 definition because we -- partially because the U. S. influence has chosen to 
22 deal with specific conventions aimed at specitlc acts. That can deal with a 
23 specific type of conduct and deal with the -- you create an offense and there 
24 it is. 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

Galic was not charged with terrorism, he was charged with attacking 
civilians, or the intent to. And it is important when you read in 138, they 
found that the offense constituted acts of violence willfully directed against 
civilian populations or individual civilians causing death or serious bodily 
injury or the health, with a primary purpose of spreading terror among the 
civilian population, and they say "name me the crime of terror as a violation 
of the law of war". 

So that proposition is. that is an offense to attack civilians which is in the 
Military Commission Instruction number 2, which is a valid offense. and 
they have added an extra element, basically, if it's with the intent to commit 
terror, that would fall in there. But it is based on a violation orthe law of 
war. attacking civilians. 

In the paragraph -- in that same paragraph at the bottom the court noted 
"whether the crime of terror also is a foundation in customary law is not a 
question which they answer". 

So they didn't say whether it applied to any other courts outside of their own 
charter and statue. But I think Galic does talk about a valid offense in the 
sense of attacking civilians, and they create an aggravating element. It has 
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PO: 

nothing to do -- nothing to do. whatsoever, with political motivation. It has 
nothing to do that, and I would ask the members to look at Professor 
Schmitt's affidavit where he discussed that and does a much better job than 
I. Thank you. 

Refresh my memory. Major Mori. Genocide was a crime made up with -­
was recognized as a crime when? 

9 ADC (Maj Mori): I believe it is the 1948 convention. 
10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
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20 
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44 
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46 

po: There wasn't a crime before that? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Well, in --there was -- well, it wasn't a crime. You see, that's -- what 
do you mean. sir. it wasn't a crime? Was it a specific act--

po: I mean just what you know I mean. I mean, it wasn't a crime until 
Nuremberg; right? Where they tried people for it; right? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: I mean, we are arguing -- we are arguing from analogies here a lot of it; 
rightry 

ADC (Maj Mori): Some of it, but what your analogy to genocide has. and the further 
application of that, has its formation in the convention. Nuremberg. one of 
the problems were. and the criticisms of it that is still allowed today is that 
people were tried for a lot of offenses that were created after the conduct. 
And the international community. and we being one. recognize that doesn't 
lend support to the creditability of that tribunal; and so we thought proactive 
in trying to get international law up to date. But I agree. at certain times 
conventions reflect after prosecutions. But has there been a prosecution for 
terrorism as drafted in Military Commission Instruction number 2? No, not 
in the law of war. 

po: That's what this is. 

ADC (Maj Mori): This would be the first one. 

po: N urem berg was the first one for genocide; right? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Not really, sir. 

po: Okay. I mean we just --

P (LtCol_ Sir, we would just like to say. we would like to give you the Galic 
decision so you can read -- we will give you a hard copy. It's already in the 
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PO: Is it in the Commission Library? 

P (LtCol_ The electronic copy. We will provide a hard copy, because that 
decision itself -- you should read it for yourself -- and he was charged 
separately with terrorism. 

po: Okay. So there is no question for me when watching -- there is a collection 
of documents that both sides had a chance to put in, and (lalie, 1 thought, 
was in the thing. But, yes, you can circulate a hard copy, electronic, we 
read them the same. We are in the 21 st century here. 

Okay. What you got next there, defense. You are going to put in findings, 
either side? 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir, we would like to. 

po: Okay. We'll issue a decision after the time lines that we have established 
already. Go on. 

22 ADC (Maj Lippert): Sir. we are embarking now on a series of motions D 17, D 3, D 4, and 
23 D 7, which all kind of copy, or cover some of the same ground as far as the 
24 substance of the legal augments involved. 1 am going to cover D 17, which 
25 is a motion to strike parts of the charges that dealt with matters that 
26 occurred before the armed conflict in Afghanistan began. Major Mori is 
27 going to talk about the aspects ofthat regarding when the armed contlict 
28 ended, and then I am going to talk about some remedy ofthe -- potential 
29 remedies that we believe should be atTorded to Mr. Hicks because of the 
30 government's conduct regarding his detention. 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 

CM (Col_ Could you hold on one second. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes. sir. This will be three separate little arguments here, but we 
don't want to --

PO: You're going to do D 17. What's Major Mori going to do? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): He is going to do D 3, sir. 

PO: And then you are going to do --

43 ADC (Maj Lippert): -- D 4 and 7. And we will try not to cover the same ground too many 
44 times over and over again, but they are somewhat similar. 
45 
46 Defense motion to modiry the charges because the court has no jurisdiction 
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PO: 

of events that occurred prior to an anned conflict occurring in Afghanistan 
is what I am going to talk about now. 

The jurisdiction ofthi' Commission is limited to offenses of violations of 
the law of armed conflict. violations to the law of war. and offenses that are 
triable by military commission. And sir. I think that's critical to your last 
question to Major MorL Offenses that are triable by military commission. 
and that would be offenses that were in existence before this the Military 
Commission; not offenses that this Military Commission may choose to 
find that the government has invented. 

That is a nice move around there. 

CM (Col_ Good choice of words, Major Lippert. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Thank you. sir. Be that as it may --

CM (Col_ No. I'm serious. That was a good choice of words. 

20 ADC (Maj Lippert): Well. thank you, sir. Be that as it may, in this case this jurisdiction is 
21 limited to, since it is a law of war court -- a law of armed contlict court. that 
22 is what your jurisdiction is limited to, the charge sheet should be limited to 
23 events that occurred when an armed contlict was ongoing. If you read the 
24 charge sheet, which you all have. you will see that it starts talking about 
25 stuff that happened in the 90's, some of which Mr. Hicks -- most of which 
26 Mr. Hicks was not even involved in, never knew about. 
27 
28 The armed contlict in Afghanistan. it is our contention. began on October 
29 7th 2001, when the United States began bombing Afghanistan. An armed 
30 contlict an international arm~d conflict is the only armed contlict, or the 
31 only type of armed contlict which triggers the imposition of the law of 
32 armed contlict. I will caveat that by saying an internal armed conflict 
33 triggers the application of Common Article 3 of Geneva Conventions but 
34 that is not the full law of armed contlict. When an international armed 
35 conflict is ongoing, you eithcr have -- you apply all of the law of armed 
36 con1lict: and when it ends, you stop applying the law ofarmed conflict and 
37 you go into the law of peace or domestic law. Or ifan internal armed 
38 contlict is still going on, Common Article 3. 
39 
40 On October 7th, the United States started bombing Afghanistan, after the 
41 Taliban refused to surrender Usama bin Laden and other members of al 
42 Qaida pursuant to our request. On that date, that is when the international 
43 armed conflict began. It didn't happen betore that, it wasn't ongoing before 
44 that. That's when an international armed conflict under the definition of the 
45 law of armed contlict in the Geneva Conventions began. Why? Because 
46 Afghanistan is a high contracting party to the Geneva Conventions. as is the 
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PO: 

United States. They are a state entity. The government is going to stand up 
here and say that we were involved in a armed conflict with al Qaida, a 
non-state entity, a loosely organized group ofterrorists around the world, 
not a state. not even dose to a state. not a part ofthe Geneva Conventions. 
By definition, under the law of war, as a legal matter, you cannot -- the 
United States cannot and never will he engaged in a arnled contlict as that 
term is defined by the law of armed conflict, the Geneva Conventions, with 
al Qaida. Can't happen. hasn't happened. Now, that is not to say that the 
United States cannot engage in military operations or use military force 
against al Qaida. We certainly can. The United States has been attacked by 
forces or memhers of al Qaida on several occasions, they arc cited in our 
brief. Including September I !th, according to the government. That was an 
armed attack against our territory. That and other armed attacks by al Qaida 
initiated the right under the lJ .N. charter Article 51 for the United States to 
engage in self-defense against al Qaida. However. the right of selt~defense 
is not from the law of armed conflict. It is given to us under the U.N. 
charter Article 51. It allows us to take all necessary means and use all 
necessary force to defend ourselves and we have been doing so. 
Nonetheless, that selt~defense is not an armed conllict. as defined under the 
la", of arnled conflict. You can call it what you will. You can call 
counter-terrorist operations, you can call it military operations against al 
Qaida. But it is certainly not an armed conflict as that term is deli ned in the 
law of armed conflict. That is a matter of law. It is not a matter of 
conjecture. You can read the Geneva Conventions and see when and who 
we can be engaged in an armed conflict with. AI Qaida is not one of them: 
Afghanistan is. October 7, 200 I, we engaged in a international armed 
contlict with Afghanistan. That is when the law of armed conflict was 
triggered, and anything before that -- any events that happened before that 
are not a matter for this court, for this Commission. It's simply not part of 
your jurisdiction. As such, the defense would ask that any reference to 
events that occurred prior to October 7.200 I be stricken from the charge 
sheet because they are not a matter for this Commission. Thank you. 

You want to address seriatim or do you want to wait until he finishes? 

P (LtCol_: We can do it when they finish, sir. 

PO: Okay, come 011. Major Mori. 

CM (Col_ I have a question. 

po: Okay, before you start, I am sorry. 

eM (Col_: Are you implying that the laws of armed conflict can never be applied 
unless there are two state actors engaged? 
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DC (Mr. Dratel): Sir. if you would excuse me. I need to get a drink of water real quick. 
2 Will you hand me that? 
3 
4 Can never be applied. sir? 
5 
6 CM (Col_ Your implication or what you want us to believe is that the laws of 
7 armed con1lict and the definition of an armed conflict can only take place if 
8 there is a state actor on both sides. 
9 

10 DC (Mr. Drate!): I will say yes, sir. that is true except in very limited circumstance. You 
II can have the law of armed contlict triggered in what is called a 
12 belligerency. A belligerency is a very special type of internal armed 
13 con1lict similar --let's talk about the--
14 
15 CM (Col_ The Civil War. 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

DC (M ... Dratcl): The civil "ar, exactly, sir, that was a belligerency when the two sides 
had the same aspect of nation states and therefore, the law of armed conflict 
would kick in that way. But other then a belligerency, unless you have a 
state actor you cannot have an international armed con1lict for purposes of 
the Geneva Conventions, which is the law of war, which is what we are 
talking about here in this Commission. That is the short answer for your 
question. 

po: 1 have marked --

CM (Col_ 1 have one question. Major Lippert. do you know when U. S. or 
coalition special operations forces first arrived in Afghanistan? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Sir. I believe that is classified information. 

CM (Col_ The question is: Do you know? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): No. sir. I do not know personally. 

CM (Col_ Okay, does the defense know? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): 1 don't think so. I am not sure, 1 cannot answer tor them. 

CM (Col_ Okay, but your bottom line. is it didn't start until the bombs dropped? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. One or--

eM (Col_ It doesn't matter who else was deployed prior to that to ensure that they 
went to the right place? 
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1 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir, because it is a definition of under facts, what are the facts. Is 
2 there an actual -- two states utilizing military force at that time against each 
3 other and when does it begin? The initiation of hostilities, the bombing. 
4 Not the preparatory stage. sir. 
5 
6 CM (Col_ That's your position? 
7 
8 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
9 

10 CM (Col_ Did the United States recognize the Taliban as the legal government of 
11 Afghanistan? 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

ADC (Maj Lippert): That doesn't matter. I am sorry, sir. The answer to that questions is: 
I don't believe so, but that doesn't matter for purposes of the law of armed 
conflict. The lawaI' armed conflict looks at the factual circumstances and 
in the factual circumstances it was a matter orthe Taliban was in control of 
the territory of -- or most of territory of Afghanistan and we engaged in 
armed connict with them and under the law of armed conflict. Geneva 
Conventions that would be considered an international armed conflict. 

AlJC (Maj Mori): Sir, if I could just add one also, the Taliban government was the 
government which the U. S. government Department of State was working 
with in the late 90's to set the pipelines. It was also the Taliban government 
that the U. S. -- was over here in the United States visiting with the 
Department of State in 200 I. It was also the government that the U. S. 
talked to and tried to work diplomatic relations with to obtain Usama bin 
Laden. So in fact we were recognizing them as the government of 
Afghanistan, sir. 

po: Your shot, Major Mori. 

ALJC (Mi\i Mori): Yes, sir. If I could just have one moment to get an item marked. Sir, I 
have marked the war crime section from the international criminal tribunals 
Review Exhibit 69, if I could approach and provide to the members? 

po: Sorry, what? 

ADC' (Maj Mori): RE 69, sir. 

po: Okay. We are on D 3? 

ADC (Maj Mori): D 3. sir. Sir, I provided this section of the ICC to you hecause it does a 
good job of breaking up and showing what oftenses are available. both in an 
international armed contlict or an internal armed contlict. And then of 
course it supports the tact that unless you have one of these two types of 
armed conflicts, there is no law of war violations. That is both supported --
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po: 

in the first section it talks about the Geneva Convention, Grave Breaches, 
and in each paragraph applicable to international armed conflict. Page 7, it 
gets into offenses that are applicable in armed conflict, not of an 
international character or, which is referred to sometimes as an internal 
armed confl ict. 

The law of armed conflict is not applicable until you either have a state by 
state conflict or an internal struggle between the government and a group, 
already identified as a group or those two groups within its own territory. 
There is no armed conflict against al Qaida. There was -- there cannot be 
under law of war and the definitions accepted. Now, what is the 
ramifications ofthae It doesn't mean that the U. S. cannot attack an 
organization we have the right to, under Article 51 of the U.N. charter, the 
right to utilize force in self defense. It just means when that attack occurs, 
the full range of the law of war is not restricting us. 

It is not restricting us and it is not providing any protections to the people 
who are attacking. If we choose to just attack a camp in Afghanistan 
instead of having a northern -- you know. assisting the northern alliance to 
invade the whole country, we wouldn't have been at war with Afghanistan. 
In Yemen, when we sent missiles in and we got permission by the 
government, that wasn't -- we weren't at war with Yemen. We just sent 
missiles in. That did not begin an armed conflict in which the laws of war 
became applicable. And there has to be a date on the front end when the 
laws of war become applicable and there is a date on the back end when the 
laws ofwar stop. We put ill our motion -- we put forth that it's when the 
Karzai -- initial Karzai government took over and in the Professor Schmitt 
affidavit he says, No, maybe later. At least by June when the full 
government is in power. It has to be over at least by then. It is not a matter 
that there may still be some armed -- rounds being fired in Afghanistan 
against whomever. Because in international armed conflict requires two 
states. We can still be there, shooting at -- if we believe it's terrorist--

So in Vietnam in 1970. That wasn't an armed conflict? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Well, 1970, at that point--

po: The Viet Cong -- that wasn't, 1 mean, is that what you're telling me? 

ADC (Maj Mori): It was a internal armed conflict within South Vietnam. Now--

po: No, sunshine, it wasn't. Look here -- are you saying the law of war wasn't 
applicable there? 

45 ADC (Maj Mori): Certain parts of it. With a internal--
46 
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PO: So when we captured a VC we couldn't do nothing to him: is that what you 
saying? 

ADC (Maj Mori): You could tum him over to South Vietnamese for prosecution. 

po: Amazing. Okay. It wasn't a law of war though? 

ADC (Maj Mori): No, it was not an international armed conflict. The same way when the 
United States was helping the Contras fight against their established 
go\'ernment, we were not in international arllled conflict in Nicaragua. 

PO: Okay. 

14 ADC (Maj Mori): Right, we weren't. Now, we may have been funding the Contras and 
15 directing what they did, but it didn't rise to a level of international armed 
16 conflict because there weren't two states and in that definition erred to the 
17 United States' benefit. Now, that is what we are talking about here. What is 
18 the objective definition? It is not whether there is a war or whether it's 
19 whatever descriptive word -- we arc in a conflict. But il is not the legal 
20 definition. There is a distinction. There is a legal distinction on what an 
21 anned conflict -- international armed conflict starts and the law of war 
22 begins applying to when the international armed conflicts ends and the law 
23 of war stop applying. It also -- there is a distinction versus what is required 
24 in the law of war and what we may do as policy. 
25 
26 There is a distinction. And when this war ended, lhe international armed 
27 conflict ended; so did the right to retain individuals pursuant to the Geneva 
28 Convention allows you to detain people to the end of hosti I ities. And those 
29 hostilities ended and the international anned conflict ended. And when it 
30 ended, the U. S. could have prosecuted Mr. Hicks or had to release him. 
31 And even if we used -- the day from Mr. Schmitt, June 2002 is the end of 
32 the conflict. The government did not began prosecuting him for almost a 
33 year later when they finally had charges against him. almost 2003.2004 
34 when they finally brought charges against Mr. Hicks. The conflict had 
35 ended. The law of war stopped becoming operable and the government 
36 should have either prosecuted him or released him; not waited two years. 
37 Sir, do you have a question? 
38 
39 CM (Col_ Are you done with this argument? 
40 
41 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes. sir, that's tine. I can end it, sir. 
42 
43 eM (Col_It appears that your fundamental assumption here is U. S. involvement 
44 in hostilities with the Taliban is what you are using to define when the 
45 international armed conflict was occurring. 
46 
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I ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
2 
3 CM (Col_ All your dates are based on the United States going into Afghanistan 
4 and the Karzai government standing --
5 
6 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
7 
8 CM (Col_ So your fundamental assumption is you are using Taliban and the 
9 Afghan conflict to define when this international armed conflict occurred. 

10 
I I ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir, because there cannot be an international armed conflict unless 
12 there are two states. The U.S. --
13 
14 CM (Col_ Okay. Go down that line of reasoning and tell me then under what 
15 conditions an international armed conflict could occur without two states? 
16 
17 ADC (Maj Mori): It can't. That is what the Geneva Convention says. Article 2 --
18 Common Article 2. It requires -- to have an international armed contlict, it 
19 requires two state parties. So you can have two states and that becomes an 
20 international armed contlict. You can--
21 
22 CM (Col_ What did we have before we had states? Before the Westphalian 
23 system came in and created states, what did we have? Because states are a 
24 creation of modern times, right? 
25 
26 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir, and so is the Gcneva Convention, I mean, this is in '49. This is 
27 when we vote the laws and we sat down and we said this rule will govern 
28 armed conniet. And we had definitions of what an international conflict 
29 and what an internal -- we had outside renegades, like pirates and what we 
30 did was sent our military forces out and killed them. You know what? We 
31 can still do that now. 
32 
33 CM (Col_ What laws protected the military that went out to kill those pirates? 
34 What laws? 
35 
36 ADC (Muj Mori): The laws offorce. That might made right. That they -- there was no 
37 laws to protect them, until we got a convention on piracy. Yes, sir. we 
38 finally -- there was a convention. But I am talking about when the USS 
39 Constitution went over to Tripoli --
40 
41 eM (Col_ So what you are saying -- what you are telling me is that U. S. forces 
42 engaged in hostilities against a non-state actor are not protected under the 
43 laws of war? 
44 
45 ADC (Maj Mori): Under the laws of war. Now, let me use the example of Tripoli, sir. 
46 There is a pirate ship that "e are after, that we are attacking. That's fine, 
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PO: 

that just our -- which I would call now, under today's state of the law, our 
right to use -- under Article 51 of the U.N. charter to use self defense 
against that threat, right? We can destroy that pirate ship. If we then went 
on to Tripoli as we found out that Tripoli was supporting those pirates. and 
then, once we attacked Tripoli, an intemational conflict would begin and the 
full range of the law of war would apply. 

Now, if we captured onc of those pirates who had robbed a U.S. vessel we 
would take him back -- we could try him in our courts. If -- now, this is, 
obviously, hundreds of years ago, how it was done. How it was done is 
totally different. But using it as a factual scenario, the law of war, what 
protects me now? What protects us right now. Does the law of war protect 
us" Does -- is it a violation of law of war if aU. S. service member kills 
another U. S. service member? No, it's not. It's just a crime that's not tried 
by military commission because it didn't violate the law of war. This court 
has a special jurisdiction of charges and offenses. It's not a worldwide court 
that has -- that can try all ditferent type of offenses. It can try otfense 
against the law of war. To have the law of war apply, the contlict that we 
are in began October 7th when we invaded Afghanistan and started 
bombing and it ended either at the initial empowerment of Karzai -­
released in June 2002. when Karzai fully took over. But you got to have a 
violation within that time period to be against the law of war, sir. It's just 
like. sort of, crimes against humanity are not in this Commission's 
jurisdiction. It is a total different section of crimes. Just like anti-trust 
violations aren't in here. It is a ditlerent bodies of law that don't provide 
jurisdiction and if Mr. Hicks, during an armed contlict, injured a civilian 
then that would be a violation. It would be an acceptable charge. attacking 
civilians during an armed conflict. No problem. But we can't, after the 
conduct, try to bend the rules to try to make the conduct tit offenses that 
don't exist. 

Okay. So now. we are going to listen to Major--

CYl (Col_I have one question, sir. 

po: Okay. 

CM (Col_ Major Mori, do you think that the U. S. forces and coalition forces that 
are currently deployed to Afghanistan are subject to and protected by the 
law of land warfare; yes or no? You can give answers to both questions. 
Are they subject to them? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Are they subject to them? 

CM (Col_ Yes. 
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1 AOC (Maj Mori): The full range of law of war, no. 
2 
3 CM (Col_ All right. So you don't think they are su~ject to them. Do you think 
4 they arc protected by them? 
5 
6 ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir. Can I --
7 
8 CM (Col_ So you think the same thing would apply to the forces that are deployed 
9 to Iraq right now that are conducting SASO operations? 

10 
11 AOC (Maj Mori): Iraq is a different situation, sir. It is very fact specific. I just brietly 
12 addressed Afghanistan and Iraq. I will compare and contrast. When we 
13 invaded Afghanistan and we invaded Iraq, we were involved in a 
14 international aimed conflict. When the Karzai government put into 
15 power--
16 
17 CM (Col_ I am not talking about then, I am talking about now. 
18 
19 AOC (Maj Mori): Now it is --
20 
21 CM (Col_ Now in Afghanistan. 
22 
23 ADC (Maj Mori): Now in Afghanistan it is whether we would be --
24 
25 CM (Col_ The U.S. troops --
26 
27 AOC (Maj Mori): -- probably still internal armed conflict ongoing and it would be 
28 protected internal armed conflict because we are assisting the Iraqi 
29 government with its internal armed contlict. 
30 
31 CM (Col_ You don't think the U. S. forces, currently deployed to Afghanistan are 
32 subject to the law of land warfare? You said no. 
33 
34 ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, you said -- yes, under internal. The laws that apply to an internal. 
35 Obviously, there is a distinction as well of what is required under the law of 
36 war and what is directed by policy. 
37 
38 CM (Col_ Okay. 
39 
40 ADC (Maj Mori): What is -- there is a distinction there, sir, and what is governed -- and 
41 certainly in how we conduct operations. We can choose how to conduct an 
42 operations and we can have our own rules of engagement that modifY or 
43 might be more restrictive then the laws of war, but that is sort of policy 
44 decisions versus what is the actual law of war. And the law of war doesn't 
45 control that much. It is very limited. The ICC gives a good example of 
46 conduct that it would find to violate the law of war. And it's not that much, 
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only a couple pages there. 

CM (Col_ So American forces in Afghanistan right now are not protected by the 
full blanket of the laws of armed conflict? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Protected tram by what, sir, if! can ask because I want to make sure 
focus the answer on? 

po: Perhaps, what Colonel_made -- you don't mind me interjecting. do 
you? 

12 CM (Col_ We talked about this, go ahead. 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 

po: Perhaps, Colonel_might be referring to is if a solider in Afghanistan 
were to shoot up a house for tim and grins. he is a criminal; right? Would 
you agree with that? 

18 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes. sir. 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
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37 
38 
39 
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po: Thank you. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: If a solider in Afghanistan were to shoot up a house because there were 
people bringing fire upon him, then as a belligerent, which is what you say 
we have to be under the law of war, he would have the right to do that; 
right? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: And he is not a criminal? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Correct, sir. 

po: Is that were you going, Colonel_ 

No audihle response. 

po: And I believe what you have told Colone1_ or perhaps we heard 
wrong, was that he doesn't have the protections of being a belligerent. 

42 ADC (Maj Mori): We have, right now, if we knew that there was some terrorist building--
43 and I don't want to bring up Canada. again -- but in Canada. we could use 
44 our right. and we knew they were going to attack us. we could use, under 
45 the right of Article 51. self-defense right, to attack that threat. We have the 
46 right. We're employing force in self-defense, which is a defense in of itself 
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I from combat immunity. Is that what the--
2 
3 CM (Col_ It's a little bit otTthe beaten path. 
4 
5 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
6 
7 CM (Col_ But it goes to the heart of the issue that has been bothering me since I 
8 started reading this stuff, weeks, days ago. 
9 

10 Let me give you a hypothetical situation and ask you to give your opinion 
II about this particular situation. State A and state B are in international 
12 armed conflict by your own definition. 
13 
14 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
15 
16 CM (Col_ An illegal combatant enters the battlefield, and this contlict is taking 
17 place in state B's territory. An illegal joins the battlefield and attempts to 
18 shoot soldiers from state A. You are telling me that that individual who 
19 entered the battlefield and is an unlawful combatant is subject only to the 
20 laws -- domestic laws of country B, as I understand you argument from 
21 yesterday. 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

ADC (Maj Mori): They would be --

CM (COI_ Treaties not withstanding. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Not withstanding. He would be subject to the laws in country 
B. 

CM (Col_ Okay. What if --

ADC (Maj Mori): Okay. Sir, let me ask -- let me throw a little bit back. Let's say that 
unlawtill combatant came to country B and shot some one from country B. 
He still would be subject to that law because that is were the offense 
occurred --

PO: Why don't we stick with Colonel_question's first? 

CM (Col_ Fair enough, and I understand that. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col_: What if country B has no law that says it is illegal to shoot country A's 
soldiers. Who protects country A's soldiers? What law protects country A's 
soldiers? 
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I ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. [mean, there could be federal law. 
2 
3 CM (COI_: What laws? 
4 
5 ADC (Maj Mori): The law of country A. The federal law, criminal. statutes that apply 
6 extraterritorially. 
7 
8 CM (Col_ Not the laws of armed conflict? There is an armed conflict going on. 
9 State A's forces --

10 
I I ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir, [ --
12 
13 CM (Co[_: -- are engaged in a international conflict. 
14 
IS ADC (Maj Mori): There is nothing wrong with shooting -- there is not a law in violation 
16 of shooting a solider. It is not a violation of law of war. It's only -- now if [ 
17 use --
18 
19 CM (Col_: If you're an unprivileged belligerent? 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

ADC (Maj Mori): That's not a violation of law of war, sir. I know it seems 
counterintuitive, but you have to -- sir. look at the statue --

CM (Col_: So who --

ADC (Maj Mori): Can I --

CM (Col_ So, again, who is responsible for trying this unlawful combatant, and 
under what laws? 

ADC (Maj Mori): It could be country A under it's federal laws --

po: There are no federal laws in existence. 

ADC (Maj Mori): There is no federal laws in it. What country does the unlawful 
combatant come from? Country C? 

po: They don't care. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Then--

CM (Col_ Then there is a loophole, and literally he can get away with murder. 

ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir. 

CM (Col_ Literally. 
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1 
2 ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir, 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 

CM (Col_ And figuratively. 

ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir. Okay. The point is, first of all, the law of war doesn't 
criminalize shooting a solider. And I didn't really understand until I started 
reading the documents. Because everything in the ICC statute that I just 
gave you, sir, really highlights the terminology used and why. What war 
crimes means --

PO: Are we a signatory to ICC? 

ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir, it is just a good comprehensive. I could lind the same -- I could 
tind the same language in the other documents just not all in one part. 

CM (Col_ Well, if you are going to make your case, then I ought to apply that 
law. You ought to make sure that we are signatory to it. Otherwise, to me 
it is just an opinion from an expert on some other body of international law, 
if the U.S. is not signatory. 

22 ADC (Maj Mori): Okay. 1 will get that. 
23 
24 CM (Col_ Because this is a U.S. Military Commission, this is not an International 
25 Military Commission. 
26 
27 DC (Mr. Dratel): Which limits its jurisdiction, not expands it. 
28 
29 CM (Col_: I understand that. 
30 
31 DC (Mr. Dratel): And when you talk about loopholes in the law, that doesn't mean make 
32 one up later to penalize someone. If a U.S. citizen -- torget a solider -- if 
33 any U.S. citizen is in a country that does not punish a cel1ain type of otfense 
34 against them and they are the victim of that offense. the only recourse they 
35 have is if United States law were to apply extraterritorially to that conduct. 
36 That is very limited concept. The general rule of extraterritoriality is that 
37 Congress must make it express in the law. There are other aspects of 
38 extraterritorial jurisdiction that are policy. And again, that goes to certain 
39 aspects of nationality. So for example, if one is attacked as an American, 
40 because they're American, that may confer jurisdiction on a U.S. court: not, 
41 a U.S. Military Commission, a U.S. court and that is the basis tor the 
42 jurisdiction in the embassy bombing case for the killing of United States 
43 citizens in and around the embassy. Because that conduct occurred in 
44 entirely in another state. 
45 
46 It could have been prosecuted in Kenya or Tanzania -- or not in Tanzania, 
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because no U.S. citizens died in Tanzania -- but it could of been prosecuted 
in Kenya. The only basis for United States jurisdiction was the concept 
passive personality jurisdiction; which is that because they were United 
States citizens and attacked for that reason, United States criminal law 
could assert jurisdiction over them. We do not have universal jurisdiction. 
That is a concept that does not exist. And think of it in the context of 
symmetry and reciprocity. That protects us here from other people's laws 
that we don't like. We cannot go around the world asserting our laws 
wherever we feel like it because we don't like what they do, because they 
don't have the same law set of laws that we do. Just as we reject the notion 
that someone is going to come here and impose on us a standard that we do 
not believe. And that is why laws are confined to jurisdiction, to 
sovereigns. And in the context of what occurred before states, that is why 
there is the concept of the Geneva Convention, was to codify this among 
states. In the international law there is no stateless place. The only people 
who say there is a stateless place is the United States government, which 
said Guantanamo was a stateless place, was a place without law. And that 
was rejected by the United States Supreme Court. That is why Mr. Hicks 
has rights. It's only the government that would say that there is a lawless 
place in the world; there is no lawless place in the world. There are 
sovereigns that exercise jurisdiction. And whether we like it or not, they 
have their own set oflaws --

Okay --

DC (Mr. Dratel): And if we can assert jurisdiction we do, but it is limited. 

PO: Okay. Are you prepare to argue on 17 and 3, now? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Sir, if I could just answer Colonel_real quick question on that. 
Sir, the whole issue, again, with why it is not a violation of the law of war, 
is most of the documents, or all the documents written talk about acts -­
prohibits acts committed against a protected person under the conventions. 
Soldiers, military officers, whoever it is, is not a protected person until they 
are either wounded, surrender, become a prisoner of war, or somehow, lay 
down their weapons and surrender. That is when the law of war then kicks 
in and provides protection. That is just the state of the law under the law of 
war. It offers them no protection, it does provide them with immunity from 
the hostile acts they commit. When they shoot someone, it's murder, 
because it deprives them of a defense, immunity from prosecution. But it 
doesn't protect them from being targeted for attack --

CM (Col_: By an unlawful combatant? By an unlawful combatant who doesn't 
know the difference between protected and unprotected because you have 
already told me that the laws of war do not apply to him? 
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I ADC (Maj Mori): I know it seems odd, sir, but that is how it is. We can try to rewrite it. 
2 but that is exactly what it is. And I am -- sir, I'm not coming up with this 
3 novel theory. Yoram Dinstein did. He used to be the Stockton professor at 
4 the Naval War College. He's written books about it. It's not me, I couldn't 
5 come up with this ifmy life depended on it -- I have to read and try to learn. 
6 I know it seems counterintuitive, but if you look at every -- every 
7 convention it talks about attacking civilians, or attacking protected people. 
8 There is no restriction. The only restrictions against military officers or 
9 soldiers is you can't use treachery which is perfidy, which is dressing up 

10 like the Red Cross,jumping out of the back and attacking them. And an 
II unlawful combatant did that, law of war violation --
12 
13 CM (COI_ Or the methods. 
14 
15 A DC (Maj Mori): Or the methods. 
16 
17 CM (Col_ I understand that. 
18 
19 DC (Mr. Dratel): We are not saying that the law of war does not apply to an unprivileged 
20 belligerent, however that is defined: the problem is, it is the same law of 
21 war that applies to protected belligerents. It is the conduct, not the status of 
22 the person doing it. And we are turning again to this concept of 
23 unprivileged belligerency, being something unlawful in itself is not. What 
24 it does is it affects what someone can do with them on the field of battle, 
25 and once they capture them with respect to treatment under the Geneva 
26 Convention. Not a question of whether there conduct violates the law of 
27 war. It is the same law of war that governs a soldier as an unprivileged 
28 belligerent. The violations are both the same. 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 

PO: Okay. Are you prepared to argue -- no. Are you prepared to respond to 17 
and 3? 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. Well do that. 

37 P (LtCol_ Well, gentlemen, the defense proposition seems counterintuitive 
38 because it is wrong. The law of armed conflict does not ignore factual 
39 circumstances. We agree with the statement by the defense that LOAC. the 
40 Law of Armed Conflict, looks to factual circumstances. Does armed 
41 conflict exist? You look at reality. you open the eyes to the real world and 
42 determine whether what you see amounts to armed contlict. 
43 
44 Tadic, the International Criminal Tribunal for former Yugoslavia decision, 
45 laid out a definition that even in the defense briefs that's acknowledged that 
46 that's an authoritative definition of when armed conflict exists. Now, that's 
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the question of law that we have here, what definition you are going to 
apply. And you are going to see different arguments and ditTerent 
definitions of that. But what the case, Tadic, says is an armed conflict 
exists whenever there is resort to armed force between states, or protracted 
armed violence between states, or protracted armed violence between 
governmental authorities and organized armed groups. International 
humanitarian law applies from initiation of such armed conflicts, extends 
beyond the cessation of hostilities until a general conclusion of peace is 
reached, or in the case of internal conflict where a peaceful settlement is 
achieved. So there is a Tadic decision there for you. 

That Galic decision, which we talked about it, it talks about that definition, 
it applies it. And it is interesting because in Tadic, they had to apply a 
situation that was a little bit different here because we had different nations 
that were in conflict with one another. Former Yugoslavia breaks up, and 
now there are these different little places, and they're fighting one another. 
and they have to decide do we let this be a law of war situation, or do we try 
to apply international humanitarian law or some kind of humanitarian law to 
this situation. And that's where they're struggling with the definition. They 
come up with one, they define it. They say, in fact, the reality on the 
ground is we've got a war. The real ity wi II be presented to you at trial. 

The defense, in a page-and-a-halfbrief. attempts to leap to a conclusion that 
armed conflict does not exist. But that is part of the problem we have with 
some of these experts. Not only do they try to tell you what they think the 
definition is, but they attempt to apply that definition to the facts of this 
case, and that is wrong. You should be taking a definition, you should hear 
evidence, and it is within your province then to apply law to the facts that 
have been presented to you, and you come to a conclusion. Professor 
Schmitt, nor anybody else should be deciding for you that armed contlict 
started on date X and ended on date Y. 

These are law professors, they can give you their opinions on the law, but 
that is all they are, their opinions on the law. And be careful with the 
proposition that Professor Schmitt gives you. What he says is. you can have 
a situation where there is self-defense. We can call this "self defense". 
Okay. We agree the United States can defend itself against terrorists. But 
he says that is a difterent situation where the laws of war don't apply. So 
we can send people out to locations to track al Qaida, and we can be in a 
shooting match with them, and this can be protracted violence, but the laws 
of war do not apply. And one of the people he cites for this proposition, in 
a foot note, is himself, an article he wrote himself. So that is why we say be 
careful on how you view the views oflaw professors. They don't make law. 
Professor Schmitt telling you, October 7th is when this started. That is not 
a valid source. What he can do is he can give his opinion, and then he can 
say this is why I think this is so under the sources. Read that, that's fine, but 
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take it for what it's worth. Look to the sources of international law. 

Armed conflict existed long before the conventions. The law of nations 
existed before the conventions. That is why in the 1795 opinion. a Supreme 
Court Justice is speaking ofthe law of nations and how an unpriliveged 
belligerent committing acts of hostility is violating that law of nations. 

It is important to understand the role of these conventions. We have the 
emergence of nation states. We, throughout that time, have customs of law 
that say what belligerents can and can't do. and that unprivileged 
belligerants cannot participate, and that they can be punished ifthey do 
participate. At some point a group of nations gets together, and this group 
of nations says things have gone too far. Reality says there will still be war. 
But let's us nations sit down and put some limitations, some selt~imposed 
limitations on anned conflict. And so what they say -- and you can read the 
Geneva Conventions for yourselves, you can read what it says about when it 
applies -- but what these nations are saying is when states, when we 
signatories are involved in an armed conflict, we won't do these certain 
things. We will act within certain norms. They are not denying that there 
cannot be armed conflict outside ofthat. Nowhere in the Geneva 
Conventions can one find that it says this is the definition of armed conflict 
- anything outside of that definition is not armed contlict. and the laws of 
anned conflict don't apply. 

1865, we have talked about this before. Attorney General Speed, talks 
specifically on this point. And that is where that quote that we cite comes 
in, when impudent wretches become so powerfill that the nonnal civil 
tribunals cannot handle the situation. Armies are called out. The laws of 
war are invoked. What he is saying is that a group can pose such a threat. 
And to try to put that in a box and say well that was internal, but if it's 
external we can't do that. Well, that ignores piracy where, again, the laws 
of war are invoked and they do apply. 

What the defense has told you is that on the battlefield, when the accused 
was there as an unlawful belligerent, that we could have shot him and killed 
him. That option was available, and it was. The laws of humanity dictate 
that instead of doing that, we can capture him, we can detain him, and we 
can try him under the laws of war. And the defense, in all of their 
arguments that they just had with you, continue to try to throw that tarp over 
those cases. Quirin, Ra.mlv. Bush, in which the accused was a petitioner, 
where they affirmed the right of the United States to capture an unlawful 
enemy combatant, to detain him as an unlawful enemy combatant, and for a 
military commission to try him as an unlawful enemy combatant. 

So, gentlemen, the question of the definition of anned contlict is one that 
you will have to continue to grapple with and understand. We will point 
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you toward Tadic. And during trial, when you hear evidence we will 
demonstrate that the armed con tl ict, in fact, is broader than the box the 
defense tries to put it into; that it can be with a non-state actor because it is 
with a non-state actor. That when an organization becomes so powerful that 
it starts to act like a state, and is waging war, and it has branches of it like a 
military -- has a military branch, and political branch. and a fundraising 
branch, and when that gets to the point where our civil processes can no 
longer deal with this, it is armed contlict. And we say, that back in 1993 or 
so, when this organization began to state that it was waging war against the 
United States. and when they started to act in consonance with that in a 
protracted campaign. that that is armed contlict, international law does not 
ask you to turn a blind eye to that. International law is flexible enough that 
you have the principles that you can apply that you can find that there was 
armed contlict. We ask that. on the issue. the final issue of when armed 
conflict began and when armed contlict ended, you wait until you have 
heard the evidence. 

Thank you. Are you going to split or are you --

DC (Mf. Dratel): Split. 

po: I am talking about M<\jor Lippert and Major Mori. They are the ones that 
argued. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): I am going to refer to Major Mori for this. 

po: Okay. Great so you are not going to split. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Members, the government argues the absence of evidence supports their 
position. This smoke and mirrors the government was trying to utilize here 
is to distract you from the reality that the law of armed conflict. the law of 
war, the definitions of what -- when an international armed cont1iet and an 
internal armed conflict are defined in the Geneva Convention. Common 
Article 2, deals with the definition for international armed contlict, armed 
contlict which arises between two or more high contracting parties even if 
the state of war is not recognized. Common Article 3, in a case of armed 
contlict. not of irtternational character, occurring in territory of one high 
contracting party. 

And you can look at Tadic, and it explains the same thing. It talks about 
this armed conflict in Yugoslavia. But if you read the whole opinion you 
see that a lot of the parties had signed the agreement applying both different 
bodies of law from the international amled conflict and from internal. It is 
not very supportive, it just talks about the one huge definition. And the 
government provides that to you trying to mislead you, like there is just one 
definition. There's not, there's two definitions; one for international and one 
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for internal, and that is why we got the part from the -- Judge Cassese, who 
was there. There is not and cannot be an international armed conflict unless 
there is an opposing state. That is the state of the law, embodied in the 
Geneva Convention. 

Any foundation built on this new theory. that the government got this 
professor, you see in the brief. came up with in 2004 when he wrote his 
article, three years after the alleged offenses. this new theory that we have 
now been in war since 1993 or whatever, why does the government have to 
do that? Because with out it, they don't have any cases. They don't have 
any cases. And they have to come up with a novel theory because David 
Hicks did not violate the laws of war. No matter how much the government 
gets up here and tries to convince you what a noble cause it would be to 
bend the law, that the end justifies the means. that is not your duty. Your 
duty is to follow the law and determine the law. not through passion or 
prejudice, but through reason and common sense. And the government's 
position is contrary to the Geneva Convention's. it is contrary to the state of 
the law for the past 50 years, and it's a nice, novel theory; but we're talking 
about people's lives, and we're talking about providing David Hicks a full 
and fair trial. 

There's consequences for people ifthey violate the law of war, and that is 
what this Commission is about. It is not about changing the law to fit 
someone into a peg so that we can have some S0l1 of satisfaction. No 
matter how noble the cause we say, it doesn'tjustiry changing the rules and 
bending the law to achieve some end. 

Commission will be in recess until 1310. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1231, 2 November 2004. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1329. 2 November 21104. 

po: Commission will come to order. Let the record reflect that all parties 
present when the court recessed are once again present, except we have got 
a new trial counsel it looks like, and a new court reporter. 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir, "~,,,,p"n1 record as court 
joined us at the 

T1Catl'~1l5 ifthat's 

po: 

reporter, and Lieutenant Colonel 
prosecution table. He is pn~pared 
necessary. 

Wasn't he listed on the one that listed Commande~ 

P (LtCol_ He was, yes, sir. 
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PO: Whatever, he already was, okay. 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 

po: But he can state his qualifications ifhe wants to. 

P (LtCol_ Not unless it is necessary. sir. 

po: Okay. You ready to go to what, D 4'1 

ADC (Maj Lippert): D 4 and D 7 are combined because they both have --

po: Okay. Is this going to be you, or you and Mori. or what? 

15 ADC (Maj Lippert): Sir, that will be -- this will be me. It shouldn't be that long. I know 
16 that you are interested in moving things along. 
17 
18 
19 

po: No, that's not correct. I just want to know who's doing it. 

20 ADC (Maj Lippert): Nevertheless, we should not be that long. 
21 
22 
23 

po: Okay. 

24 ADC (Maj Lippert): Because the substance is much the same as the prior two arguments 
25 regarding when the contlict in Afghanistan has ended. But bet(lre I get into 
26 that. I think it's important to note that both of these motions deal with Mr. 
27 Hicks' rights to be afforded procedures leading to a tribunal of some sort in 
28 a timely manner. Speedy trial motion under Article 10, a speedy trial 
29 perhaps in federal court. speedy trial in front of the military commission. 
30 And it matters not one whit what kind oftribunal we're talking about, 
3 I whether it be Article 10, which the defense contends -- excuse me the 
32 government contends does not apply, or be it a military commission, or it be 
33 under international trial. Mr. Hicks' rights to a speedy trial, to a speedy 
34 process, to have charges presented (0 a court to be adjudicated have been 
35 utterly violated. 
36 
37 He's been sitting for the past almost three years here in Guantanamo, 18 
38 months of that inside a small box not much larger than the court reporter's 
39 table there. Up until eighteen months ago -- excuse me -- up until a year 
40 ago, June 30th 2003, he had never before seen a charge sheet. He had never 
41 before been presented with charges. He didn't know what he was there for. 
42 He was never informed of it, as would be his right under any tribunal 
43 whether it be a military commission, whether it be international law, 
44 whether it be the federal law, whether it be the Uniform Code of Military 
45 Justice. It doesn't matter which tribunal or what law the government says 
46 applies or doesn't apply. 
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1 f we were in front of a court -martial, a defendant or an accused who sat 
inside -- in pretrial confinement for three years without being tried would be 
released. Charges would be dropped and he would be released -- for sitting 
in federal court the same thing would happen. If we're sitting in tront of 
any international court. we wouldn't have even gotten here. Before, if it 
took almost three years, or two years to get charges to the accused. it would 
have been dismissed out of hand for failure to provide speedy process. It's a 
fundamental right. 

The only excuse that the government has for holding Mr. Hicks for three 
years -- almost three years -- without any process is that under the law of 
armed contlict they say they can hold any enemy combatant, unlawful or 
otherwise, until the end ofthe conflict. And then they can do what they 
want with him. The end of the conflict. They've said the conflict started in 
1993, they said it continues to go on now. They have not set a closing date 
for the contlict. Indeed, the government contends that it will go on as long 
as it takes to get rid of al Qaida. It could go on forever. 

It took 50 years -- the President has talked about it, this is a long protracted 
struggle. It took 50 years to defeat communism and have the Berlin wall 
come down. Are we talking 50 years for Mr. Hicks. for the other several 
hundred people in Guantanamo? They could be held. Is this a death 
sentence because of a protracted conflict? No, it has to come to an end, 
there has to be some check on the government's power to hold someone 
forever. And that check comes from the law of armed conflict. 

When a conflict is over, you either release, repatriate. or try someone for a 
crime. In this case, the government's going to say that they're trying him for 
a crime. Well. it took three years to get here. That is unacceptable. It 
violates his rights. it violates his rights in any forum. It especially violates 
his rights in this forum. Three years to get to this point. 

Defense's position is that this -- there is no armed contlict there -­
international armed conflict with AI Qaida. It is the defense's position and 
that there will never be an international armed conflict with al Qaida and 
that the laws of armed conflict do not apply. Therefore, he should have 
either been tried by the TISA [p~ J. the interim authority in Afghanistan or 
under U.S. law, in a U.S. court and given appropriate process; not sat in a 
cell for two-and-a-half years before being shown a charge sheet. The law of 
armed conflict does not apply, therefore the domestic law applies. 

It's interesting to note that in the prosecution response to D 8. on page 
two -- D 8 is the motion to dismiss for denial offundamental rights. In the 
prosecution response, on page two, at paragraph G, the government states as 
a fact. paragraph 3 is facts, number G is, on February 7_th 2002. the 
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President of the United States issued a memorandum in which he 
2 determined that none ofthe provisions of the Geneva Conventions "apply to 
3 our conflict with al Qaida in Afghanistan. or elsewhere throughout the 
4 world because. among other things. are the reasons al Qaida is not a high 
5 contracting party to the Geneva Conventions". The President's 
6 memorandum. dated February 7th 2002 attached. That is the government's 
7 position -- or the defense's position in toto for this motion. 
8 
9 CM (Col_ What paragraph are you reading from? 

10 
II CM (Col_ There's two Gs. 
12 
13 CM (Col_ Golf? 
14 
15 ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir. 
16 
17 CM (Col_ It is mismarked. There are two Gs on that page. 
18 
19 CM (Col_ Okay. The bottom of page 2. 
20 
21 ADC (Maj Lippert): Excuse me, it would be the second G, yes, sir. Thank you, sir, G, H, 
22 G. 
23 
24 The President of the United States himself had said that the Geneva 
25 Conventions do not apply here. If the Geneva Conventions do not apply, 
26 the law of war does not apply. The law of war is the only excuse -- the law 
27 of armed conflict is the only excuse for keeping Mr. Hicks in prison for 
28 three years. If it does not apply, he should have been processed under 
29 domestic law, or at least in compliance with international human rights 
30 which say you get a trial, you get processed. you get a charge sheet within 
31 days of being held. 
32 
33 If an American citizen was held by a foreign country for three years without 
34 charges. we'd be up in arms. We'd be screaming to have that person back. 
35 and yet we are doing that to a citizen of Australia right now. He's been 
36 denied his fundamental right to process. and it is up to this Commission to 
37 remedy it. And any jurisdiction, in any torm, in any tribunal. the remedy 
38 for such flagrant violation to his rights to process under whatever law you 
39 choose to apply would be dismissal. And that's what the government -- or 
40 the defense asks for today. Thank you. 
41 
42 P (LtCol_ Sir. we'd like to start otfwith the Geneva Conventions because we 
43 believe the defense is misconstruing the Geneva Conventions. The United 
44 States is bound by the Geneva Conventions: al Qaida is not protected by 
45 them. There's a difference. Remember there was a law of nations and a law 
46 of armed conflict before the Geneva Conventions came into effect. The 
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Geneva Conventions took certain categories and protected them. They left 
unlawful belligerents out on their own to be dealt with the way they've 
always been dealt with. So al Qaida, by its very nature, cannot be protected 
as if they were lawful belligerents. 

When the accused was captured on the battle field in Afghanistan, he wasn't 
in pretrial detention. There were no charges because he was being detained 
as an unlawful enemy combatant. The fact that the defense cites these 
rights, quote unquote, only demonstrates that they are going to the wrong 
basket to look for these rights. 

The Supreme Court of the United States has said the United States has the 
right to capture, detain, and to try an unlawful enemy combatant. The 
defense talks about process. The defense talks about lawlessness. They 
ignore the fact that this has been the law since there was war, that you can 
capture enemy combatants, lawful or unlawful, and detain them until the 
end of hostilities and past the end of hostilities if they're being lawfully 
prosecuted. 

20 They ignore that Quirin case and holding that and they ignore that the 
21 accused was the petitioner, was one of the petitioners, in Rasul v. Bush 
22 where, in fact, he is exercising his right to bring this to a federal court. And 
23 the fact that the Supreme Court has ruled that, statutorily, the accused may 
24 have his detention looked at by a federal court, and it is being looked at. 
25 They ignore the fact that his detention status has been reviewed 
26 administratively, is being reviewed in federal court. 
27 
28 So the accused's detention is pursuant to the law of armed cantlict as an 
29 enemy combatant, unlawful enemy combatant. He does not then have the 
30 right to be notified of the charges right before a magistrate. Those rights 
31 simply do not apply; and, in fact, they illustrate very nicely that they are 
32 going to the wrong body of law. Thank you. 
33 
34 ADC (Maj Lippert): Members of the panel --
35 
36 
37 

po: Wait a second. Are you going to do seven in response? 

38 AP(Maj_Yes,sir. 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

po: Okay. I apologize, Major Lippert. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Thank you, sir. 

po: He's doing the speedy trial. 

AP (Maj_ Gentlemen, the accused does not enjoy a right to speedy trial under the 
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PO: 

Article 10 of the Uniform Code of Military Justice because, as we stated in 
our panel selection motion, certain Articles of the Uniform Code of Military 
Justice don't apply to military commissions. And that is the case here. 
Where Congress intended, they said military commissions. In Article 10 
there was no mention of military commissions. 

Now, not applying the Article 10 speedy trial rule to military commissions 
just makes perfect sense. By this, I mean when nations are at war or in an 
anned conflict, there is a preference for detention against hostilities until the 
end of hostilities. When nations are not in armed conflict, which is the 
normal court-martial military justice process, there is a preference against 
detention. That's not the case here. 

In the present case the accused was captured and is an unlawful enemy 
combatant. He's never been in a pretrial confinement context to even begin 
an Article 10 analysis or speedy trial analysis. Footnoted in the defense's 
brief, or in their argument. is reference to the ICCPR. The U.S. Supreme 
Court has already stated in the U.S. -- in the Sosa t'. Alvarez case, that that 
law does not bind the U.S. In fact, it noted that that was a 
nonself-executing statue and does not create rights or obligations in U.S. 
federal courts. 

Gentlemen, the bottom line is, Article 10 of the Uniform Code of Military 
Justice does not apply here. There is no speedy trial right that applies to the 
accused. We can't even begin a speedy trial analysis because he's never 
been detained as such. Thank you. 

Now you can have both of them. 

30 ADC (Maj Lippert): Thank you, sir, I am not going to address them, Majo~ 
3 I remarks, because they are adequately discussed in my brief regarding the 
32 application of the ICCPR. The bottom line is that the government cannot 
33 pick and choose which aspects of the law of war it wants to apply. It's 
34 either all of it or none of it. The law of war, the law of armed conflict is 
35 espoused in the Geneva Conventions; it is right there. It says when things 
36 start, it says when things end. Presidential proclamations are political 
37 rhetoric. They do not make law. The President of the United States cannot 
38 declare when an anned conflict exists for purposes ofthe law of war. For 
39 purposes of domestic law, he can; but not for purposes ofthe law of armed 
40 conflict. That is governed by international convention which is the law of 
41 the land, which is the law that governs this court. The law of anned conflict 
42 says when a conflict is over, you release, repatriate, or try. And if you're 
43 going to try him, you need to try them with process. Speedy process 
44 designed to get to a tribunal. 
45 
46 The United States Supreme Court in Ra.wl v. Bush - to which Mr. Hicks is 
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a party to by the way -- has nothing to do with whether a conflict exists or 
not in Afghanistan or with al Qaida. It specitically does not rule on whether 
there actually exists a conflict. It says if a conflict exists. then such things 
happen. the government can do certain things. It doesn't rule on whether a 
conflict exists. It's part of the Rasull'. Blish. it is part of the library. You 
can read it. It is very. very clear what it says and what it doesn't say. 

This issue is governed by the Geneva Convention. It's governed by -- well. 
I guess the President agrees that the Geneva Conventions do not apply. 
therefore they should be given process under domestic law. Domestic law 
or international law demands speedy process. He's been denied that. the 
charges should be dismissed. Thank you. 

CM lCol_ Major Lippert? 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes. sir. 

CM (Col_ On ~nine -- or actually I guess I should ask Lieutenant 
Colonel_ On page six of nine of your response--

PO: To what, D 4, Colonel? 

CM (Col_ Yes. to D 4. In paragraph -- whatever the subparagraph is -- 3(a) it says 
the CRST was done on Mr. Hicks on September 2004. Can we get a copy 
of that? 

P (LtCol_ Sir. we just received a copy of that today and we haven't yet provided 
that to the defense. We could provide it to the defense and then submit it. 

30 DC (Mr. Dratel): I would object -- I would object strenuously to any proceedings to which 
31 he does not have counsel. which he wasn't even present at that was 
32 introduced in this court to poison this panel. I think that would be 
33 outrageous. 
34 
35 P (LtCol_ We would disagree. 
36 
37 DC (Mr. Dratel): I think it has no bearing on. I am not --
38 
39 
40 
41 

PO: Okay. stop. Stop both of you. One talk. one listen. I don't care which one. 
You start first, Mr. Drate!. Let's talk, whatever you want to say. 

42 DC lMr. Dratel): First of all, that proceeding is -- if you put that in this proceeding, what 
43 you have done is make a prejudgment before we've even had day one of any 
44 trial in this case. That is the problem with letting proceedings like that go 
45 forward is because they prejudice the outcome of this casco They will 
46 prejudice your opinion even though. you know, we wanted to be there and 
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po: 

we asked to be there. They wouldn't let us be there. We weren't even 
allowed at Guantanamo. They specifically forbade the defense from 
coming down that way for the first time since we started coming down. 

Mysteriously, all of a sudden that week was off limits. You know what that 
week was. that's the week that they did the CSRT panels for the four 
defendants before a Commission. That's fair, that should be in front of you. 
What happened to a proceeding like that? And Mr. Hicks asked to talk to 
his lawyers. No, no protection against self-incrimination, no protection or 
attorney/client privileges. Neither an attorney, a representative of the 
adversary, of the military to come in and state his case. It's preposterous. 

Okay. What do you want to say? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): It is --

PO: No, that's enough. What do you want to say? 

19 P (LtCol_ Well. first we think that the defense has raised the issue that there's 
20 not been some process. The defense has specifically raised that his status is 
2 I in question as an unlawful enemy combatant, which is a separate question 
22 of whether he's guilty of crimes triable by a military commission. when, in 
23 fact, there have been processes, and this is one of them. 
24 
25 
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PO: 

Now. the issue is that a process has occurred and it was found that he is an 
unlawful enemy combatant. If we could stipulate to that, then maybe you 
don't need to see the documents. But the fact is that the process has 
occurred and/or has taken place. And just to address the issue of counsel, 
administrative process--

Okay. Thank you. Okay. But, Mr. Dratel, you and Colonel_are 
good to go. If you want to stipulate that there was, in fact -- whatever. I 
don't care about what the rights are right now. Yesterday one of you all said 
that he hadn't had a status review. Someone said that. If you want to 
stipulate that there was, in fact, a CSRT and that he was found to be 
whatever it is, that is fine. And we won't look at it. So you all can talk after 
this session is over. 

Okay. You all deal with that. Now, go on, I'm sorry. 

CM (Col_ Okay. Major Lippert, I have just one more question. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col_ I didn't think that would cause that -- this one I think is much simpler. 
In your motion you said that habeas corpus is pending in federal court? 
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2 ADC (Maj Lippert): Yes, sir. 
3 
4 CM (Col_ When do we think that is going to happen? 
5 
6 DC (Mr. Dratel): Right now, and again, the disingenuousness of the government's 
7 argument is somewhat breathtaking. And I will say -- and I say that 
8 carefully considered because the government has moved in the federal court 
9 to dismiss the habeas petition saying that Mr. Hicks has no rights and no 

10 basis for the habeas petition; not withstanding the decision in Ra.l'ui. and not 
II withstanding the decision here that he is getting all he needs in habeas 
12 petition, they're moving to dismiss it, saying you have no right to bring it. 
13 
14 It is now pending -- Mr. Hicks filed -- we filed our response to the motion 
15 to dismiss yesterday and a motion for summary judgment. We do not know 
16 when it will be heard by the court. We just don't know. It would be 
17 impossible for me to say for a federal judge when they want to hear it. 
18 
19 CM(Col_Thanks. 
20 
21 CM (Col_ When Mr. Hicks was transferred to Guantanamo Bay, what. in your 
22 opinion, was his status. defense? What was he? 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
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44 

DC (Maj Mori): From what was -- we -- from what I can understand, from publicly 
released documents and sources, from his position a public statement was 
that he was supposedly an enemy combatant captured in Afghanistan. 

CM (Col_ Okay. That wasn't quite my question. What would you. the defense, 
have considered his status at that time? 

PO: Okay. Before he got on the plane, he was in Afghanistan. We can all agree 
on that; right? Rightry 

DC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

PO: Thank you. And then he got on a plane; right? And then he was here: 
right? 

DC (Maj Mori): Actually there was a boat in between. 

PO: ~ got on a plane. Okay. In Afghanistan. I believe what Colonel 
_is asking you is what do you think his status was there, before he 
got on the plane? 

45 DC (Maj Mori): I would basically say first. there needed to be an Article 5 tribunal to 
46 determine his status. Are you asking what the defense's position is at this 
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point on what we believe his status is under the Geneva Convention? You 
2 want us to -- I think --
3 
4 CM(Col_Yes. 
5 
6 DC (Maj Mori): Yes. I would say at this point, sir. 
7 
8 CM (Col_ The reason for my question is you're implying that somehow his rights 
9 were violated throughout this whole period. Tell me what you think his 

10 status was so we can determine what rights and from what body oflaw 
11 those rights evolved. 
12 
13 DC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. I will argue this way, sir: Without actually -- I will argue from 
14 both positions. Ifhe was a prisoner of war governed, protected by the Third 
15 Geneva Convention, then he could be detained during the international 
16 armed conflict. At that the close ofthat international armed contlict, he 
17 should have been repatriated or prosecuted ifhe committed a law of war 
18 violation. 
19 
20 CM (Col_ Okay. 
21 
22 DC (Maj Mori): So that is one. Ifhe's a civilian governed under the Fourth Geneva 
23 Convention, which includes civilians who such -- who are suspected of or 
24 engage in activities hostile to the security of the other state, that is detain 
25 them. They must be, they can be detained, but they need to be provided--
26 treated humanely, and in the case of trials, should not be deprived of the 
27 rights of regular, fair, trial prescribed at a present convention. 
28 
29 And they must receive the full privileges and rights under the Fourth 
30 Geneva Convention as soon as -- an earliest date consistent with the 
31 security of the state. And if you read that, the commentary, it's basically 
32 interpreting that the security of the state cannot conceive or be put forth for 
33 a reason of depriving such persons of their benefit of other provisions. 
34 Such as, they are being treated -- they need to be treated humanely or their 
35 right to pending proceedings before a Commission in the sense that they 
36 need to -- it needs to occur. 
37 
38 There is no right to detain. If you detain a civilian suspected of committing 
39 a hostile act, they need to be tried or they can be, in turn, within the country 
40 of the conflict. Under the Geneva Convention, you cannot remove 
41 civilians, individuals that are not thought to have prisoner of war status 
42 from the country. To do so, as is listed in the -- let's cite it correctly. To do 
43 so, to release -- sir, I just want to make sure I say -- quote it correctly for 
44 you. Just one moment, sir. 
45 
46 To the transfer, directly or indirectly, by the occupying power, its own 



I civilian population into a territory it occupies, or the deportation or transfer 
2 of all or parts of the population within an area or territory is a war crime. 
3 So an individual who falls under the Fourth Geneva Convention should not 
4 have been removed trom the territory. The only people that can be removed 
S from a territory without it being a war crime are people that are held in 
6 prisoner of war status. 
7 
8 CM (Col_ Would you say that -- did the beginning of that say the occupying 
9 power? 

10 
II DC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 
12 
13 
14 
15 

po: To accept your view then, we're going to have to find as a fact that Mr. 
Hicks took no active part in the hostilities; right? 

16 DC (Maj Mori): No, sir. No, sir, because the Fourth Geneva Convention allows people 
17 who would be in a protected status, civilians, the Fourth Geneva 
18 Convention says right there in Article S --
19 
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po: Well, I'm looking at 3, sunshine. 

DC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir, Article 3. 

po: Yes, 3-1. It reads persons taking no active part in hostilities; okay? These 
conventions are written to protect people: okay? What are the four 
conventions, Major Mori? 

DC (Maj Mori): One, two, and three, four. Shipwrecked, sea, prisoner of war, and 
civilians. 

PO: Okay. And so what this convention says is if he's a civilian, then this would 
protect him; right? 

DC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. Who is it defined as not being a civilian there in Article 3-1? It says 
persons taking no active patt in hostilities. 

DC (Maj Mori): Sir--

PO: Go on. I am listening. 

DC (Maj Mori): Can I --

PO: Yes, sure you can. 
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DC (Maj Mori): You just hit on our exact point. 

po: Right. 

DC (Maj Mori): Common Article 3 -- that is common Article 3, meaning that is identical 
in each of the Geneva Conventions -- common Article 3 applies to conflicts 
of a non-international character. 

po: Common Article 3 tells you when the Geneva Conventions apply: right? 

DC (Maj Mori): No, sir. 

po: It doesn't? 

DC (Maj Mori): No, sir. 

po: That is amazing. 

19 DC (Maj Mori): It talks about -- sir, what I am saying is that is talking about the following 
20 provisions. This talks about who it protects, persons taking no active part in 
21 hostilities. 
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po: Okay. So this doesn't -- if Mr. Hicks was a civilian and he took active part 
in hostilities, it wouldn't protect him; right0 

DC (Maj Mori): You would tum to Article 5, which would talk--

po: It wouldn't protect him. Go on. Go on. 

DC (Maj Mori): You would turn to Article 5 --

po: Yes, okay. 

DC (Maj Mori): And Article 5 is the degradation section. 

po: Mm-hmm. 

DC (Maj Mori): It says within a territory, a party to the conflict, the latter assessed by the 
individual protected person, is definitely suspected --

po: Hey, wait a second. He is not a protected person if you read Article -- okay. 
I want you to go back and read Article 3 and 5 together. Okay. We are not 
going to exchange meaning of it. 

DC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. I understand what you're saying, sir. 

239 



I 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
\I 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 

po: Yes, that is a good idea. I took Colonel_-- I apologize for taking 
your place. 

DC (Maj Mori): Again, sir, it doesn't allow you to be completely stripped of it. They can 
degrade from protections, but what it specifically says it cannot degrade 
from is treating them humanely in the case of trial providing them the full 
rights offair and regular trial. Also, the war crime is removing civilian 
population from the territory. 

So if you are a part of that civilian population, Geneva Convention 3 allows 
you to remove prisoners of war outside of the territory. The other 
conventions don't allow it for the civilian population, even ifthey are 
suspected of committing an offense. They can be tried. 

CM (Col_ Now we're back to the original question. 

po: Well, ask him. 

19 CM (Col_ So as he steps on to the airplane to come to Guantanamo Bay. it is 
20 your contention that his status is as a, and you till in the blank. 
21 
22 DC (Maj Mori): Honestly, at this point, sir. I think at this point that is a situation that's an 
23 entire issue that will be litigated as part of --
24 
25 CM (Col_ You have just made my point. Why are we arguing this motion now 
26 then, if you cannot answer that question? 
27 
28 DC (Maj Mori): Because under either -- because under either category --
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eM (Col_ Okay. I won't. 

DC (Maj Mori): No, no, no. 

CM (Col_ I withdraw my question. 

po: He's withdrawn it. He has withdrawn it. 

DC (Maj Mori): Because he's under either category it'd be a violation. sir. 

po: Okay. I didn't ask. On 17 and 3, any side going to put in findings? Yes, 
no, I don't care. 

ADC (Maj Lippert): No, sir. 

P (LtCol_ No. sir. 
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PO: How about on 4 and 7? 
2 
3 ADC (Maj Lippert): No, sir. 
4 
5 P (LtCol_ No, sir. 
6 
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po: Okay. What you got next? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): D 19. 

PO: Okay. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Equal protection. 

P (LtCol_ First, if I could just note, sir, we did provide copies to the defense and 
had marked as exhibits our proposed essential findings regarding --

PO: The ones this morning. 

20 P (LtCol_ Regarding terrorism, yes, sir. Just give me a second, I will find this. 
21 
22 
23 
24 

po: That's the question I just asked you and you said you weren't going to give 
them me. 

25 P (LtCol_ I thought we were talking about the ones we were talking about 
26 today. We gave you D 9 and D 20. sir. 
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po: Pardon? 

P (LtCol_ l) 11 and D 20. 

PO: Okay. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): I did not hear those numbers. 

P (LtCol_ D 11 and D 20. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): D II and D 20. We were provided those; right? But those have not 
been provided to the panel. 

P (LtCol_ They were provided to the court reporter for insertions. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): The court reporter? 

p (LtCol_ I provided those to the court reporter who, I believe, has taken them 
for the record. 
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2 DC (Mr. Dratel): Right. But th~ Commission does not have them. May I proceed. 
3 Colonelo 
4 
S 
6 

po: Yes. 

7 DC (Mr. Dratel): This is D 19, Mr. Hicks' motion to dismiss because the Commission 
8 violates equal protection clause of the U.S. Constitution and various 
9 statutory and international provisions. Finally, we get to the point where 

10 Rasu! is actually r~levant. 
11 
12 The government cited Rasu! for everything. hut, in fact. it does not 
13 authorize these Commissions. It does not endorse this Commission. It says 
14 nothing about this Commission. Here is the first sentence from Rasu!. 
IS Again. Mr. Hicks is a plaintiff in Ra.wl. The Supreme Court decision. 
16 
17 The first sentence: these two cases present the narrow but important 
18 question whether the United States courts lack jurisdiction to consider 
19 challenges to the legality of the detention of foreign nationals captured 
20 abroad in connection with hostilities and incarcerated at the Guantanamo 
21 Bay Naval Base, Cuba. period. That's what they decided. and they decided 
22 in Mr. Hicks' favor. We didn't reach any issues. but th~ prosecution has 
23 alleged in motion after motion -- it does not address. there's no discussion 
24 here of commissions. There's no discussion here oflaw of war. 
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There's no discussion here of any of those offenses. What it does say. 
though, is that he has a right, because he is within territory controlled by the 
United States, he has a right to invoke constitutional protections. And all of 
the cases the government cites in the equal protection brief, which ironically 
excludes Ra.wl entirely, their papers on equal protection. 

They don't want to talk about that. They want to talk Eisen/rager, which 
Rasul expressly supersedes in the opinion. They want to talk about 
Verdugo-Urquidez. which is a case that occurs outside U.S. jurisdiction, in a 
completely foreign territory without U.S. jurisdiction. What Rasul decided 
was that, in fact, we are in U.S. jurisdiction. So equal protection applies. 
All the Constitutional provisions apply, but in this motion it's equal 
protection. 

Let's go back to yesterday. Again, to me an irony is that the government 
opposed the motion with respect to Australia and the United Kingdom and 
the negotiations that arc ongoing as -- they opposed it because they said it is 
a political question. And the irony there is that this entire system has been 
made a completely political question by the government. 

The distinction in the Commission order -- in the President's Military Order 
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between citizen and noncitizen is a -- is one that creates a distinction that 
cannot survive equal protection scrutiny. The distinction that the 
government has made between citizens of one nation and citizens of another 
nation with respect to detainees here in Guantanamo. It can not survive 
equal protection distinction, the scrutiny. 

It also violates, as we talked about yesterday in 816 -- or rather 836, that the 
requirements that Commission Law be applied uniformly. When the 
government seeks to punish and impose criminal sanctions, it cannot 
distinguish between aliens and citizens. Now, I am going to cite a case 
from 1896, Wong Wing, but that's not all there is. There's an unbroken line 
all the way through 2003 in the Zadvydas v. Davis case in the Supreme 
Court. It is a completely active doctrine. 

You cannot distinguish between the citizen and the noncitizen when it 
comes to penal or criminal sanctions and that is what this Commission is 
constituted to determine with respect to Mr. Hicks. And yet -citizens are not 
available; and rather citizens are not accountable to the Commission. You 
have John Walker Lindh, you have Yasser Hamdi, U.S. Citizens. Were 
they tried by commission? No. One was prosecuted in federal court, 
received all ofthe protections that the Constitution imposes and provides to 
defendants. The other, Yasser Hamdi, won another case in the Supreme 
Court where the government, again. and the government decided that he 
couldn't have any rights, and the Supreme Court said, no. He has his 
constitutional rights. And the government. rather than giving Mr. Hamdi 
due process and his day in court, sent him to Saudi Arabia. That was their 
solution. David Hicks, is distinguished by what? Because he's an 
Austral ian? That does not survive equal protection analysis. 

The nation versus nation. Forty Saudis were released last week. Why? 
Because their government negotiated with the United States in some fashion 
to gain a release. Thirty-five Pakistanis last month. Why? Because their 
government negotiated. Britains are not charged here, because their 
government refuses to permit it under these Commission conditions. It is 
simply not fair. It is not a full and fair proceeding. And I don't think that it 
is a mystery as to why there are no Britains among those charged. 

That cannot withstand equal protection analysis. Fortuity of citizenship, it 
does not determine who is prosecuted and who gets sent somewhere else. It 
does not determine who gets bargained for and who gets prosecuted, whose 
life is at stake, and who gets set free. 

The government has turned this whole process into a political lottery 
starting with citizenship and then on a nation-by-natioll basis rather than a 
system of justice, and that cannot withstand equal protection analysis. 
Thank you. 
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PO: Colonel_ 

4 CM (Col_ I'm going to finish writing this down first. I don't have anything. 
5 
6 P (LtCol_ Sir, first, we would like to clarifY for the record about something the 
7 defense has pointed out. something to clarify this -- there was a decision, 
8 Hamdi v. Rumsfeld. I believe I misspoke and talked about Rasul v. Bush 
9 and was confusing that with the Hamdi v. Rumsfeld. They both came out 

10 about the same time. Hamdi v. Rums/eld is where our Justice O'Connor 
II stated that Quirin continues to be vital law, and that unlawful enemy 
12 combatants may be captured, detained, and tried. So I'd appreciate the 
13 opportunity to correct that. 
14 
15 Equal protection clause. The President of the United States may well have 
16 good and valid reasons for treating U.S. citizens differently from non-U.S. 
17 citizens. We don't need to go there, we do not need to get into that because 
18 there is Supreme Court case law that says that the 5th Amendment does not 
19 apply. The 5th Amendment protections do not apply to non-resident aliens, 
20 and those are the two cases mentioned by the defense. 
21 
22 Rasul v. Bush, if you look at it and read it, all it says, it acknowledges those 
23 two cases. If they wanted to overturn it, they would have said we overturn 
24 that case law; instead they said, we acknowledge that case law. and all we're 
25 saying -- the issue here is whether there is a statutory right. In other words. 
26 a statute that creates a right for the accused to get access to a federal COUlt 

27 for habeas corpus. That is under a statue. And they say we don't tind that 
28 Eisentrager and Verdugo do anything that can say that we cannot apply this 
29 statue. 
30 
3 I You can read through that case and you can find that nowhere does it 
32 overrule those two cases or does it say that the petitioners have 5th 
33 Amendment rights now, because that would be something new, very new. 
34 Thank you. 
35 
36 OC (Mr. Oratel): Again, the two cases have to do with people not under United States 
37 control outside the jurisdiction of the United States courts. The 5th 
38 Amendment does not apply to aliens outside the jurisdiction of the United 
39 States. Rasui resolves that in this case, Mr. Hicks was the named plaintiff. 
40 The courts have jurisdiction, the United States has jurisdiction here. Here is 
41 what the court said in the footnote, footnote 15 in Ra.wl. ''Petitioners 
42 allegations, that although they have engaged neither in combat, nor in acts 
43 of terrorism against the United States, they have been held in executive 
44 detention for more than two years in territories subject to the long-term 
45 exclusive jurisdiction and control ofthe United States without access to 
46 counsel and without being charged with any wrongdoing, unquestionably 
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PO: 

described custody in violation of the Constitution or laws or treaties of the 
United States". 

Courts have jurisdiction, equal protection applies, Eisentrager specifically 
distinguished in this case because it was outside the jurisdiction. 
Verdugo-UrqUidez. not even applicable. Not even necessary because it, on 
its own terms, talks about outside the United States. Wbat you have -- what 
applies is equal protection analysis with the imposition of penal sanctions. 
Something that is very clear, unbroken, and unchallenged in this case by the 
prosecution. We cannot makc a distinction, the distinction has been made. 
it is invalid, the Commission is invalid, the charges must be dismissed. 
Thank you. 

Colonel_ Okay. Findings, either side? 

DC (Mr. Orate!): No. 

P (LtCol_ No, sir. 

PO: We'll issue a decision in due course. Okay. Who's doing 0 8'1 

DC (Mr. Orate!): 0 8, I am. D 8. 

PO: Okay. Is that what we are doing next? 

26 DC (Mr. Dratel): Well, we will do four together. Eight, 18,21, and 22. And that's 
27 tundamental rights. 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 

PO: Okay. StaffSergeant_[sic], you want a break? 

Before we start four, we're going to do it. 

DC (Mr. Orate!): Yes, sir. 

PO: Ifi! was just one we would go. Court's in recess for 20 minutes. 

The Commission !leuring recessed at 1417. 2 Novemher 2004. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1429, 2 Novemher 2004. 

PO: Be seated. The Commission will come to order. Let the record rellect we 
have got a new prosecutor. Commande~s back with us. And we 
have a new court reporter. 

45 P (LtCo!_ Sergeant_is back on the record, sir. 
46 
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PO: Okay. During the last recess we had an MCI 8-5 conference and both sides 
semi agreed -- enough for the purposes ofthis Commission -- that what we 
are going to do is hear all the motions up through BOP and we will do BOP 
and the Commission will take conclusive notice tomorrow starting at 1300 
assuming we finish these things up tonight. lfwe don't it'll be looked at. [s 
that right? 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Yes, sir. 

P (LtCol_: Sir, before we get started, we have something we would like to 
address, if we may. 

PO: Okay. 

17 P (LtCol_ We had a chance to review this footnote 15 and we would like to 
18 address that since we have had a chance to look at it and review it. We 
19 believe that the defense has misconstrued it and over relied upon it. 
20 
21 
22 

po: Don't you think we could -- can we read it? 

23 P (LtCol_: Yes, sir. Wejllst ask that YOll pay attention to what it does say and 
24 does not say. 
25 
26 
27 

PO: Thank you. We'll read it. 

28 CM (Col_ Where is it? 
29 
30 P (LtCol_ Sir, it is footnote 15 of the case Rasu/ v. Blish. Give me second and 
31 I'll find where it is. 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

PO: That's fine. 

CM (Col_ Okay. 

PO: So now we are going to hear eight, 18, 21, and 22; right? 

DC (Mr. Drate)): Yes, sir. 

PO: Start up. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): The reason we put them together, and these are -- D 8 is fundamental 
rights -- that the Commission denies fundamental rights; D 22 is the 
structural defects in the Commission. D 21, that it fails to provide a full and 
fair proceeding and the President's Military Order -- I may have 
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misnumbered one of them. 

No. That's 0 19 is the President's -- I'm sorry. that's equal protection. 0--

po: Eight is the fundamental rights. You are good. 

DC (Mr. Oratel): Eighteen is the President's military order is invalid. So those four are 
bundled together because in many ways they touch upon the same subject 
matter and they do overlap considerably and it is more etticient to treat 
them all together. 

With respect to the issue of tim dam ental rights, full and fair proceedings, 
and the structure of the Commission, there is one question that is pel1inent, 
which is: What is wrong with the court-martial system described by the 
UCMJ? Why the need to return to an archaic and discredited system 
abandoned 50 years ago? 

The law is an evolving process and the evolution of military law in the 
United States from the enactment of the UCMJ in 1950 through profound 
changes through the '60s, particularly 1968 in the terms of tbe composition 
ofa panel, has resulted each time in making the system lair. more likely to 
produce ajust result. Less likely to produce an inaccurate or arbitrary or 
unjust result. Yet that is what the government did not want in this case. 

What's wrong with the court-martial system? I submit that the government 
felt it was too full and too fair and it is really in the government's own 
statements -- not the prosecution here but there is a December 28 200 I 
memorandum from the ottice of legal counsel to the department of justice. 
John Yoo is the author. Y-O-O. And it is a short memorandum which 
explains essentially that Guantanamo Bay is an appropriate place to put 
detainees because they are beyond the reach of any court. Beyond the reach 
of law. It was wrong. 

The analysis was rejected by the Supreme Court in Ra.~ul. but at the time it 
was done, that was the analysis. So I ask the question: Why the need to put 
Mr. Hicks beyond the reach of any COUlt, beyond the reach of any law? Is it 
so that the process can be full and fair? Is it so that the process can afford 
him the timdamental rights to which he is entitled? Is it so that you can 
have a process that is structurally sound? 

The questions answer themselves. And Hamdi. by the way, was a case that 
the Commission should read because it does not go to the lengths that the 
government suggests. What it says is that Mr. Hamdi, detained as an enemy 
combatant, had a right to contest that in court. Just the fact of his detention. 
It does not talk about military commissions in the way that -- it talks about 
enemy combatant status determinations. and the court is split on that issue. 
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There are justices who were part of the majority and very clearly would 
have afforded -- I think it is very clear from there that they would have 
afforded Article 5 protection to Mr. Hamdi, but that wasn't an issue they had 
to reach. That was a side issue. One issue was, was he entitled to challenge 
in the courts his detention? 

The Court said yes. That is the fundamental question in Hallldi. It does not 
vindicate these Commissions in the slightest. 

Let's look at the Commissions here. Are they full? Last time we were here 
we had five members. Now we have three. We don't have an alternate. 
Just that on its face is not -- that's not the totality of fullness but it is a 
striking example of how this isn't full. General court-martial, five. Here, 
now we are down to three -- and something that I did not mention yesterday 
as part ofD 37 which I realize is denied but -- has been denied -- but this 
goes to this motion as well, is that the Korean War commissions had two 
types of commissions. They were regular and special, and those for which 
the defendant was exposed to more than a year of confinement, minimum of 
five. 

Why? Because of the UCMJ. The lack of rules and protections here is 
striking. There are no rules of evidence. There are no rules to protect 
against hearsay. There are no rules to protect against the way evidence is 
obtained. You will be working on a clean slate. Really for lack of rules and 
protections. Access to evidence. Not only with respect to rules but also 
with respect to keeping the defendant incommunicado, without counsel. 
without contact with the outside world for over two years and then 
expecting him to make up that time so he can prepare and present a defense 
to the charges. Not tolerable in any court. Intolerable in any system of 
justice with respect to fundamental rights. Presumption of innocence. It 
exists on paper but it doesn't exist in practice. It has been so thoroughly 
impaired in the -- you can characterize as unfair command influence from 
the President, from the Secretary of State. to the Under Secretary -- I mean, 
Secretary of Defense. Under Secretary of Defense. over and over again. 
Commenting on the status of Mr. Hicks generally, specifically. 

Access to counsel. again, not only with respect to preparing a defense but 
also detain a defendant. subject him to conditions. denying him counsel. 
exhaust whatever information you can from him by whatever means 
necessary, deny him a lawyer, deny him everything in terms of contact with 
the outside world during that entire period. then two and a half years later 
when you have decided that you have exhausted it, now he can have a 
lawyer and we are going to introduce his statements against him. That is 
not fundamental rights. The right to be present at proceedings. The right to 
confront evidence. The Commission proceedings permit that to be violated 
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as well. They permit even counsel to be excluded. Civilian defense counsel 
to be excluded. 

With respect to structural defects -- and I didn't think that I would go back 
into this. but I think I must. just in light of the experiment that we are 
proceeding with here -- it is -- I think [ have to conclude my opinion. it is 
going to be impossible to funnel the necessary legal training and legal 
knowledge sufticient to give you the tools you need decide to these issues. 
[ feel it is just an extraordinarily uphill battle to communicate some of these 
concepts that underlie so many of the issues that we are talking about here. 

You first have to convince the Commission that they apply and then to 
apply them to specific issues that we are approaching here and to the extent 
we are still wrestling over them. I think is a significant problem. And I 
think it undermines the structural integrity ofthe Commission process. It is 
not an individual problem. It is a systemic problem. 

What is wrong with the UCMJ? What is wrong with the court-martial 
system~ What is wrong with the system that we think is okay to try 
ourselves but we don't want to use it to try someone else? An Australian. 
He is not good enough to have rights. Maybe it just is too fair and too full 
to give the rights that we give everyone else. No one in this room would 
want to be in the position that Mr. Hicks is in. in front of a Commission in a 
system that we have here. I can say that with confidence because I just 
know it. And everyone would be up in arms if they were subjected to a 
system like this. 

Now, this Commission is an attempt to borrow facets that help the 
prosecution and dispense with those that don't. That is not a system. That 
is a stacked deck. Why not take the system in its entirety? It was a whole 
system. That's the way it was designed. It was not designed to be 
cannibalized in specific situations so that it could achieve a result before we 
ever got to the finding of any fact so that it could vindicate a political 
program to say that these are terrorists. These are people who are guilty 
from the top down. The words full and fair appear in the President's order 
but they are just words and it's on a piece of paper. 

The system that has been devised is not and it is the military justice version 
of the emperor's new clothes. This system does not have clothes. It is my 
obligation to bring that to your attention but it is also your duty to find it. It 
is your duty to second guess even the President's Military Order which, as 
we layout in our papers. is not authorized by Congress in contrast with 
prior military commissions. You go back to Quirin, Yamashita, you go all 
the way back you will find in all those instances -- and we appended the 
materials so I won't go into them -- but you will find congressional 
authorization. Here. it is absent. The authority to use military force is just 

249 



I 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
\I 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

PO: 

AP(L 

PO: 

AP (L 

that. The authority to use military force, not an authority to hold a 
commission and to try people. 

The government -- the prosecution has cited time and again an attorney 
general's opinion from 1865. If the attorney general today issued an 
opinion, it would have no value before this Commission. The attorney 
general's opinion has no authority whatsoever. It is an opinion of a law 
enforcement officer with a vested interest in prosecution. What value does 
it have for you to decide whether something is full and fair and conforms 
with law as it exists? That is not a statement of the law. 

We go all the way back to 1795. We go back and -- when they go back that 
way. I go back too. And I go back to things that have been. for this country, 
a stain on our honor. I go back to slavery, Natiw Americans, I go back to 
Koremalsu and the internment of Japanese and I say they were very 
carefully, very carefully orchestrated legal rationales that validated all of 
those. They were not unlawful at the time that they occurred. But they 
were wrong, just as this is wrong and unlawful. 

This time, let's be ahead of the curve on this and not deprive people oftheir 
liberty. deprive them oftheir rights. deprive them of a fair system, deprive 
us of our honor and reputation in the international community. Let's stop it 
now. And what's at stake is not just military justice. It is not just the 
treatment of U.S. soldiers abroad, which is very much at stake here when 
you talk about reciprocity and symmetry of how law is applied. The law of 
war, military commissions and all oftha!. 

But there is also a human being at stake. David Hicks. He is not a 
scapegoat and he is not an example. He is a human being entitled to the 
application ofthe rule of law in a country that calls itself a country of laws, 
not of men, and I submit that it is the duty of the Commission which has the 
power. The Commission has the authority and, I submit, the duty to apply 
the law to Mr. Hicks and dismiss the charges. Thank you. 

What are you going to address here, Colonel __ 

I am going to address all four of those arguments. 

Okay. 

Gentlemen, what is remarkable about the argument you just heard 
IIIC'~~'U, all four briefs in support of those arguments from the defense is 

that you don't see one clear reference in Mr. Oratel's argument or in those 
briefs to Commission Law. You don't see a single reference. He didn't 
mention clearly Commission Law one time in the course of his argument, 
even to criticize it. Even to hold up a rule, turn its various facets for the 
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Commission and talk about it. The defense has great difficulty on these 
four motions keeping its eye on the ball. They talk about court-martial 
rules, they talk about intemationallaw. They talk about the -- or cite to the 
European court for human rights. They even talk about international 
military tribunals from the Korean War. But not once do they talk about 
Commission Law. 

Mr. Orate I says the question that you have to ask is: What is wrong with 
the court-martial system? No. That is not the question that you are called 
upon to ask. You are called upon to apply the rules of Com mission Law to 
ensure that this accused in this case gets a full and fair trial. The accused 
doesn't get to pick the forum in which he is tried. But in this case, the 
accused gets a forum that the President, Congress and the Supreme Court 
have all said repeatedly is the appropriate forum for the trial of unlawful 
combatants for the violation of the law of war. 

Reminds me of my daughter who was recently invited to the senior dance. 
She wasn't invited by the boy that she wanted to be invited by and so she 
went along to the dance but the whole night she didn't have a good time 
because she was always looking at the other guy that she wished had invited 
her to the dance. That is the defense in this case. They are not paying 
attention to Commission Law. And that's what has to be applied in this 
case. The grass is always greener on the other side of the fence. 

But if they were to look at Commission Law, gentlemen, what they would 
find is that with respect to each fundamental right that they drew your 
attention to here in this argument and in their briefs, Commission Law gives 
the accused equal or greater protection than the sources of law to which 
they point. In that sense, all of those other sources of law that they citcd for 
analogy and other purposes are irrelevant. But aside from being irrelevant, 
gentlemen, because Commission Law gives them everything that they need 
in terms of protecting this accused's rights, aside Irom being irrelevant, it's 
inapplicable. In his argument on speedy trial, Major Lippert made the 
amazing statement, "It doesn't matter what law applies". Do you remember 
him saying that? He said, "It doesn't matter what law applies", because all 
ofthese different sources have standards thaI are similar on the subject of 
speedy trial. 

Gentlemen, it does matter what law applies. Whenever the government or 
the defense comes before this Commission, and asks you to apply a 
standard outside of Commission Law, obviously you are aware you have to 
ask: How does this apply? Does it even apply in this Commission? 

Defense has submitted extensive affidavits from law professors and they 
have brought up numerous references here in these briefs and this argument 
the various sources of international law. From listening to the Commission 
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this morning, it is apparent to me that you all do have a template in your 
minds about analyzing this question of when various sources of 
international law apply. If it is a treaty, you are going to first -- the lirst part 
of the template is: Is this a treaty law or is it derived from customary 
international law? But ifit is a treaty, the tirst question is: Has it been 
ratilied? Has it been signed and ratified? Because if it hasn't, it doesn't 
apply here. It doesn't bind the U. S. in any sense. But the second question 
you are going to always have to look at is, Okay, assuming it is ratified, 
assuming it is a binding treaty on the United States, what does the treaty 
itself say about the limitations on its application? 

Earlier this afternoon we had a colloquy about the question of Geneva 
Convention IV pertaining to civilians, and the question there was: Who 
does it apply to, right? On the second question, you look to the convention 
or the treaty itselfto see where does it apply. In Common Article 2 -- it's 
called "Common" because it is the same Article in all four conventions -- it 
talks about international armed conflicts. Common Article 3 of all four 
conventions says these that conventions -- the provisions of that particular 
Article -- apply only in the case of conflicts of non-international character. 
Common Article 3 is a separate, small body of law within all the 
conventions. But those are some examples of jurisdictional limitations in 
the treaty itself about how it applies, whether it applies to the type of armed 
contlict in this case or whether it doesn't. Article 4 of Geneva Convention 
IV pertaining to civilians talks about who the convention applies to and 
defines those persons to whom the convention applies, just as Geneva 
Convention pertaining to prisoners of war as in Article 4 which delines who 
qualifies for the protections under that convention. 

So as you can see, gentlemen, the second part ofthat template, look to the 
convention itself. The third part is: Is there something in U. S. law which 
would prevent this Commission from applying the source of international 
law here in these proceedings? And that's where we get this 
sometimes-complicated question of self-executing treaties. 

What that simply means is, if a treaty is self-executing, aU. S. court can 
look directly to the treaty, take provisions from that treaty and apply it in 
court. Ifit is not self-executing, a U. S. court and this Commission can't do 
that. Okay? You are not allowed to look to the treaty itselt~ pull a piece out 
and apply it here ifit is not a self-executing treaty. Instead you have to wait 
upon, you have to depend upon implementing legislation. executive orders 
and regulations to make those provisions of those nonself-executing treaties 
applicable in this proceeding. 

So in this set of arguments the defense relies repeatedly on two principle 
sources on international law: The International Covenant on Civil and 
Political Rights, the ICCPR, and also Protocol I to the Geneva 

252 



I 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
IS 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

Conventions. The lCCPR is a treaty. It is a treaty that the U. S. has signed 
and ratified, so it might apply here; correct? 

But this treaty does not apply to this set of issues nor to any issues that will 
arise in the course of these proceedings because the ICCPR is not 
self-executing. How do we know that? In our brief we cite the Supreme 
Court's case of Sosa v. Martinez where the Supreme Court said that the 
ICCPR is not self-executing and they declined to apply it in that casco But 
if you look at the convention itself. the covenant itse1t~ in Article 2 it says 
that each state party to the present covenant commits to adopt such 
legislative or other measures as may be necessary to give effect to the rights 
recognized in the present covenant. So on its face the ICCPR doesn't apply. 
It is not supposed to be self-executing. There is no implementing 
legislation except Commission Law. You look to Commission Law 
because the President has interposed that layer of law between our 
international obligations toward other states and what this Commission will 
do in this court oflaw. The second source that the defense looks to is 
Protocol J. Protocol I and particularly Article 75. Does Protocol I to the 
Geneva Conventions apply in these proceedings? 

Well, the United States has not signed and ratified Protocol I, dated 1977. 
To this date it has not been ratified. We are not a state party to that 
convention so it does not apply as a treaty. 

Nonetheless, the United States generally recognizes that the provisions of 
Article 75 have gained the status of customary international law. They arc 
reflective of customary international law. And so the next question is: Is 
there something in U. S. law that prevents the application directly of 
Protocol I to this Commission? The question of whether customary 
international law -- and that is a critical point that will rise again and again 
throughout these proceedings -- the question of whether customary 
international law should be applied by this Commission and these 
proceedings has been addressed by numerous courts, and generally the 
courts have found that customary international law is not self-executing. It 
is not automatically incorporated and adopted by courts. But there is some 
split of authority on that. However, the best statement of this, the most 
useful and illuminating discussion of how customary international law 
applies is found in a case in the Commission library, 1J. S. v. Yousej; 
decided by the second circuit in 2003. In Part l(bl(ll, in that case, I 
commend that to your reading on the subject because this is foundational to 
your understanding of how we apply international law, but here is their 
summary. Citing to the famous Supreme Court case of Paquete Habana, 
which is the fountainhead for the proposition that customary international 
law is part of U. S, law, they said it has long been established that 
customary international law is part of the law of the United States to the 
limited extent that where there is no treaty and no controlling executive or 
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legislative act or judicial decision, resort must be had to the customs and 
usages of civilized nations. So it is a gap filler. Courts will apply it when 
there is no applicable statute, there is no applicable regulation or executive 
act. 

Gentlemen, for purposes of the procedures and the rights that apply to this 
accused. there is a statute. There is an executive act to which this 
Commission is bound to apply and so this Commission shou Id not look 
beyond that statute, which is Article 36 ofthe UCMJ. Executive act is 
Commission Law in the presence of military order and subsequent rules and 
regulation and orders issued pursuant to that order. That is the body of law 
that governs this Commission. Not customary international law. Now. you 
are probably confused because we spent a lot of time this morning talking 
about customary international law with respect and in relation to the 
definition of offenses. 

There is no inconsistency here. Article 21 and Commission Law invite you 
to look to customary international law for that purpose, for the purpose of 
defining the offenses which are triable by military commission. Because 
Article 21 says that military commissions will have jurisdiction to try 
violations of the law of nations. But Congress did not go on to define and 
provide us a list oflaw of nations and then of course the Military 
Commission Instruction Number 2 states what is declarative of customary 
international law and it says on its face it is not a complete statement. So 
you are invited to look for purposes of defining offenses, but for purposes 
of procedures you have a complete, fully comprehensive set of regulations 
and Commission Law that would govern here. 

Let's turn -- I promise, briefly. Those were foundational matters that I 
wanted to address, in particular, because of the affidavits that were tiled last 
night. But let's turn to the three alleged violations ofthe accused's 
fundamental rights that are asserted by the defense in their brief, and by 
Mr. Orate!' 

Does the accused enjoy a presumption of innocence in this trial? Yes, he 
does. You bet he does. It says it in Commission Law. MCO I (5)(b) says 
the accused shall be presumed innocent until proven guilty and then 5(c) 
goes on and puts that in concrete terms and says if and only if a member is 
convinced beyond a reasonable doubt based on evidence submitted at trial 
that the accused is guilty of that offence, then only in that case will you vote 
for a finding of guilty. This is exactly the same presumption of innocence 
that an American citizen gets in courts-martial, that he gets in state or 
federal court. Exactly the same. 

The accused says he was deprived of this presumption because of certain 
pretrial statements made by the President, the Secretary of Defense, the 
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Vice-President and others. Gentlemen, none of those statements pertain 
particularly to this accused. None of them pertain to Commission 
proceedings. They were offered generally in defense of the policy of 
detention. They have not spoken to this case or the guilt or innocence of 
this accused. And even if these statements were construed that way, 
Commission Law does not leave him without a remedy or without a way of 
protecting his interests in the presumption, because Commission Law gives 
him the opportunity to voir dire this panel and to challenge those who it 
believes were improperly influenced by this pretrial publicity and these 
pretrial statements. 

They exercised those rights and in the course of voir dire you all clearly and 
affirmatively expressed your commitment to the presumption of innocence, 
your understanding of the presumption of innocence and your commitment 
to perform your duty to apply that presumption of innocence and consider 
only evidence in this case throughout these proceedings. 

Secondly, the accused jumps up and down and declares they have been 
denied rights to counsel. They have been denied adequate facilities to 
prepare a defense. Actually, Commission Law provides for generous 
counsel rights forthe accused. MCO I, Paragraph 4(c) states that the 
accused is entitled to a detailed defense counsel, an individual defense 
counsel of his choice and even a civilian defense counsel ifhc is willing to 
pay for him. And sitting here in this Commission and arguing vigorously 
are all three categories of counsel. He has been provided adequate counsel. 
All American-trained practitioners in the law. He has all three. 

This meets or exceeds any requirements for counsel under international law. 
They complained that he wasn't provided these counsel in a timely manner. 
Commission Law says in MCO I, Paragraph 5( d) that defense counsel be 
detailed to the accused sufficiently in advance of trial to prepare a defense. 
In this case that detailing occurred nearly a year ago in November '03. And 
since that time, two additional counsel have been added to the defense. 
How does that stack up against the rights that we find in these other sources 
of law that the defense continually wants you to look to? Under the 
U. S. Constitution, the right to counsel attaches under the Sixth Amendment 
at the time of charging. In this case, the accused was given counsel long 
before he was charged in July of'04. Under the Geneva Conventions, 
counsel has to be appointed to defend the accused at least -- and these are 
for prisoner of war purposes -- at least two weeks before trial under Article 
105 of the GPW. Two weeks. It is clear, gentlemen, that the accused has 
been given the right to counsel in a way that far exceeds what the 
conventions require and meets or exceeds anything the U. S. Constitution or 
U. S. law requires. But again, the defense chooses to disregard Commission 
Law and the rights he has actually had and actually exercised before this 
Commission, and instead looks longingly to various sources of international 
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law that don't apply to this Commission. 

Instead they look to the human rights committee and the UN, applying the 
ICCPR, which made the statement that all persons who are arrested must 
immediately have access to counsel and they said this has been violated in 
this case. 

Gentlemen, this accused was not arrested. It is clear from that statement. 
the context of the ICCPR, the normal police investigations and relation 
between a citizen and their own government. Th is accused was not 
arrested. He was captured on a foreign battlefield. He was interrogated for 
intelligence purposes. The defense claimed that the right to capture -- the 
right to counsel must attach upon capture is not only untrue but it delies 
common sense. Under the delense approach there would be no such thing 
as a battlefield interrogation. When an enemy combatant is captured, 
soldiers would be required to give rights advisements under tire. We would 
have to deploy defense counsel to the far-t1ung regions of the world with 
full battle armor to protect them in order to fulfill this imaginary right that 
Mr. Dratel has created. 

Thirdly, the defense says that the accused is denied his fundamental right 
because he isn't permitted under Commission Law to be present at all 
sessions. but again, he fails to support the rule. cite the rule or discuss it at 
all. Under Commission Law, the default rule is open sessions with presence 
of the accused. Commission Law gives to the Appointing Authority or the 
Presiding Ofticer the authority to determine that it is necessary to close the 
proceedings for the protection of those involved or to protect classified 
national security information, and in some cases the accused may be 
excluded in those circumstances but under no circumstances will the 
accused be unrepresented in court by counsel. 

Please note that these rules make an accommodation there that every system 
makes. Every system has to protect classified information in some manner. 
Commission Law has given guidelines for how that is to occur here. It 
contemplates a procedure, an adversarial procedure in which, when this 
issue arises, defense and government counsel will be heard and some 
measures may be taken to minimize the impact of excluding the accused 
from access to classified information, such as unclassified summaries, 
perhaps another way of presenting the evidence, et cetera. 

And also note that the presence of the accused at trial is not an absolute 
right under any system. Under Commission Law, the accused can be 
removed from trial ifhe is disruptive. That's true in the ICTY, the ICTR. 
federal courts, state court and court-martial. 

The accused can be tried in absentia in many systems if he t1ees justice after 
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arraignment. But even in those circumstances a full and fair trial is 
possible. If you look to Commission Law. which the defense does not want 
to do. the following rights will be found: The right to counsel, which we 
have already discussed, both detailed and civilian counsel. The right to get 
a copy of the charges in his language. Access to evidence that the 
prosecution intends to present in trial. Access to evidence and documents 
and witnesses that they intend to present at trial. Access to exculpatory 
evidence and use of it. The right to obtain witnesses as evidence. The right 
to present evidence at trial. The right to cross-examine witnesses. The right 
to argue facts and law. The presumption of innocence and the prosecution 
has the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt on each element. The 
right to remain silent without an adverse inference. The right to an open 
trial except for closure as necessary. The right to be present except in 
specific circumstances. Protection against double jeopardy. The right to a 
review process et cetera, et cetera, et cetera. 

Instead. he looks to the Korean rules for Korean military commissions 
which were never used and doesn't explain to us why or how those might be 
relevant here. But even if they were, they don't appear to have read them, 
because Rule I of those rules says that these rules shall govern all military 
commissions of the UN command conducting trials of prisoners of war. 
That is, those entitled to the protections of the Geneva Conventions charged 
with post capture offenses. This guy is charged with precapture war crimes. 
So even those rules that they cite to and put in your appendix don't even 
apply to this case had they been read. 

As to the structure and composition of the Military Commission, the 
defense says it is invalid because it doesn't follow any existing military. 
civilian or international model. Again, that is not the relevant question. 
Doesn't have to. The question is: Does it fulfill the President's mandate for 
a full and fair trial? Commission rules clearly permit that. However, the 
Commission is based on existing models. I'm not going to go through a 
historic survey, but if you did, you would find that it is quite typical to have 
three to five panel members, all functioning as judges and fact finders. You 
find that in the thousands of commissions conducted by the U. S. military in 
the Far East and European theater after World War II. It was true ofthe 
intemational military tribunal at Nuremberg. And you also tind many 
similarities between this system and the court-martial system that are 
apparent to you as experienced military officers and I don't need to go into. 

As for any suggestion that the Military Commission is not capable of 
performing its adjudicative function because it doesn't consist of three 
lawyers, I think the high level exchanges that we have had these last couple 
of days should dispel any notion that the law of war is beyond the ken of lay 
jurists. In fact, what is the purpose of the law of war? Its purpose is to be 
applied by military commanders and line officers in the field. That is where 
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it has its principle application. That is who is expected, on a routine basis, 
to understand and apply the law of war. Infantrymen. Military intelligence 
ofticers. Combat pilots are supposed to understand and apply it. That's its 
primary field of application. You don't need law professors in the backseat 
of the cockpit to help make decisions in combat. You don't need law 
professors in the TOC, because the law of war can be read and understood 
as proceedings in this Commission has already made quite clear up to this 
point. 

I want to turn briefly then to the last motion here, 0 18 concerning lack of 
legislative authority or military commission. It is refreshing to hear the 
defense counsel finally acknowledge Ex parte QUirin, III re Yamashita. and 
Johnson v. Eisentrager. 

It is refreshing that they will finally mention -- why didn't they mention any 
of those precedents in their brief? And they didn't. Go back and look. 
They didn't mention any of them in their brief because they are and have 
been in full retreat from those precedents. which remain good law. 

And the reason they have not mentioned them and didn't mention them in 
their brief is because the exact same arguments they make on this point, that 
the President's military order is not well founded in American law, those 
same arguments were advanced in Ex parle Quirin and rejected by the U.S. 
Supreme Court. That's why the defense fails to argue Quirin. That's why 
they don't mention it. 

This question comes down to two simple questions: Has Congress 
authorized the President to establish military commissions to try war 
crimes? The answer is clearly yes in both the Uniform Code and in the 
Authorization}"r U,e of Military Force. And you don't need to speculate 
because the President identifies the authority for his order right at the outset 
of the order itself. 

The second question is: Are the Supreme Court precedents upholding the 
use of military commissions in World War II still good law? Do they apply 
to sUpp0l1 this President's Military Order of November 13,200 I? The 
answer is yes. Those precedents remain good law. Yes, they support the 
President's Military Order. 

As for Quirin, what you didn't hear Mr. Dratel say in the argument here 
today is that case was overruled. Because it never has been overruled. In 
fact. it has been cited approvingly by the Supreme Court continuously since 
it was decided. It is cited in Yamashita. It is cited in Eisentrager. It is 
cited in Madsen v. Kinsella. It is cited in cases through the 60s. '70s. '80s 
and '90s and it is cited in Hamdi v. Rumsfeld where the Supreme Court 
says -- and contrary to what Mr. Dratel says, they weren't talking about 
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Article 5 tribunals because Quirin had nothing to do with Article 5 
tribunals. The Supreme Court cited to Quirin because they meant what they 
said. The capture and detention of lawful combatants and the capture, 
detention and trial of the unlawful combatants by universal agreement and 
practice are important incidents of war, citing to Quirin. 

Commande_referred this morning to the legislative history behind 
Article 21 of the UCMJ. When Article 21 was enacted nearly ten years 
after Quirin was originally decided, both the House and Senate committee 
reports accompanying that legislation cited to Quirin and said, We are 
adopting Article 21 on the basis and understanding of Quirin with the 
expectation that Article 21 would apply in the UCMJ era. that is, today, and 
prospectively on the basis of U. S. v. Quirin. Congress clearly intended for 
Quirin to have continuing validity and vitality. 

So has Congress fluthorized this Commission? Of course they have. Article 
21 and Article 36 clearly do so. The commissions are mentioned in five 
other articles of the UCMJ which have been referred to here. A survey of 
the U. S. Code and many different Titles show this Commission that 
Congress has had a long-standing and continuing intention that 
commissions will be part of American military law. 

For example, the Administrative Procedures Act, mentioned by the defense 
the other day, clearly states in Section 551 that courts-martial and military 
commissions are not agencies for purposes of the Administrative 
Procedures Act. They are not within the scope of the Act. That was in 
1966. In 1975, in defining what an offense meant under Title 18 for 
purposes of pretrial confinement, Congress again made note that those 
offenses would not include any offense triable by military commission, and 
then most recently in the Military Extra-territorial Jurisdiction Act enacted 
in 2000 -- it is a very brief law -- it extends federal court jurisdiction over 
civilians accomp~nying the force overseas. 

The second paragraph, or Paragraph C ofthe MEJA states in language that 
tracks Article 21 almost exactly, that nothing in this Act will deprive 
military commissions of the jurisdiction. Congress, even as recently as 
2000 had in mind the use ofmilitary commissions in context oftrying 
criminals in violation of the law of war. 

One final point about Article 21 and then I am done. The defense says 
Article 21 is not a statutory basis. Article 21 of the UCMJ. It is not a 
statutory basis for military commissions. 

How did it get to that? They say all it does, if you read it, is preserve the 
jurisdiction ofmilitary commissions and that Congress will have to -- and 
fully anticipated having to -- enact special legislation subsequent to Article 
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PO: 

21 to authorize commissions in a given context. That is their interpretation 
of Article 21. 

Sounds plausible, right? Perhaps, but it was rejected specifically, Ex parle 
Quirin. Quirin rejected that interpretation of Article 21 and said that Article 
21 's precursor in the articles of war, which read exactly the same as Article 
21, constitutes sanction and approval for the use of military commissions. 

Gentlemen, what you have is clear authority from the President, the 
Supreme Court and Congress for the use of this Military Commission. 
When all three coordinate branches under our Constitution say a practice is 
well-founded in law, you can be fairly certain that it will withstand any such 
analysis or attack as the defense has attempted to mount against it here 
today. That is the case with respect to the legal authority or legal basis for 
the presence of military authority. Thank you. 

Mr. Orate!. 

DC (Mr. Oratel): Thank you. The notion that the Commission Law affords the rights 
greater or equal to that which Mr. Hicks could receive in other systems is an 
affront to the United States Constitution and the UCMJ. I could take a vote 
with utter confidence in this room that not a single hand would be raised, 
even at the prosecution table, that if they were held for two and a half years 
not on the battlefield but here at Guantanamo Bay without a lawyer. 
interrogated over and over again under conditions designed to and capable 
of breaking anyone, starting in Afghanistan and through here -- two and a 
half years -- but that is what they would get under the UCMJ and the 
Fourth. Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the Constitution. That is ajoke. It 
is laughable. It is an affront to the Constitution and the UCMJ and all of the 
values of this country. 

To hear it is astounding. And they full well know that we are not talking 
about battletield interrogations. They full well know we are not talking 
about a battlefield capture. The government -- and it said in its papers -­
full well knows -- they have said this in their papers in Washington -- full 
well knows Mr. Hicks was not even captured by the United States. He was 
sold; he was turned over by the northern alliance. They haven't the faintest 
idea how he was apprehended. That is a shell game and a sleight of hand. 
We are talking about someone who is in detention for two and a half years 
without a single right being afforded him. He would have to go to the 
Supreme Court to get his rights. 

Hamdi. That quote from Hamdi -- of Quirin. That establishes the validity 
of this Corn mission? That trying enemy combatants is an incident of war? 
That says you can try him under whatever rules you want? No rules at all? 
Rules that violate the Constitution? Rules that violate the UCMJ? Rules 
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PO: 

that violate the rules of the Commission itseW? 

And I don't understand the notion of everything he talked about but 
Commission Law, I mentioned. I didn't go into detail because it is in our 
papers and you have heard it all already and we have been here a long time. 
But I will say it again. Evidentiary rules and lack thereof. Hearsay. 
Coerced evidence, Lack of access to evidence. Where is our access to the 
detainees? Where is our access to the people who were let go who have 
exculpatory information about Mr. Hicks who are now beyond our control. 
beyond our capacity to get here? Do you think they are coming back, 
people who were released here? Do you think they are com in!; back to 
testify lor Mr. Hicks, that there is a chance in the world that we can get 
them here? This is fair, three years later? This is what we get in a court in 
the United States. This is what they get under the UCMJ. How many 
people here want that for themselves? 

You know, presumption of innocence. We lost panel members because of 
that. We are at three instead of five. We would have at least an alternate if 
the atmosphere h3d not been poisoned by those statements by those in 
charge. And now, we have suffered for it. Mr. Hicks has suffered. Not the 
prosecu~use they have poisoned the well-- and we lost Lieutenant 
Colonel_ But that's what he'd get in the civilian sector, right? You 
would just have a jury of eleven. You won't go for a twelfth one who is 
unbiased. You just knock it down until it was real easy to convict. 

Just one more thing I want to say. This is not some kid going to a dance. 
This a guy on trial for his life. That shows how they do not get it. They do 
not understand what we are here for. For a full and fair hearing. Not to 
compare this to a 12-year-old. I know you understand that and I submit that 
for all the reasons in the paper and we have stuff in there on Quirin and 
Yamashita. It is in the attachments to our briefs. Qu ite clear on that. I 
submit, for all those reasons, that these charges need to be dismissed. 
Thank you. 

First of all, is each side going put findings in on eight, eighteen, twenty-one, 
and twenty-two? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): We do not intend to, sir. 

P (LtCol_ No. sir. 

po: We are going to go into recess shortly. I didn't say we are in recess. We are 
going to go into recess shortly for about ten minutes and the counsel are 
going to come up and see the court reporter and they are going tell her 
where she can find the spelling for the names you all have been citing. 
Perhaps next time we do this you all give her the names ahead oftime. 
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I Okay. Court is in recess until -- what the heck -- make it 1600. 
2 
3 The Commission Hearing recessed at J 543. 2 November 2004. 
4 
5 The Commission Hearillg was called to order at 1601, 2 November 2004. 
6 
7 PO: Please be seated. 
8 
9 The Commission will come to order. Let the record reflect that all parties 

10 present when the Commission recessed are once again present. If I didn't 
II say so. I should have. We will give a decision on eight. 18,21, and 22 in 
12 due course. Okay. So now we are up to five and ten, right? 
13 
14 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. And [ am going to start with D 10, sir. 
15 
\6 Sir, very briefly, addressing this motion by the defense is that the 
17 Appointing Authority doesn't have the power to appoint the military 
18 Commission and \ am going to quote from Attorney General James Speed 
19 as well. Not as authoritarian, but just [think he encapsulates the precise 
20 issue. The commander of an army in time of war has the same power to 
2 \ organize military tribunals and execute their judgments he has to send 
22 squadrons in the field and to fight battles. His authority in each case is trom 
23 the laws and usages of war. 
24 
25 That is because the military commission is an exercise of military 
26 jurisdiction to be exercised by military commanders, not civilians. And 
27 Yamashita addressed this specifically and if you look at Yamashita it has a 
28 heading, the authority to create a commission and it talks about, such a 
29 commission may be appointed by any field commander or any commander 
30 competent to appoint a general court-martial, as in that case it was General 
3 \ Stire. That is who has the power, not a DOD civilian employee. We 
32 explained in our paper as well, analogizing the power to appoint a general 
33 court-martial under our system today. Mr. Altenberg does not have the --
34 does not command a unit to wage war. He is not a combatant commander. 
35 He is not a commander who could exercise general court-martial convening 
36 power. He lacks the power to convene and appoint this Commission. 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

AP(L Sir, this motion should be denied purely as a factual matter. [t is 
inrnrr·pc.I to say that Mr. Altenberg doesn't have the power to convene this 
Commission. The power to convene the Commission is set forth in orders 
and regulation that form part of Commission Law. [t is directly delegated 
to him by the Secretary of Defense acting on the order of the President's 
military order. 

In defining the office of the Appointing Authority and defining the powers 
of that office, the Secretary in MCO 1 and in the Departmental Directive 
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5105-70, the Secretary expressly relies on 10 USc. Section 113(d) and 
Sections 131 (B)( 8)(b) as statutory authority for the delegation to the 
Appointing Authority and for creating the office of Appointing Authority, 
113 is cited in our brief. The relevant provision is that unless specifically 
prohibited by law, the Secretary may perform any of its functions or 
exercise any of its powers through or with the aid of such persons or 
organizations of the Department of Defense as he may designate, The 
defense has failed to cite any law that prohibits the Secretary of Defense 
from making this delegation and delegating this power to the Appointing 
Authority, 

We are happy that the defense once again recognizes and embraces the 
opinions of the attorney generaL However, that opinion has no bearing 
here, What does the defense cite in their briefto deny this lawful power of 
the Appointing Authority? They cite Article 22, UCMJ. which defines who 
is authorized to convene a general court-martiaL But military commissions 
are not courts-martial and they are not bound by those rules. It is clear from 
the structure of the UCMJ that courts-martial are subject to extensive 
regulation by Congress, but military commissions are not. 

Congress gave the President flexibility to establish rules and adapt the 
military commissions to circumstances and call them forth as it says in 
Mad,en v. Kinsella. 

Secondly. the defense offers Me. Winthrop's 19th century treatise on 
military law and precedents to show that Mr. Rumsfeld could not make the 
delegation that he did the Appointing Authority here but again, that treatise 
only collects and reviews practice up to 1896 and does not in any way bind 
the President or the Secretary of Defense under conditions of modern war 
under the 1947 Defense Reorganization Act and Amendments thereto and 
under Title lOin the present circumstances. 

The defense offers In re Yamashita for the proposition that military 
commissions have jurisdiction over war crimes only when the commission 
is created by appropriate military command. That is what their brief says. 
But of course, gentlemen, Yamashita, if you read that, it doesn't say any 
such thing. Doesn't say only when appointed by military command. The 
Court was asked to decide whether General Stire, as commander of U. S. 
Forces Western Pacitic, had authority to appoint a military commission. 
That was questioned in that case and the Court said yes, he does. But the 
Court did not address, they were not asked to address whether other types of 
authorities appointed by the Secretary or the President would have the 
authority to appoint military commissions. 

Most on point and finally, Mad,<'Il v. Kinsella is instructive here. [n that 
case. the Supreme Court upheld the trial by military commission of a 
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I military dependent in occupied Germany in 1952. In that case. the 
2 commission was appointed, not by military commander as the defense says 
3 is essential under military law, but was appointed by the Department of 
4 State civilian governor of occupied Gennany at the time. The Fourth 
5 Circuit in the case of Mad,en which reviewed the case on its way to the 
6 Supreme Court noted, "We think it entirely immaterial that the President. at 
7 the time of the trial of appellant, was carrying on military government in the 
8 occupied zone of Germany through the State Department instead of through 
9 the Army and was using civilians instead of Army personnel as judges on 

10 the courts". 
\ \ 
12 It was for the President, as commander in chief, to use such governmental 
13 department or agency as he thought proper in governing the conquered 
14 territory. SimilarlY here, it was up to the President to decide who would 
15 appoint these Commissions. He had lawful authority to delegate the matter 
16 to the Secretary of Defense as he did in the presence of military order and in 
17 the presence of military order he specifically contemplates the kind of 
18 delegation that occurred here, because in the President's military order, the 
19 President cites 10 USC, Section 113( d), the very authority that the Secretary 
20 relied on in appointing Mr. Altenberg. 
21 
22 Gentlemen, on the basis of all these authorities, it is clear that the 
23 Appointing Authority does not have to be a military commander. The 
24 UCMJ doesn't require it. Congress doesn't require it anywhere. In fact, 
25 Congress empowers the Secretary in view of the awesome responsibilities 
26 and broad responsibilities of the Secretary of Defense to create offices such 
27 as these for this purpose. Mad5en v. Kimella in 1952, the Supreme Court 
28 reviewed a case where the civilian appointed military commission and 
29 found no objection on that basis. Thank you. 
30 
31 ADC (Maj Mori): Briefresponse, sir. Mad5en v. Kinsella is totally irrelevant. It is talking 
32 about an occupied commission, military commission based on the powers of 
33 occupancy. This is a war court military commission based on violations of 
34 the law of war. No authority for my position? I guess the Supreme Court 
35 decision Yamashita, that sounds like authority for me. Read it. It spells it 
36 out. It goes through and it identifies who has the power to appoint a 
37 military commission and why. And it explains the rationale, that it is an 
38 exercise of military jurisdiction. It is a military -- it derives ii-om the same 
39 ability for a commander, a military commander to send his troops into battle 
40 and it comes from that same authority. Our soldiers, sailors and Marines 
41 aren't led into combat by civilians. They are led by military commanders in 
42 the field of battle and in that field of battle that military commander can 
43 exercise as part of his war fighting powers inherent under the law of war is 
44 to also utilize military commissions. Not for some civilian sitting in DC to 
45 be appointed and deprive the military ofthe precedent on how it has been 
46 done. 
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po: 

The government doesn't say, look, there was a military commission that 
tried these law of war violations. you know, in Japan or in Germany. Just 
like this. The absence of it they try to use in support. Again, read 
Yamashita. It is based on sanctioned -- their creation by military command 
and confornling to established American precedent. When the precedent is 
on the defense side. that's when they didn't address this issue. 

This is how we have done military commissions. It has always been 
appointed by the military commander of that area in zone, theater of war. 
Would it have been difficult for the CENTCOM commander or the forward 
commander to appoint military commissions to deal with law of war 
violations within that theater of war? It would have been simple, but that 
wasn't the purpose of these Commissions, to deal with law of war violations 
in the theater of operations. 

It was to try to set up a system so far removed from the actual theater of 
operations and to remove it from under the power ofthe actual military 
commander under CENTCOM and move it to somewhere else to achieve a 
different purpose and this is not part of CENT COM's battle tighting powers 
being employed. 

Either side going to put in findings on ten? 

P (LtCol_ No, sir. 

ADC (Maj Mori): No, sir. 

po: Five? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. Members, 0 5 piggybacks right on with the Appointing 
Authority's lack of power. It deals with the location and where a military 
commission can sit. Where can they sit? We look at precedent. We look at 
where they have sat. We talk about Yamashita. We talk about Quirin. We 
talk about Eisentrager. And they all sat in the theater of operations in the 
same area where the conduct occurred, under the same military command. 
Eisen/rager occurred in China. The commission occurred there. Quirin 
occurred on the east coast under the east coast command. Yamashita in 
Japan. Exercise of military jurisdiction within the theater of war. [t is not a 
court of convenience because it is attached to, it is part of our war fighting 
powers and options. 

To fight and to try is connected. [t is not a court of convenience that can be 
done and picked and chosen wherever to put it that makes it most 
convenient. Because when that happens it stops becoming a court that is 
being utilized as part ofthe war fighting powers. The connection to the 
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I theater of war is essential for this Commission to have jurisdiction to hear 
2 violations within that theater. Thank you. 
3 
4 AP (CDR_ Let's start by looking at the statutes. Article 21 of the UCMJ says 
5 nothing about where a commission has to be conducted. Article 36 of the 
6 UCMJ gives the President the latitude for pretrial. trial and post-trial 
7 procedures which he has already determined he will not and it is not too 
8 practical to apply the rules ofa federal district court. Nothing there says it 
9 has to occur in the theater of war. Where do we look first? Commission 

10 Law. Commission Law says this is a call for the Appointing Authority. 
I I You are to hold each session at such time and place as may be directed by 
12 the Appointing Authority. MeO Number I. Has the Appointing Authority 
13 spoken? Yes. In his October 5, 2004 memorandum he stated all sessions of 
14 the Commission shall be conducted at Guantanamo Bay. Let's look at the 
15 international community. Is it customary that you have got to do it in a 
16 theater of war? 
17 
18 Well, you have got the Yugoslavia war tribunals, ICTY. They meet in the 
19 Hague. They don't meet in Kosovo. They meet in the Hague. You have 
2() got the Rwanda international criminal tribunals. Do they meet in Rwanda? 
21 No, they are usually over in Tanzania. So if the defense's lead-in, which if 
22 you read there, their motion is Winthrop, those guys must not have that 
23 book or they are consciously disregarding it. One or the other, but they are 
24 not following the passage from Winthrop. 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

Now, practical common sense. Afghanistan is still a hot area. We have 
troops there. It is dangerous. You have to be concerned for the 
Commission members, the counsel, the accused, the participants and 
everyone else involved in this Commission process. Article \ 9 of the 
Geneva Convention binding? No, but what does it say? Prisoners of war 
shall be evacuated as soon as possible after their capture to camps situated 
in an area far enough from the combat zone for them to be out of danger. In 
this case we would argue it is almost an obligation to get them further away 
from the theater of war, assuming that they have properly defined the 
theater of war. The conflict is with al Qaida. The conflict and the theater of 
war is in Afghanistan, Yemen, Spain, United States, you sit in danger here 
today at Guantanamo Bay. Your theater of war is the world. 

Now, Winthrop in 1896, he didn't envision that when he wrote his book. 
Plane wasn't around then. Automobiles were not around then. We can not 
blame Winthrop for not envisioning that someone would have global reach 
in an armed conflict so easily as it is today. 

Now, the defense, they lead with Winthrop in their motion and they gave 
you -- they attached a page to their motion saying how Winthrop opined 
back in 1896, Let's do it theater of war. Blowing the dust off Winthrop, got 
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out the book, turned the page. They gave you page 836. I'm going to give 
you page 837 now, because if you go on and you read Winthrop, he says we 
got to go further than that and it is not so binding on us because on page 
837. he talks about an exception. 

Well, you know, it is there but in actual existence it hasn't always been 
strictly regarded in our practice. And then he gives you an instance where 
the theater of war was Panama and they moved him to San Francisco for 
trial. So if you turn the page you get a little more enlightenment on that. 
The other thing to realize when you are reading the passage from Winthrop 
and when you look at QUirin and what they were addressing. we got to go 
back a little historically to a case called Milligan, Civil War time. That's 
what they were addressing because, you see, in the Milligan case, the 
government lost. They weren't able to use a military commission to get at 
Milligan. Milligan, for context, was a U. S. citizen sitting in Indiana during 
the Civil War and he gets arrested and they tried to take him to a 
commission. And they said, if you are a United States citizen, if you are in 
a state in the United States not invaded. not engaged in rebellion in which 
federal courts are open and the citizens neither are resident of a rebell iotls 
state nor a prisoner of war, can't take him to a military commission. 

That's what Winthrop was worried about when he was writing in 1896. 
Quirin put it in perspective. What were they arguing. why did they talk 
about the theater of war? If you look at the Quirin case, they layout the 
defense counsel arguments right at the start of the opinion. What is the 
defense saying is the problem here? That the acts alleged to have been 
committed by the petitioners in violation of the Article were not in the zone 
of military operations and that would preclude the jurisdiction ofa military 
commission. 

The weren't complaining about place of trial. They were saying we didn't 
commit an offense in a zone of military operations; we committed an 
offense in the Continental United States, you have got a federal district 
court, you have got to haul us into federal district court. Not that you have 
to hold a commission in the theater of operations. They are saying a federal 
court is available. Not really a war theater. You got to yank me into federal 
district court. Apples and oranges. That's not what they were getting at in 
those opinions. 

Finally, even with all those arguments, if they are right, the remedy is not to 
dismiss the charges. The biggest problem we have got is my sea bag doesn't 
have winter clothes, because we would have to go to Afghanistan. It is a 
venue issue. The remedy for them, if we are required to be in the theater of 
operation is to go to the theater of operation, not dismiss the charges. That's 
almost laughable and for the reasons 1 have said cited, this Illotion should be 
denied. 
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I 
2 ADC (Maj Mori): We should go to Afghanistan. If I'm in the theater of operations as I sit 
3 here in Guantanamo in danger, I should be getting my combat pay first of 
4 all. Wherever I am in this world, if it is now the zone of operations I should 
5 get my combat pay. We can either do it right or we can just ignore how it 
6 has been done before in the rules because it is inconvenient. It would be 
7 inconvenient to make a ruling that would stop this proceeding in its tracks. 
8 It would be inconvenient for the government, might be inconvenient for all 
9 the participants that put time and effort in it. But that is sometimes what 

10 judicial bodies do because that is what is right. The government argues, 
II look at Commission Law for precedent. Commission Law was created 60 
12 years ago, a little bit less, and the last time we have done military 
13 commissions. 
14 
15 So you have to look at the ancient precedent because that's all there is in 
16 military commissions. You look at Winthrop, and yes. Winthrop has one 
17 example where the offense was committed on the high seas, on a ship. 
18 Read Yamashita. Look at who ordered -- the President actually ordered the 
19 commission directly in Quirin himself. Yamashita, you had the military 
20 commander down to the chain of command as being delegated but it is 
21 always being delegated to a military commander who has the power to 
22 appoint a general court-martial or is the theater combatant commander. 
23 Look at Eisentraf!,er. It is the same thing. There is no convenience excuse 
24 or difficulty excuse from doing it right. 
25 
26 The government's smoke and mirrors say look at the ICTY, ICTR. Wait a 
27 minute. those aren't tribunals established under the law of war as part of the 
28 law of war powers. That is the theory that we are doing this, rights? The 
2<) President's order. That's a war court. As a specific jurisdiction of defense, 
30 a specillc area in which it can sit, and who it can try. The ICTY and [CTR 
3 [ are not war courts. Is the location that day dangerous? You know, we have 
32 an obligation. I'll agree with the government and thank them for saying that 
33 David Hicks is entitled to the protections of POW status. Can we stipulate 
34 to that? Because if we can, I'm fine with doing that because that is what 
35 they argued, right? They protected him and should move him. Well, if they 
36 want to give their protections to the POW we can do that. And [ would 
37 accept the ruling from the court with the government's concession that he is 
38 entitled to protections of POW. We don't object. 
39 
40 How many courts-martial were done in Vietnam? Thousands? I can't think 
41 of a more dangerous area. Just because there is hazard, that is part of --
42 incident to being in the theater of operation and conducting a war and 
43 utilizing ajurisdiction to hold people accountable for violations. That is 
44 how it's done. And the government argues again the lack of support and 
45 precedent for their position is support for doing it a different way and I say 
46 look at how it has been done in the past by the military, by all the Supreme 
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Court cases that they say relies and shows and proves we can do this all the 
Supreme Court cases say is to support the fact that it was done properly 
when it is convened by military commanders who can appoint general 
court -martial. 

That's the rules, that's our precedent which we base these military 
commissions on. I'm sorry that it is old. Thank you. 

AP (CDR_ Sir, we don't intend to submit essential findings, however we would 
want to give you both pages of Winthrop. I have had that previously 
marked as a review exhibit with the court reporter. 

AP(L Sir, we will probably submit findings of facts, sir. 

po: You will? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: Commande~as a matter of law, is the President authorized to convene 
the Military Commission? 

AP (CDR_ Yes, sir, he is, as Commander-in-Chief. 

po: Thank you, Major Mori, is the President authorized to convene the Mi litary 
Commission? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

po: Thank you, 

CM (Col_ Is the President given the authority to delegate that down in your 
opinion? 

ADC (Maj Mori): He could delegate it, yes, sir, as he has done in past cases. As we see, 
he can, exercising his commander-in-chieffunction through orders to the 
military and he could delegate that down to a commander or the authority to 
exercise general court-martial convening power or as a theater commander. 
which usually nowadays is typically one and the same. And the interesting 
thing is --

CM (Col_ The interesting thing is you keep using court-martials and this is not a 
court -martial. 

ADC (Maj Mori): Well, that's right. But the Supreme Court is the one who is empowered 
to use -- remember, a court-martial is an exercise of military jurisdiction as 
well, sir. And in this exercise of mil itary jurisdiction, it is still the military 
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po: 

AP(L 

PO: 

that does it. The military. And it comes from our inherent -- the military 
commander's right to tight the fight and to exercise military jurisdiction, a 
military commander who can exercise general court-martial jurisdiction, has 
the same power to exercise military commission jurisdiction under the 
Supreme Court cases. 

They couldn't just pick anybody. They couldn't just be -- we are very 
particular in the military. You can't just have your XO convene. Who is 
designated special court-martial convening authority or general 
court-martial convening authority? It is given -- it is something thaI is 
regarded in Article 22 ofthe UCMJ, ifl'm quoting it right, designates who 
can convene general courts-martial. The President, Secretary of Defense, 
Secretaries of different services, commanding officers and certain specially 
designated. But they can only delegate it to a commanding officer who is a 
commissioned officer. That is a restriction within the Uniform Code of 
Military Justice for general court-martial, sir. 

Okay. If either party said findings are going to be attached, the 
Commission won't rule prior to receipt of those findings and opposing 
findings under the established times. Iffindings are not to be attached, the 
Commission will issue a ruling in due course. Anything further before we 
break until, did we say 1300 tomorrow? 

Yes, sir. 

Colonel_did we say 1300? 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 

PO: Anything further from either side? 

32 P (LtCol_ No, sir. 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 

DC (Mr. Dratel): No, sir. 

PO: The Commission is in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1628, 2 November 2004. 
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I The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1400. 3 November 201J4. 
2 
3 
4 

po: The Commission will come to order. 

5 P (LtCol_ Sir, Sergeant_is back on the record as court reporter. 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
\I 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
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26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 

po: All parties present when the Commission recessed are once again present 
except for Colonel_and Commande~ 

Okay. First, when the Commission uses the term "prior to authentication" 
in connection with the time at which a ruling will be issued in writing, the 
term refers to authentication ofthe record of trial -- you don't have to write 
so fast because you will get this -- you can go see Mr._or you can 
write it down if you want to. The term refers to authentication ofthe record 
of trial under the provisions of MCO 6H(I). 

Authentication of the portions of the record of trial for purposes of 
providing the transcript to counsel is not included in the term "prior to 
authentication". In other words, ifSergean~finishes this thing up 
today or tomorrow and you all want to see what happened and I authenticate 
that portion, that is not authentication of the record of trial. In terms of 
what we say about giving rulings. 

I've considered the defense request that I certify an interlocutory question to 
the Appointing Authority concerning the correctness of the Commissions 
ruling on D 37. I decline to do so. Prior to the start of this session we had 
an MCI 8-5 meeting, present which were government counsel, defense 
counsel, and myself. We discussed various things in that meeting we're 
going to be going over some of those things right now. Major Mori, do you 
have something to address the Commission? 

32 ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. May I approach, sir? 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

po: Do you have a stip of fact? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir, I have a copy for each member, sir. 

po: Before you say anything, let me cover this with your client. Do you have a 
copy of it there? 

ADC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. 

PO: 

AC:C: 

Mr. Hicks, do you have a copy of what has been marked as RE 72, a 
stipulation offact at your desk? 

I don't have a copy, sir, but I've seen it. I do now, sir. 
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po: 

ACC: 

PO: 

ACC: 

PO: 

ACC: 

PO: 

ACC: 

PO: 

Okay. Be seated, Major Mori. And you can be seated too, Mr. Hicks. In 
our system we don't have you stand. Okay. Is that -- did you sign this 
above your signature block? 

Yes, I did. sir. 

What a stipulation of fact is, it's an agreement between the prosecution and 
your counsel only with your express consent that the contents ofthis 
document are true. That's all this is. Ifthis is admitted. then it becomes 
binding on both sides -- the stuffin here is a fact. Do you understand that? 

Yes. Yes, sir. 

You discussed this with your counsel before you signed it? 

Yes, I did. 

Do you consent to this? 

I do. sir. 

The court receives RE 72 as a stipulation offact. Now, Major Mori. do you 
want to say anything else? 

AOC (Maj Mori): Yes, sir. address the Commission that yesterday in reference to Article 
5 tribunal and one was done for Mr. Hicks in response to your question, sir, 
we want to provide this so that you could see when the CSRT was 
accomplished on what date. 

PO: Is that satisfactory? 

Apparently so. 

The Commission has carefully considering 0 11 the defense motion to 
dismiss Charge I. The Commission has deferred ruling on the motion. 

The Commission has carefully considered 09. the defense motion to strike 
those portions of Charge I relating to destruction of property by an 
unprivileged belligerent. The Commission has deferred ruling on this 
motion. 

The Commission has carefully considered 0 17, defense motion to exclude 
from the charges against Mr. Hicks all events occurring prior to 7 October 
200 I. The Commission has deferred ruling on this motion. 

272 



2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
II 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 
29 
30 
31 
32 
33 
34 
35 
36 
37 
38 
39 
40 
41 
42 
43 
44 
45 
46 

The Commission has carefully considered D 3. the motion to dismiss all 
charges because the armed conflict in Afghanistan has ended. The 
Commission has deferred ruling on this motion. 

The Commission has carefully considered D 4. the defense motion to 
dismiss all charges against Mr. Hicks for improper pretrial detention. The 
Commission has deferred ruling on this motion. 

The Commission has carefully considered D 7, the defense motion to 
dismiss for denial of right to a speedy trial. The Commission has deferred 
ruling on this motion. 

The Commission has carefully considered D 19, the defense motion to 
dismiss due to equal protection violations. The Commission has deferred 
ruling on this motion. 

The Commission has carefully considered D 8, the defense motion to 
dismiss for denial of various fundamental rights in the criminal proceeding. 
The Commission has deferred ruling on this motion. 

The Commission has carefully considered D 18, the defense motion to 
dismiss because the President did not have authority to create a military 
Commission. The Commission has deferred ruling on this motion. 

The Commission has carefully considered D 21, the defense motion to 
dismiss because the system instituted under the Military Commission Order 
will not provide a full and fair trial. The Commission has deterred ruling on 
this motion. 

The Commission has carefully considered D 22. the defense motion to 
replace all current members of the Commission with legal professionals. 
The Commission has deferred ruling on this motion. 

I have received D 39, a defense request for delay in the trial of this case on 
the merits until 15 March 2005, which is marked as RE 71. The 
prosecution objects to this delay. but in the interest of a full and fair trial 
I've granted the delay. 

Mr. Drate!. D 6. a request for a bill of particulars is being withdrawn at this 
time with leave to reinstate it if the discovery under the discovery order I 
sign today is not sufficient; is that correct? 

DC (Mr. Dratel): That is correct, sir. 

PO: Is that your view? 
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P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 

po: Thank you. The discovery order has been given both sides and is RE 73. 
Goon. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Did you cover 0 20'1 I did not hear D 20, which would have been right 
after 0 9, in tenns of the order of argument. 

po: I intentionally did not say anything about D 20. 

D 20 is still before the Commission. All of these are still before the 
Commission. 

Okay. Absent anything further from counsel the Commission does not 
intend 10 hold any further sessions in this case during this trial term. 
Counsel for both sides agreed in that MCI 8-5 meeting that there may be a 
need for an evidentiary motion session in mid-January. That is not a firm 
trial date; is that correct. trial? 

P (LtCol_ Yes, sir. 

DC (Mr. Dratel): Yes, sir. 

po: Okay. Anything further before the Commission goes into recess? 

P (LtCol_ No, sir. 

DC (Mr. Oratel): Nothing from the defense, Your Honor. 

PO: Commission is in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed af 1409. 3 November 2004. 
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UNITED STATES 

v. 

) 
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) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Military Commission Members 
DA VlD MATTHEW HICKS 
alk/a Abu Muslim al Austraili 
alk/a Muhammed Dawood 

The following officers are appointed to serve as a Military Commission for the purpose 
trying any and all charges referred for trial in the above-styled case. The Military Commission 
will meet at such times and places as directed by the Appointing Authority or the Presiding 
Officer. Each member of the Military Commission will serve until relieved by proper authority. 

In the event of incapacity, resignation, or removal of a member who has not been 
designated as the Presiding Officer, the alternate member is automatically appointed as a 
member. 

Br<:~nback, III, USA (Retired), Presiding Officer 
Member 

Lieutenant Co'lon,eli 

4::1'~~ Appointing Authority 
for Military Commissions 
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THE WHITE HOUSE 
W,,"SHINGTON 

TO mE SECRETARY OF DEFENSE: 

Based on the infonnlltion available to me from aU sources, including the factual summary 
from the Department ofDefCIIIIII Criminal Investigation Tut Force dated June 24, 2003 
and forwarded to me by the Deputy Secmary of Dcfenso:: by letter dated July 1, 2003; 

Pursuant to the Military Order ofNovembc:r 13,2001 on "Detention, Treatment, and 
Trial of Cc:rfain Non-CitiZC115 in the Wtz Against Tenorism"; 

In a=dance with the Constitution and consiltent with the laws of the United Slates, 
including the Authorization for Use ofMili1ary Force Joint Resolution (Public: Law 107-
40): 

I, GEORGE W. BUSH, as Presidcut ofthc United Stalclilud Commander in Chief afthe 
Armed Forces of the United States, hereby DETERMINE fot the United States of 
Americ:a that in relation to David M.1tbcvt Hicb, Deputment of Defense Intc:mmenl 
Serial No. US9AS-OOOOO2DP, who is not. United Statet citiHn: 

(I) There is reason to believe that he, at the relc:vat timc:s: 
Ce) is or ",e, 8 member of the OIIlnization known .. 81 Qllida; 

P.02 

(b) has engtged in, aided or abetted, or conspired to commit. ac:TJl of intemati0ll81 
tett"Orism, or acta in preplnltion therefor, that have caused .. threaten to cause, or 
junle as ftIeir aim to cause, iJijury to or adverse effeas on the United States, its 
citizens, nationallCCurity, foreilll policy, or economy; or 

(c) bas knowingly harbon:d one or more individuals duenDe«! in subpmgraphs 
(a) or (b) abo v •. 

(2) It is in the intereat of the United States thlt be be &ubjQCt to !be Military Order of 
November 13, 20G1. 

AWlJ'dingly, it.is.hc:reby ordered that, e 
subject to !hI; Military Order of No 

DATE; 
WhiteH 
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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF PROSECUTOR 

1610 DEFENSE PENTAGON 
WASHINGTON. DC 20301·1610 

MEMORANDUMFORCO~~IDERI 

LIEUTENANT '-'V"'Vl~"'''' 

SUBJECT: Detailed Prosecutorn 

July 28, 2004 

Consistent with my authority as ChierProsecutor and the provisions of Sections 4B(2) of 
Military Commission Order No. I, dated March 21,2002, and Section 3B(9) of Military 
Commission Instruction No.3, dated April 30, 2003, the above named counsel are detailed and 
designated as follows: 

United SWffl v, al Bahlul 
Detailed Prosecutor: 
Detailed Assistant Prosecutorn: LiC1l11~ianl Collom:ll 

United States v. al Oosi 
Detailed Prosecutor: Lieuteaant Co'lo1l<eli 
Detailed Assistant Prosecutors: UeUle!lant 

United Slates v. Hamdan 
Detailed Prosecutor: 
De1ailed Assistant Prosecutors: C8J~n 

United States v. Hicks 
Detailed Prosecutor. LieuteoaIrt 
Detailed Assistant Prosecutors: 

cc: 
Dep~or Mr._ 
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Chief Prosecutor 
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DEPA~TMENT OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE OF THE CHIEF DEFENSE COUNSEL 

1620 DEFENSE PENTAGON 
WASHINGTON. DC 20301·1620 

August 13, 2004 

From: Colonel will A. Gunn, Chief Defense Counsel 
To: Mr. David Hicks 

Subj: REQUEST FOR SELECTED DETAILBD DBFENSB COUNSEL 

1. Your request dated 5 August 2004 to have LtCol William K. 
Lietzau serve as your Selected Detailed Defense Counsel is 
denied. I have determined that LtCol Lietzau is not available. 

2. In accordance with paragraph 38 of Military Commission 
Instruction Number 4. I consulted with LtCol Lietzau's Judge 
Advocate General, Rear Admiral Michael F. Lohr. Admiral Lohr 
has determined that LtCol Lietzau is not available due to his 
assigned duties and responsibilities as Director of the Navy­
Marine corps Appellate Government Division. 

3. please notify me if you have other requests. 

Copy to: 
Mr. Joshua L. Dratel 
Major Michael D. Mori 
Major Jeffrey D. Lippert 
MSgt Susan LaRoste 
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OS August 2004 

From: David Hicks, Detainee, Naval Base Guantanamo Bay 
To: Col Gunn, Chief Defense Counsel, Office of Military Commissions 

Subj: REQUEST FOR SEJ...ECTED DETAILED DEFENSE COUNSEL 

I. I am currently facing charges before a military commission. I am aware I have the 
ability to ask for a Selected Detailed Defense Counsel under Military Commission Order 
No. I. 

2. I request LtCol Wi lIiam K. Lietzau, USMC, be detailed to represent me as my 
Selected Detailed Defense Counsel. 

3. LlCol Lietzau is cunently serving as Director of Appellate Government, Office of the 
Judge Advocate General of the Navy, I am aware thai in his current billet, he represents 
the U.S. Government in Appellate review of courts-martial case. Knowing this, I still 
request he be detailed. 

4. I request that Major Mkhael D. Moo, my Detailed Defense Counsel be permitted to 
continue hi~ representation of me as authorized under Military Commission Order No. I. 
I understand that Maj Lippert, USA, will be assigned to my defense team on 09 August 
2004. I understand lhat if this request is granted, Maj Lippert may be removed from my 
defense learn. 

~ 
DAVID HlCKS 

(l.6 4-
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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL 

1 aoo DEFENSE PENTAGON 
WASHIHOTlON, DC 20301-1600 

MEMORANDUM DETAlLING DEFENSE COUNSEL 

23 July 2004 

TO: Lieutenant Colonel Sharon Shaffer, Major Marlr Bridges, Major Michael Mori, LCDR 
Philip L. Sundel, LCDR Charles D. Swift 

SUBJECT: Detailed Defeose Counsel 

Consistent with my authority as Chief Defense Counsel and the provisions of sections 4C and 5D 
of Military Order No. I, dated Match 21, 2002, and section 3B of Military Commission 
Instruction # 4, dated 15 Ap~1 2004, the above named counsel are dcWled and designated as 
follows: 

United Stales y. AI Bablul 
Detailed Defense Counsel: LCDR Philip Sundel 
Assistant Detailed Defense Counsel: Major Muk Bridses 

Unjted Stag y. AI Oosi 
Detailed Defense Counsel: Lieutenant Colonel Sharon Shaffer 

United States y. HNnd,n: 
Detailed Defeose Counsel: LCDR Charles Swift 

Unted Shit.., y. Hicks: 
Detailed Defense Counsel: Major Michael Marl 
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Colonel Will A. Gunn, USAF 
Chief Defense Counsel 
Office of Military Commissioll!l 
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DEPAR,MENT OF DEFENS[ 
OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEl 

1600 DEFENSE PENT AGOI-: 
WASHINGTON. DC 20301·16OC 

MEMORANDUM DEI AILING DEFENSE COUNSEl 

TO: Major Michael D. Mori. USMC 
SUBJECT: Detailing Leiter re Military Commission Proceedmgs of Mr. David Hicks 

Pursuant to the authority granted to me by my appointment as Acnn!! Chief Defense Counsel and 
Secllons 4C and 5D of Military Order No. \. dated March 21, 2002, you are hereby delailed as 
Military Counsel for all matters relating to Military Commission proceedin!!s involving Mr. 
David Hicks. Your appointment exists until such time any findings and senlence become fmal as 
defined in Seclion 6(H)(2) unless you are excused from representing Mr. Hicks by me or my 
successor. I deem your detailing to be appropriale based on the government's assertion in 
enclosure (1) Ihal on July 3. 2003, the President determined thai Mr. Hicks is subjecllo Iht> 
Military Order of November 13.2001 and as such "shall when lried. be lried by mililary 
commission for any and all offenses triable by military commission Ihal [he] is alleged to have 
committed. and may be punished in accordance with the penalties provided under applicable law. 
including life imprisonment or death." 

In your representation of Mr. Hicks, you are directed to review and comply with Presidential 
Military Order of November 13,2001, "Detention, Treatment, and Trial or Certain Non-Citizens 
in the Wm Against Terrorism," (66 FR 57833); Military Commission Orders No.1 and 2 and 
Military Commission Instructions 1 through 8 and all Supplementary Regulations and 
Instructions issued in accordailce therewith. Specifically, you me directed to ensure that your 
conduct and activities are consistent with the prescriptions and proscriptions specified in Section 
11 ofthe Affidavil And Agreement By Civilian Defense Counsel a\ Appendix B to Military 
Instruction No. S. 

You are directed to inform Mr. Hicks of his rights before a Military Commission. In the event 
that Mr. Hicks chooses to exercise his rights to Selected Military Counselor his right to Civilian . 
Defense Counsel at his own expense, you shall inform me as soon as possible. Consistent with 
paragraph 3B(8) of Military Instruction No.4, I am detailing Master Sergean~ 
a member of the defense team to assist you in representing Mr. Hi cks. 

In the event that you become aware ofa conflict ofinterest arising from the representation of Mr. 
Hicks before a Military Commission, you shall immediately inform me of the nature and facts 
concerning such conflict. You should be aware that in addition to your State Bar and Service 
Rules of Professional Conduct that by virtue of your appointment to the Office of Military 
Commissions you will be attached to the Defense Legal Services Agency and will be subject to 
professional supervision by Department of Defense Genef8J Counsel. 
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You are dlrecled 10 inionn mt ,,- orl reqUirements jor per~onneL oHiee space. equipment, and 
supplies necessary for preparal 1 ,)C. oflhe defense ofM>. Hick, 

Enclosure 

Colonel Will A. Gunn. USAF 
Chief Defense Counsel (Acting) 
OffIce of Mililary Commissions 

1 argel Lel1er re Mr. David Hicks daled November 28. 200" 

cc: 

General Hemingway 
Mr. Koffsky 
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DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL 

I aoo OEFENSE PENTAGON 
WASHINGTION. DC 20301-1Il00 

28 July 2004 

MEMORANDUM DETAILING DEFENSE COUNSEL 

TO: Major Jeffiey D. Lippert., USA 

SUBJECT: DctaiIing of Assistant Detailed Defense Counsel to United States v. Hicks 

Pursuant to the authority granted to me by my appointment as Chief Defense Counsel. Sections 
4C and SO of Military Commission Order No.1, dated March 21,2002, and Section 3B(8) of 
Military Commission Instruction No.4, you are hereby detailed and designated lIS Assistant 
Detailed Defense Counsel fur all mattm re\aIini to Military Commission proceedinS' involving 
Mr. David Hicks. Your appointment is effecIive 9 August 2004 and exists until such time any 
findings IJIId sentence bcI:ome final as de6ned in Section 6(H)(2) of Military Couunission Order 
No.1 WlIess you are excused from rqxescmting Mr. Hicks by me or my successor. 

!!!;k~ 
Chief Defi:Dse Co\lJlJel 
Office of Military Commissions 
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Joshua L. Dratel 

DEPARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL 

1600 DEFENSE PENl AGON 
WASHING"'ON. DC 20301.1600 

January 12, 2004 

14 Wall Street, 28th Floor 
New York, NY 10005 

Dear Mr. Dratel. 

1 am pleased to inform you that, based on the information 
provided and the determination by Defense Security Service, you 
have been qualified to represent Mr. David Hicks before Military 
Commissions. 

Prior to beginning representation of Mr. Hicks you are 
required to furnish my office with a notice of appearance on 
behalf of Mr. Hicks and a signed copy of the enclosed Standard 
Form 312 (Non-Disclosure Agreement for Confidential Material) . 
If you have any questions regarding your status or the 
requested/required documents please do not hesitate to contact 
my office at (703) 607-1521. 

Sij);i;J.~ 
Colonel Will A. Gunn (USAF) 
Chief Defense Counsel 
Office of Military Commissions 
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) 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 
) Defense Objection to Placement of 
) Secnrity Personnel in the 

v. ) Commission Room 
) 
) 23 August 2004 

DAVID M. HICKS ) 
) 

The Defense in the case of the United States v. David M Hicks objects to the positioning 
of security personnel directly behind the Defense table during the Commission 
proceedings and states in support of this objection: 

I. On 22August 2004, the Assistant to the Presiding Officer held an administrative 
meeting for all counsel. During this meeting he informed the Defense that two (2) 
uniformed MPs, wearing MP brassards, would be positioned directly behind the Defense 
table within "arm's reach" ofMr. Hicks. 

2. Notwithstanding the proposed instruction regarding Security Precautions set forth in 
the Trial Guide for Military Commissions (Draft of21 August 2004), page 14, the 
Defense objects to the positioning of these security personnel in the Commission room. 

3. Having security personnel in such close proximity to the accused has the potential of 
misleading the Commission members into thinking or believing Mr. Hicks either intends 
to or has a tendency to become violent or unruly, or otherwise needs security personnel 
watching him closely and ready, at a moments notice to subdue him. 

4. Mr. Hicks has been in U.S. custody at Guantanamo Bay for approximately 2 years and 
9 months. In that time he has been a model detainee. He has not engaged in any violent 
or aggressive behavior. He has adjusted well to his long detention, and is completely 
compliant to the directions of security personnel at all times. 

5. There is no reason to believe he will behave differently during the Commission. 
Placing security personnel in such close proximity to Mr. Hicks and the defense team 
during the Commission sessions creates an appearance or perception that Mr. Hicks is a 
dangerous person. Such an appearance or perception is insidious and could, 
notwithstanding the proposed instruction, unfairly prejudice the accused. 

6. In addition, the placement of security personnel in such close proximity to the accused 
will serve to chill the activities of the defense team at the counsel table during the 
Commission. With security personnel less than four (4) feet behind the hacks ofthe 
defense team, there can he no private conversations between counselor between counsel 
and the accused. 
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7. Such interference in the attorney-client relationship is prejudicial to Mr. Hick's 
receiving a full and fair trial. 

8. The commander's operational considerations must be balanced against the right of Mr. 
I-lick's to receive a full and fair trial. Here, there is no objective basis for placing security 
personnel in such close proximity to Mr. Hicks and the defense team. There is however a 
threat to Mr. Hicks receiving a full and fair trial. Accordingly, the security concerns of 
the commander must give way to the rights of Mr. Hicks. 

9. Relief Requested: The Defense requests the security personnel be placed in a different 
position in the commission room so that Mr. Hicks' rights are not infringed upon. 

10. Oral Argument: The Defense requests oral argument on this objection. 

Major, U.S. Marine Corps 
Detailed Defense Counsel 
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7. Such interference in the attorney-client relationship is prejudicial to Mr. Hick's 
receiving a full and fair trial. 

8. The commander's operational considerations must be balanced against the right of Mr. 
Hick's to receive a full and fair trial. Here, there is no objective basis for placing security 
personnel in such close proximity to Mr. Hicks and the defense team. There is however a 
threat to Mr. Hicks receiving a full and fair trial. Accordingly, the security concerns of 
the commander must give way to the rights of Mr. Hicks. 

9. Relief Requested: The Defense requests the security personnel be placed in a different 
position in the commission room so that Mr. Hicks' rights are not infringed upon. 

10. Oral Argument: The Defense requests oral argument on this objection. 

By Z/O?O 
t! .. M I 

Major, U.S. Marine Corps 
Detailed Defense Counsel 
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UNITED ST A TES 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CHARGES: 
v. 

DA V1D MATIHEW HICKS 
alkJa Abu Muslim al A ustraili 
alkJa Muhammed Dawood 

CONSPIRACY; 
ATIEMPTEDMURDERBY AN 
UNPRIVILEGED BELLIGERENT; 
AIDING THE ENEMY 

David Matthew Hicks (alkla Abu Muslim al Austraili, alkJa Muhammed Dawood) is a 
person subject to trial by Military Commission. At all times material to the charges: 

.JURISDICTION 

I. Jurisdiction for this Military Commission is based on the President's determination of July 3, 
2003 that David Matthew Hicks (alkJa Abu Muslim al Austraili, alkJa Muhammed Dawood, 
hereinafter "Hicks") is subject to his Military Order of November 13, 2001. 

2. Hicks' charged conduct is triable by a military commission. 

BACKGROUND 

3. Hicks was born on August 7, 1975 in Adelaide, Australia. 

4. On or about May 1999, Hicks traveled to Tirana. Albania and joined the Kosovo Liberation 
Army (KLA), a paramilitary orgmization fighting on behalf of Albanian Muslims. Hicks 
completed basic military training at a KLA camp and engaged in hostile action before 
returning to Australia. 

5. While in AustraJia, Hicks converted from Christianity to Islam. On or about November 
1999, he traveled to Pakistan where,in early 2000, he joined a terrorist organization known 
as Lashkar e Tayyiba (LET), or "Army of the Righteous." 

a. LET is the armed wing ofMarkaz Dawa allrshad (alkJa Marlcaz Jamal al Dawa), 
a group formed by Hafiz Mohammed Saeed and others. 

b. LET's known goals include violent attacks against property and nationals (both 
military and civilian) of India and other countries in order to seize control of 
Indian-held Kashmir and violent opposition of Hindus, Jews, Americans, and 
other Westerners. 

c. Starting around 1990, LET established training camps and guest houses, schools, 
and other opemtions primarily in Pakistan and Afghanistan for the porpose of 
training and supporting violent attacks against property and nationals (both 
military and civilian) of India and other COWltries. 
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d. Since 1990, members and associates of LET have conducted numerous attacks on 
military and civilian personnel and property in Indian-controlled Kashmir and 
lndia. 

e. In 1998, Saeed called for holy war against the United States after U.S. missile 
attacks against terrorist training facilities in Afghanistan killed LET members. 

f. On April 23, 2000, in a bulletin posted on the internet, LET claimed that it 
recently killed Indian soldiers and destroyed an Indi8D government building, both 
in Indian Kashmir. 

6. After joining LET, Hicks trained for two months at LET's Mosqua Aqsa camp in Pakistan. 
His training included weapons familiarization and firing, map reading and land navigation, 
and troop movements. 

7. Following training at Mosqua Aqsa, Hicks, along with LET associates, 1raveled to a border 
region between Pakistani-controlled Kasbmir and Indian-controlled Kashmir, where he 
engaged in hostile action against Indian forces. 

8. On or about] anuary 200 I, Hicks, with ftmding and a letter of introduction provided by LET, 
traveled to Afghanistan to attend a! Qaida terrorisl1raining camps. 

9. On or about early December 200 I, Hicks was captured near Baghlan, Afghanistan. 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS fAL OAIDA) 

10. AI Qaida ("the Base"), was founded by Usama bin Laden and others in or about 1989 for the 
pmpose of opposing certain governments and officials with force and violence. 

II. Usama bin Laden is recognized as the emir (prince or leader) of a! Qaida. 

12. A pmpose or goa! of a! Qaida, as stated by Usama bin Laden and other a! Qaida leaders, is to 
support violent attacks against property and nationals (both military and civilian) of the 
United States and other countries for the purpose ot; inter alia, forcing the United States to 
withdraw its forces from the Arabian Peninsula and in retaliation for U.S. support of Israel. 

13. AI Qaida operations and activities are directed by a shura (consultation) council composed of 
committees, including: political committee; military committee; security committee; finance 
committee; media committee; and re1igiousl1ega! committee. 

14. Between 1989 and 200 1, a! Qaida established training camps, guest houses, and business 
operations in Afghanistan, Pakistan, and other countries for the purpose of training and 
supporting violent attacks against property and nationals (both military and civilian) of the 
United States and other countries. 
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15. In August 1996, Usama bin Laden issued a public "Declaration of Jihad .4.gainst the 
Americans,"ln wbich he called for the murder ofU .S. military personnel serving on the 
Arabian pcoin3ula. 

16. In February 1998, Usama bin Laden, Ayman aI Zawahiri, and others, under the banner of 
"International Islamic Front for Fighting Jews IUId CIUS8ders," issued afotwa (purported 
religious ruling) requiring all Muslims able to do so to kill Americans - Whether civilian or 
military - anywhere they can be found and to ''plunder their money." 

17. On or about May 29, 1998, Usama bin Laden issued a statement entitled "The Nuclear Bomb 
of Islam," under the banner of the "International Islamic Front for Fighting Jews and 
Crusaders," in which he stated thal''it is the duty of the Muslims to prepare as much force as 
possible to terrorize the enemies of God." 

18. Since 1989 members and associates of al Qaida, known and unknown, have carried out 
numerous terrorist attacks, including. but not limited to: the attacks against the American 
Embassies in Kenya and Tanzania in August 1998; the attack against the USS COLE in 
October 2000; and the attacks on the United States on September II, 2001. 

~GEl:CONSPQLMCX 

19. David Matthew Hicks (aIkIaAbu Muslim a! Austraili, aIkIa Muhammed Dawood, hereinafter 
"Hicks"), in Afghanistan, from on or about JanlW'}' I, 2001 to on or about December 2001, 
willfully and knowingly joined an enterprise of persons who shared a common crimina! 
purpose and conspired and agreed with Muhammad Atef (alkla Abu Hafs aI Masri), 8aif aI 
Adel, U sama bin Laden, and other members and associates of the aI Qaida organization, 
known and unknown, to commit the following offenses triable by military commission: 
attacking civilians; attacking civilian objects; murder by an unprivileged belligerent; 
destruction of property by an unprivileged belligerent; and terrorism. 

20. In furtherance of this enterprise and conspiracy, Hicks and other members of aI Qaida 
committed the following overt acts: . 

a. On or about J anIW'}' 200 I, Hicks, with funding and a letter of introduction 
provided by LET, traveled to Afghanishm to attend al Qaida terrorist training 
camps. Upon arriving in Afghanistan, Hicks went to an a! Qaida guest house, 
where he met Ibn Sheikh aI libi, a top-ranking al Qaida member, and others. 
Hicks turned in his passport and indicated that he would use the kunya, or alias, 
"Muhammed Dawood." 

b. Hicks then traveled to and trained at aI Qaida's aI Farouq camp located outside 
Qandahar, Afghanistan. In a1 Qaida's eight-week basic training course, Hicks 
trained in weapons fiuniliarization and firing, land mines, tactics, topography, 
field movements, and basic explosives. 
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c. On or about April 2001, Hicks returned to al Farouq and trained in al Qaida's 
guerilla warfare and mountain tactics training course. This seven-week course 
included: marlcsmansbip; small team tactics; ambush; camouflage; rendezvous 
techniques; and tcchniques to pass intelligence to al Qaida operatives. 

d. While Hicks was training at al Farouq, Usama bin Laden visited the camp on 
several OccasiODS. During one visit, Hicks questioned bin Laden regarding the 
lack of English al Qaida training material; accepting bin Laden's advice, Hicks 
began to translate the training camp materials from Arabic to English. 

e. After Hicks completed his first two al Qaida training courses, Muhammad Atef 
(alkla Abu Hau al Masri), then the military commander of al Qaida, summoned 
and interviewed Hicks about his backgroUDd and the travel habits of Australians. 
Saif al Ade1, then the deputy military commander of al Qaida, was also present at 
this interview. At the conclusion of this meeting, Muhammed Atefrecommended 
Hicks for attendance at al Qaida's UIban tactics training course at Tamale Farm. 

f. On or about Iune 2001, Hicks traveled to Tarnal: Farm and participated in this 
course. A mock city was located ioside the camp, where trainees were taught how 
to fight in an UIban environment. Training also included: marksmaoship; use of 
assault and sniper rifles; rappelling; kidnapping techniques; and assassination 
methods. 

g. On or about August 2001, Hicks participated in an advanced al Qaida course on 
infonnation collection and SUlVeillance in an apartment in Kabul, Afghanistan. 
This course included "practical application" where Hicks and others conducted 
SUlVeillance of various targets in Kabul, including the U.S. and British embassies, 
and submitted reports. 

h. Following the information collection and SUlVeillance course, Muhammed Atef 
again interviewed Hicks, and asked ifhe would be willing to W1dertake a "martyr 
mission," meaning an attack wherein Hicks would kill himself as well as the 
targets of the attack. 

i. At an al Qaida guest house in Qandabar, as well as at al Qaida training camps and 
other locations in Afghanistan, Hicks received instruction from al Qaida 
associates on their interpretation of Islam, the meaning and obligations of jihad, 
and other topics. 

j. On or about early September 2001, Hicks traveled to Pakistan to visit a friend. 
After watching television footage of the September 11,2001 attacks on the United 
States, Hicks returned to Afghanistan to rejoin his al Qaida associates. 

k. Arriving in Qandahar, Afghanistan, Hicks reported to Saif al Adel, who was 
assigping individuals to locations where they were to fight alongside other al 
Qaida associates against U. S. and Coalition forces. Given a choice ofthrec 
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different locations, Hicks chose to ioin a group of al Qaida fighten near the 
Qandabar Airport. Anned with an AK-47 automatic rifle, ammunition, and 
grenades, Hicks traveled with his al Qaida associates to the Qandahar Airport. 

I. On or about October 20(H, after Coalition bombing operations commenced, Hicks 
joined an armed group outside the airport, where they guarded a Taliban tank. 

m. After guarding the tank for approximately one week, Hicks, still armed with the 
AK-47 rifle, ammunition, and grenades, traveled with an LET acquaintance to 
Konduz, Mgbaoistan, aniving around November 9, 2001. There, he joined 
othm, including John Walker Lindh, who were engaged in combat against 
Coalition forces. 

CHARGE 1: ATIEMfIED MURDER BY AN 
UNPRIVILEGED BELLIGERENT 

21. David Matthew Hicks (alk/a Abu Muslim al Austraili, alk/a Muhammed Dawood), in 
Afghanistan between on or about September 11, 200 I and December I, 200 I, as a 
perpetrator, co-conspirator, member of an enterprise of persons who shared a common 
criminal purpose, an aider or abettor, or some combination thereof, attempted to murder 
divem pmons by directing small anns fire, explosives, and other means intended to kill 
American, British, Canadian, Australian, Afghan, and other Coalition forces, while he did not 
enjoy combatant immunity and such conduct taking place in the context of and associated 
with armed conflict. 

CHARGE 3: AIDING 1m; ENEMY 

22. David Matthew Hicks (alk/a Abu Muslim al Austraili, alk/a Muhammed Dawood), in 
Afghanistan between on or about January I, 2001, and December I, 2001, intentionally aided 
the enemy, to wit: aI Qaida and the Taliban, such conduct taking place in the context of and 
associated with armed conflict. 
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Biographical Summary 

Peter E. Brownback III 

Recei_ed a Regular Army commission as an infantry officer in June 
1969. After initial officer training, assigned as a platoon leader 
in 31325 PIR, 82d Abn Div, Fort Bragg, NC from October 1969 to 
February 1970. 

Vietnam service from June 1970 - June 1971 as an infantry platoon 
leader, armored cavalry platoon leader, and battalion S-1. all with 
the 173d Airborne Brigade. 

Served with 5th Special Forces Group at FBNC from June 71 to 
February 1973 as an A Detachment Commander and Battalion S-3. 

Infantry Officer Advanced Course - June 1973· May 1974. 

r~tL~~!!I!at~Fort Lee working 
aSiilStant d9fern;e counsel. Admitted to 

Assigned to Office of the Staff Judge Advocate, 82d Airborne 
Division, FBNC, 1977-1980. Trial Counsel, Chief Administrative 
Law. Chief Military Justice. 

Senior Defense Counsel. Fort Meade, MD. 1980-81. 

Operations Officer. US Army Trial Defense Service, Falls Church, 
VA. 1981-84. 

Legal AdvisorlLegallnstructor, USAJFK Center for Special Warfare, 
FBNC, 1984-85. 

Legal Advisor, Joint Special Operations Command, FBNC, 1985-88. 

Senior Military Judge, Mannheim. FRG, 1988-1991. 

Director of Legal Operations. JSOC, FBNC, Jan 91 - Apr 91. 

Staff Judge Ad_ocate, 22d SUPCOMIARCENT Forward, Dhahran, KSA. May 
91 - May 92. 

Chief Circuit Judge, 2d Judicial Circuit, FBNC, 1992 -1996. 

Chief Circuit Judge. 5th Judicial Circuit, Mannheim, FRG, 1996 - 1999. 

Entered On the retired rolls on 1 July 1999. 

Recalled to active duty on 14 July 2004. 
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AWARDS. Combat Infantryman's Badge, Special Forces Tab, Ranger 
Tab, Master Parachutist Badge, DSM, LOM x 3, BSM x 5, MSM x 2, 
JSCM x 2, ARCOM x 2, AAM, JMUA x 2, NDSM, VSM, SWABS, HSM, 
RVNGCUC, RVNCAMU, KUKULISM 
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Voir Dire Question Prepared by Presiding Officer, COL Peter E. Brownback 
(Taken from the Draft Trial Guide.) 

1. I do not know any accused whose case has been referred to the Commission. 

2. I do not know any person named in any of the charges. 

3. Of the names of witness I have seen so far, I do not recognize any of their names. 

4. I do not have any prior knowledge of the facts or events in this case that will make me unable 
to serve impartially. 

S. I do not know, and have no command relationship with, any other member. 

6 .I believe that I can vote fairly and impartially notwithstanding a difference in rank with other 
member. I will not use my rank to influence any other member. 

7. I have not had any dealings with any of the parties to the trial, to include counsel for both 
sides, that might affect my perfonnance of duty as a Commission member in any way. 

8. I have not had any prior experience, either personal or related to my military duties, that I 
believe that would interfere with my ability to fairly and justly decide this case. 

9. No family member, relative, or close friend that [ am aware of was the victim of the events of 
9-11, and has not been the victim of any alleged terrorist act. I have been told that a fonner 
Judge Advocate General's Corps officer was on one of the planes which hit the World Trade 
Center. This officer was assigned to Fort Bragg at some time during the period 1984 to 1988, 
while I was assigned there. I do not recall the last time I saw the officer, nor do I recall his name. 
He was not assigned to the same unit(s) to which I was we met, I feel certain, 

of the advocate functions on base. 

10. I have seen and heard general media reporting about the events of 9-11, al Qaida, Usama Bin 
Laden, and terrorism on broadcast TV and the various newspapers. Nothing I have seen or read 
will have any effect on my ability to perform the duties as a Commission member fairly and 
impartially. 

11. I promise as a Commission Member that 1 will keep an open mind regarding the verdict until 
all the evidence is in. 

12. I know and respect that the accused is presumed innocent and this presumption remains 
unless his guilt is established beyond a reasonable doubt. I know and respect that the burden to 
establish the guilt of the accused is on the prosecution. 1 agree to be guided by and follow these 
principles in deciding this case. 

13. I have nothing of either a personal or professional nature that would cause me to be unable to 
gi ve my full attention to these proceedings throughout the triaL 
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14. I am not aware of any matter that might raise question concerning my participation in this 
trial as a Commission member. 

Peter E. Brownback III 
Colonel, USA 

Page 21 of 234 

------------------T . 

Review Exhibit _' ..... __ _ 

Page Lf Of ,1. 



Presiding Officer Voir Dire Addendum - Relationship with Other Personnel 

a. Mr. Haynes: I believe that I once met the General Counsel at the Army's Judge 
Advocate General's School in 1996 or 1997 as part of an organized run. We exchanged 
perhaps ten minutes worth of casual chit-chat during the run. Other than that, I have had 
no contact with Mr. Haynes. 

b. Mr. Altenburg: 

I. I first met (then) CPT Altenburg in the period 1977-78, while he was assigned 
to Fon Bragg. My only specific recollection of talking to him was when we discussed 
utilization of courtrooms to try cases. 

2. To the best of my knowledge and belief, I did not see or talk to Mr. Altenburg 
again until sometime in the spring of 1989 at the Judge Advocate Ball in Heidelberg. 
Later, in November-December 1990, (then) LTC Altenburg obtained Desert Camouflage 
Uniforms for COL Wayne Iskra and me so that we would be properly outfitted for trials 
in Saudi Arabia. 

3. During the period 1992 to 1995, (then) COL Altenburg was the Staff Judge 
Advocate, XVlII Airborne Corps and Fort Bragg while I was the Chief Circuit Judge, 2nd 

JUCIlClal C:ircllit, with station at Fon Our the same blJl!i<l1rl 

this period, Mr. Altenburg and I became friends. 
saw each other about twice a week and sometimes more than that. We generally attended 
all of the SJA social functions. He and his wife (and children - depending upon which of 
his chil dren were in residence at the time) had dinner at our house at least three times in 
the three years we served at Fort Bragg. I attended several social functions at his quarters 
on post. Though he was a convening authority and I was a trial judge, we were both 
disciplined enough to not discuss cases. I am sure there were times when he was not 
pleased with my rulings. 

4. From summer 1995 to summer 1996 when Mr. Altenburg was in Washington 
and I at Fon Bragg, he and I probably talked on the telephone three or four times. I 
believe that hc stayed at my house one night during a TOY to Fort Bragg (but I am not 
certain.). 

5. During the period June 1996 to May 1999, I was stationed at Mannhein, 
Germany and Mr. Altenburg was in Washington. Other than the World-Wide JAG 
Conferences in October of 1996,1997, and 1998, I did not see nor talk to MG Altenburg 
except once -- in May of 1997,1 attended a farewell dilUler hosted by MG Altenburg for 
COL Jobn Smith. In May 1999, MG Altenburg presided over my retirement ceremony at 
The Judge Advocate General's School and was a primary speaker at a "roast" in my honor 
that evening. 
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6. Since my retirement from the Army on I July 1999, Mr. Altenburg has never 
been to our house and we have never been to his. From the time of my retirement until 
the week of 12 July 2004, I have had the occasion to speak to him on the phone about 
five to ten times. I had two meetings or personal contacts with him during that period. 
First, in July or August 2001 when 1 was a primary speaker at a "roast" in MO 
Altenburg's honor at Fort Belvoir upon the occasion of his retirement. Second, in 
November (1 believe.) 2002, I attended his son's wedding in Orlando, Florida. 

1. 1 sent him an email in December 2003 when he was appointed as the 
Appointing Authority to congratulate him. I also sent him an email in the spring of 2004 
when I heard that he had named a Presiding Officer. Sometime in the spring of 2004, I 
called his house to speak to his wife. After we talked, she handed the phone to Mr. 
Altenburg. lie explained that setting up the office and office procedures was tough. I 
suggested that he hire a former JA Warrant Officer whom we both knew. 

8. To the best of my memory, Mr. Altenburg and I have never discussed anything 
about the Commissions or how they should function. Without doubt, we have never 
discussed any case speci fically or any of the cases in general. I am certain that since 
being appointed a Presiding Officer we have had no discussions about my duties or the 
Commission Trials. 

c. BO Hemingway: I had never met, talked to, or otherwise communicated with BO 
Hemingway until I reported on 14 July 2004. 

d. Members: I have never met or talked to any of the other members of the commission. 
I have emailed instructions to all of them and received email receipts from all of them. A 
copy of what I sent to the members was provided to all counsel. 
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Memorandum for All Counsel 18 August 2004 

Subject: Questionnaire #2 - Presiding Officer Voir Dire 

I. I have received questions from counsel in Al Bahlul, Hamden, and Hicks. Many of 
the questions are the same or so nearly the same as to make no difference. I am 
answering these questions by this memorandum. 

2. I refer al\ counsel to MCO #1, para 6B(I) and (2) - the commission is to provide a full 
and fair trial, impartially and expeditiously. Further, MCI # 8, para 3A(2), states that 
questioning of the members, to include the Presiding Officer, shall be narrowly focused 
on issues pertaining to whether good cause may exist for removal of any member. 

3. Professional Background--

a. I have served in close ground combat only in Vietnam - where I was a rifle 
platoon leader and an armored cavalry platoon leader. I do not remember having any 
occasion to deal with enemy prisoners - either by capturing them or being involved in 
trying them or questioning them. However, I did work with former Viet Cong who had 
come over to the ARVN. 

b. During my time as an infantry officer and a judge advocate, I attended many 
courses - some of which focused on the law of war and intemationallaw. I do not recall 
the where/when's for these courses. I taught various aspects ofintemationallaw and law 
of war at the JFK Special Warfare Center for a year. To the best of my knowledge, I 
have not attended any courses focusing on LOAC or IL since 1984185. However, during 
various presentations at general courses, I may have had some exposure to these subjects. 

c. I have not received any specialized training, formal orinf01mal, on AI Qaeda, 
the Taliban, Islamic Fundamentalism, or detainee operations. I have had the occasion to 
read newspaper and news magazine accounts of various aspects of the topics above. I 
also have read some articles published in the Army War College journal and the Military 
Law Review. Additionally, I have read numerous articles on various topics while surfing 
the web. 

d. I am generally aware of the conduct of operations in Afghanistan and Iraq. I 
am interested in such operations. I have had occasion to look at the DOD website on 
Military Commissions. I have not seen any of the data or articles on detainee operations. 

e. I have not written for publication or spoken publicly about any of the topics in 
paragraph 3c above. 

f. I am and have been an associate member of the Virginia State Bar since 1977. 
I have never practiced law in the civilian sector. 

4. Personal Background: 
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a. 1 was raised as a Christian. I do not attend church regularly. I have no 
antipathy towards Islam, or any of the other major religions. My knowledge of Islam is 
based primarily upon my readings and my dealings with Saudis, Kuwaitis, and others 
during my tour in Saudi Arabia in 1991-92. I am not an expert in the area of Islam, 
although I have some knOWledge. I do own a Qur-An, but [do not profess to be a student 
of the Qur-An. 

b. [entered onto the retired rolls on I July 1999. [intended to be retired. 
However, I soon discovered that I was slightly bored. Consequently, at the urging of my 
wife, I took several part-time jobs. These included being an enumerator for the 2000 
Census, a safety person for beach renewal operations, an instructor for an SAT prep 
course, and an instructor at a local college. I enjoyed all of the jobs and I regretted 
having to quit two of them upon my recall to active duty. 

c. My hearing is within deployment standards. I do not like to have people 
mumble - I prefer that they speak with a command voice. There is no impairment. 

d. Caveat - see 4e, below. I belong to several military professional organizations 
and to various social organizations. None of them is political in nature. I do not attend 
meetings. 

c. I do belong to a local community organization which supports various 
propositions invol ving local city management and zoning. It is political only in the sense 
that it wants voters to vote in accordance with its recommendations - most of which are 
simplyanti-<lver-developmenl. I have attended at least three of its meetings when thc 
topic was one of interest to me. 

f. I am registered to vote. My Voter Registration Card shows NP A in the Party 
block. I have not campaigned for anyone. 

j. Effect of9/\I and other events: 

a. See Questionnaire #1 for the only person I knew who was killed on 9/1 I. 

b. I knew and know many people in the Pentagon. I did not have any personal 
friends who were killed or injured there; however, I did have friends who were in the 
building when the plane hit. 

c. I have many friends and others who have been stationed in Afghanistan and 
Iraq. I am aware of the impact of war upon soldiers and their families. 

d. There was no specific impact of9/11 and related events upon me or my family. 
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6.Mr._ 

a. I first became aware of Keith_n 1980-81. I was the Senior Defense 
COWlsel at Fort Meade, MD. The post stockade serv~ posts along the east coast. 
One of those posts was Fort Eustis, VA, where CPT_was a prosecutor. He was 
the lead prosecutor on a murder case - I became involved in the case through my dealings 
with the DC at Eustis. 

b. I next saw LTC_when he was the Regional Defense Counsel in 
Stuttgart, Germany and I was one of the military judges at Mannheim. We had numerous 
professional contacts and we may have been at two or three social functions together. 

c. In 1992, I became the Chief Circuit Judge, 2d Judicial Circuit, Fort Bragg, NC. 
One of the Circuit Judges who worked for me was LTC (later COL)_ We worked 
closely together - via telephone and electronic bulletin board (precursor to email) - until 
his departurefor Fort Hood in 1995. During this period, I only saw him at judicial 
training functions and on one occasion when I promoted him to Colonel. 

d. From 1995 to 1996, COL_and I talked and exchanged emails routinely 
on various matters. We worked on the Benchbo.2!",!.2I!::her and we helped each other 
with various case-related problems. I saw COL_once, during a judicial training 
function. 

e. From 1996 until my retirement in 1999, COL_and I continued to 
exchange ideas, suggestions, instructions, and the like by email. I saw him three times at 
judicial training functions. 

one occasion, deep sea fishing together. 
come across a criminal law case which he thOUght would 

interest me, he would forwlll'd it to me. 

g. ~he period after the annOWlcement of the Military Commissions in 
2001, Mr._and I discussed the commissions on at least one occasion. He knew 
that I had put my name in for consideration. On 29 June 2004, I received an email from 
LTC.at OMC. In it he stated that the Appointing Authority was considering hiring a 
Legal Advisor to the Presid~cer and asked if I had any recommendations. I 
immediately gave him Mr.~ame, because: 

I) I was personally familiar with and work ethic. 
2) I was personally familiar with of criminal law 

and procedure. 
3) 1 was personally famililll' with Mr._ability to write, edit, and 

pUblish procedural matters. 
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4) I was aware of Mr.~erformance as a military judge, both the 
highs and the lows. 

LTC_asked me for Mr.~ntact information and I gave it to him. 
the UP MCO #1, executed a ~ al,'l'eement 

wher~._would be 
paid by~is empl~OMc. 

During the period of the detail, nrilmru-vfocus is OMC. Mr._has 
distributed a copy ofthe detailing agreement to all counsel. 

h. Once LTC_and Mr.~alked, I talked to Mr.~d pointed out 
some of the problem areas in working with the commissions. He eventually decided to 
accept the detai 1. 

i. Since IS July 2004, Mr._has been part of the procedural preparation for 
the proceedings before the commissions. He has written procedures. written emails, 
written memorand~repared various drafts. All of this has been done under my 
supervision. Mr._has also prepared memoranda and drafts which he forwarded to 
the Appointing Authority concerning procedural aspects oflhe commissions. He did this 
with my knowledge and consent, but acting tor the Appointing Authority. To my 
knowledge, Mr. _has had many communications wit~ersonnel - most by 
email. I am not aware of any communications between Mr._and any members of 
OGC. All of Mr.~ommunications with OMC personnel were in the area of 
procedural and logistic preparation for commission proceedings. I believe that it is 
entirely appropriate for Mr.~ discuss and make recommendations for procedural 
changes or structure so that the commission process may function efficiently and 
expeditiously. 

j. Mr._and I have never discussed the substance of any oflhe cases 
currently referred to the commission for trial. We have never discussed MCI #2. All of 
our discussions, efforts, and work have been focused on the procedural requirements to 
get cases before the commission. 

k. I have never had an ex parle discussion with Mr.~oncerning any of the 
cases referred to the commission. 

7. Selection as Presiding Officer: 

a. Sometime in the spring of 2002, I was told by somtlOne that the Presiding 
Officers of the Military Commissions could be retired officers who were recalled to 
active duty. I discussed this with Trial Judge. 

b. In January 2003. I got a caU from ocn, informing that if I wanted to put my 
name in for PO, I had to send in a statement. I did and I did. 
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c. In December 2003, I read that MG (Ret.) Altenburg had been named the 
Appointing Authority. In January I received a call from OCTJ wanting to know in, 
among others, was still interested. I was. 

d. On 24 or 25 June 2004, I got a call from LTC_at OMC. He wanted to 
know if I was still interested. I was. He told me that an announcement would be made 
quickly. On 28 June I got four phone messages that some PAO wanted to read me a 
press release so that I could okay it. I never found the PAO. On 29 June 2004, the 
announcement was made. 

e. MG (Ret.) Altenburg knew that I was interested in being on one ofthe 
commissions. 

e. That is aliI know about the selection process. 

8. Military Commissions: 

a. The Presiding Officer has specifically designated roles and duties under MCO 
# I and the MCl's. Those roles and duties are different, in many ways, from those of the 
other members ofthe commission. In some areas, MCO #1 and the MCl's give the 
Presiding Officer the authority to act for the commission without the formal assembly of 
the full commission. UP the President's Military Orde, the Presiding Officer can be 
overruled by a majority of the commission in certain areas. For a full explanation ofthe 
Presiding Officer's powers, see MCO #1 and the MCl's. As the only member of the 
commission who is a judge advocate, I will tell the commission what I believe the law to 
be. However, the President's Military Order states that the commission will decide all 
questions oflaw and fact. As with all matters oflaw, I invite counsel to provide motions 
and briefs so that I may become better informed - I note that there have been no motions 
or notice of motions to date on any legal topics. 

b. Addressing a specific question, I did in fact state: "Perhaps a better way of 
looking at the matter is to say that I have authority to order those things which I order 
done. " I then went on to say that this was based on my interpretation of the law and that 
my interpretation would be the one that counted "until superior competent authority (The 
President. The Secretary of Defense. The General Counsel of the Department of Defense. 
The Appointing Authority) issues directives stating that what I am doing is incorrect." 
Based on a directive from the Appointing Authority, I did not and will not hold 
commission sessions without the full commission. This directive did change my opinion 
concerning my ability to hold sessions without the full commission. 

c. Based on my interpretation of the MCO and MCl's, the standard for whether or 
not a member should sit is whether there is good cause to believe that the member can not 
be fair and impartial and provide a full and fair trial. The determination as to whether 
there is good cause to relieve a member is made by the Appointing Authority. If! believe 
that there is good cause to relieve me or any other member, I am required to forward that 
information to the Appointing Authority for his decision. 
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d. I have had the occasion to review various material about military commissions. 
The commentary on commissions and the legality thereof is about what one would expect 
- a lot pro. a lot con. The commentary ranges from the legality of the commissions to the 
structure of the commissions to the law governing the establishment and operation of the 
commissions. Until these areas have been thoroughly briefed by counsel, I reserve my 
opinion. 

e. Any service member has the right and duty to disobey an unlawful order or 
general order or regulation However, the standard under Article 92 is quite high. 
Obviously, if the order or regulation is patently illegal, the source of the order or 
regulation does not mitigate the illegality. 

f. Counsel are encouraged to provide briefs on the issue of "declaring an order or 
regulation" unlawful by the Presiding Officer of a commission. I am not prepared to 
address the issue at this time. 

9. Personal Knowledge of Cases: 

a. I have read the charge sheets in all four cases which are presently referred to 
the commission for trial. That is all that I have read or know about any of the cases. I 
have not seen the Presidential Determinations in the cases. I have not discussed the facts 
of the cases with anyone - either in my personal or professional capacity. Until I received 
the charge sheets, I had never heard the names of any of the defendants. 

b. If the Prosecution proves all ofthe elements ofan offense beyond a reasonable 
doubt, then a vote for a guilty finding would be appropriate. If not, then a vote for a not 
guilty finding would be appropriate. 

c. As to the responsibility for the acts of9/11 and others, the only knowledge I 
have of the acts and the perpetrators is open news media If one were to believe what one 
reads, then it would appear that members of Al Qaeda were responsible for the attacks. I 
have no opinion as to the actions of specific individuals. 

10. General: 

a. My participation as a member and Presiding Officer in this commission will 
have an impact on my personal life. 11 will have no impact on my professional life - I do 
not have a professional life. Once these proceedings are finished, I will retire again. 

b. Media interest in the case will not have an impact on how I perform my duties. 

c. Other than memoranda and emails from OMC - on which counsel were cc'd, I 
have received no instructions, hints, suggestions, or any other fonn of communication 
from anyone in any governmental position (to include OMC and OGC) concerning what I 
should do as a Presiding Officer in these proceedings. Based on my personal and 
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professional knowledge of Mr. Altenburg, my belief is that he wants to have these cases 
tried fully and fairly. I have not discussed my role as Presiding Officer with Mr. 
Altenburg at all. 

d. I am not aware of any matter which might cause a reasonable person to believe 
that I could not act in a fair and impartial manner in these proceedings. 

Peter E. Brownback III 
COL,JA 
Presiding Officer 

Page 30 of 234 

Review Exhibit _1-'--__ 
Page /3 Of 13 



P (CDR _ Prosecution does not. 

DC (LCDR Swift): One moment, sir. We waive reading of the 
charges, sir. 

PO: 

CM 

CM 

CM 

CM 

CM 

PO: 

The reading of the charges may be omitted. 

Okay. Members of the commission and alternate member, 
the appointing authority who detailed you to this 
commission has the ability to remove you from service on 
this commission for good cause. Is any member, or 
alternate, aware of any matter that you feel might 
affect your impartiality, or ability to sit as a 
commission member, which you have not identified 
previously in the questionnaire you _ out? Before 
you answer please keep in mind that any statement you 
might make should be in general terms. 

(LtCol - No, sir. 

(Col - No, sir. 

(Col - No, sir. 

(Col - No, sir. 

(LtCol_ No, sir. 

Apparently not. Okay. 

I have previously filled out a commission member 
questionnaire. I previously provided counsel for both 
sides a summarized biography, a list of matters that one 
would ordinarily expect counsel to ask during a voir 
dire process, and a document concerning my knowledge of 
the appointing authority and other persons. I also 
provided all counsel with answers to other questions 
suggested by defense counsel. These documents will now 
be marked as the next RE in order. The documents are 
true to the best of my knowledge and belief. That 
document will be RE 8. 

Does either side wish to voir dire me outside the 
presence of other members? 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 
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PO: The other members will retire to the deliberation room. 

The panel members exited the hearing room. 

po: Please be seated. Let the record reflect the other 
members have left the deliberation room. 

I intend to keep a copy of RE 8 with me during voir dire 
so counsel may direct me to a specific question. 
Objection? 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, sir. 

po: Prosecution, voir dire? 

P (CDR _ Sir, I beLi.eve Commander Swift requested to 
question you, so 

po: No, he requested voir dire outside the presence of other 
members. 

P (CDR _ lIye, sir. 

PO: They are gone. 

Do you want to voir dire me? 

P (CDR _ Not at this time, sir. 

po: Commander Swift? 

DC (LCDR Swift): We don't have a podium, sir. Permission to move 
to the court table. 

po: (Indicating) 

DC (LCOR Swift): Sir, I would like to start by clarifying your 
membership in the Virginia bar. You indicated that you 
had been admitted to practice in the Virginia bar, I 
believe since the 1970s; is that correct? 

po: Yes. 

P (CDR _ What? I didn't understand. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I will restate the question. I would like 
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po: 

you -- what -- as a member of the Virginia bar what is 
your current position in the bar? 

I am an associate member of the Virginia bar. 

DC (LCDR Swift): What does associate member mean? 

po: You would have to ask the Virginia bar. 
practiced law in the civilian sector. 

I have never 

DC (LCDR Swift): Are you eligible to practice law in Virginia 
currently? 

po: I am an associate member of the Virginia bar. 1 am 
eligible to practice in Virginia if I change my status 
to actlve member. 

DC (LCDR Swift): What would be required to do that? 

po: 1 would have to take some -- a CLE. 

DC (LCDR Swift): So at this time you are not eligible to practice 
there? 

po: At this time I am not an active member of the Virginia 
bar. 

DC (LCDR Swift) Are you a member in good standing --

po: Go on. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Are you a member in good standing of any other 
U.S. court. 

po: We have got a problem, Commander Swift. The audience 
cannot hear you. We are going to have to do something. 
1 don't know if you could remove the microphone. I 
don't know if you can move the microphone. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I will stay back here, sir. 

MJ: I am only a member of the Virginia bar. That's the only 
bar I am a member of. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Sir, would you be eligible to serve as a 
civilian defense counsel for this commission 
proceedings? 
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PO: I don't know. I haven't examined that. 

DC (LCDR Swift): It requires you to be in good standing and a 
member of a court. 

po: I don't know. I haven't examined that. That question has 
been addressed in a CAAF case I believe. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I am aware of the CAAF case, sir. 

po: okay. Go on. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You indicated that you volunteered? 

po: Yes, I did. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Why? 

po: I retired in 1999 and I had no desire to do anything 
particularly. T had ten years of experience as a 
military judge, and I thought I was good at it. As a 
matter of fact, I still think I was good at it; and 
knowing the stresses and strains brought upon our 
military by the current operational environment and 
recognizing that retired people could serve, 1 
volunteered. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You in that question indicated you had been in a 
former military judge. Did you view when you were 
vOlunteering that you were volunteering to be a judge 
here? 

po: No. I viewed that I was volunteering to be a presiding 
officer. 

DC (LCDR Swift) 
do? 

What did you think the presiding officer would 

po: At the time that I initially volunteered, the only 
document that had been written was MeO Number 1 -­
excuse me, as well as the president's military order. I 
went to a dictionary and looked up presiding, and I 
thought that a presiding officer would preside. If you 
are asking me if I was aware of all of the differences 
between a military judge and a presiding officer, I 
couldn't say that I was. However, I knew that I was not 
volunteering to be a military judge. 

Review Exhibit lO 
12 

Page It Of lor 
Page 34 of 234 

T'" 
, 



DC (LCDR Swift): You mentioned that the military order and the 
Presidential's order had been written at the time that 
you volunteered. Did you read both of those documents 
before you volunteered? 

po: I scanned them. 

DC (LCDR Swift): After scanning them, did you believe that the 
process was lawful? 

po: I choose not answer that question at this time. Thank 
you. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Understand that you won't answer the question. 
You have an open mind now to the question of the 
lawfulness of the process? 

PO; That's a good question. Yes, I believe that the 
lawfulness of establishing the commission process by the 
President, the lawfulness, the delegation to the 
Secretary and to the general counsel are all matters 
which may be addressed by motion. And, I believe that 
it is the duty of counsel to educate all members of the 
commission on the law. 

DC (LCDR Swift): As part of your assignment or as part of being 
assigned as presiding officer, you have been detailed an 
assistant to the presiding officer? 

PO: Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Can you describe how that happened? 

po: I believe I put thetRatesin my questionnaire, but 
basicall~the 29 of June, I believe, Lieutenant 
Colonel I11III who works in the office of the military 
commissions, e-mailed me and said words to the effect of 
we are looking for someone to be an assistant to the 
presiding officer. Do you have any suggestions? 
Immediately and without giving question a 
chance to comment I said, yes, And I 
pointed out that I was aware 0 good sides 
and his bad sides. After that, e-mailed me 
back for his e-mail address and 

DC (LCDR Swift); Was he appointed as your assistant? 

po: There was a detailing agreement. There is a detailing 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Can you explain what his duties are? 

P (CDR liliiii Sir, at this time I am going to object. What we 
are trying to determine is whether ~e qualified to 
preside over this proceeding. Mr. liliiii is not a 
voting member and we feel this line of questioning is 
unwarranted. 

po: Thank you. Go on. Just tell me, ask me your question. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I will get quickly to it, sir. 

po: That is fine. 

DC (LCDR Swift) You supervise Mr. _ is that correct? 

po: Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift) Mr. liliiii has had contact with the appointing 
authority; is that correct? 

po: Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did he do so at your direction? 

po: He has done many -- he has had many contacts with the 
appointing authority at my direction. He has had many 
contacts with the appointing autho~ity at my consent. 
He has had many contacts with the appointing authority 
that I didn't hear about until after he talked to him. 
His duties are divided into various ra~~es. ror 
instance, he has been here since the 9 of August 
arranging to get things done. When the CCTV broke down 
this morning, he was the one who arranged to get it 
fixed. When your interpreter couldn't get a head set, 
he was the one to whom you came to get a head set. 
That's one set. He also is the best person I have ever 
known for drafting, writing, coordinating, and 
publishing procedures; and he works in that area. He 
also functions to work out the procedural aspects of the 
cases. ror instance, he has provided to all counsel on 
this case a listing of all the motions and responses and 
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whatever. Okay, those are three general areas. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I want to address, second, the publishing and 
drawing of scripts, et cetera. 

po: Okay. Go on. 

DC (LeDR Swift): Does he work exclusively for you in that 
capacity or has he worked exclusively for you in that 
capacity? 

PO: On the 19th of August I believe, I could be wrong, the 
~ity published a memorandum stating that 
............... exclusively for me. So tRere you 
know -- just a second, we know from the 19 he works 
for me; right? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: Okay. Before that he provided, and you have got copies of 
all of this, various suggestions to the office of 
military commissions on how to write or create 
procedural changes and the procedures for these 
commissions. There. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Was that after charges had been referred against 
Mr. Hamdan? 

PO: Right. 

DC (LeDR Swift): So he was writing how to change the procedures 
after the charges had been referred? 

po: Right. 

DC (LCDR Swift): And you viewed that as appropriate? 

po: Yeah, I did. 

DC (LCDR Swift): It didn't concern you that it would be expos 
facto changes after we had established a commission and 
charges had been referred to it? 

po: I didn't consider that the changes would come into effect 
in any time to affect anyone. These were changes to the 
commission procedures as a whole, not changes 
necessarily affecting Mr. Hamdan and if you believe that 
they would then I would have expectod you to file some 
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motion saying that these procedures can't be changed 
because they would affect Mr. Hamdan adversely. 

DC (LCDR Swift): To date, I don't know that any have; but I know 
communication has occurred. 

po: Thank you. 

DC (LCDR Swift): So I would respond that until they actually are 
changed there is no expos facto issue. 

po: Thank you. I agree. 

DC (LCDR Swift): What I am concerned about though is that there 
is conversations about changing and applying them to 
expos facto. 

po: Okay, that's that concern. Go on. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Other than the meetings that we put on the 
record earlier, have you met with military co~nsel 
regarding those proceedings in the past? 

po: I had that meeting with all the 
the counsel who were in D.C. on 
July. And I had a meeting witg 
showed up yesterday on the 23r 

counsel on or a~gut, 
or about the 15 - of 
all the counsel who 
of August. 

all 

DC (LCDR Swift): During that meeting 
an opinion regarding speedy 
to a speedy trial? 

on 15 July, did you express 
the right of any detainee 

po: No, I didn't. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I wasn't at the meeting, but I was told that you 
did. I don't 

PO: Thank you. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did yo~ mention speedy trial at all? 

po: Speedy trial was mentioned. Article 10 was mentioned, and 
there was some general conversation. I didn't take 
notes at the meeting. It was a meeting to tell people 
who I was and asking them to get -- start On motions and 
things. 

DC (LCDR Swift): But you didn't expect -- while those things were 
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po: 

mentioned, you don't recall expressing an opinion 
yourself? 

, 
No. I didn't have any motions or anything. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Now, based on the trial script that we have been 
provided, you intend to instruct the members on the law; 
is that correct? 

po: Yes. 

DC (LCDR swift): How are you going to avoid having an inordinate 
influence in respect to each of their opinions while 
doing that? 

po: I don't understand your question. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Well, historically and certainly barring from 
the judge's bench book, it says that each member should 
have an equal weight in deciding any opinion. Here they 
are deciding both fact and law. How, after you have 
instructed them, will they have the opportunity to have 
an equal opinion as to what the law is? 

po: You refer to the trial script. 
I said there? 

Did you read farther what 

DC (LCDR Swift) : I did. 

po: What did I say? 

DC (LCDR Swift): In that portion, you said that they were free to 
disagree with you. 

po; And? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I also read --

po: Come on. 

DC (LCDR Swift) : in the trial script where you say to them, "I 

po: 

am the only lawyer; and therefore, I will instruct you 
on the law." Don't you agree that that gives you 
positional authority? 

Commander Swift, if you are going to read something let's 
read it all. 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: As I am the only lawyer appointed to the commission. Now 
that is a fact; right? 

DC (LCDR S'"ift): That is true, sir. 

po: I will instruct and advise on the law. However, the 
President has directed that the commission will decide 
all questions of law and fact, so you are not bound to 
accept the law as given to you by me. So what have I 
told them, okay -- I am not going to argue the point. 
The point is that they are all military officers. They 
have all sworn to dc their duty and I will advise them 
on the law as I have been required to do. And, I don't 
see how you can get around that. 

DC (LCDR Swift): My concern comes in their ability after being 
instructed that you are a lawyer, and you know the law, 
that you will have an unequal voice in any 
deliberations. That is something to be avoided, looked 
at ranks, looked at procedures, that's not happening, 
and how would we avoid that with the current instruction 
that we have? It says you are free to dlsagree, but I 
am a lawyer and I am probably right. 

po: Whoa, whoa, it does not say that. But that -- okay, so 
you object to the instruction? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. In determining not only on the 
instruction also concerned is in your ability to sit as 
the senior member or as the presiding officer that you 
will ensure that each member has an equal voice in every 
decision. 

po: I will. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Lastly, influence -- yesterday, during the 
meeting -- during our meeting yesterday, it was 
discussed whether we would hold up these proceedings 
pending the appointment of a security officer. Do you 
recall that, sir? 

po: Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): During that, you mentioned that holding it up 
would have an impact vis-a-vis the media. Do you agree 
with that? 
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PO: If you say I did. I believe what you say, but go on. 

DC (LCDR Swift): At least by that statement, it sounds like the 
media is having an impact on how you are making 
decisions. 

po: No. I think what that statement meant was that having 
been the floor person who had to orchestrate getting 
hundreds of people to various places at various times, 
that I sympathize and that we would do what we could to 
handle it. For instance, this morning with the CCTV 
broke down, we delayed -- we have delayed the start of 
these proceedings 

DC (LCDR Swift): We have a translation issue, sir. When we 
switched translators, he is no longer understanding 
anything being said. 

po: Can we switch to another translator? The court is 
addressing the table of translators -- the commission is 
addressing -- I am addressing the table of translators. 
Can we switch to another translator? 

The translators changed positions. 

po: For instance, this morning when he we had that CCTV break, 
we delayed the proceeding for 30 minutes to start so 
that the feed to the off-site viewing location could be 
established. If you mean am I concerned about what the 
media says or writes about me, no. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Understand, sir. 
questions. 

I don't have any further 

po: Challenge? 

P (CDR _ I have some additional questions, sir. 

po: Go on. 

P (CDR _ Sir, Military Commission Order Number 1 states that 
a presiding officer needs to be a military officer whose 
a judge advocate of any United States armed force. As 
you sit here today, do you meet that criteria, sir? 

po: Yes. 

P (CDR _ Sir, you received some g'Jestions from Commander 
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po: 

Swift about whether the establishment of commissions was 
lawful and the executive order waS lawful. As you sit 
here today, have you made any predeterminations with 
respect to those questions? 

All of the counsel in the courtroom are familiar with the 
Uniform Code of Military Justice. If an order is 
patently illegal, that is one thing. However, if an 
order is questionable, which apparently some people 
thinks it is, then an officer or any member of the 
service has a duty to comply while determining whether 
or not it is illegal. 

P (CDR _ Now, sirththe notice of motions for the defense was 
due on the 19 of August. Have they filed any such 
notice of motion challenging the legality of those 
orders? 

po: That -- please sit down, Commander Swift. You look like 
you are about to jump. Don't jump. Don't worry about 
that. 

P (CDR _ Sir, will the role of the assistant to the 
presiding officer in any way impact your ability to 
fairly decide matters in this case? 

po: In so far as he takes so much off my back, yes, it will 
because I don't have to worry about all the admin stuff 
that he has been sucking up. But in terms of his 
impacting my vote, my voice, no. 

P (CDR _ Now you~hat there have 
between Mr . ....... and, you used 
authority. 

been several contacts 
the term, appointing 

po: I thought I said OMC, but maybe I didn't. 
circle around Mr. Altenburg? 

I meant the 

P (CDR _ So that doesn't necessarily mean he is speaking 
with Mr. Altenburg directly, but could be speaking to 
the staff person of Mr. Altenburg? 

po: Right. 

P (CDR _ Sir, the issue of speedy trial was brought up and 
we have, in fact, have notice of motions provided 
concerning speedy trial. Is there anything as you sit 
here right now whlch will impact your ability to fairly 
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decide those motions? 

po: No. 

P (CDR _ As far as your interaction with the other members, 
do you consider them to have equal votes in this case? 

po: Yes. 

P (CDR _ Do you consider them to be on equal footing with 
respect to votes as to what the law is? 

po: Yes. 

P (CDR _ If they need or request assistance, not being 
legally trained as you are, in trying to determine what 
the law is will you take steps to get them that 
assistance? 

po: To get them what? 

P (CDR _ Assistance to help them understand the law? 

po: Yes. 

P (CDR _ Sir, are you aware of any actions or are underway 
to hire court clerks to assist the other commission 
members? 

po: = received -- and I forget when it was -- in the last 
month a draft, I believe, of a hiring of someone, a 
position nomination for someone to work in the office of 
the presiding officers. Where that is I don't know. 

P (CDR IIIIIt Sir, is the media in any way going to impact your 
ability to fairly decide this case? 

po: No. 

P (CDR _ If it is a question to providing the accused a fair 
trial and accommodating the media, where will that 
decision lie? 

po: We have spent a lot of money to get six people here to 
look at Mr. Hamdan across this table. We are here so 
that these six people can carry out to President's order 
to provide a full and fair trial for Mr. Hamdan. 
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P (CDR _ I have no further questions, sir. 

PO; Thank you. 

DC (LCDR Swift): May I have a moment? 

PO; Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift); Sir, in your answers to Commander _ you 
indicate that you take steps to assist the other members 
understanding the law. What steps would those be? 

PO: well, since I don't know -- I am not being sarcastic I 
don't know what the situation would be. The first step 
is that counsel will provide motions on the law and the 
second step is that counsel will be allowed to argue 
what the law is. If the commission members decide that 
they need any more instruction on the law, then I will 
decide that then. I don't know. I don't know what they 
are going to need. I can't tell you what the steps are 
right now. 

Now, some -- you can't predict something about a 
situation that hasn't arisen yet, Commander Swift. I'm 
sorry. If your concern is this -- and I don't know why 
you have been walking around it -- sir, are you going go 
back in there and say, okay, y'all, I am a lawyer and 
you are not and this is the law and you got to listen to 
me. Is that your concern basically? 

DC (LCDR Swift); I do not believe you would be, sir. I am more 
concerned, not that you would intentionally do such a 
thing, I don't think you would. My concern is how a 
lawyer is inevitably viewed by other staff officers. It 
is the equivalent of my wife, who is a pilot, and I 
sitting in the cockpit seat and today we are going to 
fly an airplane and I look over and she says put the 
throttles forward. 

po: Okay. So is your compliant about me Or about any lawyer? 

DC (LCDR Swift): My concern is how we can minimize this position 
and how those steps would be taken to prevent it. 

po: I can't tell you what I will do in an unspecified 
situation. I can tell you that I am not going to say, I 
have been a judge for ten years and a JAG for 27 years 
and you got to tell -- you got to do what I tell you 
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about the law. That's the first thing I can tell you. 
The second thing is that if they need more assistance On 
the law I imagine and I don't know, Commander Swift, 
because it hasn't arisen, that if they need mOre 
instruction on the law, I will call you and Commander 
_ back into court and say -- I am using his name in 
vain -- Colonel IIIIIIII is your question the application 
say of IN RE Sierra to 42 U.S.C.~ and he will say, 
yes. And I will say, Commander ...... would you explain 
your views on that; and he will say, whatever. And 1 
will say, does that answer your question; and you will 
say something, I don't know. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I understand, sir. 

po: Okay. However if you feel the urge, I always welcome 
briefs on any matter. That's not an order for a brief. 
If you want to put it in, feel free. Okay, what else, 
what other follow up do you have, Commander Swift? 

DC (LCDR Swift): No other follow up. 

PO: Challenge? 

P (CDR _ Prosecution has no challenge. 

DC (LCDR swift): I would like to recess to consult with my client 
regarding 

pO: Well, I understand that, but I mean I am asking really 
what sort of recess do you need? Five minutes jn place 
or fifteen minutes in the office? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Fifteen minutes in the office, sir. 

PO: Court is in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1115, 24 August 2004. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1142, 24 August 
2004. 

PO: The commission will come to order. Let the record reflect 
that only the presiding Officer is in the commission 
room. The other members are not present. Defense? 

P (CDR _ Sir, before we~er, we have a new court 
reporter, Sergeant lIIIIIIIIand she has previously been 
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sworn. 

po: Thank you. 

De (LeDR Swift): Yes, sir. Before entering challenges, would you 
permit me one more question, sir? 

po: Yeah. 

DC (LCDR Swift): When you said that you are a judge advocate, 
were you recertified when you came back off of active 
off of retirement, or do you base that on you previously 
being a judge advocate? 

po: To the best of my knowledge and belief, Major General Tom 
Rummy -- Thomas Rummy, who is the Judge Advocate 
General, personally approved my retirement recall, and 
he is the one who certifies people as judge advocates. 

DC (LCDR Swift): And you base that on your belief -- on that 
belief? 

po: Yeah. 

DC (LeDR Swift): Notwithstanding, sir, 
Presiding Officer for cause. 
me, four areas. 

we do challenge the 
We have three -- excuse 

po: 

One, we challenge the qualifications of the Presiding 
Officer as a judge advocate based on being recalled from 
retired service and not being an active member of any 
Bar association at the time he was recalled. 

Two, despite, we understand that this is almost 
necessarily by the position you've been placed in, we 
challenge the Presiding Officer based on that the fact 
that he will exercise improper influence Over the other 
members. 

Okay. I want to make sure you clarify this. Are you 
challenging the system, or are you challenging me? 
Because the standard is good cause that I will not 
perform my duties. 

DC (LeDR Swift): We're challenging you, sir. 

PO: Okay. 
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DC (LCDR Swift): We are also challenging based on the mUltiple 
contacts that you have had, either through your 
assistant, or through yourself with the appointing 
authority. I understand that you said that this is not 
going to influence you in any way. We believe that it 
creates the appearance of unfairness, and at least at 
that level, we challenge on that. 

po: 

Additionally, based on -- although I did not attend the 
meeting of 15 July -- based on consultation with counsel 
that did, we challenge you based on having formed 
opinions prior to court regarding the accused's right in 
this trial -- the accused's right to a speedy trial in 
this case. 

Anything else? 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, sir. 

po: What do you say? 

P (CDR _ Sir, defense counsel said they're not challenging 
the system, they're challenging you personally. But 
they also said during voir dire, I don't think you would 
ever do anything intentionally unfair. So if it's a 
challenge to the individual, the prosecution doesn't 
believe we can do any better than a person who the 
defense concedes would never intentionally do anything 
unfair. 

po: 

The defense has stated many things about conversations 
between the appointing authority and Mr. IIIIIIII and the 
appointing authority and yourself. Specifically, during 
those conversations between you and defense counsel on 
voir dire, he stated there's been no prejudice. So as 
we sit here today, you are not tainted, there has been 
no prejudice to the defense, and we havthhad recent 
changes with respected to the August 19 memo, which 
should preclude any appearance of this happening in the 
future. 

Sir, we have no challenge and do not feel that there is 
any cause to challenge you as the Presiding Officer. 

I've considered your challenges for cause, Commander 
Swift. Under the provisions of Mel 8, I'll forward to 
the appointing authority for his decision and action, a 
transcript of the voir dire, which will include your 
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challenge and the reasons therefore, and the comments 
made by counsel. I will also forward the Presiding 
Officer's voir dire packet, which I believe is RE 8. 

Are there any other matters that you would wish to be 
forwarded to him for his decision? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I would wish to be able to brief, as it did come 
up during the course of this, the issue of 
qualifications. 

PO: When do you think you could have that prepared? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Certainly no later than next Monday. 

PO: Okay. Well? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I'm somewhat 
that type of thing. 
Monday .. 

at a loss while down here to do 
But I can complete it by next 

po: If you will forward that t 
provide you with any crocc-,.,r 
matter, and then forward it to me, and I 
the appointing authority. 

and he will 
s to this 

will get it to 

Anything else that should go up with this? 

DC (LCDR Swift): The defense has nothing else, sir. 

po: Well, I mean the packet to the appointing authority. 

P (CDR _ Nothing from the prosecution. 

PO: Okay. Under the provisions of MCl 8 paragrapll 3 (a) (3), I 
will not hold the proceedings in abeyance. 

Okay. Please recall the other members. 

The members entered the courtroom. 

Please be seated. The commission will come to order. 
Let the record reflect that all of the members of the 
commission are present. 

Have all the commission members completed a member 
questionnaire? 
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Apparently so. 

Have both counsel been provided copies of the member 
questionnaires? 

DC (LCOR Swift): Yes, sir. 

P (CDR _ YeS, sir, I have. 

po: Prosecutor, please have the members questionnaires marked 
as the next RE in order. 

P (CDR _ Sir, I've marked them Review Exhibits 
9£. 9A would be Colonel _ 98, 
Colonel _ 90, Lieutenant Colonel 
Lieutenant Colonel _ And I'm ha n9 
bailiff for delivery to the court reporter. 

9C, 

po: Those questionnaires will be under seal. 

Okay. Members, I'm now going to ask you a few 
preliminary questions. If any member has an affirmative 
response to any question, please raise your hand. As I 
ask these questions and make reference to the members, 
this refers to both the Commission Members and the 
alternate. And if I failed to state it, the alternate 
came in with the other members. 

Does any member know the accused? 

Apparently not. 

Does any member know any person named in the charges? 

Apparently not. 

~ member kno~ of the counsel -- Captain 
1IIIIIIII Commander I11III Commander Swift -- involved In 
this case? 

Apparently not. 

Members, having seen the accused, having read the 
charges, do any of you feel that you cannot give the 
accused a fair trial for any reason? 

Apparently not. 
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Do any of you have any prior knowledge of the facts or 
events in this case that will make you unable to serve 
impartially? 

Apparently not. 

Do any of you feel that you cannot vote fairly and 
impartially because of a difference in rank, or because 
of a command relationship with any other member? 

Apparently not. 

Members, later I am going to instruct you as follows: 
As I am the only lawyer appointed to the commission, I 
will instruct you and advise you on the law. However, 
the President has directed that the commission, meaning 
all of us, will decide all questions of law and fact. 
So you are not bound to accept the law as given to you 
by me. You are free to accept the law as argued to you 
by counsel either in court, or in motions. 

In closed conferences, and during deliberations, my vote 
and voice will count no more than that of any other 
member. Can each member follow that instruction? 

Apparently so. 

Is there any member who believes that he would be 
required to accept, without question, my instruction on 
the law? 

Apparently not. 

Have any of you had any dealings with any of the parties 
to the trial, to include counsel for either side, other 
members, including myself, which might affect your 
performance of duty as a commission member in any way? 

Apparently not. 

Do any of you feel that you cannot fairly and justly 
decide this case because of any prior experiences 
related to previous military assignments or duties? 

Apparently not. 

Do any of you feel that you cannot fairly and justly 
decide this case because of something you have read, 

28 Review Exhibit _--11....;:0 ... · __ 

Page 50 of 234 
Page lo Of ---!.:OI QIU.'_ 

----------~r- . 



heard, or seen in the media concerning the events of 
9/11, al Qaida, Usama bin Laden, or terrorism generally? 

Apparently not. 

Have any of you been a victim of an alleged terrorist 
attack, or had a close friend or family member who was a 
victim of an alleged terrorist attack? 

Apparently not. 

Okay. As commission members, we've got to keep open 
minds regarding the verdict until all of the evidence is 
in. The verdict can only be based on evidence received 
during the proceedings, and you may not rely upon prior 
knowledge of the facts or events no matter how you got 
this knowledge. Is there any member who cannot follow 
this instruction? 

Apparently not. 

Mr. Hamdan is presumed innocent. This presumption 
remains unless or until his guilt is established beyond 
reasonable doubt. The burden to establish Mr. Hamdan's 
guilt is upon the prosecutor. Does each member 
understand and agree with this principle, and further 
agree to follow this principle in deciding this case? 

Apparently so. 

Does any member know of anything of either a personal or 
a professional nature which would cause you to be unable 
to give your full attention to these proceedings 
throughout the trial? 

Apparently not. 

Are any of you aware of any matter that might raise a 
substantial question concerning your participation in 
this trial as a commission member? 

Apparently not. 

Any general voir dire of the members, trial? Not 
individual, general. 

P (CDR _ Yes, sir. May I proceed, sir? 
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PO: Pardon? 

P (CDR _ May I proceed, sir? 

po: 

P (CDR 

po: 

Yes, I'm sorry. 

Good afternoon, ~My name is Commander 
_ Captain _ and I represent the 

prosecution in this case. As all members participating 
before this commission, we're here to ensure a full and 
fair trial, and we have a few general questions we'd 
like to ask of all of you. 

Since arriving in Guantanamo Bay, has anyone from the 
media attempted to talk to you or discuss this case with 
you? 

Appacently not. 

P (CDR _ This trial will most likely require your full 
attention and may play out over several months. Does 
anyone have anything of a personal or professional 
nature that would limit your ability to participate over 
the next several months. 

po: Apparently not. 

P (CDR _ Can all members set aside any feelings generated by 
the attacks of 9/11, and render a verdict in this case 
that's based solely on the evidence presented? 

po: Apparently so. 

P (CDR _ All of you expressed in the questionnaires you 
filled out previously some concerns for your families as 
a result of your service on this commission. Do all 
members feel they can remain impartial towards all 
parties, and despite those concerns, fairly decide this 
case? 

po: Apparently, so. 

P (CDR _ Also reviewing your previously filled out 
questionnaires --

po: Let me note for the record that those questionnaires will 
be appended at sometime to the record, or they were. 
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P (COP. _ They were, 9A through E, sir. 

po: Yeah, 9A through E. Okay. 

P (COP. _ All of you have naturally seen some news reports on 
Afghanistan, al Qaida, and other pertinent topics. Can 
you set aside the generalized information from those 
reports and decide this case based On the facts 
presented here? 

po: Apparently, so. 

P (CDR _ We thank you. We have no further questions. 

po: General? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Good morning, sirs. My name is Lieutenant 
Commander Charles Swift, and -- l'm too far from the 
microphone -- and I represent Salim Ahmed Hamdan in Lhis 
case, and I also have some questions. 

po: 

Start with, doeS every member understand what the term 
"jurisdiction" means in the context of judicial 
proceedings? Do you understand what that means? 
They're going to be doing this a lot. 

Okay. Members, I'll instruct you on jurisdiction. 
Basically -- and I, of course will be glad to receive 
instructions from counsel -- jurisdiction means the 
authority of a court to hear a case. 

DC (LCDR Swift): We would agree with that. 

PO: 

In this case, now having understood what jurisdiction 
means, in this case, YOll've been provided wi th a finding 
being by the President of the United States that Mr. 
Hamdan is a person subject to the jurisdiction of this 
tribunal. The defense challenges 

For the record, I keep waiving my hand at Commander_ 
at Commander Swift, I even do it to myself. It's 
because we have a translator here who needs to have us 
talk slowly. It is not trial, it's not defense, it's 
not just me, it's all three of us. Go on. I apologize 
for interrupting you. 

DC (LCDR Swift): No problem, sir. It's going to take some 
getting used to. 
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po: 

I'll start the question again. In this case, you've 
been provided with a finding by the President of the 
United States that Mr. Hamdan is a person subject to the 
jurisdiction of this tribunal. The defense challenges 
this finding. 

Is each of you willing to consider whether the 
President's finding is, in fact, lawful? 

Apparently so. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Apparently so? All are willing to consider 
that? 

po: Apparently so. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Does any member believe that the President's 
finding is evidence that Mr. Hamdan committed a crime? 

po: Apparently not. 

DC (LCDR Swift): That's a negative response from all members. 

po: 

Does any member believe that the President, in making 
his findings -- let me restate that. Does any member 
believe that the President's findings are evidence that 
Mr. Hamdan has committed a crime? 

Will defense agree that a prerequisite to getting this 
case before this commission was that the President made 
such a determination? 

DC (LCDP. Swift): The defense agrees to that, sir. 

po: The Presidential determination was provided to you to show 
that this -- these charges were properly brought to this 
court. The determination is not evidence. Everybody 
understand that? 

Apparently so. 

DC (LCDR Swift): And to go back, it was -- in saying that it was 
lawfully brought, that means that that was a step 
necessary; it does not necessarily mean that the 
decision itself was lawful. 

po: Could you rephrase? 
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DC (LCDR Swift): One of my previous questions -- One of my 
previous questions was, whether every member was willing 
to consider whether the President had lawfully brought 
Mr. Hamdan to this -- before this trial, whether he was 
within the jurisdiction of the commission. 

po: They did agree to that. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes. I want to clarify that it is a step, but 
it is not in and of itself evidence that it is lawful. 

po: Okay. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Every me~ber agree with that? 

po: Apparently so. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Additionally, Mr. Altenburg, who was the 
appointing authority for this commission, he approved 
and referred the charges that you have before you. Does 
any member believe that because Mr. Altenburg approved 
that charge, that it states a valid offense against the 
law of war? 

po: Okay. All members understand that the charges were 
referred to this commission by Mr. John Altenburg who 
was delegated that duty under the order, the MCO, and 
the MCIs. All members understand that? 

And all members understand that by the document you got, 
the approval of the charge and the referral, 
Mr. Altenburg decided that this case should come before 
this commission. Do you all understand that? 

1 believe that Commander Swift's question, and he will 
correct me, is, do you all understand that whether or 
not Mr. Hamdan is guilty of anything is solely for this 
commission to determine after hearing all the evidence: 
and that what Mr. Altenburg did was just a step to get 
the charges here? Do you all understand that? 

Apparently so. 

DC (LCDR Swift): All of that is true, but my question wasn't 
exactly that. 

po: Well, that's why I said you could clarify. 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. In addition, one of the things the 
defense is challenging is that the offense stated is, in 
fact, a violation of the law of war; that is does it 
fall within the violations as recognized in 
international and national law as a law of war 
violation? To use a lawyerls term, does it even state 
an offense? What I'm asking is whether you all are 
willing to listen with an open mind as to whether or not 
that is true or not? 

po: As to whether or not the offense states a violation of the 
law of war? 

DC (LCDR Swife): That's correct. 

po: IS each member willing to consider, based on submissions 
by counsel, and the evidence that comes before the 
commission whether or not the offense as charged does, 
in fact, violate law of war? 

Apparently so. 

P (CDR _ Sir, we're going to object to the way that was 
phrased. We do not desire to argue this during voir 
dire, but we do think there's a legal issue as to what 
he characterized 

po: Thank you. 

P (CDR _ -- someone can be convicted of before this 
commission. 

po: Okay. Merr~ers, you're all willing to listen to the 
arguments from both sides and the evidence; correct? 
And what the President did in referring this, and 
what -- Dr making a determinatiDn, and what ~r. 
Altenburg did in referring this is not goi~g to affect 
YDur decision on findings Df guilt; right? 

Apparently so. 

I can't go any farther than that. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: Go on. 

DC (LCDR Swift): In order to decide issues of law, which you were 
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po: 

previously instructed you were going to do, you'll be 
required to consider the meaning of international 
treaties, the custom and practice as established by 
military regulations, handbooks, and international cases 
throughout the world, as well as the Constitution of the 
United States, federal judicial opinions, and federal 
statutes. This will require considerable study on your 
part. Is each of you able to devote the necessary time 
to gain a complete and independent understanding of the 
issues of law raised in the case? 

~ffirmative response from all members. 

As Colonel Brownback previously told you, he is the only 
lawyer on the panel. In this case, do any of you 
believe that Colonel Brownback's opinion of the law 
carries a greater weight than your own? His opinion 
of -- or what he tells you the law is, is it more valid 
than what you think? 

Okay. Are you going to name the members who are giving 
you responses? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I've received a response from Colonel liliiii 
that's negative, he doesn't believe that the opinion 
will sway him; Colonel liliiii has responded that the law 
is the law. 

Colonel _do you agree that your opinion is equal? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Colonel_ 

CM (Col _ Yes, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): And thank you. It's also going to, of course, 
be your duty as commission members to weigh the evidence 
and resolve controverted questions of fact. In so 
doing, if the evidence is in conflict, you will 
necessarily be required to give more weight to some 
evidence than others. It is, of course, your discretion 
to decide how much weight to give any piece of evidence. 
However, it is expected that you will use the same 
standards in weighing evidence -- in weighing and 
evaluating all of the evidence with that in mind. Is 
any member less likely to believe the testimony of a 
Yemeni citizen because of their country of origin, 
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po: 

religious or political beliefs, or their relationship to 
Mr. Hamdan? 

Negative response from all members. 

Does any member believe that the testimony of a U.S. law 
enforcement agent is more likely to be true solely 
because of the agent's position in law enforcement? 

Negative response from all members. Thank you. 

Does any member believe that the testimony of a U.S. 
service member is more likely to be true solely because 
of the agent's position in law enforcement? 

Negative response from all members. Thank you. 

In weighing and evaluating the evidence, you're expected 
to use your common sense and your knowledge of human 
nature and the ways of the world. Does every member 
agree that the ways of the world are different in Yemen 
than they are in the United States? 

Apparently so. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Does any member have any more than a passing 
knowledge of Yemen? 

Negative response from all members. 

The defense is going to present you experts regarding 
the social customs and practice, living conditions in 
Yemen. Is each of you willing to consider this 
testimony, if you find it credible, in evaluating the 
evidence? 

Affirmative response from all members. 

This case will also involve as we're seeing right now --

P (CDR _ Sir, at this point I'm going to object. It appears 
he's arguing the facts of his case rather than finding 
out if these individuals are qualified to sit for this 
command. 

po: Thank you, Commander _ Go on. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Thank you, sir. This case will also involve 
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po: 

issues of translation; that is, statements that have 
been translated from either Arabic to English, or 
English to Arabic. Does any member speak Arabic? • 
didn't think you did from your questionnaires. 

Apparently not. 

DC (LCDR Swift): No member here speaks Arabic. 

po: 

Does e'lery member agree that translation is not an exact 
science? 

Apparcntly so. 

DC (LCDR Swift): The quality of translatlon depend" largely on 
the Skill of an indivldual trantilator. Is every member 
willing to consider translation errors in considering 
the reliability of evidence that will be presented to 
them? 

po: Apparently so. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Thank you. The next questions -- the next group 
of questions that I'm going to ask you has to do with 
sentencing. This is difficult because, of course, Mr. 
Hamdan has not been convicted of any crime, and these 
questiDns should not be taken by you as to indicate a 
belief on my part that Mr. Hamdan is guilty of any 
crime. 

po: Counsel only have one opportunity to voir dire you, and 
that ' s why counsel is asking you questions about 
sentencing now, because there won't be an opportunity 
later. Go on. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Thank YOe, sir. And I'll skip the next part 
because the Presiding Officer just said it. 

po: 

The range of punishment available to you is anywhere 
from no time -- no time in confir,ement to a maximuIT, of 
life imprisonment. You must be able to consider the 
entire range. Is every member willing to give the 
entire range of punishments due consideration? 

Apparently so. 

DC (LCDR Swift): In deciding what punishment, if any, again, if 
convir-ted, to award, is each member willing to consider 
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po: 

Mr. Hamdan's educational level, his background, his 
rehabilitative potential, his role in any crime for 
which he's convicted? 

Might be. For any crime that he might be convicted. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Might be convicted, and the fact that he is not 
a u.s. citizen or resident; and as such is not under an 
affirmative duty to obey u.s. law? 

po: Are y'all willing to consider all those matters if we get 
to sentencing and determining a proper sentence? 

eM (Col 1IIIIIIII Explain the last part, the very last phrase. 

po: That's from Colonel IIIIIIII 
DC (LeDR Swift): Yes, sir. The last phrase in it, sir, is that 

Mr. Hamdan is not a citlzen, nor a resident of the 
United States. As such, he would not expect to have an 
affirmative knowledge of U.S. law or U.S. customs and 
social practices. So he doesn't have -- generally, we 
all have a duty to obey international law; but in 
deciding a punishment, looking at equivalent U.S. 
punishments may not be appropriate. And I just ask that 
you consider that. 

P (CDR liliiii Objection. That's in direct violation of a rule, 
sir. 

po: Thank you, Commander IIIIt 
Anything else, Commander Swift? 

De (LeDR Swift): Yes, sir. In deciding -- does any member, 
having read the charges and specifications, believe that 
you would be compelled to vote for any particular 
punishment? 

po: Apparently not. 

DC (LeDR Swift): Negative response from all members. 

Whether you're aware of it or not, you will soori be 
aware that in April of this year, I instituted a civil 
law suit against the President of the United States, 
Secretary for Defense, Mr. Altenburg, and General Hood 
on behalf of Mr. Hamdan regarding the legality of these 
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PO: 

commissions and his detention. Does any member believe 
that I acted improperly in doing so? 

Okay. Members, do all members understand the role of 
defense counsel, in that they have a duty -- and 
especially military counsel, have a duty zealously to 
defend their clients. All members understand that; 
right? 

Apparently so. 

Does any member have any complaint or obicction to 
counsel performing that role zealously? 

Apparently not. 

DC (LCDR Swift): But I would still like the reaction if anybody 
believes that in my zealous representation hearing that, 
that I somehow stepped over the bounds. 

po: Apparently not. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Does any member believe that I acted 
unprofessionally? 

PO: I don't believe the members are capable of answering that 
question at this time. 

DC (LCDR Swift) : I meant it not so much as an attorney, but as an 

po: 

officer, sir. 

Okay. As I pointed out earlier, military defense counsel 
are detailed, they're ordered to perform they're tasks, 
like being ordered to jump out of a plane or fly an 
airplane or take a hill, it's a duty. Go on. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I have no further questions of the members in 
individual -- in group voir dire, sir. 

po: Okay. Members, we're now going to have various segments 
of individual voir dire. 

Okay. Under the rules, and y'all read this stuff 
yesterday, I am required to determine if a challenge for 
cause is made what matters should be forwarded to the 
appointing authority for his action on that challenge 
for cause, whether it's against One of y'all or against 
myself. I'm also required to determine if physically 
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the proceedings should be held in abeyance, whether we 
should just stop while action is being taken. And I am 
required to ensure that voir dire remains focussed on 
the proper subject. That's why I'm going to be 
remaining in the courtroom during your all's individual 
voir dire. Any questions? 

No, don't stand up yet. 
voir dire and drive on. 

I intend to start individual 
Objection? 

P (CDR _ No objection, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): One moment, sir. 

po: Okay. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Sir, could we have a IS-minute recess before 
starting individual voir dire? Bathroom break. 

PO: Okay. Counsel, it appears to me, and this is not your 
faul t 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

PO: -- it appears to me that there's no such thing as a 
IS-minute recess. Just the logistics involved aren't 
going to permit it. If you want a recess now, and 
that's fine with me, let's make it what, 30 minutes, 
Commander _ or 45 minutes so that y' all can bring 
in -- is there going to be -- does someone -- has 
someone gotten food for Mr. Hamdan? Yes, someone's 
gotten food for Mr. Hamdan, he can eat his lunch, and we 
can come back at 1300 and start an individual voir dire. 

Is that okay with you, Commander_ 

P (CDR _ Yes, sir. 

po: Okay with you? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: Okay. And what they'll be doing -- well, we'll. discuss 
that after the members leave the courtroom. So we will 
be prepared to start individual voir dire at, say, 1305; 
okay? 

Okay. The members will retire and we will call the 
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first of you at 1305. 

All rise. 

The members exited the courtroom. 

Please be seated. The commission will come to order. 
Let the record reflect that the members and the 
alternate members -- and if I forget to name the 
alternate member, please advise me if I have neglected 
to do it -- having left the courtroom. You got any 
questions on individual voir dire for any members? 

P (CDR _ All of them, sir. 

po: We don't have to worry about you telling me, Commander. 
They're c~~~~hem in in order 
of rank, ____ and _ I 
intend to make available to each member and the 
alternate member a copy of their questionnaire they 
prepared just so they can look at. You have it if you 
want to focus them on Question Number 63; all right? 

Okay. Now, does it appear likely, Commander _ that 
your questioning of any member or alternate member will 
go into an area which will require a closed session? 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 

PO: Commander Swift? 

DC (LCDR Swift): It does appear likely, but I'd like to ask each 
of them if they believe we'll be going into a closed -­
into an area of 

PO: Okay. Well, let me 

DC (LCDR Swift): I'd like to ask the question to the IT.ember, give 
them a chance to say that that would be secret. They 
know best, they were there. 

PO: Okay. We will then, unless there's objection from 
counsel, proceed like this: We will go through 
individual, nonclosed voir dire. We will then determine 
in seriatum -- in sequence, I'm sorry, if any of the 
members need to be recalled to a closed session. If 
they do, we will hold a closed session for all of the 
closed session individual voir dire. And if you have 

41 Review Exhibit _--,1-,,=0,-_ 

Page 63 of 234 
Page 33 Of ---,-,10=....0.[_ 

---------------.--~-' 



challenges for cause, based on closed session voir dire 
responses, you will make those challenges during the 
closed session. At which point, we will then open the 
proceedings, and you may make challenges on nonclosed 
session matters. Did I say that correctly? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I understood it, sir. 

P (CDR _ Got it, sir. 

po: I must have said it correctly. Okay. No objections? 

P (CDR _ Nothing further. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Nothing further, sir. 

PO: Commission's in recess until 1300. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1229, 24 Augusl 2004. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1317, 
24 August 2004. 

PO: The commission will come to order. Let the record reflect 
that the presiding officer, Colonel IIIIIIII are present 
for individual voir dire. We have a new court reporter. 
Gunny again, right? 

P (CDR _: Gunnery Sergeant _yes, sir. 

po: Thank you. 

Individual voir dire, trial? 

P (CDR _ Thank you, sir. Good afternoon, Colonel. 

CM (Col liliiii: Good afternoon. 

P (CDR_ Colonel, I would like to follow up on some issues 
that came up when you were being questioned as a group. 
When the defense counsel was questioning he stated what 
he believed the sources of law that you are to apply in 
deciding this case are, and we don't intend to argue 
right now whether he was correct or not. Although, I 
will raise that we disagree with what he told you. Do 
you agree, that as you were instructed you are to 
determine what law to apply in this case? 
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CM (Col _ Yes. 

P (CDR_ Now, sir, there are orders -- orders and 
instructions applicable to these military commissions. 
Have you had the opportunity to review those? 

CM (Col _ Yes, I have. 

P (CDR _ Assuming that you find these orders and 
instructions have been lawfully issued, you agree to 
follow those orders and instructions? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

P (CDR _ Now, the defense counsel, when discussing whether 
he had jurisdiction in the case and the presiding 
officer explained the meaning of the term jurisdiction, 
the defense only referred to violations of the law of 
war. Now, do you understand the jurisdiction of 
military commissions applies both over violations of the 
laws of war, as well as other crimes triable by military 
commission, and that you will get briefs from the 
parties on this issue? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

P (CDR _ NOW, during the group questioning the defense 
counsel, mentioned a civil lawsuit that he filed on 
behalf of his client. Do you understand that that 
lawsuit will only be relevant before this commission if 
it has some link to a legal, or factual, question that 
you must determine? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

P (CDR liliiii Now, sir, getting into your questionnaire that I 
have reviewed and that you previously filled out. 

po: Let the record reflect that I am handing Colonel liliiii a 
copy, as I stated before, the questionnaire that he 
prepared in case you wish to focus him on some 
particular area. 

P (CDR liliiii Thank you, sir. Sir, focussing on Question 1 
appears to discl~ofessional relationship between 
you and Colonel IIIIIIII Could you elaborate on that? 

CM (Col _ Yes. My current duty as chief of staff of 
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P (CDR _ Is there any kind of reporting relationship between 
the two of you involving raters of fitreps, or anything 
of that nature? 

CM (Col _ No, our common -- his rater is the base 
Commanding Officer; my rater is the commanding general 
of the Marine Corps Combat Development Command. 

P (CDR liliiii Do you feel there is anything involved in this 
professional relationship with Colonel _ that would 
impact your ability to independently decide the facts of 
law related to this case? 

CM (Col _ None at all. 

P (CDR _ Thank you, sir. NOw, in response to Question 17 of 
your questionnaire, you indicated you thought that the 
publicity associated with this case might impact your 
family. Do you have any specific concerns of that 
nature, sir? 

CN (Colonel _ None, specific, but I'm sure it is not very 
hard as I put in my question for people to find out 
where you live; and I am sure that if anybody should 
determine that they want to take action that they would 
know where I live and of course my family lives there. 

P (CDR _ And, sir, in view of those concerns can you fairly 
and impartially perform your duty as a commission 
member? 

01 (C01_ Yes. 

P (CDR _ Now, sir, in response to Question 35 you wrote that 
your regiment in Desert Storm captured thouGands of 
prisoners? 
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CM (Col _ Yes. 

P (CDR liliiii Were you involved in any interrogations of captured 
personnel? 

CM (Col_ No 
course; 
personal 
prisoners, nor was I involved 
any of them. 

regiment, of 
And 1 wasn't 

any of the 
interrogation of 

P (CDR liliiii So is it fair to say nothing involved with your 
Desert Storm experience would impact your ability to sit 
as a commission member? 

CM (Col _ That is a fair statement. 

P (CDR _ Thank you for your time, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Good afternoon, sir. 

CM (Col _ Good afternoon. 

po: Once again 1 notice to the participants that when 1 waive 
my hand at Colonel liliiii1 am doing sO -- or any other 
member -- solely to try to get them to slow down because 
the translators are being agonizing at length. 

DC (LCDR Swift): My client would also like to thank you for that. 

Colonel, first I would like to address te the questions 
regarding the instructions. You have had an opportunity 
to read over the instructions and orders in this case? 

CM (Col _ Yes, I have. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did you note when you read over that the 
instructions, for instance, were issued by the General 
Counsel of the Department of Defense? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did you note that they were issued, I believe, 
in 2003? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII I don't know the specific dates, but I did note 
the dates on the documents as I read them. 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Do you believe that the general counsel, because 
an instruction is issued by the general counsel, that it 
is necessarily indicative for instance of what are the 
crimes chargeable by a military commission? 

P (CDR _ Sir, I don't understand. 

po: Could you tell me what you mean by that? 

DC (LCDR Sw~ft): Yes, sir. 

po: Or tell Colonel _ actually? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. The general counsel is of course is 
to provide legal advice to the Secretary of Defense. Do 
you believe that solely because his -- I am goinq to use 
for an example Inslruction 2 that outlined the crimes 
that he believed were triable by military commission. 
Do you believe that that instruction constitutes the law 
as --constitutes the crimes triable by military 
commission, or do you believes that it is your 
responsibility to determine what are crimes triable by 
military commission? 

PO: Colonel _ you have received a copy of the charge 
sheet in this case? 

CM (Col _ Yes, I have. 

PO: You have already said that you understand that the charqe 
has been referred to this commission to determine if an 
offense was committed; correct? 

CM (Col _ Correct. 

po: You have also stated that the fact that the charqe is 
written and signed and sent here does not indicate to 
you that a crime has been corrunitted? 

CM (Col _ Correct. 

po: NOW, does it matter to you as you are sittinq here whether 
the general counsel of the Secretary of Defense or some 
Captain JAG is the one who wrote those offenses that are 
before you? 

CM (Col_ No. 
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po: You are going to determine whether an offense was 
committed based on the evidence brought before you? 

CM (Col _ Correct. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I am not sure and this comes from my inartful 
phrasing of the question, and I would like to try again. 
Do you believe that the general counsel by virtue of his 
role and delegation from the President is the 
authoritative source for what are violations of the law 
of war? 

po: Colonel _have you already agreed to listen to what 
the counsel tell you what the law of war is? 

CM (Col _ Yes. I guess another way to answer your 
question is do I think they made a mistake? 

DC (LCDR Swift) : Or could have made a mistake? 

CM (Col_ Anybody can make a mistake. 

DC (LCDR Swift): So you are willing to listen 

CM (Col_ Anybody can make a mistake. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Thank you, sir. You know Colonel _you 
indicated that on your question~aire; is that correct? 

eM (Col _ Yes, I did. 

DC (LCDR Swift): How long have you known him? 

CM (Col ~ Since April -- well, probably about April the 
19 . 

DC (LCDR Swift): Prior to corning down did you discuss with him 
you have been both assigned to this commission? 

CM (Col _ That we were both assigned, yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): When waS that? 

CM (Col _ I think we were notified on June the 29th . 

DC (LCDR Swift): Briefly, can you describe that discussion? 

CM (Col _ I received a phonecall from the commission that 
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told me I was selected to do this. The person that 
called me said there was another Marine. I asked them 
if they were at liberty to say that. They said he was 
at the same base and told me it was Colonel IIIIIIII I 
don't know what day of the week that was, but the next 
time I saw Colonel IIIIIIII either he or I said I guess 
we are both on that commission. 

DC (LCDR swift): Did you have any discussion beyond that? 

CM (COI_ No. 

DC (LCDR Swift): If both you and Colonel liliiii ultimately end up 
sitting on the commission, would you be more likely to 
give ~ny weight to his arguments, or his opinions, over 
the other commission members because you know him? 

CM (Col_ No. 

DC (LCDR Swift): 
weight 
him? 

Are you likely to give less argument or less 
to his arguments or opinions because you know 

CM (Col liliiii: No. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I notice also that you have been involved in 
military justice as a member before; correct? 

CM (COI_ Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You understand, obviously, that this is a 
completely different process than a ccurt-martial? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): And that as such there is no judge, in fact, you 
are one of the judges? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You also, I notice, administered nonjudicial 
punishment as a commanding officer? 

eM (Col _ Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You understand that the standard of proof here 
is much higher than at NJP? 
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CM (Col 1IIIIIIII Yes. The rules of evidence apply here and the 
elements of the charge, unlike NJP. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Also I believe that NJP is a preponderance of 
the evidence where here it is beyond a reasonable doubt? 

CM (Col _ Right. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I would correct one part, the rules of evidence 
are not exactly in play here, sir. 

CM (COl ......... Right, but I mean like the elements of proof 
like In the court-martial that don't apply in an NJP. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I understand. You indicated that you were a CO 
of several reserve Marines. Do I have that right? 

DC (LCDR Swift): As CO did you go to his funeral? 

CM (Col _ Yes, I did. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did you meet with his family? 

CM (Col _ Yes, I did. 

DC (LCDR Swift): What were your impressions? 

CM (Col _ Of what? 
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DC (LCDR Swift): During the course of that meeting did it affect 
you? 

CM (Col _ I have been a battalion commander. I have been 
a regimental commander. I have been in the Marine Corps 
2B years. It is not the first Marine that, 
unfortunately, that I have seen die, whether he was on 
or off duty in the Marine Corps. The death of every 
Marine I have known or served with has a deep affect on 
me, but it is no different that that Marine's worth is 
no more or less than the other Marines, unfortunately, 
that I have served with who have been killed. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did you go to the site, to the former site of 
the World Trade Centers as the CO with your people down 
there? 

CM (Col _ Yes, I did. 

DC (LCDR Swift): When was that? 

CM (Col __ I don't know the exact date. I would est ima te 
It was probably two weeks after the bombing. 

DC (LCDR Swift): What affect, if any, did that have on you, 
personally? Describe how you felt? 

CM (Col _ It is a sad sight. A lot of destruction there. 
Hard to fathom what was there and what was left. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Were you angry, sir? 

CM (Col _ I would imagine everybody that saw it was angry. 

DC (LCDR swift): Do you still think about it, sir? 

eM (Col _ That visit to there? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col_ No. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You said that you have received multiple 
information briefs regarding al Qaida, Taliban, et 
cetera. Is anything in those briefs classified? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Well, obviously we shouldn't -- I do want to 
know mo~e about the briefs that you received, but can 
you give me a general overview of the briefings without 
going into the classified, or should we just wait for a 
closed session? 

CM (Col _ I Can give you a general overview. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Then if we 
briefings have you 
briefings have you 
generally? 

could go to that. 
received regarding 
received regarding 

What types of 
what types of 

al Qaida, 

CM (Col IIIIIIIt Mainly briefings about the organization, its 
history, origin, and their activities. And these were 
not specific briefings for me, but briefings that the 
staff received as part of weekly, or bi-weekly 
intelligence updates. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Unless it's classified, who gave the briefings? 

CM (Col IIIIIIII I don't know the Marine's names, but they are 
the Marines in the building from where I am from, the 
Marine Corps Intelligence Activity. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I inartfully raised that question. I was more 
interested in the organization than the individual. 

CM (Col_ The organization? 

DC (LCDR Swift) : That gave the briefing? 

CM (Col_ The Marine Corps Inte 11 igence Activity. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did anyone else give you briefings beyond the 
Marine Corps Intelligence Activity? 

CM (Col_ No. 

DC (LCDR Swift) : When did the briefings occur? 

CM (Col _ Well, let me back up. I all'. sure although I 
don't know who specifically gave them that I received 
briefings somewhere between January of 99 and July of 
2000 at the 2d Marine Division at Camp Lejeune, North 
Carolina. But the other briefings from the Marine Corps 
intelligence activity occurred between August of 2002 
and probably for eight months off and on. 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. Without again, unless it is 
classified, let's talk about organization of al Qaida 
that you Were briefed On. Were you -- in the 
organization were you shown how -- did this briefing 
explain how al Qaida had and currently functions? 

CM (Col These weren't detailed briefs specifically on 
subject. These were intelligence updates, okay. 

Sometimes weekly, more often twice a month. So 
regardless of the subject there might have been three 
slides in that portion of the brief and the briefer 
might have said two or three sentences about that 
subject because these were update briefs. 

DC (LCDR Swift) : I understand. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII So I am not sure I have the recollection to 
answer your question and be real sure of the answer. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Well that in itself answered the question 
because the next one was anything in that brief had an 
impact on your ability to determine the facts in this 
case independent of what you have already been briefed 
on? 

CM (Col_ No. 

DC (LCDR Swift): And I understand you really don't have a Slrong 
recollection of any particular detail? 

eM (C01_ No. 

DC (LCDR swift): 1 don't have any further questions at this time. 

po: Thank you. You may return to the deliberation room. 
Please ask Colonel _ to come in. 

There is some problems with joint procedures here. In 
the Army we don't stand when it is a single member 
coming in. You all can stand if you wish, but in the 
Army we don't do it. Please be seated. 

Let the record reflect that Colonel _has left the 
courtroom and Colonel _has entered the courtroom. 

Let the record reflect that 
a copy of his questionnaire 
it as discussed previously. 
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P (CDR _ Thank you, sir. Good afternoon, Colonel_ 

CM (Col _ Good afternoon. 

P (CDR _ Sir, in reviewing your questionnaire, there appears 
to be a ~onal relationship between you and 
Colonel IIIIIIII Could you describe that? 

CM (Col 

P (CDR _ Sir, based on that relationship there is no fitness 
report or rate of relationship involved? 

CM (Col _ With Colonel _no there is not. 

P (CDR _ Sir~hing involved with your relationship 
Colonel liliiii that would cause you to not vote 
independently or decide issues on your own? 

CM (Col _ Not at all. 

with 

P (CDR _ Sir, getting back to some of the issues that got 
brought up when you were being questioned as a group, 
the defense counsel in one of their questions stated 
what they thought the sources of law were with respect 
to this commission. That is not something we want to 
argue right now, but it is a characterization that the 
prosecution disagreed with. Do you agree, as you were 
instructed before, that you're the determiner of the law 
and the fact involved in this case? 

CM (Col _ I believe that will be the case. 

po: Carryon. 

P (CDR _ Thank you, sir. Colonel _ another thing 
brought up was the discussion of jurisdiction and the 
presiding officer defined what that was for you. The 
defense counsel portrayed the jurisdiction exists for 
violations of the law of war where it is the 
prosecution's contention that it also exists for other 
offenses triable by military commission. 00 you agree 
that counsel will brief these issues and you will have 
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to make a determination of what that law is? 

CM (Col _ Yes, I do. 

P (CDR _ Also during the group questioning, the defense 
counsel mentioned a civil suit initially filed in the 
State of washington. Sir, do you agree that unless that 
civil suit has a bearing on an issue of fact or law, 
that you are required to deal with as the military 
commission member that suit does not impact our 
commission trial here? 

CM (Col _ I would agree with that. 

P (CDR _ Thank you, sir. Sir, getting back to your 
questionnaire, Questions 8 and 47, you stated that at 
one time you were responsible for coordinating movement 
of detainees. Could you elaborate on that, please? 

CM (Col 

P (CDR _ Where were you physically located when you 
performed that duty? 

CM (Col 

P (CDR _ Sir, were you in any way involved in making the 
determination of what detainees were eligible for 
transfer to Guantanamo? 

P (CDR 

P (CDR 
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whatsoever. 

po: I am confused by that answer. Sitting here today, do you 
have an independent recollection of seeing the na~e 
Salim Ahmed Hamdan before? 

CM (Col_ No. 

po: Okay. 

P (CDR _ Thank you, sir. 

PO: 

CM (Col 

po: Thank you. 

P (CDR _ Colonel _ do you understand that just bec1'>usc 
someone was transported to Guantanamo does not mean that 
they are guilty of an offense? 

CM (Col _ I do. 

P (CDR liliiii Sir, in Question 17, you stated that you thought 
the publicity associated with this case might impact 
your family. Do you have any specific concerns? 

CM (Col _ No, that's a general comment. 

P (CDR liliiii Will that in any way impact your ability to fairly 
sit as a member at this trial? 

eM (Col _ No, it will not. 

P (CDR 19, you indicated that your position ... 
might lead one to believe that you are 
matter. I will start simply; do you 

biassed in this matter? 

CM (Col _ NO, I do not. 

P (CDR _ . Do you feel you can fairly try this case? 

CM (Col_ I do. 

po: I am just saying this so it won't look like 1 am 
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whispering. Please everyone give a chance for a 
question to be translated and enough time for a response 
to be caught so that the translator can translate. 

P (CDR 

a 
interfere with 

member? 

CM (Col _ I dbn't believe so. 

P (CDR _ You also 
obviously f 
concerning 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

P (CDR _ Do you understand that those briefings are not 
evidence with respect to this commission. 

CM (Col_ I do. 

and 
s 

P (CDR _ And do you understand that whatever knowledge you 
gain from those briefings cannot generally be imparted 
to your fellow commission members? 

CM (Col _ I do. 

P (CDR _ Thank you, sir. I have no further questions. 

po: Defense? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. Sir, as far as the questions on the 
law I think I after much stumbling, settled it down to a 
single question. Do you agree that you can't make up 
the crime -- that you can't make up the criminal statute 
after a crime has been committed and punish someone for 
it? 

po: Do you understand the question, colonel? 

CM (Col _ I am going to 
understand the question, 

not entirely. I don't 
sir. Say it again. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. Do you agree that you cannot chat 
you cannot -- that in our jurisprudence system you 
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cannot write a criminal statute after an action has 
occurred and punish something that occurred before that 
criminal statute was established? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII To restate it, do I believe that you cannot 
fabricate something to cover something that occurred in 
the past and use that against the accused? 

po: An accused. 

CM (Col _ An accused. Is that what you are asking me? 

DC (LCDR Swift): When you say fabricate something, I mean create 
a criminal charge after the fact. 

CM (C01_ 

DC (LCDR swift) : 

Yeah. 

Do you believe you can do that or not? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII It does not make sense to me that you could do 
that. No, I don't think you could. 

DC (LCDR 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII That is incorrect. 

DC (LCDR Swift): That's incorrect? I'm sorry. 
answers regarding -- I just want to be 
Question 47 unclassified, sir? 

ionnaire 

Is all of your 
sure here, sir 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII You are asking me is that information 
classified? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, that is exactly what I am asking you, sir. 

CM (Col 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: So there is no confusion, you are not saying that what you 
wrote in answer to Question 47 on the paper that your 
writing is classified, are you? 

eM (Col_ No. 
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PO: Thank you. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Well, what I wanted to make sure was that I 
wasn't going to refer to anything in your writing that 
was classified. So, sir, certainly if you believe that 
at the time the question requires you to indicate 
classified, please let me know and we will stop. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII Let me clarify if I may. The details of what is 
~s writing is clearly classified. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: Details of what the writing refers to? 

CM (Col _ Yes. 

po: Thank you. 

DC (LCDR 

CM (Col _ That's correct. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did you simply assemble the list or did you have 
any evaluation in who should be on the list. 

eM (Col_ 

DC (LCDR S personnel 

CM (Col_ No. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did you send other information along with the 
list of names, in other words, files or intelligence 
area that OSD would evaluate? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII I did not. No, I didn't. Let me elaborate on 
that 1£ I may. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col _ The list when I would get it would come with a 
ser~es of names. job was to ensure that it was in 
the 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Did you -- were you invol 
preparation of the list with the 
after such people had been 
had been approved and who had not and 

C~! (Col _ Yes. 

itself, 
who 

happen? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Were you aware of what the OSD screening 
criteria were? 

CN (Col _ Yes, I waS. 

DC (Lr-DR Swift), I presume those are classified; is that correct, 
sir? 

CM (Col _ Yes, they are. 

DC (LCDR Swift): We wil 
you were with 

C'1 (Col __ Command? 

DC 

t in closed session. While 

CN (Col _ Every day 
was not privi~~q~u 
out as a r"2sult 

briefings. I 
rma that came 

And I was not 

~o s that took place at 

DC (LCDR Swift) :. We~e y~u ~encies that were 
part~c~patLng ~n IIIIIIIIIIIIIII 

CM (Col _ No. And I only hesitate because I could only 
speculate who was here. And let me elaborate on that. 
I do know that 'Ne had establiShed a JTF. The components 
of that JTF and its organization, I was not involved 
with. 

DC (LCDR 
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correct, sir? 

01 (Col 

DC (LeDR Swift): Were you aware -- at any time was 
position of discussing ROE or other parts 

ion was applicable to 

CM (C01_ 

DC (LCDR Swifl): Are those opinions or the discussions of it 
classified? 

CM (Col _ Yes, they are. 

DC (LCDR Swift): We will discuss them in cross session, sir. 

You have attended the sir? 

CM (Col_ Yes, I did. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You indicated that you r~ificant 
amount of training while at the _ on 
terrorism. 

CM (Col 

r 

_ I don I t know if I would use the term 
~icant, but it was part of the curriculum. 

put it~ective, I went to the 
to my ~ssignment. 

And tc 
prior 

DC (lCOR Swift): Much of it, in other words, has sort of been 
overCome by events? 

CM (Col _ Exactly. 

DC (LCOR Swift): Yes, s 
while at the 
Usama bin 

there, did you read prior to -­
-- any books about ~l Qaida or 

CM (Col _: No. 

DC (LCOR Swift): While at the 
in these terrorism classes 
gone on in the 90's amounted to 
ongoing conflict? 
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PO: What does that have to do with anything? 

DC (LCDR Swift): It would be an opinion as to the law, sir. I 
just want to know if there were such discussions. 

po: Prior to being called here, had you sat down and tried to 
determine in your mind whether on your own or based on 
information that you got in briefings, the relevance of 
the law of war and other things to trying people for 
acts committed in Afghanistan or Iraq or anywhere else? 

CM (Col~ No. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You 
daily while at 

iiIIIiiiIIiig 

CM (Col 

DC (LCDR Swift): Is it fair to say, sir, that to really go beyond 
that because I do have some questions, I am going to 
start having DAS classified questions? 

CM (Col ~ Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir, I will hold on. You indicated that 
you had friends in the Pentagon? 

CM (Col_ 

DC (LCDR Swift) : 
part. 

po: Trial? 

I did not indicate that. 

Sorry, sir. That is a note taking error on my 
I don't have any fUrther questions, sir. 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 
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PO: Thank you, Colonel IIIIIIII You may return to the 
deliberations room. 

How long is it going take -- you all can rise, but I am 
not going to tell you to rise. 

How long is it going to take to have a recess? 
Everything being equal, the translators need a break. 
Can we have a recess fcr 15 minutes by any wild chance? 
We can do it? 

The counsel indicated. 

The court is in recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1410, 24 August 2004. 

The Commission Hearing was called to order at 1431, 
24 August 2004. 

po: Proceeding8 will come to order. Let the record retlect 
that all parties present when we left are once again 
present. Colonel _ is in the courtroom. The other 
members are not present. I am handing Colonel IIIIIIII 
his individual questionnaire for reference during the 
voir dire. Trial? 

P (CDR _ Thank you, sir. Good afternoon, Colonel_ 

eM (Col _ Afternoon. 

P (CDR _ Sir, getting right to the questionnaire, in 
Question 15 you indicated that you thought the publicity 
associated with this case might impact your family. Do 
you have any specific concerns in that regard? 

CM (Col _ No, 1 don't have any specific concerns. I was a 
little concerned back in June when my name showed up in 
the newspaper about being a part of thi s cOlmni 88ion. I 
was mostly concerned about the affect it wo~ld have on 
my family. However, given the reality that this was 
going to be in the papers and was going to have high 
publicity both in the United States and everywhere else, 
r recognized the fact that all of us in these 
proceedings are in a similar situation having to do with 
the publicity and having folks know who you are. Given 
that, I discussed it with my family and I or.ly have 
general concerns for their safety; but 'either way it is 
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not going to alter my ability to carry out my duties 
here. 

P (CDR _ Thank you, sir. Sir, in re 
you stated that you knew a retired 
who was a victim of the 9/11 attacks 

CM (Col _ Correct. 

P (CDR _ Sir, what was your relationship with him? 

CM (Col 

P (CDR _ So is there anything involved in this professional 
acquaintance relationship that would impact your ability 
to fairly decide this case? 

CM (Col _ Not at all. 1 did not know he was a victim of 
~ll attacks until about a month after them when I 

was speaking to some friends of ours who were also 
stationed at Hanscom at that time. 

P (CDR _ Now, sir, in Question 45 you wrote that you had 
read a book entitled a Crisis of Islam. Do you 
understand that whatever you read or remember from 
reading in that book is not evidence in this case? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII Absolutely. 

P (CDR _ And you will judge this case based on the evidence 
presented to the commission? 

CM (Col _ Yes, I will. 

P (CDR""", I want to touch on a few things that occurred When 
the group was being questioned. During that questioning 
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the defense counsel stated to you the sourceS of law 
that he felt applied to this commission. He mentioned 
treaties, statutes, other things. Not getting into both 
sides of the argument on that issue, I think it was 
evident that we did not agree with his statement. Do 
you agree that you are the determiner as a co~mission 
member of the law, issues that will happen in this case? 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII As I understand the orders that have been glven 
to us on this commission, we will both determine the law 
and the facts in this case. So yes, the answer is yes. 

P (CDR _ Also during that group questioning there was 
mention of jurisdiction which had been explained to you 
by the presiding officer. In that discussion the 
defense counsel stated that there was jurisdiction of 
law of war violations. Now, we will contend that there 
is also jurisdiction over crimes triable by military 
commission in accordance with the orders and 
instructions. Do you understand that this is 
potentially a point of issue and that you will receive 
briefing from counsel on such issues and you will be 
required to decide it? 

CM (ccllllllllll I understand that defense and the prosecution 
have a difference of opinion as to what laws apply and 
how they apply, and that will be :he commission's job to 
determine whether the motions tha: you set forth in 
front of us are valid or not and we will judge that. 

P (CDR _ Yes, sir. Sir, also brought up was a lawsui,:: 
brought by defense counsel in civilian court initially 
in the State of Washington. Do you understand that that 
is a separate and distinct proceeding, and that unless 
it impacts a question of law or fact in this proceedIng 
it has no impact On what we are doing here? 

eM (Col _ I understand that. 

P (CDR _ I just want to clarify one particular phrase you 
used in filling out your questionnaire on Question 41. 
When discussing how 9/11 affected you, one of your 
comments was that we must stand tall. Could you please 
explain that to us. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII I believe 1 also wrote and I can refer here that 
the threat of terrorism, in my opinion, is much like 
many of the other threats throughout the course of 
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history of our country we have faced. I won't get into 
any specifics, but that threat much like the historical 
threats we have faced must be met with the same resolve 
as those previous threats to our country and that was my 
intention when I said we must stand tall. 

P (CDR _ When we apply things to the specifics of this 
particular accused and his right to a fair trial you see 
nothing in your background to impact your ability to 
serve on this commission? 

CM (Col _ Absolutely none. 

P (CDR _ Thank you very much, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I have only a few questions, sir. 

po: Pardon? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I have only a few questions. 

po: Okay. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I know that comes as a surprise, sir. 

One -- before I begin, is anything in your 
questionnaire, just reviewing it again, classified in 
any way? I know you intended it not to be, but I don't 
want to refer to something classified. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII There is nothing that I wrote in there that is 
classified. 

DC (LCDR S::ill.l....:... Y,:,u werE' involved with the 
........ lS that correct, sir. 

CM (Col _ Yes. You are 
termlnology there. -DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

eM (Col 1IIIIIIII The missile you are referring to is the Hell 
Fire Missile. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

CM (Col 1IIIIIIII And, yes, I was involved ir. this program. 
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PO: Which program? I am sorry. 

CM (Col 

po: Thank you. 

CM (Col 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 
have any opera 
used to fire 
documented fact. 
operation, sir? 

CM (Col 

ith the 

opera them 
knowledge of the tac 

had no 
, really 

just to provide to the forces, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I have no other questions at this point. 

po: Thank you. Any other follow? 

Sir, could you return to the deliberation room and 
please ask Colonel IIIIIIIto come in. 

CM (Col _ I will. 

po: Thank you. Let the record reflect that Colonel 
left the courtroom and that Lieutenant Colonel 
has entered it, and that I have handed him his 
questionnaire. 

Trial" 

has 

P (CDR you, sir. Good afternoon, Lieutenant Colonel 

CM (LtCol _ Good afternoon. 

P (CDR 
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CM (LtCol_ That's correct. 

P (CDR _ Obviously, I don't want us to get into classified 
information, but could you generally describe what your 
I'ole, or what your duties were. 

CM (LtCol 

P (CDR _ Were you ever specifically involved with or 
provided information concerning the capture of the 
accused? 

eM (LtCol _ No, I was not. 

P (CDR _ Do you have any knowledge concerning the 
Clrcumstances of the accused's capture? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I do not. 

P (CDR _ Do you have any information concerning his 
detention after being captured? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I do not. 

P (CDR _ Now, as an 
received specia 
organization or the Taliban? 

officer have you ever 
on the al Qaida 

CM (LtCol _ Specialized training, no I have not. 

P (CDR _ Is there anything 
or your exposure as an 
feel would impact your 

CM (LtCol _ No, there is not. 

raining you received 
officer that you 

airly try this case? 

P (CDR _ Just want to touch on a couple of things raised 
when the entire group was being questioned. During 
defense counsel's questioning he stated what he felt the 
sources of law were applicable to this case. It was 
probably evident that the prosecution did not feel the 
same way on that issue. Do you understand that as a 
commission member it is for you to determine what the 
applicable law is with respect to this case? 
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CM (LtCol _ Yes, I do. 

P (CDR _ Also in the defense counsel's questioning there was 
d~scussion of jUrisdiction and the presiding officer 
assisted in defining what jurisdiction was. The defense 
counsel mentioned violations of the law of war in order 
to determine jurisdiction, and have Jurisdiction, where 
the prosEcution would also contend that offenses triable 
by military commission also generate jurisdiction. This 
is obviously a tough time for those terms bUe the point 
I am getting at is do you understand that you will get 
briefed on those issues by both sides and you will have 
to make a determination? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, I do. 

P (CDR _ Also mentioned during the group questioning was 
defense counsel filing a lawsuit at least then in the 
State of Washington. 

Do you understand that that lawsuit is separate and 
distinct from this commission? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, I do. 

P (CDR _ And do you understand that unless a question of 
fact or a law question comes up in this commission that 
makes that lawsuit relevant these are two separate 
entities, if you will? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, I do. 

P (CDR _ Thank yot.:, very much. 

po: Commander Swift? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. Good afternoon, Colonel. 

CM (LtCol _ Good afternoon. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Let me begin with the same warning, or 
that Colonel _ used, please in my questions 
tread towards classified information alert me. 

Were you ever physically located in 
du::ies? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, I was. 

caveat, 
if I even 

-in these 
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DC (LCDR Swift): During what periods of time? 

CM (LtCol 

DC (LCDR Swift): And you worked with which organizations", 

CM (LtCol 

DC (LCDR Swift): What was your role inside that task force? 

CM (LtCol 

DC (LCDR Swift): Were you one of the officers or the officer in 
charge? 

CM (LtCol _ I was -- when we went forward? 

DC (LCDR Swift); Yes. 

CM (LtCol _ At times I was the officer in charge of the 
J-2 portion. 

DC (LCDR Swift): 
into C.LdS!"",= 

provided 

Will it require you to go 
to talk about wtw you 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, it would. 

DC (LCDR save that. In order to provide this 
well, will it require you to go into 

tion to tell me any of the sources of 

CM (Ltcol __ 

DC (LCDR Swift): You stated earlier that you do not know or did 
not know Salim Ahmed Hamdan? 

CM (LtCol _ __ 

DC (LCDR Swift): In your experience there were people who were 
being referred to by their full names who were being 
detained? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, yes, sir, they were. 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Were all those names correct at the time that 
they were being referred to? 

CM (LtCol _ To the best of my knowledge. 

DC (LCDR 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, it is possible. 

DC type of 

CM (LtCol _ That's correct? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. As an 
moTe likely to put stock 
having experience in how 

CM (LtCol _ As opposed to? 

DC (LCDR Swift): As opposed to other evidence? 

eM (LtCol _ I would weigh the evidence that is put before 
me. If you are saying the would be the 
evidence? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did yo 
were obtaining 

~you 
was accurate? 

CM (LtCol _ At times yes, at times not. 

DC (LCDR Swift): To be more specific, does it require you to go 
into classified information? 

CM (LtCol _ I am not sure. It will depend on the question 
itself . 

DC (LCDR Swift): Okay. I will try another couple then. When you 
say at times not, can you elaborate on those occasions 
when it wasn't accurate? 

CM (LtCol _ It might be best if we just do that in closed 
session. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. You indicated that you did self-study 
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on a1 Qaida, Can you describe that? 

CM (LtCol _ As an 

~ 
_reports, 

of courSe we are 
is corning in, the 

that's what I refer to as 
self-study. 

DC (LCDR S~u are basing that primarily on the 
_reports that you received? 

CM (LtCol _ Correct. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You didn't do additional study by reading books? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Is that the same as Taliban and Islamic 
fundamentalism? 

CM (LtCol _ Correct. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You indicated that you've seen some nedia 
coverage on military commission proceedings. Can you 
elaborate? 

CM (LtCol _ Just that they were forming the commissions in 
Guantanamo Bay and it would be the first time since 
World War II. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Do you remember where you received that from? 

CM (LtCol _ CNN and Fox most likely. 

DC (LCDR Swift): As an 
briefs -- and you prepared 
is that correct, sir? 

CM ILtCol _ Yes, I have. 

officer when you p~ 
briefs for use hy IIIIIIIIIII 

DC (LCDR Swift): You have during your career? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You are required to put faith in the sources and 
material that's being provided to you; is that correct, 
sir? 

CM (LtCol _ That's correct -- well, and you have to weigh 

71 ~eview Exhibit _--11-,,0,--_ 

Page b'3 Of --,,-,l 6'41-
Page 93 of 234 



DC (LCDR 

the evidence. 

Are you more -- because of your experience is it 
are more inclined toward believing 

's been put together by a 
officer? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII Just depends on the information. 

DC (LCDR 

CM (LtCol 

DC (LCDR Swift) : 
go into 
as that 

In addition to your have 

Were you-- without again -- if it requires us 
classified let me know. What exactly did you do 
liaison officer? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII We would have to discuss that elsewhere. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Classified information, okay. 

The rest of my questions are going to go into the same 
area and we will need to do this in closed session. 

P (CDR _ Nothing additional, sir. 

20: 

P (CDR 

Sir, would y~ase return to the deliberation room and 
ask Colonel liliiii to come in. 

Let the record reflect that 
the courtroom and 
I have provided Colonel 
questionnaire. Trial? 

1 _ has entered 
has left t~e courtroom. 
th a copy of his 

sir. Good afternoon, ~ieutenant Colonel 

CM (LtCollllllllll Good afternoon. 

P (CDR _ I would like to address your questionnaire. 
Particularly, I want to focus on Questions 15 through 
18. You expressed concern about the safety for your 
family as a result of your service on this commission. 
Are there any specific concerns that you have? 
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CM (LtCol _ No, there are no specifics. It is all 
generalized comments about the concern and safety of my 
family. 

P (CDR liliiii Do you feel that you can, as hard as it may be, put 
aside those concerns and give this commission your 
undivided attention and provide the fair trial if called 
upon to do so? 

CM (LtCol _ If called upon to do so, yes, sir, I can. 

P (CDR liliiii And tor purposes of my questioning, I understand 
you are an alternate at this point, but I will couch my 
questions as if you are selected to sit. 

CM (LtCol _ Understood. 

P (CDR liliiii As a voting member, you put in your questionnaire 
that the events of 9/11 in general aroused strong 
emotions as they have in most Americans. Do any of 
those emotions impact your ability to judge this 
particular accused? 

CM (LtCol _ No, sir, they do not. 

E' (CDR liliiii Would you agree that any emotional response should 
not sway your judgment in assessing the facts and law in 
this case? 

CM (LtCol _ Very much so, sir, they must stay out. 

£' (CDR liliiii On your questionnaire you put that, as of right 
now, you don't feel influenced by the high media 
interest in this case, but that possibly you might. 
Could you explain to us what you foresee might occur in 
the future? 

CM (LtCol _ What I believe is that possibly if it comes 
very high media and attention that they will find out 
that where I live, things like that. And the press will 
be bothering my family, my myself when we are not in 
these proceedings and that is how I see the media could 
possibly affect me. 

E' (CDR liliiii Will you be able to set aside that concern and 
conduct business and provide a fair trial while in this 
courtroom? 
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CM (LtCol _ Yes, sir, I can. 

P (CDR _ You also put in your questionnaire that you desire 
to seck justice for those who have perished at thc hands 
of terrorists. 

CM (LtCol _ That is part of the emotional respon"e that I 
had. That probably goes with how I fcel, strong 
emotionally towards this case. Understanding that what 
I said in my prior answer that I will take the emotion 
out of that, but I want to be forthright i~ my 
questionnaire in how I responded. 

P (CDR _ And in seeking justice, do you understand that 
involved in seeking justice is ensuring a fair trial and 
holding us to our obligation to prove this case beyond a 
reasonable doubt? 

CM (LtCol _ That is exactly part of my answer, sir. I 
think that it is on both sides that this must have an 
end state at some point in time and I think justice has 
to be served for all individuals involved. 

P (CDR _ On your questionnaire in Question 45, you indicated 
you have read media reports about conditions of 
detention in Afghanistan and Guantanamo. Roughly, hc'" 
many articles have you seen on this subject? 

CM (LtCol _ I would probably say two to three, sir. 

P (CDR _ Did you come across them just as the normal reading 
of the paper or watching TV or dld you specifically seek 
them out? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I came across them just by strictly 
~,sir. 

P (COR _ Have you ever personally visited any of the 
detention facilities in Afghanistan or here at GTMO? 

CM (LtCol _ No, sir, I have not. 

P (CDR _ 00 you have any way as you sit here right now to 
judge the accuracy of these articles that you may have 
read? 

eM (LtCol _ No. I have no basis for the judge of those 
articles, sir. 
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P (CDR _ And you understand that your basis to judge these 
type of it.ems is based on what you will see presented 
before this commission? 

CM (LtCol _ That is correct, I understand that. 

po: Could counsel and Colonel _ please let a little time 
elapse between questions and answers, please? 

P (CDR _ Yes, sir. In looking at Question 47, you say cr.at 
at least at some point you express an opinion that at 
least some detainees at Guantanamo Bay are terrorists. 
Do you recall when or the context of expressing that 
opinion? 

CM \LcCol _ No, I do not recall the premise of that. I 
think the most influential piece I saw was from 20/20, 
but I may not be right about that. 

P (CDR _ Is that what the opinion was based on a 20/20 -­

CM (LtCol _ Yes, and that opinion at the time. 

P (CDR liliiii When you made that statement were you referring to 
any particular detainee? 

CM il.tCol _ No, sir. That was just a general statement. 

P (CDR _ So that had nothing to do with the status of this 
particular accused? 

CM lLtCol _ No, sir. 

P (CDR _ No further questions, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I must confess, Colonel, on Question 18 I really 
didn't understand your answer. So, I am going to ask 
the question again. Do you believe that your 
participation in these proceedings will have any effect 
on you? Any affect on how yoc are viewed or perceived 
either in your personal or professional life? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII What that means is if -- I will try to slow 
down some. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Thank you, sir. 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII What I meant by that is it comes out as a 
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negative reaction in the United States, knowing that I 
was part of these commissions. I may be perceived 
negatively also based on the way the question was warded 
to me at the time. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Let get more specific then. What would a 
negative reaction be in the United States? Can use 
is that to a finding of not guilty, a negative, or angry 
reaction or to the proceedings themselves? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII To the proceedings themselves, more in general 
to me. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Are you concerned at all professionally about 
how being a member of this panel can affect you? 

CM (LtCol _ No, sir, I do not. 

DC (LCDR Swift): In Question 41, you did answer to the events of 
9/11 has made you very angry. And it is important that 
we be forthright and I certainly understand that you 
will do your absolute best to divorce emotion, but you 
do have strong emotions, don't you? 

CM (LtcollIIIIIIII Yes, I do have strong emotions, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You indicated that you knew you had professional 
friends in the Pentagon and you wrote down two names and 
I don't think it is relevant to put their names down. 
Were they killed, injured, or were Just there? 

CM (LtCol _ They were just there, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Did you talk to them about what happened? 

CM (LtCol _ No, I had never talked to either one of those 
about that. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You indicated in Question 42 that you believed 
that if your identity or membership in this COITffilission 
is exposed or broadcast to the public that you bel~eve 
that they will seek me out, seek me and my family out 
for revenge. First of all, who is they? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII Terrorist organizations, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Do you believe they will do that whether you 
find Mr. Hamdan guilty or not guilty. Does it matter 
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what you find if you participate? 

CM (LtCol _ I think my participation alone would be the 
reason, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Is this a strong feeling or -- well you stated 
it as a strong feeling. Do you still stand by that? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII Yes, it is a strong apprehension to better 
describe it for you, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You indicated on Question 44 that you have done 
self-study regarding al Qaida on the Internet. Can you 
briefly describe what sites you have gone to and how 
much time you have spent on them. 

CM (LLCol _ Nume~ous sites I 
could find on the search. 
was probably the best book 
to understand. 

have gone to, whatever I 
The Class of Civilizations 
I have read. I just wanted 

po: I state for the record, once again, t~at when I make 
motions towards counselor a member I am not doing 
anything other than trying to keep them to speak slowly 
so that the translators can translate. I apologize for 
interrupting. 

CM (LtCol _ I'm sorry. I'll slow down. Sir, to get back 
to your question I want to understand both sides how 
Islamic, also United States, also the Taliban what their 
values were, what they wanted, their goals, things like 
this. I wanted an understanding. I think I can better 
my life, know the reasons of the things that have 
happened. 

DC (LCDR Swift): How much time did you spend on that? 

CM (LtCol _ That is difficult to say. I wouldn't say I 
was obsessed, but I have probably spent probably a 
month's of research. 

DC (LCDR Swift): A. month? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes. And that's over four to five years. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Over four to five years. So you began this 
study before 9/11? 
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CM (LtCollIIIIIIII No, sir. Only the book Class of Civilizations 
was before. 

DC (LCDR Swift): In Islamic fundamentalism you indicated 
self-study, but you also indicated S-2 briefings, were 
those Classified? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII Yes, sir, they were. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Then we will discuss those briefings in closed 
session. 

CM (I,tCol _ Yes, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You also indicated that you had seen news media 
on the military commissions. Do you recall what the 
sourCeS of that media was? Was it paper or was it 
television broadcasts? 

CM (LtCol 1IIIIIIII It was on the internet. E;very morning I would 
check the internet and it would say the military 
commissions were forming and that is all I saw on that. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Do you -- well the Department of Defense has 
several websites, do you use them? 

CM (LtCol _ No, sir, I did not. 

DC (LCDR Swift): They also have the early bird. 
you saw these? 

Is that where 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII Yes, sir, that is where I saw those. 

DC (LCDR Swift): And so did you go ahead and click on the article 
and read the entire artiCle or just read the banner so 
to speak? 

CM (Ltcollllllllll I would click on the article. I probably 
would read a few lines that interest me in the beginning 
and then delete it. I think there was only one article 
that I ever read. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Now, you realize that you met me at the tcme 
that you filled this questionnaire out. Do you recall 
whether I happened to be in that article? I was in 
several. 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII No, I do not remember your name until today, 
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sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Now, on your opinion in 47 you indicated that, 
yes, you believed that the persons in Guantanamo Bay 
were terrorists; is that correct? 

CM (LtCol _ At one time, yes, because it asked if I eVer 
expressed an opinion. 

DC (LCDR Swift): But you don't recall who you expressed it to? 

CM (Ltcol _ No, I do not, sir. And like I said before, 
sir, it was a very general statement and a general 
conversation. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Then you answered B and said that detainees at 
Guantanamo are guilty of any criminal offense and you 
answered that, no. 

CM (LtCol _ Right. As we go to the underlying question, 
have I ever expressed an opinion and it is like when I 
got to whether the detainee was guilty of any criminal 
charges, what I was trying to say is I don't know. So I 
said nO. I didn't express the opinion either way. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I understand. You don't associate then a 
terrorist and a criminal? 

CM (LtCol_ That's what I am saying, sir. 

DC (LeDR Swift): So you saw those to be two separate things? 

eM (LtCol _ That's correct. I take the word guilty as a 
due process, sir, someone who would have to go through a 
due process and then a determination of guilty or not 
guilty, sir. 

De (LCDR Swift): Was the 20/20 special that you watched critical 
of Guantanamo Bay or generally supportive of it; or was 
it simply information? 

CM (LtCol _ It was more information. 

DC (LCDR Swift): How did you feel when you watched it? 

eM (LtCol _ How did I feel? I feel that -- I felt it 
was -- it is like it has been a long time. That's what 
I remember, it has been a long time that they have been 
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down here and so when is this due process going to 
happen. I remember that. 

DC (LCDR Swift): You answered 52, which basically was you 
believed members of the United States are obligated to 
abide by the Geneva Convention during armed conflict. 
You indicated that you're not SUre about that. 

CM (LtCol _ It was a question at the time that I was not 
sure about, at least not quite sure. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Okay. Do you know what the Geneva Convention is 
then? 

CM (LtCollIIIIIIII Not specifically, no. That's being honest and 
I wanted to review it before I could formulate an 
opinion before that question, sir. What I was trying to 
do was, I know it is very specific and there is three 
different articles, I wanted to put not Sure because I 
couldn't specifically say yes and formulate an opinion 
and give a full answer to that question. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Actually there are four articles, sir, but 
that's fine. Is it fair to say that you would be 
willing to listen to both counsel's arguments regarding 
its application to these proceedings? 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, sir. 

DC (LCDR swift) : I don't have any further questions. 

PO: Trial? 

DC (LCDR Swift): In open session, sir. 

P (CDR _ Nothi.ng further, sir. 

po: Thank you, Colonel _ If you will return to the 
deliberation room. 

CM (LtCol _ Yes, sir. 

po: Let the record reflect that Colonel _ has left the 
deliberation room. Okay, who do you want back for 
classified, trial? Closed, excuse me -- I apologize, 
for closed. No one? 

P (CDR _ No one, sir. 
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PO: Okay. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I need a moment to consult. 

PO: That's fine. 

DC (,-,CDR Swift): In reviewing my notes, I believe all of the 
members indicated at least one area that required 
classified information, sir. 

PO: Realizing that I can't hold you to this and you can't 
it is hard for you. How long do you think your combined 
questioning will take? I mean seriously, thirty 
minutes? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I doubt that seriously, sir. 

PO: An hour? 

DC (LCDR Swift): For each one or --

PO: No, for all five of them. 

DC (LCDR Swift): For all five of them, sir? 

PO: 

DC (LCDR 

PO: 

Yeah? 

no way 
provided any 

regarding that. So it is impossible to 
estimate, Slr. The rest of them, they are going to be 
fairly short. Those -- but specifically Colonel 

Okay. That's all right. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Colonel _and 

po: For those who are interested, I do not anticipate holding 
the next open session until 1730. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. I would like to enter argument and 
make a request regarding whether my client will be 
present. I understand the rest of the public will not, 
but I would like to talk about my client being present 
for the next session. 
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PO: Okay. Go on? 

DC (l.CDR Swift): I understand under the security policy that one 
must go to the originating authority to classify the 
material to determine whether it be released to my 
client. I request that a summation be prepared of each 
of these persons where they believe they are going to 
talk and that We go to such a classifying authority to 
see if my client will be present. Nothing is more 
fundamental in my client's faith in the process -- in 
fact faith in the process that believes that he has full 
and fair members who are able to hear his case without 
any other prejudice to exclude him at that point without 
even trying to include him is not in keeping with the 
full and fair trial as dictated by the President, sir. 

P (CDR liliiii Yes, sir. Lieutenant Commander Swift himself had 
said repeatedly he is going to get into classified 
information. This is a nondiscretionary call. We are 
going to talk about classified information and the 
accused does not have the clearance to be exposed to 
that information. Now, it is true that potentially when 
we are done this information can be reviewed and 
summaries, redacted portions can be provided; but as of 
right now to ask someone to make a call that we can 
expose the accused to this information without knowing 
what the information is, that's just not feasible, sir. 

PO: Your request is denied, Commander Swift. How long is that 
going to take you to be ready to start the closed 
session, clear the courtroom, and do the things? 

P (CDR _ Twenty minutes, sir. 

PO: We will start at 1535. The court is 1n recess. 

The Commission Hearing recessed at 1524, 24 August 2004. 
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The Commission Hearing opened at 1733, 24 August 2004. 

po: Be seated. Let the record reflect that all parties 
present when the court recessed are again present. The 
members other than myself are not present. The 
proceedings from the time I walked in are no longer 
under seal. 

During 

P (CDR _ Yes, sir. 

po: Defense? 

DC (LCDR Swift): That's correct, sir. 

po: I received 

correct? 

P (CDR _ Yes, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

another challenge 
as his role as 

po: Okay. Trial, challenges? 

P (CDR _ We have no challenges, sir. 

po: Okay. Defense? 

DC (LCDR Swift): We have four challenges, sir. 

po: Okay. 

t 

CC: I am goi~start based on the open session challenges, 
Colonel _ and Colonel _ 

PO: Okay. The only challenges -- I have already covered all 
the closed session challenges. 

DC (LeDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. Good. 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Colonel _ as you just indicated, I 
previously entered a challenge regarding the information 
in the closed session. In the open session I'd like to 
challenge Colonel _ based on good cause on 
appearance, that is Military Commission Instruction 
Number 8 permits the removal of members for good cause. 
Good cause can be the members inability to sit, that we 
discussed earlier, and the appearance of unfairness of a 
member'S ability to sit. 

It's the defense's position that Colonel _ placed 
on this panel as a person who supervised detainee 
movement does not give the appearance of fairness to 
this proceeding; that Colonel _ whatever his good 
intentions and his abilities as an officer, and his 
desire to follow the law, and to be fair in the 
proceedings played someone who was intimately involved 
in detainee operations or moving persons onto this panel 
does not pass an appearance test. It does not give 
confidence to the accused, and it does not give 
confidence to the public at large that this proceeding 
will be fair. 

Colonel _ plays an 
officer who was actually working senior 

during the period of time Mr. Hamdan was 
captured and held. It does not give the appearance of 
fairness for the proceedings. Again, that constitutes 
good cause shown. It's important that these proceedings 
not only be fair but they appear fair to the world, and 
the continuation of both of these members does not meet 
that test. 

As t.o Colonel Colonel _ -- -,,-e also 
challenge Colone ColoneIilllllllvisited the 
Trade Center two r the attack. Records 
document t.he state that it was in. Persons t.hat he had 
in command responsibility were involved in the rescue 
effort and were -- he went to the funeral. If we move 
to sentencing -- that is an import.ant., if -- we fully 
expect the prosecution to put on evidence of the impact 
on victims. That impact will be particular for Colonel 
liliiii because he has personal experience with t.hose 
victims. It won't be a detached evaluation for him. It 
will be the memories of 9/11. It will be memories of 
the funeral that. he attended. While I am sure that he 
intends good intent to keep an open mind, to try and 
consider all ranges, this experience makes him 
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po: 

unsuitable for this panel. 

Finally, we challen~utenant Colonel IIIIIIII 
Lieutenant Colonel liliiii very candidly said that he has 
very strong emotions, that he is very angry. He did say 
that he understood that he should accept those emotions, 
but when asked again he s~es, I have very strong 
emotions. Also, Colonel liliiii has indicated that he 
has a real and present apprehension that he will bo 
harmed, or his family will be harmed by his 
participation. He certainly said, I know my duty. I'm 
a soldier, I should do my duty. But with that type of 
apprehension sitting, with his very strong feelings, 
both in the merits and at sentencing, he's not an 
appropriate person to sit on this panei. And, again, we 
believe that good cause exists for his removal based on 
his strong personal beliefs, and a real apprehension, 
not a speculative one, a real apprehension that he has 
in his partiCipation. 

Thank you. Well, I'll address it at the end of it. I 
am sure that Commander _ has rebuttal. 

Go on, Commander_ 

P (CDR liliiii Thank you, sir. Sir, the prosecution will address 
these in order of rank and seniority. We will begin 
with Colonel IIIIIIII 
~ears the only issue the defense has with Colonel 
liliiii is his interaction with a Marine reserve who was 
killed in the World Trade Center attacks. A reality of 
military life, a reality of being a Marine is that in 
the course of his 28 years, he has known of his fellow 
Marines to pass away. He told us all that this is 
something he is accustomed to, that he may not get used 
to it, but that he is treating this death no different 
than the deaths of those other Marinos who have 
perished. He stated he has no individual knowledge of 
this accused. He stated that he will judge this case 
based on the evidence presented in this courtroom. We 
oppose the defense'S challenge for cause. 

With respect to Colonel IIIIIIII Colonel liliiii handled 
logistics. His job was when he was told what detainees 
were to be moved, his job was to get them from 
Afghanistan to Guantanamo Bay. It was not his job to 
determine who met the screening criteria for movement. 
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Those decisions were made elsewhere, and he was not in a 
position to question those decisions. In his limited 
capacity of being a logistics planner, he had no 
knowledge of this accused; he had no knowledge of this 
accused's transfer; he had no knowledge of the facts 
surroucding this accused's capture. Once this accused 
arrives at Guantanamo, Colonel 1IIIIIIII job is Over. He 
has no interaction with what is going on in Guantanamo. 
While he knows that a joint task force is established in 
Guantanamo, he is not even aware of the units that make 
up that joint task force. We oppose the defense 
challenge to Colonel IIIIIIII 

while he was 
the very 

no knowledge of 
this of how he was 
captured, and he has agreed to judge this case based on 
the evidence that's been presented. There's simply no 
basis to challenge Lieutenant Colonel IIIIIIII 
Wi th respect to Lieutenant Colonel IIIIIIII he was 
obviously deeply impacted by the events of 9/11, as many 
Americans were. This is not necessarily an 'Jnreasonable 
reaction to what occurred that would require his 
disqualification. 

Thank you, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): To address, briefly, in couP.ter, Commander_ 
did not address in either of his arguments what I 
addressed here, and that is the appearance. Nothing 
that he said took away any of the appearance of any 
military tribunal -- especially both forms of lustice 
are concerned both when -- are they administering 
justice and does it appear that they are 
administering -- appear that they are meting out, 
administering justice. 

At a military commission has to be particularly 
careful that what you're not victor's 
justice. By placing an by placing 
a person who was in charge 0 placing 
a person who had close relationship with a victim, who 
went to the funeral, went to the site, and placing 
someone who to this day says that he is very angry and 
has a real apprehension on this panel, we appear to be 
meting out victor's justice. Thank you, sir. 
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po: Okay. Yes, go on. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I would also like to be heard on the question of 
abeyance after you've --

PO: Okay. I've considered your challenges, and I am going to 
forward a transcript of the voir dire, 
questionnaires for Colonels liliiii-­
Lieutenant Colonel lIIIIIIIand Lieutenant 
to Mr. Altenburg, the appointing authority, for his 
action. I offer counsel for both sides, since you're 
apparently using a different standard for challenge, 
referring perhaps to the military justice standard under 
RCM 912(N), an opportunity to send up with that matter 
any other matters you want; speciflcally, if you wish to 
focus on what the standard for challe~ge should be. 
Today hs the whatever it is -- the 24 . By Tccesday, 
the 7t , provide opposing counsel anything you want to 
send so they can c~~ent on it and then get it to me 
by -- would the 10 give you enough time? 

P (CDR liliiii Yes, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

PO: Give it to me by the 10 th and I will -- we got to get the 
record transcribed and all that anyway. I will get it 
to Mr. Altenburg to see what he wants to do. 

Okay. NOW, I have the authority to either abate or not 
abate, and you want to be heard, Commander Swift? 

DC ILCDR Swift): Yes,I do, sir. Sir, I've entered challenges for 
cause on five members at this point, including yourself. 
It's our position that to go further with motions with 
so many challenges where an alternate could not even sit 
in, if more than two are granted, that we would need to 
bring in more members. 

PO: If more than two are granted? If three are granted. 

DC (LCUR Swift): Yes, sir. 

PO: If three are granted we have three members left; right? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: That is all we need; right? 
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DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. Excuse me, if four of those 

po: Okoy. We've got five challenges, and you want an 
80 percent success rate? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Well, in this sense, and I would point out, sir, 
whot you're saying is that in the consideration of this, 
in the consideration of the motions, you're going to 
have necessary discussion by members, ond input, notes, 
hearing oIl of that will involve persons who moy not be 
here when all of the challenges are done ogain. 
Gestured that we have onother motion to date following 
the continuance, that we go through arraignment at this 
point and enter pleas, but that motions be deferred 
after that point when we have an answer on these 
continuances -- or, excuse me, on these challenges. 

P (CDR _ Sir, first off, to state the obvious, we do not 
believe that the defense will be successful in their 
challenges. Even if they meet a moderate amount of 
success, it will not impact our ability to have a quorum 
and go forward. Even if they had the potential success 
that they may be banking on, there are mechanisms within 
the system to take care of that if so required. Other 
new members can be brought up to speed, and that's in 
our system. 

po: Okay. My question though is, what does it hurt you? 
Okay. Before we get to the question of abeyance, which 
I'm sure you'll bring me back to, we've got some matters 
involving notices of motion, and we only have two 
motions that either side is ready to talk about anyway; 
right? 

P (CDR IIIIIt We have two motions, well act~ally, three, sir. 
One brought by the prosecution. 

PO: Protective order? 

P (CDR IIIIIt Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. That is in chambers. 

DC (LCDR Swift): I see that as off line, sir. 

po: Well it's not off line. 

DC (LCfJR Swift): In chambers. 
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PO: Okay. What I'm asking you is, what does it hurt you -­
meaning the government -- if you've already done all the 
work? And I can look at Captain _ and he's ready 
to stand up and argue right now. So what does it hurt 
you if I say fine, we'll wait and see whether these 
challenges are granted or not. Do you lose anything by 
not having those two motions heard tonight? 

P (CDR liliiii Is it imperative that those two motions get heard 
tonight? 

PO: Do you lose something, Commander I11III 
P (CDR liliiii Just from a practical standpoint, we lose 

logistics. It may be difficult to get us together as a 
group again, and we don't know the timing. I also don't 
know what timing you're proposing for when we can get 
together again. I don't know the individual members' 
schedules. If you're telling me that it's two months 
down the line before we are able to regroup, then I 
would say the entire system is preiudiced because 

PO: 

that's -- we need to keep this moving forward. 

We have a December 11th trial date proposed by the 
defense that we've agreed to. If we're going to keep 
that schedule, then we need to begin resolving the 
issues that we can. Sir, what it comes down to is a 
determination by you in making this decision as to 
whether you think that there is a reasonable probability 
that we're going to drop below quorum. Our position is, 
actually, that is just not there. We don't think that 
is a reliable process. 

Okay. Let me ask you, Commander Swift: You have two 
motions? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

PO: Do those motions have any evidentiary matters attached 
thereto that the members have to hear evidence on? I 
haven't heard any notice of witnesses or anything for 
tonight. 

DC (LCDR Swift): For tonight, no, sir. 

PO: Well, you've got two motions. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 
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PO: Do you have to have evidence for those? 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, I don't believe so, sir. 

po: No, this is a 

DC (LCDR Swift): May I have a moment, sir? 

po: Yeah. 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, we don't need that. 

po: You're telling me that you will not need any evidence for 
these motions, period? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Beyond what's already been furnished as 
attachments, sir. 

po: Okay. Thank you. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Sir, I'd like to address Commander liliiii 
logistics issue. 

po: Okay. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. We also have noticed seven other 
motions that have to be developed and argued. Obviously 
we're all going to have to get back together again. I 
would have no objection during the continuance to 
furnish to the motion to all of the members, to allow 
them to read it, to have that period of time when they 
get back, and some of them may well become over the 
status review area. It is quite possible they might 
have one, although in the meantime he is scheduled for 3 
December, it could be moved up. I don't know. That 
would change our posture at this point. 

PO: Thank you, Commander Swift. 

DC (LCuR Swift): So what I would --

po: Thank you, Commander Swift. 

P (CDR liliiii Sir, the only other issue I would bring up is since 
Commander Swift brought up his notice of motions, some 
of those notice of motions are his own motions for a 
speedy trial. So when you ask if there's anything that 
impacts us, that prejudices us, the defense has said 
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po: 

that they want a speedy trial, so it seems tOLgh to 
coordinate those two items. 

There's never been a requirement that an attorney argue 
only one of 63 points of view, and I'm not being 
sarcastic, that is the way it goes. I believe that this 
is now a matter of record that he wants a continuance, 
and that can obviously be brought to whoever is going to 
make a decision, if a decision is going to be made. 
You're requesting a continuance on those motions solely; 
right? That's it? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. On those motions, yes, sir. 

po: Okay. Well, there's a difference -- there's a difference 
between proceeding -- holding the proceedings in 
abeyance and the continuance. You're requesting a 
continuance on those motions? 

DC (LCDR Swift); Yes, sir. 

PO: Thank you. Okay. Please call the members. 

The members entered the hearing room. 

po: Please be seated. The commission will come to order. Let 
the record reflect that all members are present and all 
other parties present are still in the courtroom. 

Members, I have received challenges for cause against 
var;ous members. I am going to forward the transcript 
of the challenges of the voir dire, each member's 
questionnaire, which includes mine, the challenges made 
by counsel, the opposition by opposing counsel, and the 
various talk that went on about it to the appointing 
authority for his decision under MCI. I am not going to 
hold the proceedings in abeyance. In other words, we're 
gOlng t.o continue on; however, we are going to get to a 
point where we have a continuance. Any quest.ion on what 
I just said? 

AppaLently not. 

Okay. Members, I'I11 now going to give you some 
instructions on the procedures we're going to be using. 
Each of you received earlier some preliminary 
administrative-type instructions which are now being 
marked as the next review exhibit in order, 10. If you 
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lhink there is a conflict between the instructions that 
you got previously, and the oneS I'm about to give you, 
the ones you get now control. 

~ither side have any objection to the instructions 
the preliminary ones that have just been marked? 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, sir. 

PO: I ~ftve been appoin&ed as the presiding officer. On the 
24 -- on the 23 r you were given the President's 
:nilitary order, the military commission orders, DoD 
Directive 5105.7, and Military Commission Instructions, 
except instruction Number 8. Those references will 
apply to all cases in which you may be a commission 
member. In the references in establishing the 
commission, the presiding officer is charged with 
certain duties. Among these is that I will preside Over 
the corr.mission proceedings during ope!"! and closed 
sessions. As I am the only lawyer appointed to the 
c::ommission, I will instruct and advise you on the law. 
However, the President has directed that the commission 
will decide all questions of law and fact. So you are 
not bound to accept the law as given to you by me. You 
are free to accept the law as argued to you by counsel 
either in court, or in motions, or attachments thereto. 

1:1 closed conferences, my voice and vote will count the 
same as any other member. During any recess or 
adjournment, we will not discuss the case with anyone, 
not even among ourselves. We will hold our d~scussions 
of the issues in closed conference when all members are 
present. In this case, we will consider only evidence 
properly admitted before this commission. We will not 
consider other accounts of the trial, or information 
from other sources, and we will limit our contact with 
counsel, the accused, and potential witnesses. 

During the course of the proceedings, you may not 
discuss the proceedings with anyone who is not a member 
of the panel. If anyone who is not a member attempts to 
diseUSE' the proceedings with you, notify me immediately 
and appropriate action will be taken. When we're in 
closed conference deliberations, we alone will be 
present. We'll remain together a:1d allow no 
unauthorized intrusion into our deliberations. 
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Each of us has an equal voice and vote in discussing and 
deciding all issues submitted to us. I'll act as 
presiding officer during closed conference 
deliberations, and I'll speak for the commission in 
announcing results. The issue submitted will be decided 
based upon matters properly presented before this 
commission. Outside influence from superiors, other 
government officials, the media, or any other source 
will not be tolerated. If any attempt is made to 
influence you in the performance of your official 
commission duties, you shall notify me immediately. It 
is impermissible for the appointing authority, a 
military commander, or any other government official who 
may have influence over your career to r~primand or 
admonish you because of the way you perform your duties. 
If any such action takes place, notify me immediately. 

Okay. Look, you al~ may serve as members and alternate 
on more than one case. Each case is separate. You 
can't consider evidence or motions from one case on 
another, unless I explicitly advise you that you can. 
Please mark any notes so that you can indicate this. 

O:<ay. You all have seen the security arrangements 
around the building, in the building, and in the 
courtroom. Those arrangements are made by the local 
commander. We're required to follow the arrangements 
that he made because we're within his AO. Ycu may not 
infer or conclude from the security arrangements that 
the accused is guilty of any offense, or that he 
presents a danger. Operational requirements of the 
local command have nothing to do with this accused in 
this courtroom. The only evidence you may consider on 
the determination of the guilt or innocence, or on a 
sentence, is evidence presented to you during 
proceedings. Security arrangements are not part of that 
evidence. 

Colonel _ you've been designated an alternate 
member of this commission. YOJ may become a member 
should there be a vacancy that needs to be filled. As 
an alternate member, you will attend all open and closed 
sessions, but you will not be present for any closed 
conferences, or deliberations, unless your status 
changes from alternate to member. Should it change 
you'll get more instructions; okay? 

Members, you are not authorized to reveal your vote, or 
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the factors that led to your vote, or the vote or 
comments of another member when it comes to 
deliberations on findings or on sentencing if we get to 
sentencinq. This is a lawful· order from me to you. You 
may only reveal such matters if you're required to do so 
by supecior competent authority in the military 
commission process, namely the appointinq authority, the 
general counsel, the review panel for Mil i tary 
Commissions, the Secretary of Defense, or the Fresident 
of the United States, or by a federal district court -­
Q U.S. federal court. That order is continuing and does 
not expire. The appearance and demeanor of all of us 
should reflect the seriousness with which we view the 
trial. So pay careful attention. If you all need a 
break let me know. Any questions about those 
instructions? 

Apparently not. 

Objections, trial? 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, sir. 

po: Counsel for both sides understand the provisions of MCO-l, 
governi~g protected information? 

P (CDR _ Yes, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

['0 : You understand that as soon as practicable, you "lot to 
notify me of any attempt to offer evidence involving 
protected infor~ation? 

P (CDR _ Yes, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: Other than the protective order, which we've discussed 
before, is there any issue relating to the protection of 
witnesses that we have to take up at this time? 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, sir. 
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PO: Okay. You all know that if you got any issues On that 
sort of thing, you have got to let me know immediately; 
right? 

P (CDR _ Aye, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Aye, sir. 

po: Okay. As noted on the record earlier, we've had a couple 
of meetings between counsel and myself, and we've also 
talked on the record here. 

Commander Swift, on the 31 st af July, you provided fOl1r 
notices of motion. One was a request for extension, it 
was granted. One was to keep me from holding sessions 
without members, which is O.B.E. 'd (ph). One which had 
to do with the assistant to the presiding officer and 
one which had to do with keeping me from unilaterally 
ruling on motions law and fact; right? The only one 
that is still absent to any degree is the one abo'ot the 
assistant to the presiding officer; is that correct? 

DC (LCDR Swift): It's somewhat involved in the eCI motion. 

po: Extent to some degree? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: Okay. You also prepar[g -- you provide the court, what, 
nine motions on the 19 of August? And in each of 
those motions, you requested a continuance until a 
federal district court ruled on them; is that ~orrect? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

po: Not on them, but on your motion for habeas corpus on your 
writ? 

DC ILCDR Swift): And mandamus, yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. Are you prepared at this time to offer me any law 
that says I am required to give you a continuance on 
those motions? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I would like a 15-minute reCess to get the 
cases, sir. 

po: Do you have cases that say that? 
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DC I LCDR Swift): I have cases that I argue by implication. 

po: Okay. So thank you. Are you prepared to offer me a law 
that Sa'ls I can't give him a continuance on those, 
Commander _ I can't say, I can't. 

P (CDR _ Sir, We have a memorandum of law that puts out our 
position on why you should not, and that the defense is 
required to exhaust the remedies available. So, yes, 
sir, I would say that we do. 

po: Is required to what the remedies available? 

P (CDR _ He has to exhaust his available remedies before he 
can even get to the federal court. The exhaustion is 
this military commission and the processes that follow. 
So our position is until he has gone through this 
system, he cannot even have it litigated in federal 
court. 

po: Okay. Do you have -- have you prepared those motions? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Have I prepared the motions? 

PO: The motions? 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, sir. I have not. 

PO: Okay. Forgetting the law on the subject, Commander_ 
what harm will you suffer if I grant him a continuan~ 
Not until the federal court district rules, but until a 
more reason -- until a more reasonable time to present 
those motions? And I'm aSking. 

P (CDR _ Sir, we don't object to you granting a continuance 
to a reasonable time. When I argued before it was 
arguing the abeyance issue, not necessarily a 
continuance rp.quest. We do not want to be tied to the 
proceedings in the federal court. Certainly, we want to 
be reasonable, and if the defense is asking for time to 
prepare, we're certainly willing to be reasonable on 
that matter. I would again raise the issue, though, 
that we are put in a difficult position because of his 
request and demand for a speedy trial. So as long as 
Commander Swift is the one requesting the continuance 
and that is understood by all parties involved --

PO: Well, r.e :ust said it. 
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P (CDR _ -_. and the implications of that, sire. I'm sure he 
can say that, but for t~e commission as a whole I want 
to make sure the implications of that are understood. 
It is not the government, the prosecution, slowina down 
the process. -

po: So you have no direct harm if I grant him the continuance 
on those nine motions; right? 

P (CDR _ A reasonable continuance, no, sir. 

po: Commander Swift, in connection with those nine motions, if 
you are not given until -- do you have any idea when the 
federal district court is going to rule? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I should be able to give a better idea. At this 
time, no, sir. I expect scheduling this week 
transferred from Washington State to Washington District 
Court, and arrive while we are down here. So they have 
not been scheduled yet. However, we are through -- for 
the Presiding Officer's knowledge, we are through the 
position of having petition and answer and prioL to 
transfer, we were days from argument. So if it's picked 
up at tr,e same level, it could be quite quick. We are 
petitioning, we have an answer, and in habeas petition, 
it is argument and a decislon and mandamus. 

po: Could you prepart those motions, say, by the 1st of 
October? The IS of October is a long time from now. 

DC (LCDR 

PO: 

DC (LCDR 

SWlft): If -- I -- what I would like t~ -­
Physically, I can write them by the IS of 
would hope to have some help, physically I 

yes, : Cdn. 
October. I 
can do that. 

I haven't forgotten your assistant defense counsel. We 
are going to address that. 

Swift): Yes, sir. Physicatly, I believe that, yes, I 
could write them by the IS of October. In that 
portion, and I would like to be able to address thp 
question of whether this -- in writing those motions, 
readdress the question of abeyance by this -- or by this 
panel until the federal court rules. We are basically 
going to be in two courts at one time. I believe the 
proper place to take that up would be in the mot~ons 
themselves. I rion't· object to scheduling them, but I 
will again --
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PO: How Can I schedule the motions and listen to you argue the 
motions if I -- I'm missing something here. 

DC (~CDR Swift): l'm requesting an aDeyance on rulings -- so that 
if -- this happens in federal court or ether courts all 
the time. I would give you an example, sir. 

po: Okay. Wait a second. You are requesting that we not -­
thilt the commission not rule on the motions? 

DC (LCDR SwifL): Yes, sir. 

po: But you're prepared to argue them ilnd present them? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. And you just don't want us to present -- to rule on 
them? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. I think -- can I give an example? 

[>0: No, because, I mean that's fine. On the 1st of October, 
if yo'.). give me the motions, then we can see what 
happens. I mean, heck, you told me they got the thing 
right there in D.C. They'll probably have it done by 
next week. 

Okay. Do you object to me setting a date of the 1st of 
October for the motions on the nine motions that we are 
talking about to be received? 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 

PO: 

DC (LCDR 

po: 

Thank you. In your motion, you may include whatever yo') 
want, because by that time you'll know more aoout what 
is going on about whatever the abeyance issue was. 
Abeyan~e -- okay. So we've got your nine motions due on 
the IS . 

You have seen his notices. Can you have your responses, 
when can you have your responses to him? 

Swift) : I'd would like two weeks, sir. 

What is that, the 15th? You are writing all this down; 
right? 

P (CDR liliiii I've got it, sir. 
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PO: Okay. And will a '"eek be enough for you to do a reply? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. I thought so. There, that's your nine motions, and 
somewhere buried in there is the notice of motion that 
you're still doing about the assiStant to the presiding 
officer. Can you -- no, by the 1s of October, advise 
counsel, iidvise the prosecution and the commission 
whether or not you intend to go forward on LhaL issue; 
okay? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I will, sir. 

PO: Thanks. 

? (CJR _ Sir, I would just ask that if he does intend to go 
~ard on that issue, we a~k that his actual motion for 

that issue be due on the IS of October. 

DC (LCDR Swift): It will be possible. 

PO: Look at that, he is ready. 

P (CDR liliiii We're Navy guys, we cooperate, sir. 

po: Okay. Now, Commander Swift, you've provided two motions 
to me and opposing counsel yesterday? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir, I did. 

po: At 2130 last night, Captain IIIIIIII caught me and said, 
here is our response. 

DC (LCDR Swift) : It's wonderful to have assets, sir. 

po: Right. I agree. 
in the argument. 
motions? 

Okay. You have requested a continuance 
the oral argument by counsel on those 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir, I have. 

po: And you say, okay, judge, because he also said that when 
those motions are now complete they can go to the 
commission members, and all we have to do is argue 
there's going to be no evidence called on them 
whatsoever except what has been put in. So you don't 
object to a continuance, other than a standard 
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objection? 

P (CDR _ Let's be careful on that, sir. We don't 
anticipate, and I don't believe the defense anticipates 
any witnesses. We also attached evidence to aur motion 
response, and we would like the evidence we attach to 
our response and --

PO; Perhaps I said it incorrectly. I have here ;n my hot 
little hand, his motions and your responses. That is 
all that is going to be going to the members. And when 
we meet to discuss this, all I am going to hear from you 
all is argument? 

P (CDR _ Correct, s~r. 

po: Right? 

DC (LCDR Swift); Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. Now, would you agree that when we come back to hear 
the motions, the nine motions, and perhaps the one 
motion we could also hear these two motions? 

DC i,LCDR Swift); Yes, sir. 

P (CDR _ Yes, sir. 

po: Thank you. I'm going to look at a date -- what date were 
we up to now by his reply? Was it 

P (CDR liliiii He has 11 -- okay his reply takes us to the 22nd of 
October. 

PO: My birthday. I am going to talk to the members and see if 
we can schedule a session the first week in November. 
I'm not talking to them right now, I am just sort of 
looking at them. Is there anything impossible for 
counsel about the first week in November? 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): There is only one consideration and I would like 
to talk to my client about it. It is that I believe 
that the first week in November we'll be in Ramadan, and 
I am going to ask him whether he will be fasting for the 
period of time. If -- I hadn't consulted with him on 
that, if I could have a moment? 
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7'he defense counsel and accused conferred. 

DC (LCDR Swift): My client does not have an objection during the 
periods of Ramadan, so I have no obJection. 

po: Okay. BalLiff, please grab those motions from the court 
reporter and bring them over here. RE next, which is 
n, will be defense motion for dismissal based on 
unlawful command influence. 12 will be the prosecution 
response. 13, dismissal for failure to accord the 
accused a status review hearing; and 14 the prosecution 
response. 

I intend, counsel, to give members copies of both 
motions, dnd they will review them so they will be 
prepared to listen to counsel argument when we come 
back. Any problems with that? 

P (CDR _ No objection, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): No objection, sir. 

PO: I direct counsel to file with me by the 11th -- the lOth 
of September, briefs. These briefs will address the 
meaning of the provision of MCO Number 1, section 
4(A)5(D). Specifically, these briefs will focus on 
whether these two motions, RE 11 and 13, are 
interlocutory questions which must be certified to the 
appointing authority for his decision because the 
disposition of the motion would affect a termination of 
the proceedings. In other words, am I required to 
certify these motions, or am I only required to certify 
the motions if the commission is prepared to issue a 
ruling granting those motions. 

Any questions about what I'm talking about? 

P (CDR _ No, sir. 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, sir. 

po: Okay. Counsel for both sides, I've is~ued various 
presiding officer memoranda. If you have objections, 
state them now or provide them to me in writing by next 
Tuesday. Got it? 

Okay. Through motions and discussions, I have learned 
that there's concerns about communication with the 
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office of the appointing authority. Does counsel for 
either side object to me requesting interpretations of 
the MCO Dr MCls and the appointing authority's area of 
interest directly by mail, or e-mail from me to 
Mr. Altenburg after notice to counsel and providing 
counsel the opportunity to brief the issue? 

P {CDR liliiii No, sir, We would not. Although obviously we want 
what occurs to be made a matter of record formally. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. We don't object, sir. We understand 
that it will be a part of the record. 

po: Accused ard counsel, please rise. 

Salim Ahmed Hamdan, how do you plead? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Salim Ahmed Hamdan through counsel defers pleas 
until the resoluticn of motions. 

po: Request referral, please? 

DC (LCDR Swift): We request referral of resolution of motions. 

po: Be seated. Do you have any objection to the referral of 
entry of pleas? 

P (CDR _ No objection, sir. 

po: Okay. Does counsel for either side have anything further 
at this time? [Negative response) 

Members, anything further at this time? 
response] 

[Negative 

The court is in recess to meet upon further call, or as 
scheduled on the record. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Sir, actually, I'm sorry. Sorry. 

po: The court is called to order. Let the record reflect that 
all parties present when the court recessed are still 
present ir the courtroom. 

Yes, Commander Swift? 

DC (LCDR Swift): I'm sorry. Sir, I have one administrative note 
not requiring the other members that I would like to 

131 Review Exhibit I b -->....::._-
Page 'f"T Of 101 

Page 127 of 234 

---.---------r-- . 



PO; 

take up with yourself outside, on the record. It has to 
do with your voir dire of the presiding officer. 

All rise. 

Members, you are in recess. 

The members departed the courtroom. 

Be seated. The court will come to order and let the 
record reflect ali the members except for myself have 
left the courtroom. All the other parties are present. 

Yes, Commander? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. It came to my attention afte[ the 
voir dire that there was a tape made regarding the 15 
July meeting between yourself and counsel. I'd like 
permission to send that tape along with the other 
matters that I'm submitting on your voir dire regarding 
your qualifications. 

PO; And why would you like that? 

DC (LCDR Swift): To go toward the idea of whether you have an 
opinion or not, sir. 

PO: On the q~estions of? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Speedy trial, sir. 

po: Okay. And the tape goes to show what? 

DC (LCDR Swift): Your opinion at the time, sir. I have not yet 

po: 

DC (LCDR 

transcribed it. If it doesn't show anything I am 
proceeding here based on what I've been told by other 
counsel. 

Okay. I would be -- let me t~ink about this. Okay, let 
me think about this. I am reopening the voir dire of 
me. Explain to me -- ask me wtl~fi you want about what I 
said or may have said on the 15 . 

Swift): hYes, sir. It's my understanding, sir, that on 
the 1St you expressed an opinion as to whether the 
accused have -- whether any detainee had a right to a 
speedy trial. 
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PO: Do you think that's correct or do you think that's in 
reference to Article 107 

DC ("CDR Swift): My understanding from counsel was that it 
referenced whether thoy would have a right to a speedy 
trial under Article 10 or rights, generally. r confess, 
sir, I have not heard the tape. 

po: Okay. Why don't you ask me if I am predisposed on that. 

DC ("CDR Swift): Are you predisposed towards those issues, sir" 

PO: I believe in the meeting -- I don't remember speedy trial, 
I remember Article 10 being mentioned, and I believe I 
said something to the effect off Article 10/ how does 
that come into play, or words to that effect. I did not 
know that my words were being taped, and I must confess 
that when I walked into the room that day I hac no idea 
that Article 10 would come into play because I hadn't 
had an occasion to review Article 10. It is not 
something that usually comes up in military justice 
prudence .-- jurisprudence. So I'm telling you right now 
that I don't have a predisposition towards speedy trial. 
However, although the tape was made without my 
permission, without the permission of anyone in the 
room/ I do give you permission to send it to the 
appointing authority with the other matters. 

DC ("CDR Swift): Sir, what I would like to ask, if I transcribe 
it, that I send it to you first. 

po: I don't want to see it. 

DC (LCDR Swift): Yes, sir. 

PO: Okay. Well, wait a second. Do you want to change -- do 
you want to add on anything to your ch~llenge or stick 
with it? 

DC (LCDR Swift): No, sir. 

PO: How about you? 

P (CDR _ No objection to the tape being sent, sir. 

PO: Okay. Before I call I put the court in recess, 
Commander Swift, do you have anything else? 

133 Review Exhibit _-1-'10 ... · '--_ 
Page 49 Of I O! 

Page 129 of 234 



DC (LCDR Swift): Nc. sir. I don't; I really don't, we really 
don't, sir. 

po: Trial? 

P (CDR _ We really. really don't. sir. 

po: Court is in receSs. 

The Commission Heari_ng recessed at 1835. 24 August 2004. 
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AUTHENTlCATION OF COMMISSIONS PROCEEDINGS 

in the case of 

United States v. SALIM AHMED HAMDAN 
a/k/a Salim ]\hmad Hamdan 
alkla Salem Ahmed Salem Hamdan 
a/k/a Saqr al Jadawy 
a/k/a Saqr al Jaddawi 
alkla Khalid bin Abdallah 
a/k/a Khalid ',,1' d Abdallah 

This is to certify that Pages through are an accurate 
and verbatim transcript of the foregoing proceeding;;. 
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Colonel, U.S. Army (Retired) 

Presiding Officer 
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Review Exhibit 1 I 

The Classified, Unauthenticated Transcript from United States v. 
Hamdan, is RE 11. The bottom of RE 11' s pages are numbered R. 84-
110. It is the voir dire held at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba on 25 August 
2004. It is classified Secret. RE 11 was discussed at R. 7 and 23. 
Because of its classification, it has not been electronically copied. 
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REVIEW EXHIBIT 13 
 
Each commission member provided a questionnaire to the prosecution 
and defense counsel.  These questionnaires were marked Review 
Exhibits 13A-D.  They were used for voir dire and challenges. 
 
In the original record of trial Review Exhibits 13A-D are numbered 
pages 135 to 200 (inclusive). 
 
These 65 pages were not included in the record to be released to the 
general public out of concern for the privacy of the individuals 
nominated to be commission members.  
 
The Presiding Officer sealed these records pursuant to Department of 
Defense Military Commission Order No. 1, paragraph 6D(5)(d).   
 
Throughout the record, the names of the commission members have 
been redacted.  
 
 

 RE 13 
Pages 135 to 200 



Instructions given to memlJers prior to arriving at GTMO listed in order given. 

All instructioJlS sent to members by COL BrowlI.back. 

Page!: Sent by emai l. 

Pages 2 and 3: All members except ~rinted and given to members at Andrews 
AFB and returned to COL Brownback. 

Pages 4 and S: Printed and given tu ~y LN! ~tAndrews. (Same as above 
except noting the signed docurnent to go to LN! ~ not COL Brownback.) 

Page 6: Email to all members. 
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Instructions to Prospective Commission Members 

I am Colonel Peter E. Brownback, 111. You and I have been detailed to be members on a Military 
Commission concerning the trial of certain individuals now being detained at US Naval Station, 
Guantanamo Bay, Cuba. I have also been detailed as the Presiding Officer of the Military Commission. 

I. Each of you will respond by email to the undersigned acknowledging receipt oftheso instructions. If you 
prefer to use a different email address for future communications among us, please so advise me at the email 
address above. 

2. Due to the publicity which these cases may h •• e already received, and recognizing the probability of 
further publicity, each of you is instructed as follows: 

a. As a prospective member ()fthe Military Commission which will try a case, it will be your duty to 
determine the guilt or innocence of the accused as to the charges which have been referred to the 
Commission for trial. Under the law, the accused is presumed to be innocent or the charges against him. 
Neither the fact that the charges have been prepared by the government nor the fact that they have been 
referred to the Commission for trial warrants any inference of his guilt. Your determination as to his guilt or 
innocence must be based upon the entire evidence in the case as presented to you in open court and upon the 
law as you wiU be instructed. Thus, it is important that you keep al1 open mind and not form or express any 
opinions on the ease until all ofthe evidence and the applicable law has been presented to you. 

b. A trial by Military Cummission includes the determination of the ability of each member to sit as a 
member. As a prospective member, you may be questioned in open session by counsel for either side or by 
myself to detennine wheth,,, or not you should serve. You may also receive a questionnaire and other 
documents from me to prepare prior to trial. Trial by Military Commission requires members who approach 
the case with an open mind and keep an open mind until all of the evidence and law has been presented and 
the Commission closes to deliberate. A Commission member should be as free as humanly possible from 
any preconceived ideas as to the facts orlbe law. From the date of receipt of these instructions, you will 
keep a completely open mind and wait until all of the evidence is presented in open sessiun and the 
Commission has retired to deliberate before you discuss the facts of this case with anyone, including other 
Commission members. 

c. Due to the previous publicity aboul this case and the probability of further publicity, you are instructed 
that you must not listen to, look at, or read any accounts of aUeged incidents involving these cases. You 
may not consult any source, written or otherwise, as to matlers involved in such aUeged incidents. You may 
not listen to, look at, or read any accounts of any proceedings in these cases. You may not discuss these 
cases with anyone. and if anyone attempts to discuss these cases with you, you must forbid them to do SO 

and report the occurrence to me. You may not discuss, other than as required to inform your military 
superiors of your duty status, your detail to this Commission as a prospective member with anyone. 

3. I do not expect that you will be involved in any proceedings until September at the very earliest. 

Peter E. Brownback III 
COL, JA 
Presiding Officer 
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Fellow members of the Commission. Please read these instructions immediately, sign the 
bottom, and return thf: signed copy to me. 

Your duty as a potential Commission member does not begin until Monday morning at 
the earliest. The necessary logistical arrangements to bring members of \he Commission, 
the prosecution, the defense, and support personnel to Guantanamo will bring us into 
close proximity while traveling to Guantanamo and in-processing there. Until such time 
as you are advised by me that you may discuss matters involved in \his case, you may not 
discuss wi\h anyone -. not even among yourselves - anything about the Commission trials 
or the cases that may come before it. 

After we arrive later today, there will be in-pmcessing and you will be taken to your 
billets. An aSSigned bailiff will be your driver. On Saturday, we have arranged a private 
fence line tour. On Slmday, we have arranged a private boat cruise. Enjoy the NEX, the 
sites, the varied eating establishments, and the broad variety ofMWRactivities. You will 
also note that each of your rooms has cable TV. 

Do not at any time visit or attempt to visit any of the detainee areas. The bam ff has been 
instructed not to take you in the area where those facilities are located. Should you see 
members of the media, avoid them. If approached by the media, walk away and do not 
even listen to question they may ask. If confronted by the media, refuse to speak to them 
and refer them to a Public Affairs representative. The same rules ~fficial Public 
Affairs representatives, except that \hey should be referred to Mr._ 

the Assistant to the Presiding Officer and is responsible to me for 
and administrative arrangements. You may think of him as a Clerk of 

the Commission. The Commission will also be assigned a bailiff. Mr.~d the 
bailiff will work with you on strictly administrative and logistical matters. Because Mr. 
~d the Bailiff are not members ofltie Commission, you must strictly observe the 
following rules: 

a. You may not ever discuss any case, or the evidence offered in any case, with 
Mr.~rthe bailiff. 

b. You may llOt ever discuss any case, or the evidence offered in any case, in the 
presence oflhe bailiff or Mr._ 

c. You may never seek from, or express an opinion to, Mr.~r the bailiff 
concerning any case or the evidence offered in a case at any time. 

b. Neither the bailiff nor Mr.~ay enter the deliberation room when 
closed sessions are in progress. The exception to this rule is that either Mr._or the 
bailiff may need to ent!:r the deliberation room during a closed session on an 
administrative mission - such as to provide paper and pens. In such a case, they will 
knock at the deliberation room door and announce their presence. Before being allowed 
to enter, all discussions must stop. 
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Be cautious about any contact you have with members of the prosecution, defense. 
security personnel, Dr the administrative staft~ as any such contact could be 
misinterpreted. Do not go into the defense area or the prosecution area or upstairs in the 
Commissions bUilding. If outside the building and you See any detainee or detainee 
security personnel, immediately return to the building. The best advice I can give you is 
to stay together as a group, or by yourself, while at Guantanamo and do not discuss the 
Commission or any of the cases until you are instructed that you may do so. 

You are reminded of th" instructions I provided you before by email, and a copy of those 
instructions are attached if you wish to refresh your memory. 

The bailiff will pick you up and drive you to breakfast at on Monday morning at a time to 
be determined later. The uniform is Class B - in Army terminology. For Marines, it is 
Summer Service C. For other service., I will be wearing a short-sleeve open neck green 
shirt with no tie and wit.h badges but not decorations. Choose your uniform accordingly. 

I have received and read the above instructions: 

Rank and Last Name: 

Signature 
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Fellow members ofthe Commission. Please read these instructions immediately, sign the 
bottom, and return the, signed copy to me. 

Your duty as a potential Commission member does not begin until Monday morning at 
the earliest. The necessary logistical arrangements to bring members of the Commission, 
the prosecution, the defense, the prosecution, and support jlersonnel to Guantanarno will 
bring us into close proximity while traveling to Guantanarno and in-processing there. 
Until such time as you are advised by me that you may discuss matters involved in this 
case, you may not discuss with anyone - not even among yourselves - anything about the 
Commission trials or the cases that may corne before it. 

After we arrive later today, there will be in-processing and you will be taken to your 
billets. An assigned bailiff will be your driver. On Saturday, we have arranged a private 
fence line tour. On S1mday, we have arranged a private boat cruise. Enjoy the NEX, the 
sites, the varied eating establishments, and the broad variety of MWR activities. You will 
also note that each of your rooms have cable TV. 

Do not at any time visit or attempt to visit any of the detainee areas. The bailiff has been 
instructed not to take you in the area where those facilities are located. Should you see 
members of the media, avoid them. If approached by the media, walk away and do not 
even listen to question they may ask. If confronted by the media, refuse to speak to them 
and refer them to a Public Affairs representative. The same rules ~fficial Public 
Affairs representatives, except that they should be referred to Mr._ 

. Mr. Keith_is the, Assistant to the Presiding Officer and is responsible to me for 
making loghtical and administrative arrangements. You may think of him as a Clerk of 
the Commission. The Commission will also be assigned a bailiff. Mr._and the 
bailiff will work with you on strictly administrative and logistical matters. Because Mr. 
_and the Bailiff are not members of the Commission, you must strictly observe the 
following rules: 

a. You may 1:1ot ever discuss any case, or the evidence offered in any case, with 
Mr.~r the bailiff. 

b. You may not ever discuss any case, or the evidence offered in any case, in the 
presence of the bailiff or Mr._ 

c. You may never seek from, or express an opinion to, Mr.~r the bailiff 
concerning any case or the evidence offered in a case at any time. 

b. Neither the \)ailiff nor Mr.~y enter the deliberation room when 
closed sessions are in progress. The exception to this rule is that either Mr.~r the 
bailiff may need to enter the deliberation room during a closed session on an 
administrative mission - such as to provide paper and pens. In such a case, they will 
knock at the deliberation room door and announce their presence. Before being allowed 
to enter, all discussions must stop. 
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Be cautious about any contact you have with memhers of the prosecution, defeu5e, 
security personuel, or the administrative staff as any such contact could be 
misinterpreted. Do not go into the defense area or upstairs in the Commissions building. 
If outside the building aud you see any detainee or detainee security personnel, 
immediately return to the building. The best advice I can give you is to stay together as a 
group, or by yourself, while at Guantanamo and do not think: about or discuss the 
Commission or any of the cases until instructed you may do so. 

You are reminded of the instructions I provided you before by email, and a copy of those 
instructions are attached if you wish to reftesh your memory. 

The bailiff will pick you up and drive you to breakfast at on Monday morning at a time to 
he determined later. The uniform is Class B. 

Original Signed; 

Peter E. Brownback 
COL, JA, USA 
Presiding Officer 

[have received and read the above instructions: (After you sign, please return this 
document to LNl _ 

Rank and Last Naml:: 

Signature Date 
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Admiuistrative items for members. 

l.It is hot in GTMO,. and on Saturday, Sunday. during travel, and in the evenings, casual 
clothing (to include shorts at GlMO) is welcome and expected. There are plenry of 
swimming and MWR activities (bathing suit, running gear, etc.) 

2. You wi II probably be in court 4 days, so bring sufficient cl ass Bs. A washer, dryer, and 
iron are available in t.he hooches you are billeted in. 

3. A full base exchange and ATMs are available, and there are many different places to 
cat. But, if you have a favorite snack or brand of something. bring it. 

4. Your cell phone will not work here. There is a class A (commercial) line in the 
deliberation room fo:r your use. There is also a large fridge there as well as, of course. a 
coffeepot. 

5. When you arrive to catch the aircraft to GTMO on Friday, please avoid talking to the 
other passengers until you are given some special instructions to read. 

6. In the deliberation room, we have set up a computer so you can check web-based 
email. (You will not be able to conned to your organil.8tion· s email.) However, we have 
also established email accounts for each of you with a 25 MB storage limit. Those 
account names are below, and have been activated. You will get the passwords when you 
in-process the Commissions building on Monday. If you wish, you may have email 
forwarded to the account, or another web base account. NOTE: The chances are that 
your military email network will NOT allow~forward email outside their network 
unless you make special arrangements. Mr.~dvises this CAN be done, it is a 
matter of talking the LAN administratol into <loing it. Otherwise, you will have to have a 
proxy send emails to your new GTMO account. 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

DAVlDHlCKS 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

DEFENSE REQUEST 

FOR CONTINUANCE 

20 August 2004 

The Defense in the case of the United States v. David Hicks provides the following 
request for a continu;mce: 

1. This request is filed in accordance with the President's Military Order of November 
13,2001. 

II. Relief Reouested: A continuance of proceedings until the agreement between the 
U.S. government and U.K. government regarding the trial of British citizens before 
military commissions is completed. 

1lI. Overview: The agreement between the U.S. and Australian goverrunents regarding 
the trial of Australian citizen detainees before a military commission includes the 
provision that any favorable condition created by the agreement between the U.S. and 
U.K. governments with respect to the trial of British citizens would be incorporated into 
the agreement between the U.S. and Australia. Presently, the U.S. and U.K. have not 
reached such agreements, although discussions are ongoing. As a result. a commission 
trial of Mr. Hicks before the U.S. and U.K. governments reach an agreement for the 
treatment of British detainees will deprive Mr. Hicks of favorable conditions that may be 
granted the British citizens (and, in turn, applicable to Australians such as Mr. Hicks) 
currently designated for trial by military commissions. 

III. Facts: 

a. On 3 July 03, the President of the United States designated six individuals for 
trial by a military commission. These six individuals included Mr. Hicks and 
two British citizens. 

b. On 18 July 03, the President of the United States decided to delay any military 
commission proceeding against British nationals, pending the outcome of 
discussions between Lord Goldsmith, Attorney General for the United 
Kingdom, and the General Counsel for the Department of Defense, Hon. 
William J Haynes II. On 21 and 22 July 03, Lord Goldsmith met with Mr. 
Haynes to discuss and review potential options for disposing of the British 
detainees' cases. (See attachment I hereto). 
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c. On 23 July 03, the Department of Defense issued a "press release" stating 
discussions between the General Counsel's office and an Australian 
delegation lead by Minister of Justice Chris Ellison regarding the potential 
options for the disposition of Australian detainee cases. The press release also 
stated that military commission proceedings would not begin until after 
further discussions between the U.S. and Australia. The release further stated 
that discussions were still ongoing with British representatives, and that 
military commission proceedings would not begin against any British national 
until completion of those discussions. (See attachment 2 hereto). 

d. On 25 November 03, the DOD issued a statement that the U.S. and Australian 
governments had reached an agreement on assurances, clarifications, and 
modifications that benefit the Australians facing the commission process. 
This press release did not disclose any agreement that favorable conditions 
granted to the British detainees would flow to the Australian detainees facing 
a military commission. (See attachment 3 hereto). 

e. On 3 Dec(:mber 03, Military Defense counsel requested from the Appointing 
Authority's office for military commissions written confirmation of any 
assurances, clarifications and/or modifications regarding Mr. Hicks' case. 
On 8 Dec<:mber 03, the Appointing Authority responded to the Defense 
request. The Appointing Authority's office's response did not disclose any 
agreement that favorable conditions granted to the British detainees would 
apply to the Australian detainees facing a military commission. (See 
attachment 4 hereto). 

f. On 16 February 04, Mr. Robert Cornall, Secretary, Australian Attorney 
General's office, explained to the Legal and Constitutional Legislation 
Committee during Estimate hearings that "[w]e have an agreement with the 
United States that, ifthe outcome negotiated by the British in respect of their 
detainees is morc favorable than the outcome wc have negotiated, then the 
benefit of those additional negotiations should flow through to the Australian 
detainees as well." (See attachment 5 hereto). 

g. On 19 February 04, Jack Straw, Foreign Secretary for the United Kingdom, 
announced that five of thc nine Britons being held at Guantanamo Bay would 
be released within the following weeks, and that discussions were continuing 
regarding the four remaining British detainees. He announced that the British 
government's position with respect to the four remaining British dctainees 
was that they "should be tried in accordance with international standards or 
returned to the U.K." (See attachment 6 hereto). 

h. During the last week of June 04, I,ord Goldsmith, Attorney General for the 
United Kingdom, communicated that the military commissions do "not 
provide a fair trial by international standards." (See attachment 7 hereto). 
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1. On 30 June 04, the Prime Minister of the United Kingdom reiterated that the 
four remaining "British detainees should either be tried fairly in accordance 
with international standards or return to the U.K." (See attachment 8 hereto). 

J. There has not yet been any publicly released agreement betwecn the U.S. and 
U.K. regarding the British detainees. 

IV. Discussion: 

Mr. Hicks should not be brought to trial until all governmental agreements 
affecting his case are finalized. 

On 25 November 2003, the United States and the Government of Australia 
reached an agreement regarding Australian citizens being tried in the military 
commission system. It appears that the agreement contains, in effect, a "favored nation 
clause" in that jf the outcome negotiated by the government ofthe U.K. regarding its 
detainees is more favorable than the agreement Australia has wi th the U.S. regarding Mr. 
Hicks, those additional benefits granted to the U.K. detainees would also be afforded Mr. 
Hicks. 

Negotiations are continuing toward an agreement between the United States and 
the U.K. regarding the disposition of the British detrunees held at Guantanamo Bay by the 
United States. 

Negotiations toward an agreement between the United States and the U.K. 
regarding the disposition of those countries' detainees held by the United States at 
Guantanarno Bay are continuing. 

From public stattmlents of government leaders of the U.K., the u.K. position on 
its citizens held at GllIantanamo Bay is that the British detainees will either face a military 
commission process that complies v.ith intemationallegal standards or will be returned to 
the U.K. Five of the original rune British citizens have already been returned without 
facing military commission proceedings. 

The U.K,'s position, as manifested by the public statements of the UK. 's highest 
government officials, is that its citizens held at Guantanamo Bay will either face a 
military commission process that complies with international legal standards, or be 
returned to the U.K. Five of the original nine British citizens confined at Guantanamo 
Bay have already bet:n returned without facing military commission proceedings. 

In light of the current British position on commissions, Mr. Hicks stands to 
benefit substantially, if lIot dispositively, from the agreement between the U.S. and U.K. 
regarding the commission process for British citizens, and any subsequent advantages 
that flow therefrom to the British detainees as a result of any further negotiations. Mr. 
Hicks would either face a completely different commission system, affording him all the 
rights and protections under international law, andlor be repatriated to Australia. 
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The U.S. and thtl U.K. have agreed on one substantive issue. Military 
commission proceedings will not begin on British citizens until completion of discussions 
between the U.S. and U.K. governments. This condition applies to Mr. Hicks as well, per 
the U.S. and Australiia agreement, and no commission proceeding should take place 
regarding Mr. Hicks until the completion of the U. S. and U.K. agreement. 

Proceeding to trial before the U.S. and U.K. agreement is completed will deprive 
Mr. Hicks of a commission in accordance with international legal standards or the 
opportunity to return to his country of citizenship. Such action will substantially 
prejudice Mr. Hicks. 

Granting the continuance until such time as the U.S. and U.K. complete their 
negotiations will not prejudice the government. 

The defense requests the proceedings against Mr. Hicks be continued until 
negotiations between the U.K. and the United States are completed, so that any benetits 
granted to the U.K. detainees can be granted to Mr. Hicks, up to and including, not being 
subjected to a military commission at all, and/or repatriation to Australia. 

4. Witnesses and Evid~: 

Attachment (I): DOD Statement on British Detainee meetings of July 23, 2003 
Attachment (2): DOD Statement on Australian Detainee Meetings of July 23, 

2003 
Attachment (3): U.S. and Australia announce agreements on Guantanarno 

Detainees of Novernber 25, 2003 
Attachment (4): Letter from Legal Advisor to the Appointing Authority of 

December 8, 2003 
Attachment (5): Transcript from Estimates in the Senate Legal and Constitutional 

Legislation Committee, Canberra, Commonwealth of Australia of 16 February 2004 
(pages L&C 71 to L&C 76) 

Attachment (6): News article of 19 February 2004, U.K. AFP entitled Five 
British Detainces held at Guantanamo Bay to go home "in wecks". 

Attachment (7): News Article of24 June 2004, The Associatcd Press, entitled 
British Official Rips U.S. Guantanamo plan. 

Attachment (8): News Article of 30 June 2004, PA News, entitled Blair says 
Talks Continuing over Guantanamo Britons 

5. Oral Argument: The Defense requests oral argument on this motion. 

By: ~/signedl/ ___ _ 
M.D. MORI 
Major, U.S. Marine Corps 
Detailed Defense Counsel 
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United ~tate. Department of Defense 

News Release 
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0222.hnnl 
Media contact: +1 (703) 697-513 1 
Public contact: hJIJ!;II~"!W,<l9d.mi!lfaq(comJl1!'!lthtml or + I (703) 428-
0711 

IMMEDIATE RELEAS}: 
No. 541-03 

July 23. 2003 

DOD STATEMENT ON BRITISH DETAINEE MEETINGS 

The General Counsel of the Department of Defense, Hon. William J. Haynes II, met 
Monday and Tuesday with the Attorney General of the United Kingdom, Lord Peter 
Goldsmith, to discuss and review potential options for the disposition of British 
detainee cases. 

The discussions were productive and led to a number of assurances from the U.S. about 
the military ccmmission process. 

Among other things, the U.S. assured the U.K. that the prosecution had reviewed the 
evidence against F eroz Abbasi and Moazzem Begg, and that based on the evidence, if 
charged, the prosecution would not seek the death penalty in either case. Additionally, 
the circumstances of their cases are such that they would not warrant monitoring of 
conversations between them and their defense counsels. 

Yesterday's visit follows a July 18 decision by President Bush to discuss and review 
potential options for the di sposition of British detainee cases and not to commence any 
military commission proceedings against British nationals pending the outcome of 
those meetings. 

Individual enemy combatants held by the U.S. in the war on terrorism will continue to 
be assessed on a case-by-<:ase basis based on their specific circumstances for an 
appropriate disposition of their case. To date, no enemy combatants have been charged 
for trial before a military (;ommission. No military commission proceedings will begin 
against any British nationals until after further discussions planned for next week. 

Discussions with Australian legal representatives are ongoing and no military 
commission proceedings will begin against any Australian nationals until completion 
of those discussions. 
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IMMEDIATE RELEAS.E; 
No. 540-03 

July 23, 2003 

DOD STATEMIINT ON AUSTRALIAN DETAINEE MEETINGS 

The General Counsel of the Department of Defense, Hon. William J. Haynes II, met 
Monday through Wednesday with an Australian legal delegation, led by Minister of 
Justice Chris Ellison, to discuss and review potential options for the disposition of 
Australian detainee cases. 

The discussions were productive and led to a number of assurances from the U.S. about 
the military commission process based on the principles of fairness contained in 
President Bush'S Military Order of November 13,2001, and Military Commission 
Order No. 1. Those principles include the presumption of innocence, proof of guilt 
beyond a reasonable doubt, representation by defense counsel, no adverse inference for 
choosing to remain silent, and the overall requirement that any commission 
proceedings be full and fair. 

Among other things, the U.S. assured Australia that the prosecution had reviewed the 
evidence against David Hicks, and that based on the evidence, if that detainee is 
charged, the prosecution would not seek the death penalty. Additionally, the 
circumstances of his case are such that it would not warrant monitoring of 
conversations between him and his defense counseL 

This week'S visits follow a July 18 decision by President Bush to discuss and review 
potential options for the disposition of Australian detainee cases and not to commence 
any military commission proceedings against Australian nationals pending the outcome 
of those meetings. 

Individual enemy combatants held by the U.S. in the war on terrorism will continue to 
be assessed on a case-by-<:ase basis based on their specific circumstances for an 
appropriate disposition of their case. To date, no enemy combatant has been charged 
for trial before a military commission. No military commission proceedings will begin 
against any Australian nationals until after further discussions planned for the near 
future. 
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Discllssions with British legal representatives are ongoing and no military commission 
prOl)eeding5 will b~gin !lgain~t any British nationals until completion of those 
atscusstons. 
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United States Department of Defense 

News Release 
On the web: http://www.defonselink.rrllllrele •• es.20QVnr20031125-
0702.html 
Media contact: + 1 (703) 697-51J 1 
Public contact: http:[/www.dQ<j.mil/f • .l/cnmment.html or ~ 1 (703) 428-
0711 

IMMEDIATE RELEASE 
No. 892-03 

November 25, 2003 

U.S. AND AUSTRALIA ANNOUNCE AGREEMENTS ON 
GUANTANAMO DETAINEES 

WASHINGTON, D.C. -- The United States and Australian governments 
announced today that they agree the military commission process provides for a full and 
fair trial for any charged Australian detainees held at Guanlanamo Bay Naval Station. 

Following discussions between the two governments concerning the military 
commission process, and specifics of the Australian detainees' cases, the U.S. 
government provided significant assurances, clarifications and modifications that 
benefited the military commission process. 

After examining the specific facts and circumstances surrounding each Australian 
detainee case, the Department of Defense was able to provide the following assurances, 
which are case specific: 

The prosecution has reviewed the evidence against the Australian detainees, and 
based on that evidence, the prosecution would not seek the death penalty; 

The security and intelligence circumstances ofMr Hick's case are such that it 
would not warrant monitoring of conversations between him and his counsel; 

If David Hicks is charged, the prosecution does not intend to rely on evidence in 
its case-in-chief requiring closed proceedings from which the accused could be excluded; 
and 

The U.S. and Australian government will continue to work towards putting 
arrangements in place to transfer Hicks, if convicted, to Australia to serve any penal 
sentence in accordance witb. Australian and U.S. law. 

Subject to any necessary security restrictions, military commissions will be open, 
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the media present and appropriately cleared representatives of the accused's government 
may ob.eIYe the procceding"; 

If an accused is convicted, the accused's government may make submissions to 
the Review Panel; 

If eligible for trial, and subject to security requirements and restrictions, an 
accused may be permitted to talk to appropriately cleared family members via telephone, 
and two appropriately c\t,ared family members would be able to attend their trial; and, 

An accused may choose to have an appropriately cleared foreign attorney as a 
consultant to the Defense Team. Foreign attorney consultant access to attorney-client 
information, case material or the accused will be subject to appropriate security 
clearances and restrictions and determined on a case-by-case ba.is. 

The assurances are in addition to other military commission procedures which 
already provide for the presumption of innocence, proof of guilt beyond a reasonable 
doubt, representation by a competent and zealous defense counsel free of charge, no 
adverse inference for choosing to remain silent and the overall requirement that any 
commission proceedings be full and fair. 

The Department of Defense is in the process of drafting clarifications and 
additional military commission rules that will incorporate tbe assurances where 
appropriate. 
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~UKurrJUAL U~C Ul~Lr ~ 

L_PARTMENT OF DEFENSE 
OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL 

1600 DEFENSE PENTAGON 
WASHINGTON, DC 20301-1600 

December 8, 2003 

TO: Major M, D.. Mori, USMC, Detailed Defense Counsel of David Hicks 

FROM: Brigadier General Thomas Hemingway, USAF, Legal Advisor to the 
Appointing Authority, Office of Military Commissions 

SUBJECT: Request for Infonnation dated December 3, 2003 

I am in receipt of your December 3, 2003 request for infonnation related to the assurances 
that the Department of Dc:fense made to the Australian government regarding David 
Matthew Hicks, an Australian national detained by the Department of Defense. 

Tabs A and B are the July B, 2003 and November 25, 2003 Department of Defense New 
Releases detailing the publicly announced assurances that resulted from discussions between 
the General Counsel oftlle Department of Defense and senior officials of the Australian 
Government. 

The following additional assurances provided to the Australian Government by the 
Department of Defense are provided for your infonnation: 

• David Hicks may be represented by an appropriately qualified U.S. civilian defense 
counsel of his own choosing, subject to an appropriate security clearance, and he may 
choose which of his defense counsel shall serve as lead counsel. 

• The acting Chief Defense Counsel will ensure the detailed military defense counsel 
advises David Hicks of his option to retain a civilian defense counsel and a foreign 
defense counsel consultant, and also of the identity of any lawyer hired by David 
Hicks' family. 

• In the event of plea negotiations, David Hicks will be provided detailed defense 
counsel prior to the start of plea negotiations and detailed defense counsel will be 
provided access to all discoverable evidence possessed by the Office of the Chief 
Prosecutor. 

If you have any questions regarding this memorandum, my point of contact is Major 
Thomas Dukes, USAF, Deputy Legal Advisor to the Appointing Authority, Office of 
Military Commissions, (703) 614-9722. 

Attachments: As stated 

om m.o=-..J 
Brigadier General, 
Legal Advisor to the Appointing Authority 
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Mr CornaU--No, we stress physical condition, Senator, because we appreciate that an 
untrained person would not necessarily be able to make that assessment. 

Senator BOLKUS-Have we asked for an outside medical person to monitor their 
situation-their condition-and make an assessment as to how they really are? 

Mr HoUaoo--What we do know is that Mr Hicks needed some sort of medical treatment 
and has been very posltive in his references to the medical treatment that they are receiving at 
the facilities. In fact, as reported in the newspaper last year, he sent a letter to his family in 
which he referred to the medical treatment that he was receiving as being first-class, or words 
to that effect. So the medical facilities at the camp arc first-rate. Mr Hicks' has spoken to quite 
a few people now-Ius defence team and of course his parents-and I think there have been 
some reports from those people on his condition as welL 

Senalor BOLKUS-You mentioned mail services. What access to mail services docs he 
have? You said there was some communication from rus parents. 

Mr Hol1aDd--Hc phoned his parents. 

Senator BOL.KUS--So there is no access to mail? 

Mr HoUand--Yes, he has access to mail. He can write to his parents and his parents can 
WTile to him, and they have done so. 

Senator BOLKUS---Can Habio'? 
Mr HoUaDd---Yes, certainly_ 

Senator BOLKUS---We dwelt on Hicks there for a moment, but is there any indication of 
Habib having any continuing health problems? 

Mr Cornall-·We have said before that he has an under)ying medical condition that he was 
being treated for to the extent that he would accept the treatment. That position remains the 
same now, 

Senator BOLKUS-Do we know ifit has deteriorated or improved'! 

Mr Cornall----l do not know whether we know the answer to that. The issue has been 
raised with the Americans and we understand that it is very much at the forefront of the minds 
of the medical team lhere. Thai is as far as we can take it. 

Senator BOI,KUS--Have we contemplated asking the Amerieans for aecess to be given to 
an independent medical assessor, either psychological or phystcal? 

Mr CornaU--I do not believe we have asked that, on the basis that it has been reasonably 
clear in all of our discussions with them that that sort of aecess would not be ?ermitted 

Seuator BOI..Kl.lS--Would there be a problem in asking for that, given that they have 
been there for quite a long time noW and their nerves must be pretty well tested? 

Mr Cornall---Wt~ can take that on notice and see what ean be done. 

Senator BOl,KIJS-----On 2S November the Attorney announced in a press release that there 
was an agreement bc~ween the governments as to prosecution of Hicks and Habib. Can we get 
a copy oftha. agreement? 
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Mr HoUand-It is a confidential agreemenl belween the United States and Australia, but 
the key elements of that agreement as it relates to Mr Hicks and Mr Habib and how the 
process will deal with them in the eDurse of any military eommission have been made public. 
We have ourselves prepared a document that sets out the key elements of the agreement and 
the guarantees of rights that they have under the military commission order as well as under 
the terms of the agreement between the United States and Australia. We are more than happy 
to make that document available. 

Senator BOLKUS---I would like to see that, bul as for the broader document I am sure we 
all agree that any agreement by government as to how a person is prosecuted would be ~ecn 
by any eourt in this country as something that the defence wou\d need to have full knowledge 
of. Why is that not tht: case here? 

Mr Holland--lo the extent to which that agreement directly relates to the trial and the 
pro.. ... ecution- --ifthere is one-of those people, those details have been made publie. 

Senator BOLKUS-So what are you te11ing us the rest of the agreement says? [ think the 
Anorney announced that it was an agreement as to the prosecution, and there are obviously 
parts of that agreement you are not going to ten us about. How, for imtance, if you were 
Hieks' lawyers, ,~ou1d you be as.sured that the parts of the agreement that have not been 
released do not impact on any aspect of the conduct of the trial? 

Mr CornaU-The: rules for the military commission are set out in a number of military 
commission rules, whieh are widely available, The qualifications or the understandings about 
how those rules might apply in relation to Mr Hicks are all made Known to the defence 
attorneY5---for ~ample, an assurance that the death penalty would not apply to Mr Hieks and 
50 forth. So those an·angements in relation to the particular circumstances of Mr Hieks have 
all been made known to the relevant defence attorneys. 

Senator BOI,KUS--I suppose my question stilt stands though: how can the US and 
Australian lawyers be sure thai anything that is being held may not impact on the conduct of 
the trial? How can they be sure. for instanee, that it does not relate to ,judieial offleers that 
might be appointed or whatever? How can you have an agreement as to prosecution and keep 
it secret from the defence? 

Mr CornaU---[ do not think we are keeping it secret from the defence. The essence of all 
of the matters that have been agreed over a period of time is publicly known and well known 
to the defence altorneys. 

Senator BOLKUs---Did the US ask for the agreem~nt not be released? 

Mr HoUand--At the time that the discussions took place and this agreement was entered 
into. it was eert,ainly seen itS 3l'9lying only to the case of Mr Hicks, The United States 
government was certainly of the view that it should be seen as that and not as setting any 
precedent.} think that things have moved on since then. We are happy to take this question on 
notiee and see what can be done_ But, reinforcing what the secretary has :;;aid, although the 
documents that govern the conduct of the cornm1ssions have been publicly available for quite 
some period of time, it is clear that all of the guarantees that are ineluded in tnem have nol 
really been reported on. Therefore we decided to put a document together which summarised 
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all of those as well as the details of the agreement between the United States and Australia as 
it governed the eondul;t of the proeeernngs. We arc happy to make that document available. 

Senator BOLKUS---Thank. you, I will be glad to see that. Have similar agreements been 
entered into with c)ther eountries whose nationals may be involved? 

Mr Holland-Not that I am aware of. 

Mr Cornall-You aTe aware that only six people nave so far been designated as possible 
for prosecution. So at this juncture only those six people and their countries would be 
considering these sorts of issues. 

Senator BOLKUS----Some people have been sent back to their eountry for trial, I gather, 
in recent days. 

Mr Cornan-Not thai J am aware. People have been released on the basis chat they are no 
longer of intelIigtmce or security interest. I am not aware of anyone being sem back to their 
horne country for pro~Jecution. 

Mr HoUaod---Thc: secretary may not be aware that this past weekend there was a report 
that a Spanish national was being returned to be prosecuted in their home country. which is 
consistent with what the United States has lold us-that is, th.!y are prepared to repatriate 
people where those people can be prosecuted in their home country or are no longer of law 
enforcement or intelligence interest to US authorities. The person that I thinK you have in 
mind is the Spanish national who is being returned to his eountry to be prosecuted under the 
laws of his country in relation to terrorism offences. That is on\y from newspaper reports-I 
have not seen anything other than that. 

Seaator BOLKUS-So we are still of an opinion that Hicks and Habib, on return to 
Australia, could not .be charged with any offence here? 15 that our view? 

Mr HoUand--That is correct. 

Senator BOLKUS--To have eome to that view we must have had some access to the 
evidenee against them. 

Mr Uolland--On the 'oasis of the evidence that was available to Australian law 
enforcement authorities, the Australian law enforcement authorities and prosecuting 
authorities have advised that no prosecution can be mounted in Australia against either of 
these individuals. 

Senator BOLKUS--When did they come to that conclusion? 

Mr HoOand--I would have to check on that. 

Senator BOLKUS-My concern is that maybe things have moved on and that, with a 
better testing of evidence, information and so on, there may be a need for reappraisal. 

Mr Holl.ad--No, in terms of the activities of Mr Hicks there were investigations 
continuing during last year. There was certainly a brief of evidence that went to the DPP and 
they concluded that there were no grounds for prosecution in Australia. 1 trunk that evidence 
was reviewed again recently and a similar decision was reached. 
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Senator BOLKUS-So we have corne to our own independent conclusion that there is no 
charge which can be made against Hicks here but, in coming to that conclusion, we are of a 
view that the evidence is sufficient for him to be charged in Guantanamo Bay on US 
offences? 

Mr HoUand-Putting it anor:her way-

Senator BOLKUS--l actually put it that way for a reason, Mr Holland. 

Mr HoU.nd--I know, hut I have to answer it in the most helpful way I can. The 
government has consistently said that, on the basis of the evidence available to prosecuting 
authorities, there arC no grounds to prosecute Mr Hicks or Mr Habib under any laws in 
Australia that were current at the time of their activities. If, however, the evidence was there 
to support any charges the United States authorities had, then the United States could go 
ahead and do that. It is nol saying that the eharges that the United States might have had are 
exactly the ~me as OUts. Certainly, if the terrorism laws that eame into eflect last year were in 
place at the time that these aetivities were engaged in, it is PQSsible that a different outcome 
wou1d have been rea<: hed. 

S~nat()r BOLKUS-Taking you two steps baek, are we of a view that there 1S suffic.ient 
evidence for }-licks to be ehafged with an offence under US law? 

Mr UoUBnd--That is not a duisian for me or the Australian government to make. To be 
perfectly honest, at this stage, eharges have not yet been laid. Without knowing what those 
charges are, it is l'tot possible to say whether or not the evidence would support those charges. 

Senator BOLKUS--There is only one thing wrong with that: he is an Australian national 
and he has been held for over a couple of years. We take an interest in Austratian nationals 
who may he held unfairly overseas and we raise complaints about such incarceration world 
wide. I would have thought that. in these eircumstanee~. it would have been a requirement to 
look at the evidence about and to make an assessment with a view to-for instance, if you 
thought that there was insufficient evidenee-raising consular requests on hi~ behalf. You are 
telling me that you have not made that assessment? 

Mr HoUand--1 certainly have not. no. 

Senator BOLKUS-Don't you think someone should? You have the evidence before you. 
In order to work out whether we should be acting more strenuously with respect to Hick.s, 
shouldn't we make an assessment as to whether we think he has been held fairly or unfairly? 

Mr Cornall-~We do not have the evidence before us. We have had access to Mr Hicks. and 
Mr Habib through the AFP and through ASIO, and they have conducted extensive inquiries in 
relation to any possible offences in Australia. 

Senator BOIKUS--But to have eome to that conclusion, Mr Cornall, you must have: had 
some evidenee before you. 

CHAIR-Senator Bolkus. perhaps we could Id Mr Cornall conelude. 

Mr CornaU--Yes, we had. We had all of the evidence that the AFP was able to generate in 
its investigation and in its interviews. But, in terms of the evidence that the Amerieans have, 
we have Dc( been party to their interviews, we have not seen the transcripts of their interviews 
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and we do not know the full strength of their ease. As Mr Holland has said, the Ameriean 
proeess is different to the Australian process inasmuch as, if for example they go into plea 
negotiations, they do so without necessarily laying eharges first --that is part of the 
negotiation. 

Senator BOLKUs.-.Sure. ] suppose we ean go around in cireles on this for some time. 
My point is one] would like you to consider-to see what the AFP have had access to and 
whether we are in a position to make an assessment ,1S to both Hieks and Habib and whether 
there is an avenue for us to go baek to the Americans on the basis of that assessment. 

Mr Holland-·Certainly during the eourse of the discussions that we have had with the 
Americans we have seen some of the brief of evidence that they have but. as the secretary 
said, we have not seen everything that they might have. In terms of the decision that was 
going to be made, and that was a decision for them whether or not they had sufficient 
evidence to undertake the prosecution, we had clearly and obviously agencies here that had 
focused on what they had available on the basis of the laws that ex.isted at that time. 

Senator BOLKUS--Have we taken advice on the legality of Hicks's or Habib's detention? 

Mr Holland-·J am sorry, Senator, what do you mean? 

SeBBtor BOLKUS--On the acluallegality of it, factoring in the facts and the evidence that 
may be there against them. Have we taken advice on whether they are being legally held in 
Guantanamo Bay? 

Mr HoUand--J think the Office of International Law may have looked at the issue. Have 
we had occasion to revisit that? I think the answer, as far as I am aware, is no. 

Senator BOLKUS--WouJd you take On notice whether advice was taken, whether it was 
from Ihe Office of International Law or elsewhere. I know we have constraints here but I will 
put a request in anY'vay to see if we can get a copy of that advice or you can give us some 
assurance that the detention is legal. Going back to the agreement between government." I 
gather the UK are trying to get an agreement as well. as are other eountries. 

Mr Hou...nd-Yes, as I understand it I understand they are having discussions with the 
United States authorities. 

Senator BOLKUS-I think there was some discussion towards the end of January that 
some UK prisoners may go back to the UK for trial. Is that the case? Would you like to take 
thai on notice? 

Mr Cornall--Th<:re have been repOrts in the paper. I do not know that we can take it much 
further than the newspaper reports. 

Senator BOl.KUS--Please take that on notice. I suppose what I am leading up to is this: 
what if you get to a situation where the UK or Spain or any other country, but partieularly the 
UK., gets, throur,h their agreement and negotiations with the United States, a better outcome 
for their citizens? D(, We have a capaci.ty to revisit this after this agreement has been signed? 

Mr Cornall--We have an agreement with the United States that, if the outcome negotiated 
by the British i[1 respect of their detainees is more favourable than the outcome we have 
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negotiated, then the benefit of those additional negotiations should flow through to the 
Australian detainees as well. 

Senator BOLKUS--Is that part of the agreement that has been made public, or is that part 
of the agreement that is not? 

Mr Holland-We have said that from the very beginning in the public documents that 
have been released. 

Senator BOLKU8-A fina1 request I have is to sec if we can get some independent 
medical as.scssm~~nt of both of them. 1 think there is particular concern about Habib's 
condition. so if you like you can take that on nalice. 

Mr Holland-Certainly. 

Mr Cornall---Senator. just before we leave this issue, one of the points that the 
government pres.o;;ed very strongly for was for an Australian legal consultant to be part of 
David Hicks's defence team We have been successful in that. Mr Kenny has been to 
Guantanamo Bay twice and has had extensive discussions and no doubt will be bringing aU of 
his relevant defence expertise to the advice given to Mr Hicks, along with that of Major Mori, 
who is the defcnt:e counsel, and Mr Dratel, who is the US civilian counsel now involved in 
the matter. 

Senator BOLKUS-Do Kenn:y and the other lawyers have a capaeity to negotiate with the 
admini!ltration before Hicks is charged? 

Mr Cornall-Yes, thai is whatiliey have been doing, I understand. 

Senator BOLKUS-Don~t we think it is )mportant for Habib to have the same legal 
capacity to do so'! 

Mr Cornall---Yes, [ do, but before you get to that stage he has got to be designated as 
eligible for a military commission trial. He has not been put in that category yet. So there is an 
initial step that has to be taken before that situation arises. 'That is why we have asked for Mr 
Habib's situation or his status to be resolved as quickly as possible. 

Senator BOLKUS--But in any pretrial assessment isn't it really important, if nol critical, 
to have lawyers, especially in someOne ]ik.e Habib's case where he may have all sorts of 
problems communicating, to be able to help him get through the morass of evidence ann 
misinformation and information that might be against him? 

Mr Cornan--As ] understand the American proeess, that is when the lawyers are 
involved. 

Seoator BOtKUS--A11 righ~ I will leave my request as I put it earlier. 

CHAIR-We are still on output 2.2, L<:gal services and policy advice on security law. Are 
there any furthCl' questioru; on that area? Senator Kirk., do you havc questions on 2.2? 

Senator KlRK--] have a couple. Last year the Attorney-General announced that he had 
asked the department to review the antiterrorism legislation that was passed by parliament in 
the middle of last year) in particular the questioning powers, and to identify any ehanges that 
mighl be necessary. Could you confirm that that did occur and what the terms of the Attorney­
General's request were? 
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U.K. -AFP 

Five British detainees held at 
Guantanamo Bay to go home 'in 
weeks' 

LONDON (AFP) - Five of the nine British prisoners being held at a 
United States military base in Guanlanamo Bay, Cuba, are 10 be 
returned to Britain "in the nexl few weeks", Foreign Secretary Jack 
Straw said. 

Straw said lhat discussions were continuing with Washington over the 
other four Britons who are being held al the mililary base after they 
were I)icked up during the US-led ''war on lerror". 

Britisr, police will consider whelher those sent back should be arrested 
under anti-lerrorist legislation when they arrive in Britain, Straw added. 

"These men will be flown home to the Uniled Kingdom in the next few 
weeks," Straw told reporters in London. 

His announcement followed months of intensive discussions between 
the British and US authorities OVer the British detainees, who are 
among 660 prisoners controversially held at the base without prisoner 
of war status. 

British Prime Minister Tony Blair (Qew~ - web sit~~) has come under 
mounting political pressure to resolve the fates of the British detainees, 
and apologised earlier this month in parliament for the length of time 
this has taken. 

Straw said Thursday: "There have been many complex issues of law 
and security which both governments have had to consider." 

Last year, the US authorities decided that two of the detained Britons 
were eligibte for trial by US military commissions. 

However, the British government's top legal advisor took the view that 

• 

Sea 

Paae 225 of 234 
http://sfOTy.news.yahoo.com/n(:ws?tmp!=story&u=/aljl/200402 Attachment ~ to RE ~, pago J£. of , ~l 



Yahoo I News - Five Briush detainees held at Guantanamo Bay to go home 'in weeks' Page 2 of3 

US l<twver sues over 
terrQLc;;ase$ at The 

Guardian (UK). (Feb 19, 

:004) 

"uaJ1Janamo Britons tQ 
G9.Hom~May Walk 
Free ReulelS via Yahoo! 

News (Feb 19, 20{]4) 

GU<ill!i!namo Bay 
<:;lptilte!>JQbe returneq 
t~UK Financial Times via 

Yi'lhoo! News (Feu H~, 2004) 

Opinion & Editorials 

BetteIJate Ihan ne'LEl!: at 
Glncinnall Post (Feh 17, 

2004) 

E'ris.aners of waJ 
becolT!~ .. Rretext for" 
pQti~e sta~ ;3t Wiimtngtoo 
News Jour!)al (Feb 17. 

2004) 

'Terroris_m': A worle! 
~_snared by a .\'o19Ld "' 
International Herald Tribune 

(Feb 17, 2004) 

Feature Articles 

Coup[El§ .. Sh)' AwaY 
From 9/11.W~ding 
Date AP \I~d Yal1oo! News 

(Feb 19,2004) 

War on terror is also a 
V{ar 0_", (kygJraffi~ at 
Christian Science Monitor 

(Feb 1 fl. 2004) 

Related Web Sites 

• Lerrori_~m: _ Ql,lestion~ & 
Mswel1' 

Dep,artmentof 
l-!omel'!!1.lLSecunly 

News Resources 

Providers 

·AP 

· AFP U.K, 

News Alerts 

· Tony Bjair 

· Afghanistan 

the commissions "would not provide the type of process we would 
afford British nationals." Straw said. 

"Our discussions are continuing. In the meantime, we have agreed with 
the United States authorities that five of the British detainees will return 
to the Uniled Kingdom.· 

Britain believed Ihe four men still held by the US "should be tried in 
accordance with International standards or returned to the UK." 

Straw added: "There are a range of security and other issues which we 
and the Americans need 10 consider in respect of Ihese four men." 

There are about 660 detainees from some 40 counlries being held at 
the Guantanamo base. Most were captured in Afghanistan (newl;­
web sites) as part of Ihe American-led "war on lerro~' following the 
Seplember II, 2001 altacks in the United States. 

Washington has classified the prisoners as "enemy combalanlS" rather 
th,m as prisoners of war. 

Their blurred legal status has kept Ihem outside the realm of the 
GE!neva Conventions on treatmenl of prisoners of war. and allowed the 
US authorities to hold Ihem indefinitely beyond the reach of courts 
either in the United States or elsewhere, 

Straw said that when the five detainees returned home, it would be a 
malter for the British police and slate prosecutors to decide what, if 
any, further action lhey should face. 

ASketl whether he was confident he could deal with any security threat 
posed by the retuming prisoners, Home Secretary David Blunkett said: 
"I think you will fInd Ihat no one who is returned (as a result of) the 
announcemenl today will actually be a threat to the security of the 
British people." 
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British Official Rips U.S. Guantanamo Plan 

By THE ASSOCIATED PRESS 

Filed at 9:49 p.m. E1!' 

LONDON (AP) -- U.S. plans to use a military tribunal to prosecute terror suspects at 
Guantanamo Bay. Cuba, is unacceptable because it would not provide a fair trial by 
international standards, Britain's attorney general said. 

"There are certain principles on which there can be no compromise," Lord Goldsmith 
said in copy of a speech he planned to make to the International Criminal Law 
Association on Friday. 

"Fair trial is one of those, which is the reason we in the UK have been unable to accept 
that the U.S. military tribunals proposed for those detained at Guantanamo Bay offer 
sufficient guarantees of a fair trial in accordance with international standards." 

The prepared speech wa~ released to the media Thursday night. 

President Bush has unveiled plans for a system of military commissions to try 600 
detainees at the Cuban base. 

Two of the four British nationals stilI held at Camp Delta -- Feroz Abbasi of London, and 
Moazzam Begg of Binningham -- were among Bush's initial list of six people to be tried 
by the tribunal. 

Five other Britons who spent up to two years in U.S. custody at the base were released to 
British officials in March, and were soon freed without charge. 

In the past, Goldsmilh and Foreign Secretary Jack Straw have said the United States 
should either try the British detainees at Guantanamo in accordance with international 
standards or return them to their homeland. 

Straw has said "the military commissions as presently constituted would not provide the 
process which we would afford British nationals." 

The United States says the prisoners are "enemy combatants" not prisoners of war, and 
can be tried by military tribunals. But human rights groups have called the detentions is 
unlawful, and have criticized the United States for holding the prisoners without charges 
or access to legal representation. 
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"PKNEWS 
Wed 30 Jun 2004 

Blair Says Talks Continuing over Guantanamo Britons 
By Joe Churcher, Chief Parliamentary Reporter, PA News 

Discussions are ongoing with the US over the fate of the four Britons still held at Guantanamo 
Bay, Prime Minister Tony Blair said today. 

He repeated the UK's opinion that military tribunals set up to hear the cases would not give the 
suspects a rair trial. 

Mr Blair faced a call to help pay for any appeal by the men to the American Supreme Court. 
which ruled this week that they could challenge their detention. 

Labour's Kevin McNamara (Hull N) also urged the Government to make a submission to any 
court challenge. 

Mr Blair told him: "Th.! British detainees should either be tried fairly in accordance with 
international standards or return to the UK. 

"We have concluded that the military commissions process does not provide guarantees to the 
standards that we require. 

"Five of the detainees were returned to the UK in March. We continue to work to resolve the 
situation of the remaining four and discussions with the United States are continuing." 

Mr Blair also rejected daims that Britain had helped provide the US with a possible location for 
another Guantanamo-style prison camp. 

Earlier this month the Government blocked thousands of Indian Ocean islanders from returning to 
Diego Garcia - overturning a High Court judgment - which was cleared more than 30 years ago 
to make way for a US air and naval base. 

Scottish National Party leader at Westminster Alex Salmond said the decision had been taken 
because the US wanted to keep the base -leased from the UK - "perhaps to use it as another 
Guantanamo Bay. 

"How is any of this compatible with natural justice to these 2,000 islanders and their 
descendants? 

"And how can you pursue a shoulder-to shoulder relationship with George Bush when you seem 
to spend most ofyourtime on your knees?" he asked. 

Mr Blair there was "no question" of using the island for that reason. 

"1 am sorry that you exhibit your usual lack of judgement in thinking it is a bad thing for this 
country to be a key ally orthe United States of America 

'That may be something the Scottish National Party resents but I think it is something the vast 
majority of people in this country realises is an important part of our security." 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

DAVID MATTHEW HICKS 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Prosecution Response to Defense 
Request for Continuance 

24 August 2004 

I. Timeliness. This response is filed in a timely manner. 

2. Relief Sought. The Prosecution requests denial oflhe Defense's Motion for Continuance. 

3. Overview. This is a political question, not one that should be considered by this panel. Even 
if it were considered, the Australian government has indicated that it is satisfied with these 
proceedings and desires that they be conducted expeditiously. 

4. Facts. On 3 July 2003, the President of the United States detennincd that the Accused is 
subject to the President's Military Order of 13 November 2001, thereby granting jurisdiction for 
the Accused to be tried by military commission. On 9 June 2004, the Appointing Authority 
approved charges against th€: Accused and on 25 June 2004 referred them to this Military 
Commission, with an instruction to the Presiding Officer to notify him by 15 July 2004 of the 
initial trial schedule. (Approval of Charges dated 9 June 2004 and Referral of Charges dated 25 
June 2004). 

5. Law Supporting the RelidSought 

a. Applicable provisions of Military Commission Order Number I: 

(I) Section 6(A)(2): The Appointing Authority may approve and refer for trial any 
charge against an individual within the jurisdiction of a Commission. 

(2) Section 4(A)(S): The Presiding Officer "shall ensure the expeditious conduct 
ofthe trial." 

(3) Section 6(B)( I) and (2): The Commission shall "provide a full and fair trial" 
which shall "proceed impartially and expeditiously ... and prevent[J any unnecessary 
interference or delay" (emphasis added). 

b. Courts have declined to adjudicate issues deemed political questions. The Supreme 
Court of the United States in Baker v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186, at 210 (1961) stated that ifany one of 
the following six criterion can be satisfied, then an issue is nonjusticiable: "a textually 
demonstrable constitutional commitment of the issue to a coordinate political department; or a 
lack of judicially discoverable and manageable standards for resolving it; or the impossibility of 
deciding without an initial policy detennination of a kind clearly for non-judicial discretion; or 
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the impossibility of a court's undertaking independent resolution without expressing lack of the 
respect due coordinate branches of government; or an unusual need for unquestioning adherence 
to a political decision already made; or the potentiality of embarrassment from multifarious 
pronouncements by various departments on one question." fd at 210. 

6. Discussion 

a. The Defense is attempting to politicize this proceeding. They seek an indefinite 
delay, speculating that there may be political concessions favorable to the Accused some time in 
the future. We have no doubt that the United States will honor any agreements it may have with 
Australia. However, ensuring that the United States does so is a political and diplomatic maUer; 
it is not the duty of this Commission. 

b. Discussions that may be from time to time occur between the United States and 
Australia do not in and of themselves create rights that the Accused can invoke. The Office of 
the Appointing Authority is the appropriate authority to implement any assurances that may be 
made in such discussions. For instance, if the United States assured Australia that it would allow 
tbe Accused to make a phone call to his family, tbe Office ofthe Appointing Authority would be 
the authority to ensure this happened. The Accused would have no standing to complain if this 
failed to occur. 

c. Furthermore, the assertion that diplomatic arrangements witb Australia require that 
tbis case be put in abeyance is not supported by the facts. First, the Appointing Authority clearly 
has not interpreted the status of diplomatic agreements to require him to put this case in 
abeyance, or else he would not have referred it to this Commission. Once he did so, it became 
the Commission's and the Presiding Officer's duty expeditiously to conduct a full and fair trial. 
Second, as evidenced by the attached article, the Prime Minister of Australia very recently 
indicated that he is satisfied with the military commission process and hopes "it is dealt with in a 
very expeditious fashion." 

7. Names of Documents Attached in SupPOrt of this Motion. The following documents arc 
attached to this filing and are provided in support of this motion: 

a. Associated Press Article: "Prime Minister Says He's Satisfied Guantanamo Bay 
Offers Australian-style Justice" dated August 23, 2004. 

8. Oral Argument. The Prosecution requests oral argument on this motion. 

9. Legal Authority. The following legal autbority has been cited in support of this motion: 

a. President's Military Order of November 13,2001; 

b. MCONo.1; 

c. Balcer v. Carr, 369 US 186, at 210 (1961). 
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10. WitnesseslEvidence. The Prosecution does not foresee the need to present any witnesses or 
further evidence in suppOlt of this motion. 

II. Additional Information. None. 

Prosecutor 

I.E I~ 
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Ap Associated 
Press 

http://asia.news.yahoo.com/040822/ap/d84kec502.html 

Monday August 23, 02:29 AM 

Prime Minister says be's satisfied Guantanamo Bay offers 
Australian-style justice 

Prime Minister John Howard said Sunday he remains satisfied that the U.S. military trial awaiting 
Australian terror suspect David Hicks at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, will be consistent with Australian 
criminal justice. 

Hicks is among four suspected t!:rrorists who face preliminary hearings al the naval base at the U.S. 
enclave in Cuba this week. 

Howard has not been swayed by legal groups, opposition parties and Hicks' OWn lawyers who have 
condemned the system of military commission trials as unjust. 

"We are satisfied that the rules that have been established for the military commission will deliver a 
process which is consistent with the criminal justice system in our country," Howard told reporters. "I 
hope it is dealt with in a very expeditious fashion." 

Howard, a staunch ally ofthc U.S.-led war on terror, has pressed his friend, U.S. President George W. 
Bush, to quickly try 29-year-old Hicks and fellow Australian Mamdouh Habib who have been held as 
prisoners at Guantanamo for more than two years. Habib is yet to be charged but is expected to be 
included in the second tranche of prisoners nominated for trial. 

Hicks is charged with conspiracy to commit war crimes, aiding the enemy and attempted murder for 
allegedly helping al-Qaida fight U.S. and coalition forces in Afghanistan. He faces a sentence oflife 
imprisonment if convicted. 

Hicks' father Terry Hicks and stepmother Bcv Hicks will fly from their home in the South Australia state 
capital Adelaide Monday to anend their son's pretrial hearing Wednesday. 

"We're looking forward to seeing David and seeing what condition he's in, it's going \0 be interesting." 
Terry Hicks said. 

Father and son have been allowed to talk by telephone only twice since David Hicks' capture in 
Afghanistan in December 2001. f...E I~ 
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T ALKlNG POINTS· General Protective Order 
The prosecution requests protective orders be issues in accordance with Military Commission Order No. 
I, para 6(0)(5)(a). 

On July 302004, we filed a motion requesting protective orders to protect sensitive and classified 
information & documents provided to the defense. 

Certain USG agencies have provided information and documents and have given permission for the 
Prosecution to provide it to the defense on the condition that appropriate protection of information will 
be provided. Therefore, as per POM #4 prosecution provided notice that certain facts, docs and source 
identities are classified or protected. 

The reason for protecting the information - release ofinformation during terrorism prosecutions has 
aided al Qaida and UBL. For example- Knowledge of UBL 's phone number from the East Africa 
bombing transcript- resulted in UBL not using his satellite phone and the US intelligence unable to 
track his whereabouts. 

Law Sllpports the request lor relief - Commission Law contemplates and provides for issuance of 
protective orders 

a MCO No.1 gives the PO authority to issue Protective orders to safeguard protected information.' 
a PMO Section I (f)- Presidential Determination that it is not applicable to apply the principles of 

law and the rules of evidence generally recognized in the trial of criminal cases in the US district 
courts. 

a Much of the discovery provided to the defense involves "for official use only" and "law 
enforcement sensitive" information. Therefore, it is appropriate to place various restrictions on 
the release and ability to access this information as these docs contain information that may 
impact ongoing investigations. 

a US Constitution, US Code, UCMJ. the RCM, Federal rules and case law are not bindin~ on 
military commissions. However, persuasive- US Sup Ct-Waller v. Georgia', MRE 505, 506'; 
Classified Information Procedures ACI (CIPA)" 18 USC App; Rule 16(d) Fed rules of Criminal 
Procedure6 authOlize the judge 10 issue protective orders. 

o International Law also supports protective orders-ICTR7 and ICTy.8 
Present evidence provided by 2 victims that have been victims of a terrorist attack 
Unlass Sensitive Material i.e. for official use only- releasable to defense team, the accused; individuals 
who have an official need to know and the information is to assist the defense in the representation of 
the accused before a military commission and MC panel and parties to the case. 
Classified - cleared defense, team, MC panel 
Books, Articles, or speeches: defense team shall not divulge, publish or reveal, either by word, conduct, 
or any other means, any docs or information protected hy this order unless specifically authorized 10 do 
so. This restriction till the conclusion of proceedings. 
Breach: Disciplinary action or sanctions 

I Prol«tcd Information i, - clas~lfled or clas&ifUlble info, info protected by law or rule from unauthorized disclosure; information tbc di'iclosurc of which may 
endanger Ihe physical safery of participants in Commission procee<Jings, including prospective witnesses; info concerning intelligel\ce and la ..... enforcement !>CIurces, 
mnhods Or ~ti .. iti~::;. or ir.fo concerning ",-hcr nationnl ':)ccufity In\etcsh. 
2 Waller v. Gcorvla.467 11.S 39 (1984): risht to a open trial may give way in certain cases 10 oll,er rights or interests, such as (he defendant's right to a fair trial or the 
go ... ,'s interest in inhibiting disclosure ofsensilivc infonn;ulon 
} MRE SOS-mandatory burden on thc mililaf)' judge kl i.lisUC prolective ordel1' to slireguard aeajnsl the compromise of classified Info disclosed 10 the accu;,\;t.!. 
~ MRE 506· unclassiflcd sensitlve jnfonnation- requires the military judge to issue protective orders uJKln the re~lIest of the govt 10 preclude the compromise of thi~ 
rype or inf<lrfl1ation diiOClosed to ltte a.:eused 
, C1PA Set 1- upon motion of tbe 1.:5, the couell shall issue an order to prolect against the dIsclosure ofclar;sified mfo disclosed by the US to any defendant in any 
criminftl C8O:~ in a distf]ct court of the US 
6 16(d) Fed Rules QfCrhninal Proecdun' fOf goo<:l cause, to den),. res\riC(, or defeT di':)covery or irlspec.tiorl, OT gram othe: appropriate relief 
• ICTR- Rule ofPI~edlJre and Evidence &6 allows for proleclion of info ill the possession of the prosecutor, the disclosure of which may prejudice further Clngoing 
lfl',e~ligations, or for any orner reasons m8)' be contrary to the public interest or afft:ct tbe security interests of any state. 
~ leT\, -M 22 requires creation ofrul6 01 procedure and eVIdence for protection Mvictims and witnesses, Rule 75- closed session [A W Rule 79, Rule 66- permits the 
pl:l!>Cculor to Withhold disclosure when diiOClosure would prejudice other investigations, or alTect the security intcres15 ofPIi§f! k of ...J'IIa._--
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	TESTIMONY
	Persons Present at 25 Aug 2004 hearing 
	Commission Members were sworn (R. 1)
	RE 1 Admitted (R. 1, Appointment of Military Commission Members, 25 Jun 04)
	Commission Assembled (R. 1)
	RE 2 Admitted (R. 2, Presidential Reason to Believe Determination, 3 Jul 03)
	RE 3 Admitted (R. 2, Detail of Prosecutors, 3 Jul 03)
	Counsel Rights Explained to Accused (R. 2-3)
	RE 4 Admitted (R. 3, Chief Defense Counsel Denies Request for particular military counsel, 13 Aug 04)
	RE 5 Admitted (R. 3, Chief Defense Counsel details military defense counsel, 23 Jul 04)
	RE 6 (R. 3, Chief Defense Counsel informs civilian counsel of authorization to represent Hicks, 12 Jan 04)
	RE 7 Admitted (R. 4, Defense objection to the presence of security personnel in hearing room, 23 Aug 04)
	RE 8 Admitted (R. 4, Charges Sheet)
	Parties served with charges, R. 5
	RE 9 Admitted (R. 6, Presiding Officer's Biographical Summary)
	Voir Dire of Presiding Officer
	Experience in Viet Nam (R. 10)
	Relationship with Appointing Authority (R. 11)
	Relationship with Mr. H_____ (R. 12)
	Role of Mr. H_____ (R. 15)
	Knowledge of the Koran (R. 16)
	Independence (R. 17)

	RE 12 Admitted (R. 19, Nominations for Presiding Officer)  
	Defense challenges Presiding Officer for cause (R. 19-20)
	Government opposes challenge of Presiding Officer (R. 20-21) 
	Presiding Officer states he intends to forward challenges to Appointing Authority (R. 21-23)
	RE 13A-13E Admitted (R. 23, Questionnaires of Commission Members)
	RE 10 and 11 (R. 7, 23, Voir Dire from U.S. v. Hamdan)
	Voir Dire by Presiding Officer (R. 24)
	Voir Dire by Prosecution (R. 24-25)
	General Voir Dire by Defense (R. 25-33)
	Individual Voir Dire of Commission Members (R. 34-78)
	COL S_____ (R. 35-41)
	COL B_____ (R. 41-50)
	COL B_____ (R. 50-56)
	LtCol T_____ (R. 57-68)
	LtCol C______ (R. 68-77)

	Authentication Page (R. 78)
	Authentication Page for Classified Hearing (R. 105)
	Defense Challenges COL B_____ and LtCol T_____ and adopted the challenges from the Hamdan hearing (R. 106-112)
	Defense states objection to accused not being present in Classified Hearing (R. 107)
	Defense does not challenge COL B_____ (R. 107)
	Defense challenges COL S______ (R. 107-112)
	Challenges to entire panel (R. 109-112)
	Preliminary Instructions to Commission members (R. 114-115)
	No Defense objection to Preliminary Instructions (R. 113)
	Defense restates objection to provision of legal advice (R. 115-116) 
	Duties of COL C_____-alternate member (R. 115)

	Notice of Defense Motions (R. 117)
	President's Order is invalid (R. 117)
	Appointing Authority is not authorized to appoint a military commission (R. 117)
	Charges are not article of war violations or other crimes triable by miltiary commission (R. 117)
	Military commissions do not provide required due process protections under International Law (R. 118)
	Military commissions violate equal protection because they apply only to non-U.S. citizens (R. 118)
	Military commissions are not independent and there was unlawful command influence (R. 118)
	Lack of speedy trial (R. 118)
	Illegal pretrial punishment (R. 118)
	Accused is entitled to prisoner of war status and protections embodied in trials by courts-martial (R. 118)
	Systematic exclusion of Commission Members below the grade of O-4 (R. 118)
	No jurisdiction because alleged conduct occurred before the start of the conflict (R. 118)
	Bill of particulars (R. 118, 119)
	Lack of Nexus to the U.S. because accused is an Australian citizen, and alleged illegal conduct was unrelated to the U.S. (R. 118) 
	Schedule for filing of motions (R. 119)
	Decision on motion for continuance deferred (R. 120)

	RE 15 and 16 Admitted (R. 120, Defense and Prosecution Motions discussing continuance issue) 
	No objections from the parties on Presiding Officer Memorandum (R. 121)
	Parties have no objection to the Presiding Officer asking for interpretations of Military Commission Orders and Instructions from Appointing Authority (R. 121) 
	Pleas:  To all the charges, not guilty (R. 122) 
	Authentication Page for R. 106-123 (R. 123)
	Parties accounted for (R. 124)
	Motion to dismiss the charges because the alternate member was excused. UCMJ has five members for general courts-martial, and commission is down to three members after excusals (R. 125-131)

	Hearing called to order on 1 November 2004 (R. 124)
	Accounting for personnel who are present	 (R. 124)
	The Presiding Officer notes the Appointing Authority’s decisions on challenges for cause, RE 50 (R. 124)
	Defense motion to dismiss because the Appointing Authority failed to appoint a replacement, alternate member, RE 32 (R. 125-126)

	Defense motion to dismiss because the defense wants additional members appointed to the commission, RE 32 (R. 125-131)

	Defense asserts that all motions to dismiss that are denied should be certified as case dispositive motions to the Appointing Authority (128, 130-134)
	The Commission defers decision on the motion to appoint an alternate member and to appoint additional members (R. 131)

	The Commission defers decision on how to define what is an interlocutory motion (R. 134)
	Defense motion to dismiss the charges because the Appointing Authority excluded all company grade officers (O-1 to O-3) from selection as commission members.  Motion is RE 26 (134-139)
	Defense objects to Presiding Officer Memoranda (POM)s because the Presiding Officer does not have authority to make rules, and such rules that are made are not properly promulgated under the Administrative Procedures Act (139-140)
	Defense objects to POM 9 because civilian counsel will have limited access to evidence under some circumstances (R. 140)
	Defense objects to POM 2-1 because assistant to Presiding Officer is allowed to provide procedural advice to the Presiding Officer (R. 140)
	Presiding Officer explains for the record that he sent five requests for interlocutory decisions to the Appointing Authority, these requests and associated documents were marked as REs 41-49 (R. 141)   

	There is no objection to RE 53, which describes the Presiding Officer’s role—he can provide instructions to commission, participate in 
deliberations, but whole commission must decide most issues (R. 142)
	The Presiding Officer describes the processing of the defense requests for continuances (R. 143-147)
	Defense motion to dismiss because referral to trial was premature--The United States and Britain are in the midst of negotiating the transfer of British detainees and perhaps such negotiations might result in the release of Mr. Hicks—a trial was therefore unnecessary.  This motion was RE 33. (147-150)
	Memorandum detailing another prosecutor presented to the commission, RE 57 (R. 150) 
	Defense requests expert witnesses on international law and the law of war, RE 35-40 (R. 150-160)
	The legal experts were denied as witnesses “at this time” (R. 155)
	The commission subsequently denied a prosecution motion to exclude all such testimony, but would decide on the necessity of this testimony on a case-by-case basis (R. 160)
	Defense presents the statements of four legal experts to the Commission, REs 59-63 (161-162)

	The decision on the prosecution objection to consideration of these statements is deferred (R. 162)
	Defense motion to dismiss Charge II, RE 24, because attempted murder of members of coalition forces does not violate the law of war and therefore is not triable by military commission. Being in the status of “unlawful belligerent” is not relevant to an offense being a war crime.  The commission deferred its decision.   (R. 162-172)
	Defense motion to dismiss Charge III, RE 25, because aiding the enemy is not a valid offense under the laws of war and is therefore not triable by military commission.  An accused must have  
some allegiance to the United States or her allies to commit the offense.  The commission deferred its decision (R. 178). (172-178)
	Session of 2 November 2004 (R. 181)
	Accounting for personnel who are present	 (R. 181)
	The commission denies the motion to dismiss because of the absence 	of an alternate member and to have additional members appointed, RE 54, and the motion to dismiss because the appointing authority did not include or consider including company grade officers as commission members, RE 26, findings will be appendedto the record.  Defense requested that RE 54 be referred to the the Appointing Authority (R. 195).  The Presiding Officer subsequently declined to certify the issue (R. 271). (R. 181)
	The defense motion for a continuance was denied, and then a delay until 15 Mar 2005 was granted (R. 273).  See also RE 73. (R. 181)
	Defense motion to dismiss because referral to trial was premature--was denied because of the possibility of negotiations with Australia.  This motion was RE 33. (R. 181)
	Decisions on defense motions to dismiss Charge II, RE 24, and, Charge III, RE 25, attempted murder and aiding the enemy, respectively, were deferred.  (R. 182)  
	Defense motion to dismiss Charge I, RE 23, because conspiracy is not a valid offense under the laws of war and international law.  The majority of countries do not recognize the offense of conspiracy.  Therefore, conspiracy is not triable by military commission.  See also REs 62 and 66.  The Presiding Officer announced that a decision would be issued in due course (R. 195). (R. 182-195)
	Defense motion to dismiss Charge I, RE 21, because destruction of property by an unprivileged belligerent is not a valid offense
under the laws of war and international law.  Therefore, it is not triable by military commission.  (R. 195-203)
	Defense motion to strike the word “terrorism” from Charge I, RE 30, because the term, terrorism is not defined, and is not an offense
under the laws of war.  Therefore, it is not triable by military commission.  The decision was deferred (R. 273). (R. 203-209)
	Defense motion, RE 27, to strike any conduct from the charges preceding the start of the international armed conflict in Afghanistan on 7 October 2001 because commissions are war
courts and the international armed conflict had not yet begun. The United States cannot be in an armed conflict with al Qaida because it is not a state.  RE 15 includes documentation 
indicating when the international armed conflict ended.  The decision was deferred (R. 272, 273).  (R. 209-228)
	Defense motions, REs 16 (2d session), and RE 19, to dismiss because of improper pretrial detention under international law and a   failure to provide a speedy trial, respectively.  Most of discussion   is about the status of the accused under international law, POW or   protected civilian, or other.  The decision was deferred (R. 273).  (R. 229-240)
	Defense objected to any consideration of the Combat Status Review Tribunal (CSRT) record pertaining to Mr. Hicks.  The Presiding Officer recommended that the parties stipulate that there a CSRT hearing was conducted (R. 235).   (R. 234)
	Defense motion, RE 29, to dismiss because the President’s Military Order limits jurisdiction to non-citizens of the United States, 	which is a violation of the Constitutional right to equal Protection.  The decision was deferred. The decision was deferred (R. 273). (R. 242-245)
	Defense motions to dismiss because: (1) the accused has been denied access to evidence, defense counsel, adequate facilities, and unfair rules of admissibility of evidence (RE 20); (2) the President lacks domestic  or international statutory authority to direct commissions (RE 28); (3) the Presiding
Officer’s role should be more like that of a military judge (RE 31); and, (4) the structure of the commission is unlike that of any other United States or international tribunal (RE 32).  The decision was deferred (R. 273).  (R. 246-262)
	Defense motion, RE 22, to dismiss because the Appointing Authority	is a civilian and not a military officer or a general court-martial convening authority.  The decision was deferred. (R. 262-265)
	Defense motion, RE 17, to dismiss because the commission has no jurisdiction as it is located at Guantanamo Bay, Cuba, which is not in a theater of the war.  The decision was deferred. (R. 265-270)
	Session of 3 November 2004 (R. 271)
	A Stipulation of Fact, RE 72, was admitted with the consent of all parties, including the accused.  It pertained to a CSRT being conducted on the accused’s case.  (R. 272)
	Defense withdrew their request for a bill of particulars (RE 18) (R. 273)
	The Presiding Officer’s discovery order (RE 73) was admitted (R. 274)
	Authentication of pages 124 to 274 (R. 275)
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